# ACUTE KIDNEY INJURY: IT'S NOT JUST ACUTE, AND IT'S NOT JUST THE KIDNEYS

EDITED BY: Danielle Elise Soranno, Katja Michelle Gist, Michael Zappitelli and Akash Deep PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Pediatrics







#### Frontiers eBook Copyright Statement

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this eBook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this eBook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this eBook, and the eBook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this eBook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or eBook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88971-998-3 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88971-998-3

#### **About Frontiers**

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

#### **Frontiers Journal Series**

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

#### **Dedication to Quality**

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

#### What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: frontiersin.org/about/contact

## ACUTE KIDNEY INJURY: IT'S NOT JUST ACUTE, AND IT'S NOT JUST THE KIDNEYS

**Topic Editors:** 

Danielle Elise Soranno, University of Colorado, United States Katja Michelle Gist, Cincinnati Children's Hospital Medical Center, United States Michael Zappitelli, Hospital for Sick Children, Canada Akash Deep, King's College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust, United Kingdom

**Citation:** Soranno, D. E., Gist, K. M., Zappitelli, M., Deep, A., eds. (2021). Acute Kidney Injury: It's Not Just Acute, and It's Not Just the Kidneys. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88971-998-3

# Table of Contents

04 Editorial: Acute Kidney Injury: It's Not Just Acute, and It's Not Just the Kidneys

Danielle E. Soranno, Akash Deep, Katja M. Gist and Michael Zappitelli

- 07 Acute Kidney Injury and Pediatric Bone Health Anisha Hegde, Michelle R. Denburg and Dorey A. Glenn
- Acute Kidney Injury in Critically Ill Children Is Not all Acute: Lessons Over the Last 5 Years
   Erin Hessey, Nabil Melhem, Rashid Alobaidi, Emma Ulrich,

Catherine Morgan, Sean M. Bagshaw and Manish D. Sinha

24 For Whom the Bell Tolls: Acute Kidney Injury and Electronic Alerts for the Pediatric Nephrologist

Elizabeth D. Nguyen and Shina Menon

32 A Precision Medicine Approach to Biomarker Utilization in Pediatric Sepsis-Associated Acute Kidney Injury

James D. Odum, Hector R. Wong and Natalja L. Stanski

- **41** *Impact of Acute Kidney Injury on Critically Ill Children and Neonates* Bassil Leghrouz and Ahmad Kaddourah
- 49 Continuous Renal Replacement Therapy in Critically Ill Children in the Pediatric Intensive Care Unit: A Retrospective Analysis of Real-Life Prescriptions, Complications, and Outcomes Emanuele Buccione, Francesco Guzzi, Denise Colosimo, Brigida Tedesco, Stefano Romagnoli, Zaccaria Ricci, Manuela L'Erario and Gianluca Villa
- **59** Acute Kidney Injury in Pediatric Diabetic Kidney Disease Federica Piani, Trenton Reinicke, Claudio Borghi, Kalie L. Tommerdahl, Gabriel Cara-Fuentes, Richard J. Johnson and Petter Bjornstad
- 71 Two to Tango: Kidney-Lung Interaction in Acute Kidney Injury and Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrome

Joseph Alge, Kristin Dolan, Joseph Angelo, Sameer Thadani, Manpreet Virk and Ayse Akcan Arikan

82 A Review on the Application and Limitations of Administrative Health Care Data for the Study of Acute Kidney Injury Epidemiology and Outcomes in Children

Emma H. Ulrich, Gina So, Michael Zappitelli and Rahul Chanchlani





## Editorial: Acute Kidney Injury: It's Not Just Acute, and It's Not Just the Kidneys

#### Danielle E. Soranno<sup>1\*</sup>, Akash Deep<sup>2</sup>, Katja M. Gist<sup>3</sup> and Michael Zappitelli<sup>4</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Section of Pediatric Nephrology, Departments of Pediatrics, Bioengineering and Medicine, University of Colorado, Aurora, CO, United States, <sup>2</sup> Department of Child Health, NHS Foundation Trust, King's College Hospital, London, United Kingdom, <sup>3</sup> Division of Pediatric Cardiology, Department of Pediatrics, University of Cincinnati, Cincinnati, OH, United States, <sup>4</sup> Division of Nephrology, Department of Pediatrics, Hospital for Sick Children, Toronto, ON, Canada

Keywords: acute kidney injury, pediatric nephrology, Continuous Renal Replacement Therapies (CRRT), diabetes mellitus, Artificial Intelligence-AI, metabolic bone disease, critical care nephrology

#### Editorial on the Research Topic

#### Acute Kidney Injury: It's Not Just Acute, and It's Not Just the Kidneys

Acute kidney injury (AKI) occurs in  $\sim$ 20, 30, and 40–60% of pediatric patients in pediatric, neonatal and cardiac intensive care units, respectively (1, 2). Twenty years ago, AKI in hospitalized children was considered an unfortunate consequence of illness, but ultimately self-limited without direct impacts on patient outcomes. Extensive research in the last 15 years revealed that AKI in hospitalized children is associated with greater hospital resource utilization, morbidity and hospital mortality (1, 3). Shockingly, many episodes of pediatric hospital-acquired AKI continue to go unrecognized (4). More recently, emerging evidence suggests that children surviving hospitalization with an AKI episode may be at substantially higher risk than children without AKI, for developing long-term chronic kidney disease (CKD) and hypertension and long-term mortality (5). This literature has contributed to a paradigm shift that AKI increases risk for poor long-term outcomes, warranting efforts to improve detection, management and secondary prevention of permanent sequelae.

The goals of this collection of 9 manuscripts are to provide an update on best practices for detection, management, and follow-up of pediatric AKI, and perspectives on the deleterious shortand long-term systemic sequelae of AKI in the context of evolving clinical, epidemiologic and fundamental AKI research.

In Impact of Acute Kidney Injury on Critically Ill Children and Neonates, authors Leghrouz and Kaddourah provide an overview of the recent shifts in AKI definition, now centering on the KDIGO defined criteria using either a rise in serum creatinine, and/or a reduction in urine output. The authors highlight the importance of measuring urine output in order to recognize oliguric AKI for improved diagnostic precision. The review also provides a summary of the impact of AKI following hematopoietic stem cell transplant and emerging data on children with multisystem inflammatory syndrome as a result of the SARS-CoV-2 pandemic.

In Acute Kidney Injury in Critically Ill Children Is not all Acute: Lessons Over the Last 5 Years, Hessey et al. reviewed the last 5 years of peer-reviewed literature exploring the long-term outcomes of pediatric AKI. The summary provides an overview of the advancements and remaining challenges in investigating long-term outcomes after critical illness in hospitalized children. It also highlights the importance of implementing standardized follow-up of kidney health and outcomes after an episode of severe AKI. This aligns with recent recommendations in the neonatal and pediatric response to the Acute Disease Quality Initiative (ADQI) 22 guidance document (6).

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited and reviewed by:

Michael L. Moritz, University of Pittsburgh, United States

#### \*Correspondence:

Danielle E. Soranno danielle.soranno@ childrenscolorado.org

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Pediatric Nephrology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Pediatrics

Received: 09 October 2021 Accepted: 18 October 2021 Published: 15 November 2021

#### Citation:

Soranno DE, Deep A, Gist KM and Zappitelli M (2021) Editorial: Acute Kidney Injury: It's Not Just Acute, and It's Not Just the Kidneys. Front. Pediatr. 9:792210. doi: 10.3389/fped.2021.792210

4

In A Precision Medicine Approach to Biomarker Utilization in Pediatric Sepsis-Associated Acute Kidney Injury, authors Odum et al. reframe sepsis-associated AKI as a heterogeneous disease process. They provide a framework approach to utilizing biomarkers for prognostic enrichment and precision medicine to decluster the sepsis phenotype into distinctive pathophysiologies for targeted therapeutic clinical trials. This manuscript highlights the need to improve our understanding of AKI phentoypes for which future therapeutic targets might be considered.

In Continuous Renal Replacement Therapy in Critically Ill Children in the Pediatric Intensive Care Unit: A Retrospective Analysis of Real-Life Prescriptions, Complications, and Outcomes, Buccione et al. present new data from a 6-year single center retrospective study evaluating outcomes after CRRT therapy in pediatrics. Their data reports that fluid overload was the predominant indication for CRRT initiation (>60% of cases) and identifies catheter size <8 French and lack of citrate regional anticoagulation as predictors of early discontinuation of treatment. With a mean follow-up time of 3.5 years, only 42% of the patients who survived did not have any long-term kidney sequelae, including CKD or proteinuria.

In Two to Tango: Kidney-Lung Interaction in Acute Kidney Injury and Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrome, Alge et al. provide a thorough review of the basic science and clinical data surrounding the development of AKI-mediated lung injury and the role that lung injury plays in affecting kidney function. The review highlights the complexity of identifying the bidirectional effects of hemodynamic alterations in critical illness, resulting from acute lung disease as well as from AKI.

In A review on the application and limitations of administrative health care data for the study of acute kidney injury epidemiology and outcomes in children, Ulrich et al. summarize the opportunities and limitations of leveraging "big data" in administrative health repositories to investigate pediatric AKI outcomes. While big data research offers unique and unprecendented opportunities to evaluate pediatric AKI with large sample sizes, there is a need to validate these data for defining pediatric kidney outcomes and limiting associated biases.

#### REFERENCES

- Kaddourah A, Basu RK, Bagshaw SM, Goldstein SL, Investigators A. Epidemiology of acute kidney injury in critically ill children and young adults. N Engl J Med. (2017) 376:11–20. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa161 1391
- Jetton J, J Boohaker L, Sethi S, Wazir S, Rohatgi S, Soranno DE, et al. Incidence and outcomes of neonatal acute kidney injury (AWAKEN): a multicentre, multinational, observational cohort study. *Lancet Child Adolesc Health*. (2017) 1:184–94. doi: 10.1016/S2352-4642(17)30 069-X
- Silver SA, Long J, Zheng Y, Chertow GM. Cost of acute kidney injury in hospitalized patients. J Hosp Med. (2017) 12:70–6. doi: 10.12788/jhm. 2683

In For Whom the Bell Tolls: Acute Kidney Injury and Electronic Alerts for the Pediatric Nephrologist, authors Nguyen and Menon review best practices for AKI alerts, and how they can be implemented to hasten the diagnosis and optimize management in pediatric AKI. These AKI alerts and tools tie in with broader efforts within the nephrology community to utilize artificial intelligence and machine learning to improve outcomes in patients with AKI. The review provides examples of early applications of alert tools in pediatric AKI, including a nephrotoxic-mediated AKI stewardship program, which has been shown to reduce the rate, severity and duration of nephrotoxic AKI (7, 8).

In Acute kidney injury in pediatric diabetic kidney disease, Piani et al. describe the pathophyisiology of AKI and its relation to diabetic kidney disease in children with types I and II diabetes mellitus. Children with diabetes are at an increased risk for developing AKI, and after an episode of AKI, they are at higher risk of developing diabetic kidney disease and CKD. The review also summarizes the increased risk of severe COVID-19 disease in patients with diabetes mellitus.

In Acute Kidney Injury and Pediatric Bone Health, authors Hegde et al. review the current literature on fracture risk after AKI, the mechanisms of dysregulation in bone metabolism in AKI, and suggest areas for future research, particularly with regard to skeletal growth in pediatric patients after AKI.

As the overall survival of critically ill pediatric patients improves, there are increasing survivors of childhood AKI. With these perspectives in mind, future research is required to explore the long-term impact of pediatric AKI on population health, health care costs, and how pediatric providers within varying healthcare contexts, can potentially improve care delivery with a goal to optimize their patients' outcomes later in life.

#### **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

DS, AD, KG, and MZ contributed to the editorial writing and revision process. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

- Roy JP, Goldstein SL, Schuh MP. Under-recognition of neonatal acute kidney injury and lack of follow-up. *Am J Perinatol.* (2020). doi: 10.1055/s-0040-1716841. [Epub ahead of print].
- Sigurjonsdottir VK, Chaturvedi S, Mammen C, Sutherland SM. Pediatric acute kidney injury and the subsequent risk for chronic kidney disease: is there cause for alarm? *Pediatr Nephrol.* (2018) 33:2047–55. doi: 10.1007/s00467-017-3 870-6
- Macedo E, Bihorac A, Siew ED, Palevsky PM, Kellum JA, Ronco C, et al. Quality of care after AKI development in the hospital: Consensus from the 22nd Acute Disease Quality Initiative (ADQI) conference. *Eur J Intern Med.* (2020) 80:45–53. doi: 10.1016/j.ejim.2020.0 4.056
- Goldstein SL. Medication-induced acute kidney injury. Curr Opin Crit Care. (2016) 22:542–5. doi: 10.1097/MCC.0000000000355

 Goldstein SL, Dahale D, Kirkendall ES, Mottes T, Kaplan H, Muething S, et al. A prospective multi-center quality improvement initiative (NINJA) indicates a reduction in nephrotoxic acute kidney injury in hospitalized children. *Kidney Int.* (2020) 97:580–8. doi: 10.1016/j.kint.2019.1 0.015

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated

organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Soranno, Deep, Gist and Zappitelli. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## Acute Kidney Injury and Pediatric Bone Health

Anisha Hegde<sup>1\*</sup>, Michelle R. Denburg<sup>2</sup> and Dorey A. Glenn<sup>3\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Pediatrics, University of North Carolina Hospitals, Chapel Hill, NC, United States, <sup>2</sup> Division of Nephrology, The Children's Hospital of Philadelphia, Perelman School of Medicine, University of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia, PA, United States, <sup>3</sup> Division of Nephrology, University of North Carolina School of Medicine, Chapel Hill, NC, United States

Acute kidney injury (AKI) has been associated with deleterious impacts on a variety of body systems. While AKI is often accompanied by dysregulation of mineral metabolism—including alterations in calcium, phosphate, vitamin D, parathyroid hormone, fibroblast growth factor 23, and klotho—its direct effects on the skeletal system of children and adolescents remain largely unexplored. In this review, the pathophysiology of dysregulated mineral metabolism in AKI and its potential effects on skeletal health are discussed, including data associating AKI with fracture risk.

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Katja Michelle Gist, Children's Hospital Colorado, United States

#### Reviewed by:

David Selewski, University of South Carolina, United States Marissa DeFreitas, University of Miami, United States

#### \*Correspondence:

Anisha Hegde anisha.hegde@unchealth.unc.edu Dorey A. Glenn dorey\_glenn@med.unc.edu

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Pediatric Nephrology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Pediatrics

Received: 30 November 2020 Accepted: 30 December 2020 Published: 09 February 2021

#### Citation:

Hegde A, Denburg MR and Glenn DA (2021) Acute Kidney Injury and Pediatric Bone Health. Front. Pediatr. 8:635628. doi: 10.3389/fped.2020.635528 Keywords: AKI, skeleton, parathyroid hormone, fibroblast growth factor 23, klotho, vitamin D, mineral, inflammation

#### INTRODUCTION

Acute kidney injury (AKI) results from a spectrum of insults that lead to a sudden decrease in kidney function and is responsible for significant morbidity and mortality (1–3). The worldwide incidence of pediatric AKI in hospital settings ranges from 26.9 to 41.3% (2, 4). Associated mortality ranges from 8.8 to 21% and is inversely related to gross national income per capita (2, 4, 5). AKI is accompanied by systemic inflammation (6) and has been associated with distant-organ injury—including injury to the lungs (7–9), heart (10), intestines (11), liver (11, 12), and brain (13)—that contributes to short- and long-term adverse patient outcomes (14, 15). AKI is frequently accompanied by dysregulated mineral metabolism (16), supporting the hypothesis that AKI may also be accompanied by alterations in skeletal structure and function. Commonly encountered dysregulation in mineral metabolism during AKI includes hypocalcemia, hyperphosphatemia, elevated parathyroid hormone (PTH), decreased 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D (1,25D), elevated fibroblast growth factor 23 (FGF23), and decreased klotho. These patterns are similar to those seen in individuals with chronic kidney disease–mineral bone disorder (CKD-MBD), a condition known to alter skeletal and vascular biology. Compared to CKD-MBD, much less is known about the effects of mineral dysregulation and inflammation in AKI on short- and long-term skeletal health (16–18).

Identifying independent risk factors for skeletal injury in AKI is challenging for a number of reasons. First, AKI is a heterogeneous diagnosis with a myriad of inciting and exacerbating factors. Second, short-term biomarkers of skeletal injury are lacking, and the timeframe over which skeletal outcomes occur is long. Nonetheless, in this review, we aim to summarize the existing literature in three areas: (1) current data on fracture risk following AKI; (2) potential mechanisms of dysregulation in AKI, including inflammation, which could impact skeletal health; and (3) areas for further research.

7

#### FRACTURE RISK AND AKI

There is a striking paucity of literature exploring the association between AKI and risk of skeletal fracture. A single populationbased matched cohort study conducted among 448 Taiwanese adult patients who survived dialysis-requiring AKI and 1,792 controls demonstrated a 1.25-fold increased risk of bone fracture (p = 0.049) in the AKI recovery group, even after controlling for progression to end-stage renal disease (19). Enrollees were identified through national database entries over 8 years and were prospectively followed for at least 1 year after hospital discharge. Incidence of bone fracture was 320 per 10,000 personyears in the AKI recovery group and 93 per 10,000 person-years in the control group (19). Patients with skeletal fracture also experienced increased long-term mortality (hazard ratio = 1.43, 95% confidence interval = 1.19-1.71, p < 0.001) (19). This is the only study to date that has evaluated long-term impacts of AKI on risk of skeletal fracture. Individuals with non-dialysis-dependent AKI and individuals younger than 18 years were not included in the study. These findings should be replicated in broader cohorts of adults with milder degrees of AKI and in children, as mineral dysregulation after AKI has been demonstrated in both groups (16, 20). There is also little published literature describing histologic changes in bone during or following AKI, with only one report describing findings from bone biopsy, including mild increases in bone resorption without increased osteoid (21).

#### MINERAL DYSREGULATION AND AKI

#### Hypocalcemia and Hyperphosphatemia

The majority of total body calcium and phosphate is stored as skeletal hydroxyapatite, with extracellular calcium representing  $\sim$ 1% and extracellular phosphate representing <1% of total body stores (22, 23). Extracellular calcium and phosphate concentrations are primarily regulated by three hormones: 1,25D, PTH, and FGF23 [Figure 1; (24)]. Dysregulation of calcium and phosphate homeostasis is a consistent finding in studies of adult patients with varying severities of AKI (25-33). In a study of 400 critically ill adults with AKI, patients had a median phosphate level of 5.2 mg/dL with an interquartile range of 4.0-6.7 mg/dL (29). Additionally, multiple studies comparing mineral metabolism in patients with AKI to hospitalized control groups without AKI demonstrated significantly higher phosphate levels in AKI groups (28, 30, 31, 33). For example, in a cohort of 51 children who underwent elective cardiac surgery, serum phosphate increased significantly over a 24-h period in those who developed AKI compared to those who did not (p = 0.01) (34).

Of the aforementioned case-control studies that reported significantly elevated phosphate levels, two measured serum calcium levels. Leaf et al. reported significantly lower calcium levels in 30 adult patients with all-cause AKI compared to 30 patients without AKI (p = 0.004) (30). Patients with AKI had a serum calcium interquartile range of 7.5–8.6 mg/dL, and patients without AKI had an interquartile range of 8.1–9.0 mg/dL (30). In contrast, Zhang et al. did not detect a statistically significant difference in ionized calcium levels between critically ill adult patients with and without AKI (p = 0.41) (28). Patients

with and without AKI had mean ionized calcium levels of  $1.19 \pm 0.1$  mmol/L and  $1.15 \pm 0.08$ , respectively. Both studies are limited by small sample size, although differing findings could be explained by heterogeneous study populations (all hospitalized patients vs. only critically ill patients) and methods of measuring calcium (total serum vs. ionized). Hypocalcemia would be expected to follow significant hyperphosphatemia as elevated serum phosphate sequesters calcium. However, patients who are critically ill are also more likely to have aberrations in albumin and acid-base balance (22), causing a potential change in ionized calcium but not in total serum calcium. In addition to affecting ionized calcium levels, metabolic acidosis *in vitro* has been demonstrated to directly trigger osteoblast inhibition and osteoclast stimulation in mouse models (35).

Hypocalcemia and hyperphosphatemia may have acute as well as subacute clinical relevance (22). Acute hypocalcemia has welldescribed effects on decreasing peripheral vascular resistance (36), decreasing myocardial contractility (37), and increasing neuromuscular reactivity (22). Further research is needed to better understand the clinical impact that mineral alterations in AKI have on skeletal health, particularly among children undergoing rapid skeletal growth.

#### MECHANISMS OF MINERAL DYSREGULATION IN AKI

#### 1,25 Vitamin D

Alteration in regulatory hormones contributes to calcium and phosphate derangements following AKI. Decreased levels of 1,25D, and less frequently its precursor 25-hydroxyvitamin D (25D), have been described in multiple adult AKI cohorts, including in patients status post-cardiac surgery (26), those with rhabdomyolysis (27), and those with critical illness (29). There is growing evidence in adults that a history of critical illness is itself a strong risk factor for osteopenia and osteoporosis likely due to a combination of inflammation, undernutrition, immobilization, and vitamin D deficiency (38)—all of which are compounded by AKI. Similarly, vitamin D deficiency is common in critically ill children, with a pooled prevalence of 54.6% in a recent systematic review of hospitalized children with acute or critical conditions (39). Vitamin D deficiency, especially in critically ill patients, is linked to increased risk of AKI and mortality (40, 41). This link underscores the salience of investigating how vitamin D dysregulation during AKI superimposed on frequently reported baseline vitamin D deficiency may be contributing to adverse outcomes, including adverse skeletal outcomes.

Studies comparing 1,25D and 25D levels in adults with AKI to hospitalized controls without AKI have demonstrated significantly lower levels of 1,25D but not 25D (31, 42, 43). However, Tingting et al. reported lower levels of both 1,25D (p < 0.0001) and 25D (p < 0.0001) among 34 patients with critical illness and AKI compared to 12 healthy controls (44). Demographic differences in gender, age, and race between groups did not rise to statistical significance (44). This study's findings are perhaps explained by their use of healthy controls, as studies utilizing hospitalized controls have not shown differences in



25D, suggesting that low 25D may be a marker of global disease severity more so than of acute mineral dysregulation. Comparatively, Lai et al. enrolled 200 patients with AKI, 13 critically ill patients without AKI, and 17 healthy participants and reported that 1,25D levels but not 25D levels were significantly lower in the AKI group vs. the other groups (42). Taken together, these data suggest that AKI is associated with suppression of 1,25D and variable changes in 25D (16).

1,25D deficiency contributes to decreased intestinal absorption of calcium and decreased renal reabsorption of calcium (24, 45). These changes in AKI are thought to be mediated by decreased renal synthesis of 1,25D secondary to proximal tubule injury or from FGF23-induced suppression of 1- $\alpha$ -hydroxylase (46). Substrate delivery of 25D to the proximal tubule in AKI may also decrease because of lower levels of circulating vitamin D-binding protein (DBP), decreased filtration of 25D-DBP complexes due to reduced glomerular filtration rate (GFR), and decreased uptake of these complexes for processing due to proximal tubule injury (16).

Altered vitamin D metabolism in AKI, in addition to vitamin D deficiency potentially present on admission or attributed to critical illness, may be clinically relevant in multiple ways. Vitamin D plays a key role in skeletal health, mitigating fracture risk, and optimizing bone density and content through direct mineral regulation (47). 1,25D, through binding to its nuclear receptor, may also play a role in immune and inflammatory regulation (48). Even though vitamin D deficiency in AKI is likely transient, resolving with renal recovery (26, 27, 49), it has been associated with endothelial dysfunction (50), oxidative stress, and

inflammation—both in the renal microvasculature and in distant organs (14, 51, 52). Arfian et al. demonstrated renoprotective effects of vitamin D—including reducing myofibroblasts and renal inflammation—in mice with kidney ischemia-reperfusion injuries (IRIs), although protective effects of vitamin D on distant organs such as bone following AKI have not yet been elucidated (52).

#### **Parathyroid Hormone**

PTH is the primary regulator of serum calcium, and elevated PTH levels have been frequently reported in patients with AKI (16, 17, 26, 27, 29). Studies have consistently demonstrated significantly elevated PTH in individuals with AKI compared to healthy controls (44, 53, 54). These elevations are thought to be secondary to hypocalcemia and low serum 1,25D levels as discussed above (24). Upregulation of the parathyroid calciumsensing receptor due to acute inflammation may additionally affect the calcium-PTH set-point (16, 24).

Skeletal and renal resistance to PTH has been described in humans following AKI (25, 29, 30), potentially contributing to dysregulated hormonal control of calcium and phosphate. In patients with CKD, skeletal resistance to PTH is thought to be secondary to downregulated PTH receptors (16); however, specific mechanisms of PTH resistance in AKI have not been studied. Massry et al. demonstrated that patients with AKI failed to respond appropriately to exogenous PTH infusion during their oliguric and diuretic phases of AKI but produced appropriate increases in serum calcium once renal function recovered (25). Thus, skeletal resistance to PTH in AKI is likely a transient phenomenon, as is elevated PTH (26, 30). For example, in a study comparing PTH levels in hospitalized adults with and without all-cause AKI, PTH levels were initially higher in the AKI group (p = 0.004) compared to the non-AKI group but were no longer different by day 5 of enrollment (p = 0.56) (30). Additional studies of hospitalized adults with and without AKI following cardiac surgery and critical illness (28, 31) have reported that PTH was comparatively elevated (and occasionally severely, with PTH >250 mg/dL) in AKI groups but did not rise to statistical significance. Small sample sizes and heterogeneous patient populations may explain these inconsistent findings. Likewise, findings may be confounded by elevations of PTH due to critical illness (55, 56).

#### **Fibroblast Growth Factor 23 and Klotho**

FGF23 is a bone-derived protein, produced by osteoblasts and osteocytes and known to regulate vitamin D metabolism and phosphate homeostasis (57–59). FGF23 was first identified in patients with tumor-induced osteomalacia and mineralization defects and has since become an important link connecting renal and skeletal physiology (60). Studies have consistently demonstrated that FGF23 levels increase rapidly after onset of AKI (28–31, 61–66). In mouse models of folic acid–induced AKI, FGF23 levels have been shown to rise within 1 h following AKI (62). In adults with AKI after cardiac surgery, FGF23 levels demonstrated more than a 15-fold increase at 24 h postsurgery (62).

While there is strong evidence of a role for FGF23 in mediating phosphate and vitamin D dysregulation in early-stage CKD (67), the effects of FGF23 on skeletal health following AKI have not been studied (61, 68). Rise in FGF23 following AKI appears to be independent of PTH and 1,25D levels (20, 58, 62, 69), but resultant effects of FGF23 on PTH and 1,25D levels in AKI have yet to be conclusively demonstrated. FGF23 is also thought to play a role in the inflammatory response following AKI (58). In mice with folic acid–induced AKI, very high *FGF23* mRNA expression was detected in thymus and spleen, suggesting that FGF23 may be associated with increased *TNF* expression and elevated inflammatory cytokine levels through effects on lymphoid organs (58).

FGF23 elevation is likely altered in a timeframe consistent with reduced renal function. For example, in 32 pediatric patients who underwent cardiac surgery requiring cardiopulmonary bypass, those children who developed post-operative AKI demonstrated a significant increase in intact FGF23 at 2 h postreperfusion compared to those who did not develop AKI (p = 0.04). At 48 h, intact FGF23 levels between these groups were not significantly different (p = 0.19), although C-terminal FGF23 levels were significantly elevated (p = 0.006) in the AKI group (20). Animal models of AKI due to folic acid nephropathy have demonstrated increased FGF23 expression in femur lysates, but the factors responsible for this elevation in bone during a period of acutely reduced renal function have not been identified (58, 62, 64).

 $\alpha\text{-Klotho},$  a transmembrane protein mainly produced by renal tubular epithelial cells, plays a critical role in FGF23

receptor binding (16) and, through its actions on the kidney and parathyroid glands, plays an important role in mineral metabolism (64, 70, 71). Its extracellular domain can modulate renal calcium and potassium absorption independently of FGF23 (16, 72) in the distal tubule and can be cleaved into the circulation, facilitating distant organ effects of FGF23 (64). In CKD mouse models, klotho has been shown to decrease ectopic calcification (including soft tissue calcification), likely through tight coregulation of phosphorous with FGF23 (70). Klotho deficiency has been demonstrated in animal models of AKI (73, 74), although studies in humans are lacking (64, 71, 73, 75– 78). Cytokines produced during AKI, including tumor necrosis factor  $\alpha$  (TNF- $\alpha$ ), may downregulate renal expression of klotho (79). No studies have yet examined whether klotho deficiency may contribute to aberrant calcification in AKI.

#### Inflammation in AKI

Acute intrarenal and systemic inflammation, including the release of proinflammatory cytokines, has been well-described following AKI (6, 7, 11–14, 80–84). Inflammation is a crucial biologic response for eliminating pathogens and repairing injured tissue. However, the balance between proinflammatory and anti-inflammatory responses is often abnormal in AKI (83). In renal IRI, cellular damage triggers an inflammatory response that includes oxidative stress in renal tubular epithelial cells, necrotic cells that release a variety of molecules to signal damage, and cytokine release from activated renal parenchymal cells and dendritic cells that recruit innate and adaptive immune mediators (83).

Increased serum levels of proinflammatory cytokines, including TNF- $\alpha$ , interleukin 6 (IL-6), and IL-8, have been described during AKI in animal models of renal IRI (80). These animal models have demonstrated dramatic increases in plasma cytokine levels compared to non-IRI animal models, including sham surgery and bilateral nephrectomy (80). Similar increases in cytokine levels have been noted in trauma patients with AKI compared to those without AKI early on in their hospital courses (80). Circulating cytokines during AKI have been shown to impact distant organs, including the brain (13), liver (11), and lungs (8). In addition to increased cytokine production, experimental models indicate that cytokine clearance is also decreased in AKI (80).

Although direct effects of proinflammatory cytokines specifically on bone during AKI have not been studied, proinflammatory cytokines have been associated with adverse effects on bone formation and resorption [**Figure 1**; (85–87)] For example, TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-6 have been shown to activate the parathyroid calcium-sensing receptor (88) and to inhibit renal expression of 1- $\alpha$ -hydroxylase (89), which could contribute to hormonal dysregulation of mineral metabolism in AKI. TNF- $\alpha$ has been reported to inhibit *PHEX* gene expression. *PHEX* gene is expressed mostly in osteoblasts, and loss of PHEX function has been linked to defective mineralization (90). Additionally, data from the Women's Health Initiative Study (91) suggest that TNF- $\alpha$  plays a role in mediating fracture risk, as association between estimated GFR and fracture risk was eliminated after adjustment for TNF- $\alpha$  receptor levels. Anti-inflammatory cytokines are also increased in AKI (83). IL-10 is an anti-inflammatory cytokine that may have osteoprotective effects and has emerged along with IL-6 as a key player in signaling distant effects of acute renal inflammation (81). IL-10 is produced by T-regulatory cells (60) that *in vitro* directly inhibit osteoclast activity, including their differentiation and function, and *in vivo* have been shown to protect against TNF- $\alpha$ -induced bone loss in mice (92). The net outcome of this interplay between osteotoxic and osteoprotective factors on bone in the setting of AKI has yet to be determined (83).

Transcriptomics research in a murine model of ischemic AKI identified increased levels of IL-10 and IL-6 in lung tissue after AKI, in addition to global transcriptomic changes and histologic injury (81). Similar to the lung, the skeletal system has an extensive capillary network, including in the metabolically active skeletal system of children and adolescents undergoing periods of rapid growth (93). Thus, the relationship of inflammation in AKI and its potential direct consequences on bone health is an area ripe for additional investigation (80, 84).

#### AREAS FOR FUTURE RESEARCH

1. Epidemiological studies are needed to further characterize the burden of and risk factors for skeletal complications, including fractures, in patients with AKI. These studies should include pediatric patients, who are experiencing AKI during times of bone mineral accrual and linear growth (24).

#### REFERENCES

- Goldstein SL, Adrogue HE. Chapter 365: Acute kidney injury. In: McInerny T, Adam H, Campbell D, DeWitt T, Foy J, Kamat D, editors. *American Academy of Pediatrics Textbook of Pediatric Care.* 2nd ed. (2017). Available online at: https://pediatriccare.solutions.aap.org/chapter. aspx?sectionid=138300635&bookid=1626 (accessed December 01, 2020).
- Lameire N, Van Biesen W, Vanholder R. Epidemiology of acute kidney injury in children worldwide, including developing countries. *Pediatr Nephrol.* (2017) 32:1301–14. doi: 10.1007/s00467-016-3433-2
- Khwaja A. KDIGO clinical practice guidelines for acute kidney injury. Nephron Clin Pract. (2012) 120:c179–84. doi: 10.1159/000339789
- Susantitaphong P, Cruz DN, Cerda J, Abulfaraj M, Alqahtani F, Koulouridis I, et al. World incidence of AKI: A meta-analysis. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol.* (2013) 8:1482–93. doi: 10.2215/CJN.00710113
- Fortrie G, De Geus HRH, Betjes MGH. The aftermath of acute kidney injury: a narrative review of long-term mortality and renal function. *Crit Care.* (2019) 23:24. doi: 10.1186/s13054-019-2314-z
- Gyurászová M, Kovalčíková AG, Renczés E, Kmetová K, Celec P, Bábíčková J, et al. Oxidative stress in animal models of acute and chronic renal failure. *Dis Markers*. (2019) 2019:8690805. doi: 10.1155/2019/8690805
- Andres-Hernando A, Altmann C, Bhargava R, Okamura K, Bacalja J, Hunter B, et al. Prolonged acute kidney injury exacerbates lung inflammation at 7 days post-acute kidney injury. *Physiol Rep.* (2014) 2:e12084. doi: 10.14814/phy2.12084
- Faubel S, Edelstein CL. Mechanisms and mediators of lung injury after acute kidney injury. Nat Rev Nephrol. (2016) 12:48–60. doi: 10.1038/nrneph.2015.158

- 2. Larger studies are needed to better characterize which aspects of dysregulated mineral metabolism, if any, persist after renal recovery following AKI.
- 3. The use of bone imaging (dual energy x-ray absorptiometry / high resolution peripheral quantitative computed tomography) lends itself to investigations into whether changes in bone structure and microarchitecture are seen in the acute or subacute phases of AKI.
- 4. Further investigation is needed regarding the extent to which systemic vascular and inflammatory changes detected following AKI, including vitamin D-associated changes, alter bone epigenetics and transcriptomics and might contribute to effects on long-term skeletal health. Metabolomics studies in AKI may identify downstream targets relevant for additional investigation (10, 94).
- 5. Although the pathophysiology of AKI generally involves a common cascade of inflammation secondary to ischemia, reperfusion, cell injury, and cell death, AKI remains a clinically heterogeneous diagnosis with varying therapies. The potential compounding effect of frequently used therapies in AKI, such as diuretics and other medications (87), on mineral dysregulation and bone health has not been evaluated.

#### **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

AH and DG contributed to the literature review and layout of this article. AH wrote the first draft of the manuscript, which was revised by DG. AH, DG, and MD contributed to final manuscript revision and have approved the submitted version. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

- Teixeira JP, Ambruso S, Griffin BR, Faubel S. Pulmonary consequences of acute kidney injury. *Semin Nephrol.* (2019) 39:3–16. doi: 10.1016/j.semnephrol.2018.10.001
- Fox BM, Gil HW, Kirkbride-Romeo L, Bagchi RA, Wennersten SA, Haefner KR, et al. Metabolomics assessment reveals oxidative stress and altered energy production in the heart after ischemic acute kidney injury in mice. *Kidney Int.* (2019) 95:590–610. doi: 10.1016/j.kint.2018.10.020
- Park SW, Chen SW, Kim M, Brown KM, Kolls JK, D'Agati VD, et al. Cytokines induce small intestine and liver injury after renal ischemia or nephrectomy. *Lab Investig.* (2011) 91:63–84. doi: 10.1038/labinvest.2010.151
- Shang Y, Madduma Hewage S, Wijerathne CUB, Siow YL, Isaak CK, Karmin O. Kidney ischemia-reperfusion elicits acute liver injury and inflammatory response. *Front Med.* (2020) 7:201. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2020. 00201
- Liu M, Liang Y, Chigurupati S, Lathia JD, Pletnikov M, Sun Z, et al. Acute kidney injury leads to inflammation and functional changes in the brain. *J Am Soc Nephrol.* (2008) 19:1360–70. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2007080901
- 14. Druml W. Systemic consequences of acute kidney injury. *Curr Opin Crit Care.* (2014) 20:613–9. doi: 10.1097/MCC.00000000000150
- Uber AM, Sutherland SM. Acute kidney injury in hospitalized children: consequences and outcomes. *Pediatr Nephrol.* (2020) 35:213–20. doi: 10.1007/s00467-018-4128-7
- Leaf DE, Christov M. Dysregulated mineral metabolism in AKI. Semin Nephrol. (2019) 39:41–56. doi: 10.1016/j.semnephrol.2018.10.004
- Wesseling-Perry K. Bone disease in pediatric chronic kidney disease. *Pediatr* Nephrol. (2013) 28:569–76. doi: 10.1007/s00467-012-2324-4
- 18. Yang T, Wang W, Tang X, Shi P, Zhang L, Yu W, et al. Association between mineral and bone disorder in patients with acute kidney injury

following cardiac surgery and adverse outcomes. *BMC Nephrol.* (2019) 20:369. doi: 10.1186/s12882-019-1572-y

- Wang WJ, Chao C Ter, Huang YC, Wang CY, Chang CH, Huang TM, et al. The impact of acute kidney injury with temporary dialysis on the risk of fracture. J Bone Miner Res. (2014) 29:676–84. doi: 10.1002/jbmr.2061
- Hanudel MR, Wesseling-Perry K, Gales B, Ramos G, Campbell V, Ethridge K, et al. Effects of acute kidney injury and chronic hypoxemia on fibroblast growth factor 23 levels in pediatric cardiac surgery patients. *Pediatr Nephrol.* (2016) 31:661–9. doi: 10.1007/s00467-015-3257-5
- Zech P. Bone biopsies in patients with acute renal failure. In: Proceedings of the International Symposium "The Kidney and Calcium" (Les Trois Epis) (1972).
- 22. Moe SM. Disorders involving calcium, phosphorus, and magnesium. *Prim Care*. (2008) 35:215. doi: 10.1016/j.pop.2008.01.007
- Fukumoto S. Phosphate metabolism and vitamin D. Bonekey Rep. (2014) 3:497. doi: 10.1038/bonekey.2013.231
- Underland L, Markowitz M, Gensure R. Calcium and phosphate hormones: vitamin D, parathyroid hormone, and fibroblast growth factor 23 education gap. *Pediatrics Rev.* (2020) 41:3–11. doi: 10.1542/pir.2018-0065
- Massry SG, Arieff AI, Coburn JW, Palmieri G, Kleeman CR. Divalent ion metabolism in patients with acute renal failure: studies on the mechanism of hypocalcemia. *Kidney Int.* (1974) 5:437–445. doi: 10.1038/ki.1974.62
- Pietrek J, Kokot F, Kuska J. Serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D and parathyroid hormone in patients with acute renal failure. *Kidney Int.* (1978) 13:178– 85. doi: 10.1038/ki.1978.25
- 27. Llach F, Felsenfeld AJ HM. The pathophysiology of altered calcium metabolism in rhabdomyolysis-induced acute renal failure. *N Engl J Med.* (1981) 305:117–23.
- Zhang M, Hsu R, Hsu C, Kordesch K, Nicasio E, Cortez A, et al. FGF-23 and PTH levels in patients with acute kidney injury: a cross-sectional case series study. Ann Intensive Care. (2011) 1:21. doi: 10.1186/2110-5820-1-21
- Leaf DE, Siew ED, Eisenga MF, Singh K, Mc Causland FR, Srivastava A, et al. Fibroblast growth factor 23 associates with death in critically ill patients. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol.* (2018) 13:531–541. doi: 10.2215/CJN.10810917
- Leaf DE, Wolf M, Waikar SS, Chase H, Christov M, Cremers S, et al. FGF-23 levels in patients with AKI and risk of adverse outcomes. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol.* (2012) 7:1217–23. doi: 10.2215/CJN.00550112
- Leaf DE, Christov M, Jüppner H, Siew E, Ikizler TA, Bian A, et al., Fibroblast growth factor 23 levels are elevated and associated with severe acute kidney injury and death following cardiac surgery. *Kidney Int.* (2016) 89:939– 48. doi: 10.1016/j.kint.2015.12.035
- 32. Jung SY, Kim H, Park S, Jhee JH, Yun HR, Kim H, et al. Electrolyte and mineral disturbances in septic acute kidney injury patients undergoing continuous renal replacement therapy. *Medicine*. (2016) 95:e4542. doi: 10.1097/MD.000000000004542
- Saour M, Zeroual N, Ridolfo J, Nogue E, Picot M-C, Gaudard P, et al. Serum phosphate kinetics in acute kidney injury after cardiac surgery: an observational study. J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth. (2020) 34: 2964– 72. doi: 10.1053/j.jvca.2020.05.023
- 34. Burra V, Nagaraja PS, Singh NG, Prabhakar V, Manjunatha N. Early prediction of acute kidney injury using serum phosphorus as a biomarker in pediatric cardiac surgical patients. *Ann Card Anaesth.* (2018) 21:455– 9. doi: 10.4103/aca.ACA\_14\_18
- Krieger NS, Sessler NE, Bushinsky DA. Acidosis inhibits osteoblastic and stimulates osteoclastic activity *in vitro*. *Am J Physiol Physiol*. (1992) 262(3 Pt 2):F442–8. doi: 10.1152/ajprenal.1992.262.3.F442
- Scheidegger D, Drop LJ, Schellenberg J-C. Role of the systemic vasculature in the hemodynamic response to changes in plasma ionized calcium. *Arch Surg.* (1980). 115:206–11. doi: 10.1001/archsurg.1980.01380020072017
- Szent-Györgyi AG. Calcium regulation of muscle contraction. *Biophys J.* (1975) 15:707–23. doi: 10.1016/S0006-3495(75)85849-8
- Rousseau AF, Kerschan-Schindl K, Scherkl M, Amrein K. Bone metabolism and fracture risk during and after critical illness. *Curr Opin Crit Care.* (2020) 26:379–85. doi: 10.1097/MCC.00000000000734
- 39. Cariolou M, Cupp MA, Evangelou E, Tzoulaki I, Berlanga-Taylor AJ. Importance of Vitamin D in acute and critically ill children with subgroup analyses of sepsis and respiratory tract infections: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMJ Open.* (2019) 9:e027666. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2018-027666

- Braun A, Christopher K. Vitamin D in acute kidney injury. Inflamm Allergy-Drug Targets. (2013) 12:262–72. doi: 10.2174/18715281113129990044
- Braun AB, Litonjua AA, Moromizato T, Gibbons FK, Giovannucci E, Christopher KB. Association of low serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D levels and acute kidney injury in the critically ill. *Crit Care Med.* (2012) 40:3170– 9. doi: 10.1097/CCM.0b013e318260c928
- 42. Lai L, Qian J, Yang Y, Xie Q, You H, Zhou Y, et al. Is the serum vitamin D level at the time of hospital-acquired acute kidney injury diagnosis associated with prognosis? *PLoS ONE.* (2013) 8:e64964. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0064964
- Leaf DE, Waikar SS, Wolf M, Cremers S, Bhan I, Stern L. Dysregulated mineral metabolism in patients with acute kidney injury and risk of adverse outcomes. *Clin Endocrinol.* (2013) 79:491–8. doi: 10.1111/cen.12172
- 44. Tingting L, Vijayan A, Dusso A, Jain S, Coyne DW. Relationship of 1,25 dihydroxy vitamin D levels to clinical outcomes in critically ill patients with acute kidney injury. *J Nephrol Ther.* (2014) 5:190. doi: 10.4172/2161-0959.1000190
- Slatopolsky E, Weerts C, Thielan J, Horst R, Harter H, Martin KJ. Marked suppression of secondary hyperparathyroidism by intravenous administration of 1,25-dihydroxycholecalciferol in uremic patients. *J Clin Invest.* (1984) 74:2136–43. doi: 10.1172/JCI111639
- Hsu CH, Patel S, Young EW, Simpson RU. Production and metabolic clearance of calcitriol in acute renal failure. *Kidney Int.* (1988) 33:530– 5. doi: 10.1038/ki.1988.30
- Ross AC, Manson JE, Abrams SA, Aloia JF, Brannon PM, Clinton SK, et al. The 2011 report on dietary reference intakes for calcium and vitamin D from the Institute of Medicine: what clinicians need to know. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* (2011) 96:53–8. doi: 10.1210/jc.2010-2704
- Ramagopalan S V., Heger A, Berlanga AJ, Maugeri NJ, Lincoln MR, Burrell A, et al. A ChIP-seq defined genome-wide map of vitamin D receptor binding: associations with disease and evolution. *Genome Res.* (2010) 20:1352– 60. doi: 10.1101/gr.107920.110
- 49. Cameron LK, Lei K, Smith S, Doyle NL, Doyle JF, Flynn K, et al. Vitamin D levels in critically ill patients with acute kidney injury: a protocol for a prospective cohort study (VID-AKI). *BMJ Open.* (2017) 7:e016486. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2017-016486
- de Bragança AC, Volpini RA, Mehrotra P, Andrade L, Basile DP. Vitamin D deficiency contributes to vascular damage in sustained ischemic acute kidney injury. *Physiol Rep.* (2016) 4:e12829. doi: 10.14814/phy2.12829
- Reis NG, Francescato HDC, de Almeida LF, Silva CGA da, Costa RS, Coimbra TM. Protective effect of calcitriol on rhabdomyolysis-induced acute kidney injury in rats. *Sci Rep.* (2019) 9:7090. doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-43564-1
- 52. Arfian N, Budiharjo S, Prasetyo Wibisono D, Ananda Wahyu Setyaningsih W, Mansyur Romi M, Laila Afifa An-nur Willya Saputri R, et al. Vitamin D ameliorates kidney ischemia reperfusion injury via reduction of inflammation and myofibroblast expansion. *Kobe J Med Sci.* (2019) 65:E138–43. doi: 10.24546/81012029
- Druml W, Schwarzenhofer M, Apsner R HW. Fat-soluble vitamins in patients with acute renal failure. *Min Electrolyte Metab.* (1998) 24:220–6.
- Shieh SD, Lin YF, Lin SH LK. A prospective study of calcium metabolism in exertional heat stroke with rhabdomyolysis and acute renal failure. *Nephron.* (1995) 71:428–32.
- Terzioglu-Usak S, Elibol B, Dalli T, Guler C, Aysan E. Effect of restraint stress on plasma PTH concentration and its molecular targets expressions in Wistar rats. Int J Endocrinol Metab. (2018) 16:e66979. doi: 10.5812/ijem.66979
- Zaloga GP, Teres D. Critical illness is associated with elevated parathyroid hormone. Crit Care. (2001) 5:P208. doi: 10.1186/cc1275
- Hu MC, Shiizaki K, Kuro-o M, Moe OW. Fibroblast growth factor 23 and klotho: physiology and pathophysiology of an endocrine network of mineral metabolism. *Annu Rev Physiol.* (2013) 75:503–33. doi: 10.1146/annurev-physiol-030212-183727
- Egli-Spichtig D, Zhang MYH, Perwad F. Fibroblast growth factor 23 expression is increased in multiple organs in mice with folic acid-induced acute kidney injury. *Front Physiol.* (2018) 9:1494. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2018.01494
- Neyra JA, Moe OW, Hu MC. Fibroblast growth factor 23 and acute kidney injury. *Pediatr Nephrol.* (2015) 30:1909–18. doi: 10.1007/s00467-014-3006-1
- Zaidi M, Yuen T, Sun L, Rosen CJ. Regulation of skeletal homeostasis. *Endocr Rev.* (2018) 39:701–18. doi: 10.1210/er.2018-00050

- Christov M. Fibroblast growth factor 23 in acute kidney injury. Curr Opin Nephrol Hypertens. (2014) 23:340– 5. doi: 10.1097/01.mnh.0000447021.51722.2f
- Christov M, Waikar SS, Pereira RC, Havasi A, Leaf DE, Goltzman D, et al. Plasma FGF23 levels increase rapidly after acute kidney injury. *Kidney Int.* (2013) 84:776–85. doi: 10.1038/ki.2013.150
- Leaf DE, Jacob KA, Srivastava A, Chen ME, Christov M, Jüppner H, et al. Fibroblast growth factor 23 levels associate with AKI and death in critical illness. J Am Soc Nephrol. (2017) 28:1877–85. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2016080836
- Christov M, Neyra JA, Gupta S, Leaf DE. Fibroblast growth factor 23 and klotho in AKI. Semin Nephrol. (2019) 39:57– 75. doi: 10.1016/j.semnephrol.2018.10.005
- Fayed A, Radwan WA, Amin M, Gamal A. Prediction of mortality and need for renal replacement therapy in patients of acute kidney injury using fibroblast growth factor 23. *Saudi J Kidney Dis Transpl.* (2019) 30:1044– 51. doi: 10.4103/1319-2442.270259
- Meurer M, Höcherl K. Renal ischemia-reperfusion injury impairs renal calcium, magnesium, and phosphate handling in mice. *Pflugers Arch Eur J Physiol.* (2019) 471:901–14. doi: 10.1007/s00424-019-02255-6
- 67. Hasegawa H, Nagano N, Urakawa I, Yamazaki Y, Iijima K, Fujita T, et al. Direct evidence for a causative role of FGF23 in the abnormal renal phosphate handling and vitamin D metabolism in rats with early-stage chronic kidney disease. *Kidney Int.* (2010) 78:975–80. doi: 10.1038/ki.2010.313
- Kronenberg H. Npt2a-the key to phosphate homeostasis. N Engl J Med. (2002) 347:1022–24. doi: 10.1056/NEJMe020098
- Shimada T, Hasegawa H, Yamazaki Y, Muto T, Hino R, Takeuchi Y, et al. FGF-23 is a potent regulator of vitamin D metabolism and phosphate homeostasis. *J Bone Miner Res.* (2004) 19:429–35. doi: 10.1359/JBMR.0301264
- Hu M-C, Kuro-O M, Moe OW. Klotho and kidney disease. J Nephrol. (2010) 23:(Suppl. 16):S136–44. doi: 10.1159/000346778
- Castellano G, Intini A, Stasi A, Divella C, Gigante M, Pontrelli P, et al. Complement modulation of anti-aging factor klotho in ischemia/reperfusion injury and delayed graft function. *Am J Transplant.* (2016) 16:325– 33. doi: 10.1111/ajt.13415
- Imura A, Tsuji Y, Murata M, Maeda R, Kubota K, Iwano A, et al. Alphaklotho as a regulator of calcium homeostasis. *Science*. (2007) 316: 1615– 8. doi: 10.1126/science.1135901
- Hu MC, Shi M, Zhang J, Quiones H, Kuro-O M, Moe OW. Klotho deficiency is an early biomarker of renal ischemia-reperfusion injury and its replacement is protective. *Kidney Int.* (2010) 78:1240–51. doi: 10.1038/ki. 2010.328
- 74. Sugiura H, Yoshida T, Tsuchiya K, Mitobe M, Nishimura S, Shirota S, et al. Klotho reduces apoptosis in experimental ischaemic acute renal failure. *Nephrol Dial Transplant.* (2005) 20:2636–45. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfi165
- 75. Kim AJ, Ro H, Kim H, Chang JH, Lee HH, Chung W, et al. Klotho and S100A8/A9 as discriminative markers between prerenal and intrinsic acute kidney injury. *PLoS ONE.* (2016) 11:e0147255. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0147255
- 76. Seo MY, Yang J, Lee JY, Kim K, Kim SC, Chang H, et al. Renal klotho expression in patients with acute kidney injury is associated with the severity of the injury. *Korean J Intern Med.* (2015) 30:489– 95. doi: 10.3904/kjim.2015.30.4.489
- 77. Neyra JA, Li X, Mescia F, Ortiz-Soriano V, Adams-Huet B, Pastor J, et al. Urine klotho is lower in critically ill patients with versus without acute kidney injury and associates with major adverse kidney events. *Crit Care Explor.* (2019) 1:e0016. doi: 10.1097/cce.000000000000016
- Seibert E, Radler D, Ulrich C, Hanika S, Fiedler R, Girndt M. Serum klotho levels in acute kidney injury. *Clin Nephrol.* (2017) 87:173– 9. doi: 10.5414/CN108970
- Ruiz-Andres O, Dolores Sanchez-Niño M, Antonio Moreno J, Ruiz-Ortega M, Mario Ramos A, Belen Sanz A, et al. Downregulation of kidney protective factors by inflammation: role of transcription factors and epigenetic mechanisms. *Am J Physiol Ren Physiol.* (2016) 311:1329– 40. doi: 10.1152/ajprenal.00487.2016

- Singbartl K, Formeck CL, Kellum JA. Kidney-immune system crosstalk in AKI. Semin Nephrol. (2019) 39:96–106. doi: 10.1016/j.semnephrol.2018.10.007
- Grigoryev DN, Liu M, Hassoun HT, Cheadle C, Barnes KC, Rabb H. The local and systemic inflammatory transcriptome after acute kidney injury. J Am Soc Nephrol. (2008) 19:547–58. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2007040469
- Ratliff BB, Rabadi MM, Vasko R, Yasuda K, Goligorsky MS. Messengers without borders: mediators of systemic inflammatory response in AKI. J Am Soc Nephrol. (2013) 24:529–36. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2012060633
- Rabb H, Griffin MD, McKay DiB, Swaminathan S, Pickkers P, Rosner MH, et al. Inflammation in AKI: current understanding, key questions, and knowledge gaps. J Am Soc Nephrol. (2016) 27:371–9. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2015030261
- Darisipudi MN, Knauf F. An update on the role of the inflammasomes in the pathogenesis of kidney diseases. *Pediatr Nephrol.* (2016) 31:535– 44. doi: 10.1007/s00467-015-3153-z
- 85. Gilbert L, He X, Farmer P, Rubin J, Drissi H, Van Wijnen AJ, et al. Expression of the osteoblast differentiation factor RUNX2 (Cbfa1/AML3/Pebp2αA) is inhibited by tumor necrosis factor-α. J Biol Chem. (2002) 277:2695– 701. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M106339200
- Ahuja SS, Zhao S, Bellido T, Plotkin LI, Jimenez F, Bonewald LF. CD40 ligand blocks apoptosis induced by tumor necrosis factor α, glucocorticoids, and etoposide in osteoblasts and the osteocyte-like cell line murine long bone osteocyte-Y4. *Endocrinology*. (2003) 144:1761–9. doi: 10.1210/en.2002-221136
- Glenn DA, Denburg MR. Bone health in glomerular kidney disease. Curr Osteoporos Rep. (2019) 17:570–9. doi: 10.1007/s11914-019-00531-z
- Hendy GN, Canaff L. Calcium-sensing receptor, proinflammatory cytokines and calcium homeostasis. Semin Cell Dev Biol. (2016) 49:37–43. doi: 10.1016/j.semcdb.2015.11.006
- Liu N, Nguyen L, Chun RF, Lagishetty V, Ren S, Wu S, et al. Altered endocrine and autocrine metabolism of vitamin D in a mouse model of gastrointestinal inflammation. *Endocrinology.* (2008) 149:4799– 808. doi: 10.1210/en.2008-0060
- Uno JK, Kolek OI, Hines ER, Xu H, Timmermann BN, Kiela PR, et al. The role of tumor necrosis factor α in down-regulation of osteoblast phex gene expression in experimental murine colitis. *Gastroenterology*. (2006) 131:497– 509. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2006.05.020
- Ensrud KE, Barbour K, Canales MT, Danielson ME, Boudreau RM, Bauer DC, et al. Renal function and nonvertebral fracture risk in multiethnic women: the Women's Health Initiative (WHI). Osteoporos Int. (2012) 23:887– 99. doi: 10.1007/s00198-011-1667-1
- Yuan FL, Li X, Lu WG, Xu RS, Zhao YQ, Li CW, et al. Regulatory T cells as a potent target for controlling bone loss. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* (2010) 402:173–6. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2010.09.120
- Stagi S, Cavalli L, Iurato C, Seminara S, Brandi ML, De Martino M. Bone metabolism in children and adolescents: main characteristics of the determinants of peak bone mass. *Clin Cases Miner Bone Metab.* (2013) 10:172–9.
- 94. Hanna MH, Brophy PD. Metabolomics in pediatric nephrology: emerging concepts. *Pediatr Nephrol.* (2015) 30:881–7. doi: 10.1007/s00467-014-2880-x

Conflict of Interest: MD reports funding from Mallinckrodt Pharmaceuticals.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Hegde, Denburg and Glenn. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## Acute Kidney Injury in Critically III Children Is Not all Acute: Lessons Over the Last 5 Years

Erin Hessey<sup>1\*</sup>, Nabil Melhem<sup>2</sup>, Rashid Alobaidi<sup>3</sup>, Emma Ulrich<sup>4</sup>, Catherine Morgan<sup>4</sup>, Sean M. Bagshaw<sup>5,6</sup> and Manish D. Sinha<sup>2,7</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Faculty of Medicine & Dentistry, University of Alberta, Edmonton, AB, Canada, <sup>2</sup> Department of Pediatric Nephrology, Evelina London Children's Hospital, London, United Kingdom, <sup>3</sup> Division of Pediatric Critical Care, Department of Pediatrics, University of Alberta and Stollery Children's Hospital, Edmonton, AB, Canada, <sup>4</sup> Department of Pediatric Nephrology, Stollery Children's Hospital, Edmonton, AB, Canada, <sup>5</sup> Department of Critical Care Medicine, Faculty of Medicine and Dentistry and Alberta Health Services – Edmonton Zone, University of Alberta, Edmonton, AB, Canada, <sup>6</sup> Alberta Critical Care Strategic Clinical Network, Alberta Health Services, Edmonton, AB, Canada, <sup>7</sup> King's College London, London, United Kingdom

Acute kidney injury (AKI) in the pediatric intensive care unit (PICU) is an important risk factor for increased morbidity and mortality during hospitalization. Over the past

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Katja Michelle Gist, Children's Hospital Colorado, United States

#### Reviewed by:

Gerard Cortina, Innsbruck Medical University, Austria Aftab S. Chishti, University of Kentucky, United States Scott Sutherland, Lucile Packard Children's Hospital, United States

> \*Correspondence: Erin Hessey erin.hessey@gmail.com

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Pediatric Nephrology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Pediatrics

Received: 31 December 2020 Accepted: 22 February 2021 Published: 15 March 2021

#### Citation:

Hessey E, Melhem N, Alobaidi R, Ulrich E, Morgan C, Bagshaw SM and Sinha MD (2021) Acute Kidney Injury in Critically III Children Is Not all Acute: Lessons Over the Last 5 Years. Front. Pediatr. 9:648587. doi: 10.3389/fped.2021.648587 decade, accumulated data on children and young people indicates that acute episodes of kidney dysfunction can have lasting consequences on multiple organ systems and health outcomes. To date, there are no guidelines for follow-up of surviving children that may be at risk of long-term sequelae following AKI in the PICU. This narrative review aims to describe literature from the last 5 years on the risk of medium and long-term kidney and non-kidney outcomes after AKI in the PICU. More specifically, we will focus on outcomes in children and young people following AKI in the general PICU population and children undergoing cardiac surgery. These outcomes include mortality, hypertension, proteinuria, chronic kidney disease, and healthcare utilization. We also aim to highlight current gaps in knowledge in medium and long-term outcomes in this pediatric population. We suggest a framework for future research to develop evidence-based guidelines for follow-up of children surviving an episode of critical illness and AKI.
Keywords: acute kideny injury, chronic kidney disease, long-term follow up, hypertension, healthcare utilization, mortality, critical care

#### INTRODUCTION

Acute kidney injury (AKI) is defined as an abrupt onset of kidney dysfunction. AKI occurs in 20– 30% of the general pediatric intensive care (PICU) population and up to 50% in children following cardiac surgery (1–6). Compared to children who do not develop AKI in the PICU, children with AKI are at higher risk of poor early outcomes, including mortality, receipt and longer duration of mechanical ventilation, and prolonged length of PICU and subsequent hospital stay (7–10).

More recently, research has focused on evaluating the medium and long-term sequelae of AKI sustained in the PICU. One of the largest early follow-up studies found that 10% of children with AKI in the PICU developed chronic kidney disease (CKD) [defined as glomerular filtration rate (GFR) <60 ml/min/1.73 m<sup>2</sup> or albuminuria] 1–3 years later (11). Additionally, 47% of children with AKI were considered to be at risk of CKD [defined as GFR 60–90 ml/min/1.73 m<sup>2</sup>, hypertension, and/or hyperfiltration (GFR  $\geq$  150 ml/min/1.73m<sup>2</sup>)]. In 2014, Greenberg et al. performed a

systematic review and meta-analysis to examine the long-term kidney outcomes after AKI (12). These early studies found that children with AKI had higher rates of hypertension, proteinuria, CKD, and mortality relative to the general pediatric population. However, the authors highlighted that there was significant heterogeneity between studies with an absence of contemporaneous patients with no AKI, and variable definitions of AKI, which together made it difficult to evaluate the association between AKI and outcomes. These issues have been addressed systematically in recent studies standardizing AKI definitions, with large study cohorts that include non-AKI comparison groups, and an overall increase in the quality of research and rigor of analyses. This has allowed for a better understanding of the association between AKI and longterm outcomes.

The objectives of this narrative review are to: (i) summarize literature over the past 5 years for relevant medium and longterm outcomes following AKI in the general PICU population and children undergoing cardiac surgery; (ii) highlight risk associations for reported adverse outcomes; and (iii) discuss future directions for clinical guidelines and research to mitigate adverse outcomes in this high-risk population.

#### MORTALITY

Previous studies evaluating short- and long-term mortality following AKI lacked non-AKI comparison groups, however, they uniformly highlight that mortality rates in patients with AKI were higher than in the general population (12, 13). Since 2015, we identified eight studies that examined the association of AKI with mortality and compared this to children who did not develop AKI, with follow-up ranging from 28-days to 5–7 years (**Table 1**) (3, 6, 14–19). As highlighted in **Table 1**, despite differences in study populations and duration of followup, all studies reported higher mortality in those with AKI when compared with children who did not experience AKI whilst in the PICU, independent of illness severity and other important confounders.

#### **General PICU Population**

In a multinational study of 4,984 general PICU patients, Kaddourah et al. showed that severe AKI [defined throughout this review as stage 2 or 3 AKI by Kidney Disease: Improving Global Outcomes (KDIGO) criteria unless specified] was associated with 77% greater odds of 28-day mortality following adjustments for risk factors that differed between survivors and non-survivors including admission diagnoses, comorbidities, illness severity, and PICU interventions (3). Similarly, when compared to those with no AKI, a large multicenter Canadian study observed that severe AKI was associated with over 5 times greater risk of mortality 1-year after PICU admission following adjustment for illness severity and other important confounders (6). It is important to highlight that both these studies included in-hospital mortality from initial admission in their outcomes. In the Canadian study 52 (5.5%) patients died, 18 of whom died after discharge. Severe AKI was still associated with post-discharge mortality [odds ratio [OR] (95% confidence interval [CI]): 2.84 (10.4–7.81)] (6).

The longest follow-up study looked at mortality 5–7 years after hospital discharge in a non-cardiac surgery PICU population and found that AKI was associated with over 3 times higher risk of mortality (17). Interestingly, this paper demonstrated that the association between AKI and 30-day and 1-year mortality was conditional on the inclusion of hospital mortality in the outcome. When hospital mortality was included, AKI was associated with 30-day and 1-year mortality with a similar magnitude of association as reported in previous studies (3, 6, 17).

#### **Cardiac Surgery Population**

Two studies specifically focused on mortality in children with AKI following cardiac surgery. In a multicenter study of over 400 patients, Nune et al. found that children with severe AKI post-cardiac surgery had over 11 times higher risk of mortality 30-day after surgery, following adjustment for age, surgical risk score, cardiopulmonary bypass time, and cyanotic heart disease (18). In a similar-sized population, Hirano et al. reported a higher risk of 2-year mortality in children with AKI [defined by Pediatric Risk, Injury, Failure, Loss, End Stage Renal Disease (pRIFLE) criteria] post-cardiac surgery [adjusted hazard ratio (95% CI): 7.47 (2.88–19.40)] (16). Both of these studies included hospital mortality from the initial cardiac surgery admission.

#### What's New?

Since the publication of the systematic review by Greenberg et al. we now have comparable groups (with and without AKI during hospitalization) that allow us to evaluate the association between AKI and mortality (12). All studies found that children who develop AKI in the PICU had higher mortality, independent of illness severity measures, compared to patients admitted to the PICU who did not develop AKI. However, it is important to highlight that many of these studies included in-hospital mortality from the index admission.

#### HYPERTENSION, PROTEINURIA, AND CHRONIC KIDNEY DISEASE

In adult studies, AKI in the ICU is independently associated with significantly worse long-term kidney outcomes including hypertension, proteinuria, and CKD (20–22). The potential mechanism for the progression of AKI to CKD includes loss of kidney mass during the acute event resulting in progressive hyperfiltration damage, glomerulosclerosis, and fibrosis (23). This relationship has been challenging to study in the pediatric population as a result of the known physiologic maturation in glomerular filtration rate following birth, the current lack of consensus guidelines on how best to monitor these children over time resulting in varying follow-up practices, and inconsistent definitions of long-term kidney outcomes in the literature. Initial findings showed a higher prevalence of adverse kidney outcomes following AKI compared to the general population; however, in these studies subject numbers were small, follow-up duration

References	Study design	N patients	Inclusion criteria	AKI definition	Duration of follow up	Outcome definition	Findings
Sanchez-Pinto et al. (14)	Single center retrospective cohort study	8,260	General PICU, non-cardiac surgery	KDIGO	28-days	Chart review, includes in-hospital mortality	<ul> <li>In adjusted analysis both resolved and persistent AKI was associated with 28-day mortality</li> </ul>
Al-Otaibi et al. (15)	Single center retrospective cohort study	131	General PICU	pRIFLE	2-years	Chart review, includes in-hospital mortality	<ul> <li>40% 2-year mortality in patients with AKI</li> <li>In adjusted analysis stage 3 (failure) was not statistically significantly associated with 2-year mortality</li> </ul>
Hirano et al. (16)	Single center retrospective cohort study	418	Cardiac surgery	pRIFLE	2-years	Prospective patient database, includes in-hospital mortality	<ul> <li>23 of 104 (22%) patients with AKI died during 2-year follow- up</li> <li>AKI was associated with 2-year mortality [aHR 7.47 (2.88–19.40)]</li> </ul>
Kaddourah et al. (3)	Multinational, prospective observational cohort study	4,984	General PICU	KDIGO	28-days	Chart review, includes in-hospital mortality	<ul> <li>60 of 543 patients (11%) with severe AKI died compared to 105 of 4,140 patients (2.5%) without severe AKI (<i>P</i> &lt; 0.001)</li> <li>Severe AKI associated with increased risk of death [aOR 1.77 (1.17–2.68)]</li> </ul>
Hessey et al. (17)	Two center retrospective cohort study	2,041	General PICU, non-cardiac surgery	KDIGO	5–7 years	Administrative data, excludes in-hospital mortality	<ul> <li>AKI was associated with over 3× higher risk of 5–7 year mortality</li> <li>AKI was not associated with 30-day or 1-year mortality when hospital mortality excluded</li> </ul>
Alobaidi et al. (6)	Multicenter retrospective cohort study	1,017	General PICU	KDIGO	1-year	Administrative data, includes in-hospital mortality	<ul> <li>56 (5.5%) of patients diec within 1 year of PICU admission</li> <li>Severe AKI associated with greater 1-year mortality [aOF 5.50 (2.76–10.96)]</li> <li>Post-discharge mortality (n = 18) was higher in patients with severe AKI [aOR 2.84 (1.04–7.81)]</li> </ul>
Nunes et al. (18)	Multicenter prospective cohort study	402	Cardiac surgery	KDIGO	1-year	Chart review, includes in-hospital mortality	<ul> <li>Severe AKI associated with increased risk of 30-day mortality [aHR 11.7 (1.9–72.6)]</li> <li>At 1-year 4 of 344 (1.2%) non-AKI/stage 1 and 5 of 58 (8.6%) stage 2 or 3 AKI died</li> </ul>
Zhang et al. (19)	Single center retrospective cohort study	80	Liver transplantation	KDIGO	3-year	Chart review, includes in-hospital mortality	<ul> <li>The 3-year survival was higher in non-AKI patients (95%) compared to AKI patients (87%) but did not reach statistical significance</li> </ul>

TABLE 1 | Summary of studies evaluating the association between AKI and mortality published over the past 5-years.

Key articles evaluating the association between PICU-AKI and long-term mortality published since 2015. This may not be an exhaustive list as a formal systematic review search was not performed.

KDIGO, Kidney Disease: Improving Global Outcomes; pRIFLE, pediatric Risk, Injury, Failure, Loss, End stage renal disease; AKI, acute kidney injury; aOR, adjusted odds ratio; aHR, adjusted hazard ratio; PICU, pediatric intensive care unit; CKD, chronic kidney disease; SCr, serum creatinine.

was limited, and many lacked non-AKI comparison groups (12). Since 2015 we found eleven studies examining the association between PICU-AKI and hypertension, proteinuria, and CKD (**Table 2**) (2, 4, 15, 24–32).

#### **General PICU Population**

There have been four studies examining the association of CKD following AKI in general PICU cohorts. The follow-up time across these studies varied from 2 to 6 years, as did the methods

References	Study design	N patients	Inclusion criteria	AKI definition	Duration of follow up	Outcome definition	Findings
Cooper et al. (24)	Single center retrospective cohort study	51	Cardiopulmonary bypass surgery	pRIFLE	7 years	<ul> <li>(i) low eGFR (&lt;90 ml/min/1.73 m<sup>2</sup>)</li> <li>(ii) albuminuria (ACR &gt;30 mg/g)</li> <li>(iii) Hypertension (≥90th percentile)</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>No significant association between outcome measures of CKD and PICU-AKI after CPB surgery</li> </ul>
Hollander et al. (2)	Single center retrospective cohort study	88	Heart transplant recipients	KDIGO	1 year	<ul> <li>(i) eGFR&lt;60 mL/min/1.73</li> <li>m<sup>2</sup> for more than 3</li> <li>months</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>5% of population developed CKD</li> <li>Non-recovery from AKI associated with CKD</li> </ul>
Al-Otaibi et al. (15)	Single center retrospective cohort study	131	General PICU	pRIFLE	2 years	<ul> <li>(i) Hypertension (&gt;95th percentile)</li> <li>(ii) Proteinuria (PCR &gt; 30 mg/dl)</li> <li>(iii) Reduction in GFR</li> </ul>	• PICU patients with AKI had high prevalence of CKD (33%) and hypertension (73%)
Madsen et al. (4)	Multicenter retrospective cohort study	382	Cardiac surgery	KDIGO	5 years	(i) low eGFR (<90 ml/min/1.73 m <sup>2</sup> )	<ul> <li>AKI associated with an increased risk for CKD [aHR 3.8 (1.4–10.4)]</li> </ul>
Greenberg et al. (25)	Single center prospective cohort study	110	Cardiopulmonary bypass surgery	AKIN	5 years	<ul> <li>(i) low eGFR (&lt;90 ml/min/1.73 m<sup>2</sup>)</li> <li>(ii) albuminuria (ACR &gt; 30 mg/g)</li> <li>(iii) Hypertension (≥95th percentile)</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>No significant association between outcome measures of CKD and AKI</li> </ul>
Hessey et al. (26)	Two center retrospective cohort study	2,235	General PICU	KDIGO	5 years	<ul> <li>(i) ≥1 CKD diagnostic code or ≥1 CKD-specific medication prescription</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Patients with AKI had increased risk of a CKD diagnosis</li> </ul>
Benisty et al. (27)	Two center prospective cohort study	277	General PICU, non-cardiac surgery	KDIGO	6 years	<ul> <li>(i) low eGFR (&lt;90 ml/min/1.73 m<sup>2</sup>)</li> <li>(ii) alburninuria (ACR&gt;30 mg/g)</li> <li>(iii) BP ≥90th percentile</li> </ul>	AKI and stage 2 or 3 AKI associated with 2.2- and 6.6-fold higher adjusted odds of CKD and pre-hypertension or worse
Hessey et al. (28)	Two center retrospective cohort study	1,978	General PICU, non-cardiac surgery	KDIGO	5 years	<ul> <li>(i) ≥1 hypertension diagnostic code or ≥1 hypertension-specific medication prescription</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Patients with AKI and stage 2 or 3 AKI had increased risk of a hypertension diagnosis</li> </ul>
Huynh et al. (29)	Two center retrospective cohort study	58	Neonatal cardiac surgery	KDIGO	6 years	<ul> <li>(i) low eGFR (&lt;90 ml/min/1.73 m<sup>2</sup>)</li> <li>(ii) albuminuria (ACR&gt;3 mg/mmol)</li> <li>(iii) BP ≥90th percentile</li> </ul>	Cardiac surgery associated AKI was not associated with CKD or hypertension
Menon et al. (30)	Single center retrospective cohort study	221	Heart transplant recipients ( $n =$ 109) Liver transplant recipients ( $n$ = 112)	KDIGO	5 year	(i) low eGFR (<60 ml/min/1.73 m²)	<ul> <li>No difference in incidence of CKD amongst heart transplant recipients with PICU-AKI vs. no AKI</li> <li>Liver transplant recipients with PICU-AKI showed a higher risk of CKD compared to those with no AKI</li> </ul>
Zappitelli et al. (31)	Two center prospective cohort study	124	Cardiac surgery	KDIGO	4 years	<ul> <li>(i) low eGFR for age</li> <li>(ii) albuminuria (ACR &gt; 30 mg/g)</li> <li>(iii) Hypertension (≥95th percentile)</li> </ul>	AKI not associated with CKD and hypertension at follow-up

#### TABLE 2 Summary of studies evaluating the association between AKI and long-term kidney outcomes published over the past 5-years.

Key articles evaluating the association between PICU-AKI and long-term kidney outcomes including CKD, proteinuria, and hypertension published since 2015. This may not be an exhaustive list as a formal systematic review search was not performed.

KDIGO, Kidney Disease: Improving Global Outcomes; pRIFLE, pediatric Risk, Injury, Failure, Loss, End stage renal disease.; AKIN, acute kidney injury network criteria; AKI, acute kidney injury; aHR, adjusted hazard ratio; PICU, pediatric intensive care unit; CKD, chronic kidney disease; SCr, serum creatinine; eGFR, estimated glomerular; CPB, cardiopulmonary bypass.

of defining outcomes. However, consistently across all studies patients with mixed etiology, PICU-AKI were at higher risk of developing hypertension, proteinuria, and/or CKD over the long-term (15, 26–28). Two studies in cohorts of general PICU-AKI patients measured outcomes using laboratory defined CKD (albumin/creatinine >30 mg/g or GFR <90 ml/min/1.73 m<sup>2</sup>) or measured office blood pressure abnormalities (15, 27). The prevalence of CKD and hypertension was high in the AKI population in both studies. One of these studies by Benisty et al. found that 6 years after PICU admission any AKI (i.e., stage 1, 2, or 3 by KDIGO criteria) and severe AKI (stage 2 or 3) were associated with a 2.2 [95% CI: 1.1–4.4] and 6.6 [95% CI: 1.5– 28.3] higher adjusted odds ratio for CKD and pre-hypertension or worse, respectively (27).

Two studies from the same cohort in Quebec alternatively used administrative data (diagnostic and medication codes) to define CKD and hypertension outcomes (26, 28). In this large two-center retrospective cohort of 2,245 subjects, even following mild (stage 1) AKI, children had a significantly increased risk of CKD diagnosis after a 5-year follow-up period (26). At followup, 2% had a diagnosis of CKD. Those with mild AKI (stage 1) had an increased risk of CKD with an adjusted hazard ratio of 2.2 [95% CI:1.1–4.5]. Those with more severe AKI (stage 2 or 3) had a higher risk of CKD with an adjusted hazard ratio of 2.5 [95% CI: 1.1–5.7] (26). Looking exclusively at hypertension diagnosis based on administrative data in the same large two-center cohort, Hessey et al. found that patients with PICU-AKI had over twice the risk of a hypertension diagnosis with an adjusted hazard ratio of 2.19 [95% CI: 1.47–3.26] (28).

#### **Cardiac Surgery Population**

Six studies reported long-term kidney outcomes following PICU-AKI exclusively in subjects who underwent cardiac surgery (2, 4, 24, 25, 29, 31). Unlike the general PICU population, there is conflicting evidence on whether AKI after cardiac surgery is associated with negative long-term kidney outcomes. A twocenter prospective cohort study of 124 children undergoing cardiac surgery found no association between AKI and CKD or hypertension after 2 years (31). The overall prevalence of CKD and hypertension was high at 20 and 30%, respectively, and young age at surgery was the only factor associated with CKD development. Contradicting these findings, in a singlecenter retrospective cohort study of 382 subjects who had undergone congenital cardiac surgery, after a median 3-year follow-up period, 11% of patients with AKI demonstrated CKD (4). The hazard ratio for CKD development amongst those with AKI compared with the non-AKI group was notably high, at 3.8 [95% CI: 1.4-10.4] following adjustment for sex, age, and surgical complexity (4). Similarly, two studies looking at long-term kidney outcomes exclusively in subjects who had undergone cardiopulmonary bypass surgery did not find an association between AKI and CKD (GFR  ${<}90\ ml/min/1.73\ m^2$  or albuminuria) or hypertension (blood pressure >95th percentile) (24, 25).

In a cardiac sub-group of 88 heart transplant recipients, advanced CKD (GFR<60 mL/min/1.73 m<sup>2</sup>) developed in 5% of the population after 1-year follow-up and was more common in

those who did not fully recover kidney function and in those with more severe AKI (stage 2 or 3 by KDIGO) (2). Lastly, in an exclusively neonatal cohort of 58 subjects who underwent cardiac surgery, with a median follow-up of 6 years, AKI was not associated with CKD or hypertension despite a high prevalence overall (17 and 30%, respectively) (29). Post-operative cyanosis was the only independent predictor of CKD.

Biomarkers have been explored as a way to detect kidney injury earlier than rising serum creatinine and to predict hospital outcomes in both adult and pediatric settings (33-37). These biomarkers are also being explored as possible markers of CKD and its progression (38). Two pediatric studies looked at the longterm changes in biomarkers, both in cardiac surgery populations. The Translational Research Investigating Biomarker End Points in AKI (TRIBE-AKI) consortium found that urinary neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin (NGAL) and urinary interleukin-18 (IL-18) concentrations rose acutely postoperatively in children with AKI but then decreased by the 5-year follow-up (25). They did not find a difference in median urine biomarker levels in children with severe AKI at 5-year follow-up compared to non-AKI patients. Unlike the TRIBE-AKI study, the Follow-Up Renal Assessment of Injury Long-Term After Acute Kidney Injury (FRAIL-AKI) study demonstrated that 7-8 years after cardiac surgery, children with AKI had higher urinary IL-18, kidney injury molecule-1 (KIM-1), and liver-type fatty acid-binding protein (L-FABP) concentrations (24). Despite these changes in biomarker profiles, these studies have not reported higher risk associations for adverse kidney outcomes in children with AKI post-cardiac surgery.

#### What Is New?

One of the major improvements in published studies since 2015 has been the standardization of AKI definitions, the inclusion of non-AKI comparison groups, and standardized definitions of hypertension, proteinuria, and CKD. The previous meta-analysis found an overall high prevalence of adverse kidney outcomes in AKI populations, however, more recent studies with non-AKI comparison groups and larger cohorts allow us to better understand this population's long-term risk (12). In the general PICU population, AKI is associated with an increased risk of CKD and hypertension compared to the non-AKI population after controlling for important confounders using both measured outcome data and administrative data. In the cardiac surgery population, intriguingly this risk association remains less clear, however as previously highlighted, this population has a high prevalence of kidney outcomes in long-term follow-up (12). Early research on the use of biomarkers for evaluating kidney recovery or CKD development has been published but validation of these biomarkers against gold standard measurements of kidney function are needed before they can be widely used.

#### HEALTHCARE UTILIZATION

In adults, AKI is associated with an increased risk of rehospitalization. In this population, the KDIGO guidelines suggest follow-up care 3 months after an AKI episode to assess new onset or worsening CKD (i.e., assess serum creatinine, urine for protein, blood pressure) (39–41). Limited data have been published on the impact of AKI on long-term healthcare utilization in children following their initial admission to the PICU. Two studies reporting on healthcare utilization, one in a non-cardiac surgery population and the other in those following cardiac surgery, have been published (**Table 3**).

#### **General PICU Population**

In the non-cardiac surgery PICU population, although there was no association with increased emergency department visits in those who developed AKI, children with AKI had a 35% higher risk of 1-year hospitalization, and 59% higher risk of 5-year hospitalizations compared to children without AKI (5). AKI was also associated with increased physician visits over 5 years [relative risk (95% CI) 1.12 (1.07–1.18)]. Importantly, <25% of the children with AKI saw a nephrologist in a 5-year follow-up (5). The reason for nephrology follow-up was not reported nor was a diagnosis of CKD or hypertension, however, this still highlights that even children with severe AKI in the PICU do not have regular follow-up with kidney specialists.

#### **Cardiac Surgery Population**

In the cardiac surgery population, neither any AKI (i.e., stage 1, 2, or 3) nor severe AKI (stage 2 or 3 by KDIGO criteria) were associated with 30-day or 1-year hospital readmission (18). Unlike the aforementioned study in the non-cardiac population which evaluated the number of events per person-time (count data), this study focused on readmissions as a binary outcome. Therefore, further research evaluating cumulative use healthcare is required to better understand if there are differences in healthcare utilization in this population.

#### What's New?

Evaluating the impact of AKI on long-term healthcare utilization is a new area of research that has emerged in the pediatric literature over the past 5 years. At this time, it remains unclear if AKI itself contributes to increased healthcare utilization in the general PICU population either by long-term kidney and non-kidney sequelae that may progress following AKI or if perhaps, AKI is a marker of a patient's medical complexity. Due to the limited data on healthcare utilization following AKI in the PICU, we are not able to draw strong conclusions at this time. Research comparing healthcare utilization prior to critical illness and after critical illness (i.e., a difference-in-difference approach), specifically evaluating AKI as a risk factor, would help to clarify this. Although there are currently no guidelines for post-discharge monitoring after pediatric AKI, non-cardiac surgery children who experience AKI whilst in PICU may require closer follow-up by primary care providers, hence leading to increased physician visits. In those following cardiac surgery, this is "in built" to their current care pathways with sub-specialist cardiac reviews and follow-up. Research on provider practice is needed to further evaluate this.

#### DISCUSSION

With the development of a standardized definition for AKI and increased awareness of long-term sequelae of AKI described in the adult literature, more research evaluating pediatric AKI and long-term outcomes has been reported (21, 39). In the general PICU population, AKI is associated with an increased risk of long-term mortality, healthcare utilization, CKD, and hypertension. In the cardiac surgery population, the association between AKI and long-term outcomes is less clear; however, these children remain at high risk of kidney sequelae compared to

TABLE 3 Summary of studies reporting AKI and long-term healthcare utilization published over the past 5-years.

References	Study design	N patients	Inclusion criteria	AKI definition	Duration of follow up	Outcome definition	Findings
Hessey et al. (5)	Two center retrospective cohort study	2,041	General PICU, non-cardiac surgery	KDIGO	5 years	30-day, 1-year, and 5-year hospitalizations, ED visits, and physician visits based on administrative data	<ul> <li>Patients with AKI (yes/no) and stage 2 or 3 AKI had increased risk of a 1- and 5- year hospitalization and 5-year physician visits</li> <li>AKI was not associated with emergency department visit</li> </ul>
Nunes et al. (18)	Multicenter prospective cohort study	402	Cardiac surgery	KDIGO	1-year	30-day and 1-year hospital readmission by chart review	<ul> <li>Patients with AKI did not have increased 30-day or 1-year readmission post-cardiac surgery compared to non-AKI patients</li> <li>Stage 2 or 3 AKI was not associated with 30-day [aHR 1.5 (0.6–3.8)] or 1-year [aHR 0.98 (0.5–1.7)] readmission post-cardiac surgery</li> </ul>

Key articles evaluating the association between PICU-AKI and healthcare utilization published since 2015. This may not be an exhaustive list as a formal systematic review search was not performed.

KDIGO, Kidney Disease: Improving Global Outcomes; AKI, acute kidney injury; aHR, adjusted hazard ratio; PICU, pediatric intensive care unit; ED, emergency department.

the general population. Since the meta-analysis by Greenberg et al. published in 2014, non-AKI comparison cohorts have been included in research studies allowing for the evaluation of AKI with long-term outcomes rather than simply making comparisons with the general pediatric population (12). This has not only allowed us to identify AKI as an important risk factor for poor long-term outcomes, but it has also allowed us to quantify the magnitude of risk of developing these outcomes.

Over the past 5 years, more data has been published beyond early mortality (within 28-days) describing both medium (1– 2 year) (6, 15, 16, 18) and long-term mortality risk (>3 years) (17, 19). Importantly, only two studies evaluated post-discharge mortality (i.e., excluded hospital mortality from the index admission). While the focus of this review was on long-term outcomes, we included key studies evaluating 28-day mortality as we felt this data frames the population and demonstrates the differences in risk of mortality during the acute illness and the long-term. This data highlights potential future research directions and the need to focus on evaluating in-hospital vs. post-discharge mortality to improve our understanding of the timelines and etiologies of mortality risk in this heterogeneous population of children with hospital-acquired AKI.

There remains a divergence of reported long-term kidney outcomes in children who developed PICU-AKI. Larger cohorts with general PICU populations show a consistent association between PICU-AKI and hypertension, proteinuria, and CKD. In exclusively cardiac surgery populations this association is less clear and requires further investigation. It remains to be shown if this is a result of study cohort size and shorter follow-up duration, if it is due to differences in the patient population, or the management of the patients in the peri-operative period or subsequently in the immediate post-operative period. It is well-known that there is a high prevalence of AKI after cardiac surgery and this is associated with poor short-term outcomes. There may be more strategies in place to identify and mitigate post-operative declines in kidney function. This population of patients needs further evaluation in larger multi-center cohorts with longer follow-up duration to better determine the long-term risk of kidney sequelae.

Biomarkers are an important emerging area of research and may allow for earlier detection of both acute and chronic kidney problems. However, standardized methods for measuring biomarkers and validated CKD definitions showing biomarker level associations with gold standard GFR measurements in children are needed before they can be widely used. At this time, proteinuria is the urinary marker used to identify early kidney disease. Disappointingly, rates of proteinuria are not reported uniformly in studies evaluating long-term CKD. However, this is important information as monitoring albumin-to-creatinine ratio or protein-to-creatinine ratio in a child with previous AKI is a simple investigation, less invasive than serial serum creatinine measurements, and may detect early kidney disease in this population.

All the studies that evaluated the long-term risk of kidney outcomes report composite measures, which include some combination of hypertension, proteinuria, albuminuria, and reduced GFR. Although composite measures have been used in the literature, moving forward it is important to report kidney outcomes more systematically, categorizing by presence (yes/no) and where applicable, by level for proteinuria, albuminuria, hypertension, CKD, and reduced eGFR. Detailed reporting is likely to improve our understanding of kidney outcomes, as often CKD is used as a "blanket term." Before these recent publications, there was little data on the prevalence of kidney outcomes in the pediatric AKI population, and these diagnoses are relatively uncommon in the general pediatric population. Therefore, early studies likely used composite measures to first assess if there was an association between AKI and long-term kidney outcomes. With the data showing increased prevalence of kidney outcomes in this population, future studies should aim to report these data with improved granularity using consensus definitions.

With many medical systems transitioning to electronic medical records, we are beginning to see larger populationbased studies emerge in the pediatric AKI literature (6). While prospective follow-up studies provide exceptional information, these are labor-intensive and costly, and the retention of patients can be a challenge. Using administrative data is a cost-effective method for examining long-term outcomes in a large population. A systematic review in adults has demonstrated that AKI is identified by administrative health data with low sensitivity, but high specificity; similar results were also obtained from a validation study for identifying AKI in the PICU (42, 43). Adult studies have used databases to evaluate the association between AKI and long-term CKD development (22). In the pediatric literature, studies have started exploring the use of administrative data; however, the algorithms used to define CKD and hypertension have not yet been validated (26, 28). A validation study of long-term kidney outcome definitions with administrative data would allow for much larger population based studies with longer followup times. Validation studies in adults have demonstrated low sensitivity of these diagnostic code algorithms which is a major limitation (44, 45). These administrative data definitions seem to identify the more severe disease and therefore are likely to underestimate the prevalence of outcomes. It is important to identify the population of patients with early CKD or mild proteinuria, as early intervention can slow the progression of the disease. In the future, as more electronic medical record databases become available, combining what we have learned from administrative database studies with patient measurements will allow for larger population studies with more sensitive outcome measurements.

Recovery from AKI has also been an important variable to monitor in this population and has been associated with long-term CKD development in children (46). Unfortunately, in retrospective studies, this can be difficult to assess as many patients with AKI do not have repeat creatinine measurements (47). At this time there is no standardized definition for kidney function recovery and therefore studies evaluating AKI recovery with outcomes can be difficult to compare and interpret. Further research is needed to examine the association between incomplete recovery after AKI and long-term outcomes. Various definitions should be evaluated in these studies to better determine what level of incomplete recovery puts children at higher risk. This information would be invaluable for long-term follow-up guideline development and risk stratification.

As our detection and treatment of various illnesses in the PICU improves, so does PICU survival; however, this may also be associated with greater long-term morbidity (48). At this time, it remains unclear whether the association between AKI and long-term mortality and healthcare utilization is related to the direct effect of kidney damage or if AKI is a marker of medical complexity. This also means further exploring the impact AKI has on long-term health-related quality of life (HRQoL). One study in children with sepsis in the PICU showed that children with severe AKI (stage 2 or 3 by KDIGO) had poorer HRQoL at 3-months than children with no AKI or stage 1 AKI (49). Future research is needed to further assess the relationship between AKI and long-term markers of morbidity. These studies should also evaluate other clinical factors that may contribute, to allow for more targeted risk stratification models and followup guidelines.

There are many important outcomes that have been explored in the adult AKI literature that remain as gaps in knowledge in the pediatric population. Specifically, there are validated administrative data definitions for kidney outcomes, more evidence on recovery after AKI as well as recurrent AKI events, and measures of quality of life (44, 45, 50, 51). Adult studies have also shown that AKI increases direct and indirect healthcare costs and resource utilization (50). These outcomes remain as gaps in our current pediatric AKI research and warrant further attention. The use of standardized AKI definitions and non-AKI comparison groups should also be continued in all future pediatric AKI research.

Overall, it is clear from the literature that children with PICU associated AKI have an increased risk of adverse medium and long-term outcomes including mortality. Future challenges include standardizing our approach to the recognition and management of these patients beyond the critical care and nephrology healthcare professionals. It is important therefore to have the diagnosis of AKI documented when the patient is discharged from the PICU and subsequently from the hospital so that both non-critical care professionals who are hospitalbased and those outside the hospital know to monitor these children more closely for resolution of AKI and for longterm sequelae. This would also allow providers to make more educated decisions about future treatments, including avoiding nephrotoxic medications where possible and providing lifestyle modification advice. To date, outlines of possible follow-up guidelines have been suggested but no formal guidelines exist (52, 53). Adult AKI guidelines suggest assessing the resolution of AKI 3 months after the initial insult (39). As highlighted in this review, children who develop severe AKI in the PICU are at increased risk of adverse kidney and non-kidney outcomes, so similar follow-up recommendations are required.

The 22nd Acute Disease Quality Initiative (ADQI) conference recently published quality improvement recommendations for pediatric AKI (46). This consensus statement recommends kidney health assessment every 1-2 years, which includes an AKI history, blood pressure measurement, serum creatinine measurement, and drug list review, in high-risk populations which include patients admitted to the PICU. They also recommended kidney health assessment following an unplanned acute exposure such as PICU admission (46). These recommendations need evaluation for implementation in different health settings but are a welcome expert consensus statement that is likely to mitigate adverse outcomes in this high-risk population. One of the challenges of developing AKI guidelines in this population remains that all children with AKI cannot be followed by nephrologists alone both because of large numbers of patients (6) but also because of the increasing burden of healthcare visits on children and families. Therefore, a coordinated effort must be made between general pediatricians and practitioners that follow these children in the community and the discharging hospitalist or specialists. While future research will continue to help us better understand additional risk factors for long-term outcomes and develop better risk stratification models, it is clear that children with PICU-AKI require closer follow-up. Early CKD and hypertension are treatable and timely detection and intervention will improve outcomes in these children.

#### **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

EH conceptualized the review, performed the literature review, and drafted and edited the manuscript. NM conceptualized the review, assisted with the literature review, drafted and edited the manuscript, and provided expert knowledge. MS conceptualized the review, assisted with the literature review, edited the manuscript, and provided expert knowledge. RA assisted with the literature review, edited the manuscript, and provided expert knowledge. EU, CM, and SB provided expert knowledge and edited the manuscript. All authors agreed to the final submitted manuscript.

#### FUNDING

MS acknowledges financial support from the Department of Health via the National Institute for Health Research (NIHR) comprehensive Biomedical Research Center and Clinical Research Facilities awards to Guy's and St Thomas' NHS Foundation Trust in partnership with King's College London and King's College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust.

#### REFERENCES

- Greenberg JH, Zappitelli M, Devarajan P, Thiessen-Philbrook HR, Krawczeski C, Li S, et al. Kidney outcomes 5 years after pediatric cardiac surgery: the TRIBE-AKI study. *JAMA Pediatr.* (2016) 170:1071–8. doi: 10.1001/jamapediatrics.2016.1532
- Hollander SA, Montez-Rath ME, Axelrod DM, Krawczeski CD, May LJ, Maeda K, et al. Recovery from acute kidney injury and CKD following heart transplantation in children, adolescents, and young adults: a retrospective cohort study. *Am J Kidney Dis.* (2016) 68:212–8. doi: 10.1053/j.ajkd.2016.01.024
- Kaddourah A, Basu RK, Bagshaw SM, Goldstein SL. Epidemiology of acute kidney injury in critically ill children and young adults. *N Engl J Med.* (2017) 376:11–20. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1611391
- Madsen NL, Goldstein SL, Froslev T, Christiansen CF, Olsen M. Cardiac surgery in patients with congenital heart disease is associated with acute kidney injury and the risk of chronic kidney disease. *Kidney Int.* (2017) 92:751–6. doi: 10.1016/j.kint.2017.02.021
- Hessey E, Morissette G, Lacroix J, Perreault S, Samuel S, Dorais M, et al. Healthcare utilization after acute kidney injury in the pediatric intensive care unit. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol.* (2018) 13:685–92. doi: 10.2215/CJN.09350817
- Alobaidi R, Morgan C, Goldstein SL, Bagshaw SM. Population-based epidemiology and outcomes of acute kidney injury in critically ill children. *PediatrCrit Car Med.* (2020) 21:82–91. doi: 10.1097/PCC.00000000002128
- Schneider J, Khemani R, Grushkin C, Bart R. Serum creatinine as stratified in the RIFLE score for acute kidney injury is associated with mortality and length of stay for children in the pediatric intensive care unit. *Crit Care Med.* (2010) 38:933–9. doi: 10.1097/CCM.0b013e3181cd12e1
- Alkandari O, Eddington KA, Hyder A, Gauvin F, Ducruet T, Gottesman R, et al. Acute kidney injury is an independent risk factor for pediatric intensive care unit mortality, longer length of stay and prolonged mechanical ventilation in critically ill children: a two-center retrospective cohort study. *Crit Care.* (2011) 15:R146. doi: 10.1186/cc10269
- Li S, Krawczeski CD, Zappitelli M, Devarajan P, Thiessen-Philbrook H, Coca SG, et al. Incidence, risk factors, and outcomes of acute kidney injury after pediatric cardiac surgery: a prospective multicenter study. *Crit Care Med.* (2011) 39:1493–9. doi: 10.1097/CCM.0b013e31821201d3
- Sutherland SM, Byrnes JJ, Kothari M, Longhurst CA, Dutta S, Garcia P, et al. AKI in hospitalized children: comparing the pRIFLE, AKIN, and KDIGO definitions. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol.* (2015) 10:554–61. doi: 10.2215/CJN.01900214
- Mammen C, Al Abbas A, Skippen P, Nadel H, Levine D, Collet JP, et al. Longterm risk of CKD in children surviving episodes of acute kidney injury in the intensive care unit: a prospective cohort study. *Am J Kidney Dis.* (2012) 59:523–30. doi: 10.1053/j.ajkd.2011.10.048
- Greenberg JH, Coca S, Parikh CR. Long-term risk of chronic kidney disease and mortality in children after acute kidney injury: a systematic review. *BMC Nephrol.* (2014) 15:184. doi: 10.1186/1471-2369-15-184
- Askenazi DJ, Feig DI, Graham NM, Hui-Stickle S, Goldstein SL. 3-5 year longitudinal follow-up of pediatric patients after acute renal failure. *Kidney Int.* (2006) 69:184–9. doi: 10.1038/sj.ki.5000032
- Sanchez-Pinto LN, Goldstein SL, Schneider JB, Khemani RG. Association between progression and improvement of acute kidney injury and mortality in critically ill children. *Pediatr Crit Care Med.* (2015) 16:703–10. doi: 10.1097/PCC.00000000000461
- Al-Otaibi NG, Zeinelabdin M, Shalaby MA, Khathlan N, Mashat GD, Zahrani AA, et al. Impact of acute kidney injury on long-term mortality and progression to chronic kidney disease among critically ill children. *Saudi Med* J. (2017) 38:138–42. doi: 10.15537/smj.2017.2.16012
- Hirano D, Ito A, Yamada A, Kakegawa D, Miwa S, Umeda C, et al. Independent risk factors and 2-year outcomes of acute kidney injury after surgery for congenital heart disease. *Am J Nephrol.* (2017) 46:204–9. doi: 10.1159/000480358
- Hessey E, Morissette G, Lacroix J, Perreault S, Samuel S, Dorais M, et al. Longterm mortality after acute kidney injury in the pediatric ICU. *Hosp Pediatr.* (2018) 8:260–8. doi: 10.1542/hpeds.2017-0215
- 18. Nunes S, Brown J, Parikh CR, Greenberg JH, Devarajan P, Philbrook HT, et al. The association of acute kidney injury with hospital readmission

and death after pediatric cardiac surgery. JTCVS Open. (2020) 4:70-85. doi: 10.1016/j.xjon.2020.07.006

- Zhang Y, Xiang B, Wu Y, Xie X, Wang J, Jin S. Risk factors and associated outcomes of early acute kidney injury in pediatric liver transplant recipients: a retrospective study. *J Pediatr Surg.* (2020) 55:446–50. doi: 10.1016/j.jpedsurg.2019.07.019
- Mehta RL, Kellum JA, Shah SV, Molitoris BA, Ronco C, Warnock DG, et al. Acute kidney injury network: report of an initiative to improve outcomes in acute kidney injury. *Crit Care*. (2007) 11:R31. doi: 10.1186/cc5713
- Coca SG, Singanamala S, Parikh CR. Chronic kidney disease after acute kidney injury: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Kidney Int.* (2012) 81:442–8. doi: 10.1038/ki.2011.379
- 22. Heung M, Steffick DE, Zivin K, Gillespie BW, Banerjee T, Hsu CY, et al. Acute kidney injury recovery pattern and subsequent risk of CKD: an analysis of veterans health administration data. *Am J Kidney Dis.* (2016) 67:742–52. doi: 10.1053/j.ajkd.2015.10.019
- Ferenbach DA, Bonventre JV. Mechanisms of maladaptive repair after AKI leading to accelerated kidney ageing and CKD. *Nat Rev Nephrol.* (2015) 11:264–76. doi: 10.1038/nrneph.2015.3
- 24. Cooper DS, Claes D, Goldstein SL, Bennett MR, Ma Q, Devarajan P, et al. Follow-up renal assessment of injury long-term after acute kidney injury (FRAIL-AKI). *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol.* (2016) 11:21–9. doi: 10.2215/CJN.04240415
- Greenberg JH, Devarajan P, Thiessen-Philbrook HR, Krawczeski C, Parikh CR, Zappitelli M. Kidney injury biomarkers 5 years after AKI due to pediatric cardiac surgery. *Pediatr Nephrol.* (2018) 33:1069–77. doi: 10.1007/s00467-018-3888-4
- Hessey E, Perreault S, Dorais M, Roy L, Zappitelli M. Acute kidney injury in critically ill children and subsequent chronic kidney disease. *Can J Kidney Health Dis.* (2019) 6:2054358119880188. doi: 10.1177/2054358119880188
- 27. Benisty K, Morgan C, Hessey E, Huynh L, Joffe AR, Garros D, et al. Kidney and blood pressure abnormalities 6 years after acute kidney injury in critically ill children: a prospective cohort study. *Pediatr Res.* (2020) 88:271–8. doi: 10.1038/s41390-019-0737-5
- Hessey E, Perreault S, Roy L, Dorais M, Samuel S, Phan V, et al. Acute kidney injury in critically ill children and 5-year hypertension. *Pediatr Nephrol.* (2020) 35:1097–107. doi: 10.1007/s00467-020-04488-5
- Huynh L, Rodriguez-Lopez S, Benisty K, Dancea A, Garros D, Hessey E, et al. Follow-up after neonatal heart disease repair: watch out for chronic kidney disease and hypertension! *Pediatr Nephrol.* (2020) 35:2137–45. doi: 10.1007/s00467-020-04621-4
- Menon S, Pollack AH, Sullivan E, Murphy T, Smith J. Acute kidney injury and chronic kidney disease after non-kidney solid organ transplantation. *Pediatr Transplant*. (2020) 24:e13753. doi: 10.1111/petr.13753
- Zappitelli M, Parikh CR, Kaufman JS, Go AS, Kimmel PL, Hsu CY, et al. Acute Kidney Injury and Risk of CKD and Hypertension after Pediatric Cardiac Surgery. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol.* (2020) 18:18. doi: 10.2215/CJN.00150120
- 32. Monet-Didailler C, Godron-Dubrasquet A, Madden I, Delmas Y, Llanas B, Harambat J. Long-term outcome of diarrhea-associated hemolytic uremic syndrome is poorly related to markers of kidney injury at 1-year followup in a population-based cohort. *Pediatr Nephrol.* (2019) 34:657–62. doi: 10.1007/s00467-018-4131-z
- 33. Zappitelli M, Greenberg JH, Coca SG, Krawczeski CD, Li S, Thiessen-Philbrook HR, et al. Association of definition of acute kidney injury by cystatin C rise with biomarkers and clinical outcomes in children undergoing cardiac surgery. *JAMA Pediatr.* (2015) 169:583–91. doi: 10.1001/jamapediatrics.2015.54
- 34. Palermo J, Dart AB, De Mello A, Devarajan P, Gottesman R, Garcia Guerra G, et al. Biomarkers for early acute kidney injury diagnosis and severity prediction: a pilot multicenter canadian study of children admitted to the ICU. *Pediatr Crit Care Med.* (2017) 18:e235–44. doi: 10.1097/PCC.000000000001183
- Hoste E, Bihorac A, Al-Khafaji A, Ortega LM, Ostermann M, Haase M, et al. Identification and validation of biomarkers of persistent acute kidney injury: the RUBY study. *Intensive Care Med.* (2020) 46:943–53. doi: 10.1007/s00134-019-05919-0
- 36. Stanski NL, Stenson EK, Cvijanovich NZ, Weiss SL, Fitzgerald JC, Bigham MT, et al. PERSEVERE biomarkers predict severe acute kidney injury and

renal recovery in pediatric septic shock. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. (2020) 201:848–55. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201911-2187OC

- Yoneyama F, Okamura T, Takigiku K, Yasukouchi S. Novel urinary biomarkers for acute kidney injury and prediction of clinical outcomes after pediatric cardiac surgery. *Pediatr Cardiol.* (2020) 41:695–702. doi: 10.1007/s00246-019-02280-3
- Greenberg JH, Abraham AG, Xu Y, Schelling JR, Feldman HI, Sabbisetti VS, et al. Plasma biomarkers of tubular injury and inflammation are associated with ckd progression in children. J Am Soc Nephrol. (2020) 31:1067–77. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2019070723
- Khwaja A. KDIGO clinical practice guidelines for acute kidney injury. Nephron Clin Pract. (2012) 120:c179–84. doi: 10.1159/000339789
- Koulouridis I, Price LL, Madias NE, Jaber BL. Hospital-acquired acute kidney injury and hospital readmission: a cohort study. *Am J Kidney Dis.* (2014) 65:275–82. doi: 10.1053/j.ajkd.2014.08.024
- Brown JR, Hisey WM, Marshall EJ, Likosky DS, Nichols EL, Everett AD, et al. Acute kidney injury severity and long-term readmission and mortality after cardiac surgery. *Ann Thorac Surg.* (2016) 102:1482–9. doi: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2016.04.020
- Vlasschaert ME, Bejaimal SA, Hackam DG, Quinn R, Cuerden MS, Oliver MJ, et al. Validity of administrative database coding for kidney disease: a systematic review. *Am J Kidney Dis.* (2011) 57:29–43. doi: 10.1053/j.ajkd.2010.08.031
- 43. D'arienzo D, Hessey E, Ali R, Perreault S, Samuel S, Roy L, et al. A validation study of administrative health care data to detect acute kidney injury in the pediatric intensive care unit. *Can J Kidney Health Dis.* (2019) 6:2054358119827525. doi: 10.1177/2054358119827525
- Ronksley PE, Tonelli M, Quan H, Manns BJ, James MT, Clement FM, et al. Validating a case definition for chronic kidney disease using administrative data. *Nephrol Dial Transplant*. (2012) 27:1826–31. doi: 10.1093/ndt/ gfr598
- 45. Fleet JL, Dixon SN, Shariff SZ, Quinn RR, Nash DM, Harel Z, et al. Detecting chronic kidney disease in population-based administrative databases using an algorithm of hospital encounter and physician claim codes. *BMC Nephrol.* (2013) 14:81. doi: 10.1186/1471-2369-14-81
- 46. Selewski DT, Askenazi DJ, Kashani K, Basu RK, Gist KM, Harer MW, et al. Quality improvement goals for pediatric acute kidney injury: pediatric

applications of the 22nd acute disease quality initiative (ADQI) conference. *Pediatr Nephrol.* (2021) 36:733–46. doi: 10.1007/s00467-020-04828-5

- 47. Hessey E, Ali R, Dorais M, Morissette G, Pizzi M, Rink N, et al. Renal function follow-up and renal recovery after acute kidney injury in critically ill children. *Pediatr Crit Care Med.* (2017) 18:733–40. doi: 10.1097/PCC.000000000001166
- Heneghan JA, Pollack MM. Morbidity: changing the outcome paradigm for pediatric critical care. *Pediatr Clin North Am.* (2017) 64:1147–65. doi: 10.1016/j.pcl.2017.06.011
- Starr MC, Banks R, Reeder RW, Fitzgerald JC, Pollack MM, Meert KL, et al. Severe acute kidney injury is associated with increased risk of death and new morbidity after pediatric septic shock. *Pediatr Crit Care Med.* (2020) 21:e686–95. doi: 10.1097/PCC.000000000002418
- Rewa O, Bagshaw SM. Acute kidney injury-epidemiology, outcomes and economics. Nat Rev Nephrol. (2014) 10:193–207. doi: 10.1038/nrneph.2013.282
- James MT, Bhatt M, Pannu N, Tonelli M. Long-term outcomes of acute kidney injury and strategies for improved care. *Nat Rev Nephrol.* (2020) 16:193–205. doi: 10.1038/s41581-019-0247-z
- Sigurjonsdottir VK, Chaturvedi S, Mammen C, Sutherland SM. Pediatric acute kidney injury and the subsequent risk for chronic kidney disease: is there cause for alarm? *Pediatr Nephrol.* (2018) 33:2047–55. doi: 10.1007/s00467-017-3870-6
- Lebel A, Teoh CW, Zappitelli M. Long-term complications of acute kidney injury in children. *Curr Opin Pediatr.* (2020) 32:367–75. doi: 10.1097/MOP.00000000000006

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Hessey, Melhem, Alobaidi, Ulrich, Morgan, Bagshaw and Sinha. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## For Whom the Bell Tolls: Acute Kidney Injury and Electronic Alerts for the Pediatric Nephrologist

#### Elizabeth D. Nguyen\* and Shina Menon

Division of Pediatric Nephrology, Department of Pediatrics, Seattle Children's Hospital, University of Washington School of Medicine, Seattle, WA, United States

With the advent of the electronic medical record, automated alerts have allowed for improved recognition of patients with acute kidney injury (AKI). Pediatric patients have the opportunity to benefit from such alerts, as those with a diagnosis of AKI are at risk of developing long-term consequences including reduced renal function and hypertension. Despite extensive studies on the implementation of electronic alerts, their overall impact on clinical outcomes have been unclear. Understanding the results of these studies have helped define best practices in developing electronic alerts with the aim of improving their impact on patient care. As electronic alerts for AKI are applied to pediatric patients, identifying their strengths and limitations will allow for continued improvement in its use and efficacy.

#### OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Danielle Elise Soranno, University of Colorado, United States

#### Reviewed by:

Emily Lauren Joyce, Rainbow Babies and Children's Hospital, United States Tennille N. Webb, University of Alabama at Birmingham, United States

> \***Correspondence:** Elizabeth D. Nguyen

elizabeth.nguyen@seattlechildrens.org

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Pediatric Nephrology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Pediatrics

Received: 11 November 2020 Accepted: 16 March 2021 Published: 12 April 2021

#### Citation:

Nguyen ED and Menon S (2021) For Whom the Bell Tolls: Acute Kidney Injury and Electronic Alerts for the Pediatric Nephrologist. Front. Pediatr. 9:628096. doi: 10.3389/fped.2021.628096 Keywords: acute kidney injury, electronic alerts, clinical decision support system, care bundles, electronic health record

#### INTRODUCTION

Acute kidney injury (AKI) is commonly seen in hospitalized children, particularly those who are critically ill, and/or have underlying medical conditions (1, 2). It is independently associated with prolonged hospital stay and an increased risk of mortality (3). Post-hospital discharge, patients with AKI have higher healthcare utilization and are at risk of developing long-term consequences such as proteinuria, reduced renal function, and hypertension (4). Thus, the ability to detect these episodes of AKI can improve the management of these patients to provide the best care possible. However, AKI is often under-recognized and under-documented (5, 6). With the widespread use of electronic health records (EHR), it has become possible to use a variety of clinical decision support systems (CDSS) to improve patient care (7). These include automated alerts that allow providers to receive real-time notifications when triggered by a particular threshold. AKI is an ideal clinical condition for the use of electronic alerts because it has a consensus definition and it can be diagnosed from data available in EHR (8). In this review, we discuss the best practices for AKI alerts, special considerations when developing such tools for children, and its impact on patient outcomes.

#### **BEST PRACTICES FOR AKI ALERTS**

The 15th Acute Dialysis Quality Initiative (ADQI) consensus conference focused on utilizing EHR to predict AKI risk and outcomes (8–11). They recognized AKI alerts as an opportunity to prompt earlier evaluation and intervention, and provided guidelines around the development of electronic alert systems. One of the recommendations of the 15th ADQI conference was to further refine the structure of AKI alerts and to link them to actionable interventions for AKI care. More recently, the 22nd ADQI consensus conference provided quality improvement (QI) initiatives around the

24

identification and care of patients with AKI. They recognized the role of bundled interventions in preventing AKI or reducing the severity in patients at risk for AKI. The key recommendations from these consensus conferences are summarized here, highlighting particular challenges when applying these guidelines to pediatric patients (8, 12).

#### **Purpose of Alert**

Alerts associated with AKI serve different purposes depending on the data used to inform the notification and the criteria used to trigger the alert. In particular, some AKI alerts have been designed to identify patients at risk for AKI while others are designed to detect patients currently with AKI (13–15).

#### Identification of Patients at Risk of AKI

The 22nd ADQI emphasized identifying populations at risk of AKI, which can include a baseline set of risk factors including age, medications, baseline creatinine, and a problem list (12). As most pediatric patients inherently have few of these risk factors, efforts in detecting children at risk for AKI have focused on the initiation of nephrotoxic medications. Nephrotoxic Injury Negated by Just-in-Time Action (NINJA) is an ongoing prospective quality improvement project that works to reduce nephrotoxic medication-associated AKI among noncritically ill hospitalized children (12). It involves systematic EHR screening and a decision support process (trigger report). This trigger report is reviewed by pharmacists who recommend daily serum creatinine monitoring in the exposed patients. Upon implementation, it was successful in reducing the number of AKI days per 100 days by 42% in its first year (13), and has since been shown to maintain a 23.8% decrease in AKI rates when incorporated across nine pediatric institutions (16). Risk prediction models have been specifically designed for pediatric patients which incorporate data beyond nephrotoxic agents. Implementation of an AKI risk prediction tool by Driest el al. resulted in increased screening for AKI via measurement of serum creatinine in a pediatric intensive care unit (17).

More recently, artificial intelligence and machine learning methods have made it possible to design algorithms to predict future episodes of AKI. Tomašev et al. developed a model for the prediction of AKI using a dataset of more than 700,000 patients from the United States Department of Veterans Affairs (18). Their model was able to predict 55.8% of all inpatient episodes of AKI and 90.2% of all AKI that required subsequent dialysis up to 48 h before they occurred. Sandokji et al. developed a machine learning algorithm that selected 10 factors to predict AKI within a 48-h window specifically in pediatric patients as well as the neonatal population (19). More data on these predictive algorithms and their effect on patient outcomes will be seen in the coming years (20).

#### Identification of Patients With AKI

Most alerts are designed to trigger based on the definition of AKI by the Kidney Disease: Improving Global Outcomes (KDIGO) criteria (21). AKI is defined in stages of increasing severity by a rising serum creatinine from baseline or declining urine output (UOP). Urine output is a simple and sensitive measure of kidney function (22). In the neonatal population, defining AKI by urine output captures more diagnoses than using serum creatinine alone (23). Inconsistent intake and output documentation in the electronic medical record, however, limits the use of UOP as a trigger for alerts. While serum creatinine is a reasonable biomarker to represent a patient's glomerular filtration rate in most cases, creatinine-based alerts alone can produce a false positive rate as high as 30% (24). The recent 23rd ADQI (25) emphasized the utility of incorporating additional injury biomarkers to these systems to select patients most likely to benefit from AKI-specific interventions, but recognize that many of these biomarkers still require clinical validation before widespread use.

#### **Components of the Alert**

The 15th Acute Dialysis Quality Initiative workgroup summary discusses the characteristics of an optimal alert, considering the technological as well as human factors impacting the implementation and efficacy of an electronic alert (8–10). At minimum, the content of the alert should include patient identification, the data used to trigger the alert, and the stage of AKI if available. The alert should occur as close to the time of AKI onset as possible. Some alerts target the primary contact for the patient directly whereas other alerts are displayed in the EHR for any provider with access. Alerts may be passive with no acknowledgment of receipt, or interruptive where a series of actions are required to dismiss the alert or proceed with additional orders.

#### **Responses to the Alert**

While e-alerts have been shown to improve the recognition of AKI, they have not consistently translated into improved outcomes of patients with AKI (15, 26). It has been proposed that alerts should be accompanied by a bundle of diagnostic and therapeutic interventions to prevent further injury. The 22nd ADQI emphasized that every exposure to risk factors associated with AKI, as well as episodes of AKI itself, should be followed by a kidney health response, also called a care bundle (12). Many of these care bundles incorporate the best practices in response to kidney injury in a simple and easy to remember mnemonic (**Table 1**). While they vary slightly depending on the context of their use, most include similar themes of fluid and blood pressure management, medication review, and the evaluation of urine (31).

#### **USE OF AKI ALERTS IN ADULTS**

The utilization of AKI alerts and its impact on clinical outcomes has been studied in a number of settings throughout the years. **Table 2** provides a summary of key publications studying the implementation of AKI alerts, selected from a literature review using the key words "AKI," "electronic alert," and "clinical decision support system." Early studies looked at the impact on ealert implementation in the recognition of AKI and were helpful in understanding the epidemiology of AKI within the hospital population (41, 42). A study out of Ghent University Hospital by Colpaert et al. (43) was one of the first to report positive

#### TABLE 1 | Care bundles for acute kidney injury.

Name	Contents
4 Ms (12)	Medication adjustment
	Minimize exposure
	Message care team and patient
	Monitor
ABCDE (27)	Address drugs
	Boost blood pressure
	Calculate fluid balance
	Dip urine
	Exclude obstruction
AEIOU (6)	Assess cause of AKI
	Evaluate drug doses
	Intake and output charting
	Optimize volume status
	Urine dipstick
AUDITS (28)	Assessment
	Urinalysis
	Diagnosis
	Investigations
	Treatment
	Seek advice from nephrologist
KAMPS (12)	Kidney function check
	Advocacy
	Medications
	Pressure
	Sick day protocols
KDIGO care bundle for cardiac surgery patients (29, 30)	Avoidance of nephrotoxic agents
	Withhold ACEi and ARBs
	Close monitoring of SCr and urine output
	Avoidance of hyperglycemia
	Consider alternatives to radio-contrast agents
	Optimization of volume status and hemodynamic parameters
WATCH-ME for patients requiring dialysis (12)	Weight assessment
	Access
	Teaching
	Clearance
	Hypotension
	Medications

clinical outcomes following an automated AKI alert, reporting a significant increase in fluid intervention and a higher proportion of patients returning to baseline kidney function within 8 h of the alert.

The first randomized controlled trial on AKI alerts was conducted by Wilson et al. (15) at the University of Pennsylvania. In this single blind, parallel group trial, 1,201 adult patients were assigned to receive an AKI alert and 1,192 were assigned to the usual care group (21). There was no difference between the alert and usual care group in composite relative maximum change in creatinine, dialysis, and death at 7 days. There was no difference in the number of renal consults, number of nephrotoxic agents prescribed, no change in length of stay, and no change in number of creatinine lab measurements within 7 days (15, 44). Interestingly, a secondary analysis of this clinical trial using uplift modeling identified patients who might benefit most from AKI alerts. These were patients at risk of a more slowly developing AKI, including older patients, women, and those with a lower baseline creatinine (45). While pediatric patients were not included in this study, they certainly fall into this category.

Among the largest studies on AKI alerts has been the work of Holmes et al. and the Welsh AKI Steering Group (25, 26, 31, 41, 42). They employed a national AKI alert in a population of more than 3 million people in the hospital as well as the primary care setting. The Wales Laboratory Information Management System tracks creatinine values on patients in real time and an alert is issued according to the KDIGO AKI criteria. Over the course of 4 years, they found that the majority of adult AKI alerts were community acquired (53.5%) vs. hospital acquired (29.3%) and the rest (17.2%) were undetermined (25). They were also able to provide nationwide characterization of AKI in various clinical settings and report the true incidence of AKI in Wales.

Subsequent studies have looked at the impact of pairing the AKI alert with an actionable intervention on clinical outcomes. In the PrevAKI study, Meersch et al. (29) assessed the efficacy of a care bundle based on KDIGO guidelines to prevent cardiac surgery-associated AKI in high-risk patients. Patients were randomized to receive usual care or the KDIGO bundle, which included guidelines for managing volume status, hemodynamics, nephrotoxic agents, and hyperglycemia prevention (**Table 1**). They found a significantly reduced rate of AKI within 72 h after surgery, as well as improvement in hemodynamic parameters and severity of AKI. There were no changes to dialysis requirements, hospital length of stay, or adverse events related to the kidney.

Kolhe et al. (28) implemented an interruptive EHR alert at the Royal Derby Hospital which forced the provider to override or acknowledge the AKI care bundle. The care bundle required completion before a new blood test or medication could be ordered. The care bundle was completed in 25% patients within 24 h, and case fatality was higher when the care bundle was not completed. With their alert, they found a significant improvement in mortality, less progression to higher AKI stages, and lower odds of death at discharge (40). This study later expanded to the Tackling AKI study, a large multicenter pragmatic stepped wedge cluster randomized trial (36). The interruptive alert was no longer used; instead an alert with the care bundle was displayed in the EHR and a phone call was made to the clinical site for patients with AKI stages 2 and 3. Across five UK hospitals, results were significant for an increase in documentation of AKI. While there were no changes in 30-day mortality, there were improvements in medication optimization, fluid assessment, hospital length of stay, and quality of care (37). One of the reasons cited for the lackluster performance of clinical decision support systems (CDSS) in AKI is the difficulty in achieving effect sizes. Al-Jaghbeer et al. implemented a CDSS for AKI in a large regional health care system (38). They looked at > 500,000 total patients, 12 months before (n = 181,696) and

# Nguyen and Menon

References	Design	Ν	Setting	Baseline creatinine definition	E-alert type	Intervention	Key findings
Pediatric							
Menon et al. (6)	Prospective non-randomized	239 AKI alerts in 225 patients	Inpatients (non-ICU) aged 6 mo to 18 yo at Seattle Children's Hospital	Lowest in 6 months prior to admission or eCCl 120 mL/min/1.73 m <sup>2</sup>	Page to primary provider	AEIOU care bundle	<ul> <li>Increase in AKI documentation, adjustment in medications and fluids</li> <li>Higher eGFR at discharge and follow-up</li> </ul>
Gubb et al. (32)	Prospective	2,472 AKI alerts in 1,719 patients	Inpatients $\ge 25$ d-old and <18 yo in Wales	eCCl 120 ml/min/1.73 m <sup>2</sup> or midpoint normative creatinine value for age and sex	Displayed in EHR alongside lab result	None	<ul> <li>Higher 30-day mortality in HA- AKI vs. CA-AKI</li> <li>Repeated AKI episodes associated with increased 30-d mortality and residual renal impairment</li> </ul>
Holmes et al. (33)	Prospective	1,343 AKI alerts	Inpatients and outpatients aged < 18 yo in Wales	eCCI 120 ml/min/1.73 m <sup>2</sup> or midpoint normative creatinine value for age and sex	Displayed in EHR alongside lab result	None	<ul> <li>Greater number of HA-AKI vs. CA- AKI</li> <li>Improved rate of renal recovery for hospitalized patients</li> </ul>
Adult							
Wilson et al. (34)	Multicenter, randomized, double blind	3,059 patients in intervention group, 2,971 in usual care group	Inpatient units of 6 hospitals	Lowest in 7 days prior to admission	Pop-up window on EHR	Link to AKI orderset and option to add AKI to problem list	<ul> <li>Overall no change in progression of AKI/death/dialysis</li> <li>Better AKI documentation</li> <li>Increased mortality in non-teaching hospitals</li> </ul>
Holmes et al. (35)	Prospective	193,838 AKI alerts in 132,599 patients	Inpatient and outpatients >18 yo in Wales	Lowest in last 7 days (HA-AKI) or last 8–365 days (CA-AKI)	Displayed in EHR alongside lab result	None	<ul> <li>Increase in AKI incidence (particularly community-based AKI)</li> <li>Earlier AKI detection</li> <li>Improvement in overall mortality</li> </ul>
Selby et al. (36)	Multicenter stepped wedge cluster randomized	10,017 AKI alerts	All hospitalized patients >18 yo in five United Kingdom hospitals	Lowest in last 7 days or median of values in prior 8–365 days	Displayed in EHR and phone call to clinic site for AKI stage 2 and 3	AUDITS care bundle	<ul> <li>Increase in AKI documentation, fluid assessment and adjustment in medications</li> <li>Decrease in hospital length of stay</li> <li>No change in 30-d mortality</li> </ul>
Park et al. (37)	Prospective	1,739 AKI patients after alert implementation	Non-nephrology inpatients in a tertiary referral hospital in Korea	Lowest within 2 weeks or first measured during hospitalization	Pop-up window on EHR	Automatically generated nephrology consult	<ul> <li>Decrease in overlooked and severe AKI events</li> <li>Increase in nephrology consultation and AKI recovery</li> <li>No change in mortality</li> </ul>
Meersch et al. (29)	Randomized control trial	138 patients in intervention group, 138 patients in control group	Patients undergoing cardiac surgery with CPB at University of Muenster	None; high risk of AKI defined as TIMP2*IGFBP7 ≥0.3	None	KDIGO care bundle for cardiac surgery patients	<ul> <li>Reduction in AKI incidence first 72 h after surgery</li> <li>Improved hemodynamics</li> <li>Reduction in rate of moderate-severe AKI</li> </ul>

(Continued)

Acute Kidney Injury Electronic Alerts

References	Design	2	Setting	Baseline creatinine definition	E-alert type	Intervention	Key findings
Al-Jaghbeer et al. (38) and Bataineh et al. (39)	Prospective	346,412 AKI patients after alert implementation	All inpatients admitted to adult hospitals within University of Pittsburgh Medical Center system	Lowest in prior 12 months or back-calculation from normal eCCI	Displayed in EHR	Prompt to consult nephrology or ICU	<ul> <li>Decrease in hospital mortality rate, hospital duration and dialysis use</li> <li>Decrease in nephrotoxic antibiotic use</li> </ul>
Kolhe et al. (40)	Prospective observational	1,291 AKI patients after alert implementation	All inpatients > 18 yo at the Royal Derby Hospital	Lowest in last 7 days or median of values in prior 8–365 days	Interruptive alert on EHR requiring acknowledgment	AUDITS care bundle	<ul> <li>Improved mortality</li> <li>Less progression of AKI</li> <li>Lower odds of death at discharge.</li> </ul>
Wilson et al. (15)	Single blind parallel group randomized control trial	1,201 patients in AKI alert group and 1,192 patients in usual care group	All inpatients > 18 yo at the University of Pennsylvania hospital	Lowest in prior 7 days	Page or email to primary provider	Link to external website with KDIGO AKI practice guidelines	<ul> <li>No change in dialysis requirement, nephrology consults, hospital length of stay</li> </ul>
AEIOU, assess caus nephrologist; CA-AK	e of AKI, evaluate drug c I, community-associated,	doses, intake and output AKI; CPB, cardiopulmona	charting, optimize volume sta iry bypass; eCCl, estimated cri	tus, urine dipstick; AKI, acute eatinine clearance; EHR, elect	> kidney injury; AUDITS, asse 'ronic health records; HA-AKI	sssment, urinalysis, diagnosis, ii , hospital-associated AK; ICU, ii	AEIOU, assess cause of AKI, evaluate drug doses, intake and output charting, optimize volume status, urine dipstick; AKI, acute kidney injury; AUDITS, assessment, urinalysis, diagnosis, investigations, treatment, seek advice from nephrologist; CA-AKI, community-associated AKI; CPB, cardiopulmonary bypass; eCCI, estimated creatinine clearance; EHR, electronic health records; HA-AKI, hospital-associated AKI; ICU, intensive care unit; KDIGO, Kidney Disease:

24 months after (n = 346,412) alert implementation. The system alerted clinicians on "possible AKI" based on the KDIGO SCr criteria. It also provided information on the reference creatinine used, stage of AKI, and a prompt to consult nephrology or intensive care. In comparing pre- vs. post-alert implementation, they found that mortality rate decreased from 10.2 to 9.4% after alert implementation, and there was a decrease in length of stay from 7.2 to 6.0 days for patients with AKI. A 2-year follow-up study on an additional 337,433 patients demonstrated sustained decrease in mortality rate and length of stay, as well as a significant decrease in the use of nephrotoxic agents (39). More recently, Wilson et al. looked at e-alerts for AKI in 6,030 patients in a double blinded, parallel, randomized controlled trial across six centers (34). In the electronic health record alerts for acute kidney injury (ELAIA-1) study, they found that patients randomized to alerts were more likely to receive intravenous fluids, get a urinalysis or repeat SCr measured, and

intravenous fluids, get a urinalysis or repeat SCr measured, and have documentation of AKI. There was however no difference in their primary outcome, which was a composite of AKI progression, receipt of dialysis, or death. Interestingly, there was a heterogeneity of treatment effect across the different hospitals. In the non-teaching hospitals in the study, patients in the alert arm were more likely to have met the primary outcome [relative risk (RR) 1.49, 95%CI 1.12–1.98].

#### PEDIATRIC AKI ALERT STUDIES

The studies discussed above focused on the adult population. Only a few studies have looked at implementing AKI alerts in pediatric patients (**Table 2**). The Welsh AKI group studied AKI alerts in pediatric patients in both the hospital and community setting (33). Over a period of 30 months, they reported a total of 2,087 alerts, corresponding to 1,343 incident episodes of AKI, of which 468 occurred in neonates. Hospital-acquired AKI accounted for 40.1%, community-acquired AKI accounted for 29.4%, and the rest was unclassified. They reported an incidence rate of pediatric AKI at 1.37 cases per 1,000 person-years.

A prospective study at Seattle Children's Hospital by Menon et al. (6) aimed to determine whether an AKI alert paired with a standardized care pathway would improve AKI detection and renal outcomes. This study included 239 unique AKI alerts with most being stage 1 AKI (68.6%) and 47% were defined as hospitalacquired AKI. With the alert intervention, this study found a significant increase in AKI documentation, intake and output charting as well as adjustments to fluid and medications. While there was a trend toward decreases in AKI stage, this finding was not statistically significant. Larger multi-center studies with greater longitude will be necessary to better understand the impact of AKI alerts on pediatric patients.

#### LIMITATIONS

There are limitations in the implementation of AKI alerts, some of which are unique to pediatric patients. Addressing these alerts in future studies may improve their efficacy and interpretability.

**FABLE 2** | Continued

Improving Global Outcomes

#### Accuracy of the Alert

The definition of AKI is highly dependent on the reliability and accuracy of information presented in the EHR. Unfortunately, urine output is not documented frequently or accurately enough to use for AKI alerts and a patient's baseline creatinine often does not exist in the medical record. Studies have used different methods to ascertain the baseline serum creatinine (SCr), including using the admission SCr, a pre-admission outpatient creatinine, or nadir inpatient SCr. There are concerns with all methods. For example, if a patient has community-acquired AKI, the admission SCr is likely to be higher than the patient's true baseline resulting in underdiagnosis of AKI (46). An additional issue in pediatrics is that the baseline kidney function evolves as a child grows. This is particularly challenging in neonates as their creatinine at birth is reflective of their mother's kidney function. Using the KDIGO definitions overestimated neonatal AKI in the study done by Holmes et al. (33), and the authors recommend using a serum creatinine >0.5 mg/dl as a threshold for AKI. While imperfect, the most common solutions to calculating baseline creatinine in pediatrics are to estimate baseline SCr including back-calculation based on eGFR of 120 ml/min per 1.73 m<sup>2</sup> or use a normative midpoint value for age (33, 47).

#### **Type of Alert**

For an alert to work, it must be noticed. Much research has been done on the balance between intrusive and passive alerts and their relative efficacy (7). Providers are more likely to act on an interrupting alert that forces an action. However, if these intrusive alerts are too frequent or disproportionately associated with false positives, all alerts of the same type are more likely to be dismissed without action (48, 49). Improperly implemented alerts can lead to alert fatigue, which may further affect the efficacy of the alert. When considering how to deliver an alert to maximize patient benefit while also reducing alert fatigue, applying alerts only to patients at high risk who may gain most from intervention would be a potential solution (49). Alerts could also be targeted at providers working directly with the patient in question at the time of potential error, such as when nephrotoxic agents are ordered.

#### REFERENCES

- Kaddourah A, Basu RK, Bagshaw SM, Goldstein SL, Investigators A. Epidemiology of acute kidney injury in critically ill children and young adults. *New Engl J Med.* (2017) 376:11–20. doi: 10.1056/nejmoa1611391
- Jetton JG, Boohaker LJ, Sethi SK, Wazir S, Rohatgi S, Soranno DE, et al. Incidence and outcomes of neonatal acute kidney injury (AWAKEN): a multicentre, multinational, observational cohort study. *Lancet Child Adolesc Heal.* (2017) 1:184–94. doi: 10.1016/s2352-4642(17)30069-x
- Sutherland SM, Ji J, Sheikhi FH, Widen E, Tian L, Alexander SR, et al. AKI in hospitalized children: epidemiology and clinical associations in a national cohort. *Clin J Am Soc Nephro*. (2013) 8:1661–9. doi: 10.2215/cjn.00270113
- Askenazi DJ, Feig DI, Graham NM, Hui-Stickle S, Goldstein SL. 3–5 year longitudinal follow-up of pediatric patients after acute renal failure. *Kidney Int.* (2006) 69:184–9. doi: 10.1038/sj.ki.5000032

#### **Interventions Associated With Alert**

Care bundles have been recommended and used with e-alerts as an attempt to improve the outcomes associated with AKI (6, 28, 29, 38, 40). Currently, care bundles include general common sense measures such as optimal fluid management, medication review, and urinalyses (**Table 1**). However, as seen in the ELAIA-1 study (34), care bundles that do not provide patient specific recommendations may not be helpful, and have the potential to cause more harm. Additional research is needed on this aspect of CDSS.

#### CONCLUSIONS

As a tool that is able to detect patients with AKI, electronic alerts meet the need for identifying patients at high risk for poor outcomes. Criticism of existing studies on AKI alerts note that little impact on overall mortality has been seen with the implementation of alerts. However, a higher level of care is consistently provided to patients after AKI alerts were triggered, particularly when bundled with resources of a care plan. Patients with AKI alerts also benefited from detailed documentation of AKI diagnoses, closer attention to fluid and medication management, and the involvement of nephrology providers. This comprehensive level of care that occurs with an automatic realtime notification has few downsides. For pediatric patients in particular, these simple interventions can be an effective resource to reduce the burden of AKI on our communities and hospitals.

#### **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

EN and SM contributed equally to the conception and design of the manuscript, drafted the article and made critical revisions related to the intellectual content of the manuscript, and approved the final version of the article to be published. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

#### FUNDING

EN was supported by an Institutional Training grant funded by the NIH/NIDDK, Grant Number T32 DK007662.

- McGregor TL, Jones DP, Wang L, Danciu I, Bridges BC, Fleming GM, et al. Acute kidney injury incidence in noncritically ill hospitalized children, adolescents, and young adults: a retrospective observational study. Am J Kidney Dis. (2016) 67:384–90. doi: 10.1053/j.ajkd.2015. 07.019
- Menon S, Tarrago R, Carlin K, Wu H, Yonekawa K. Impact of integrated clinical decision support systems in the management of pediatric acute kidney injury: a pilot study. *Pediatr Res.* (2020). doi: 10.1038/s41390-020-1046-8. [Epub ahead of print].
- Kashani K. Computer decision support for acute kidney injury. Curr Opin Crit Care. (2016) 22:520–6. doi: 10.1097/mcc.00000000000353
- Hoste EAJ, Kashani K, Gibney N, Wilson FP, Ronco C, Goldstein SL, et al. Impact of electronic-alerting of acute kidney injury: workgroup statements from the 15th ADQI Consensus Conference. *Can J Kidney Heal Dis.* (2016) 3:10. doi: 10.1186/s40697-016-0101-1

- James MT, Hobson CE, Darmon M, Mohan S, Hudson D, Goldstein SL, et al. Applications for detection of acute kidney injury using electronic medical records and clinical information systems: workgroup statements from the 15(th) ADQI Consensus Conference. *Can J Kidney Heal Dis.* (2016) 3:9. doi: 10.1186/s40697-016-0100-2
- Mehta R, Bihorac A, Selby NM, Quan H, Goldstein SL, Kellum JA, et al. Establishing a continuum of acute kidney injury—tracing AKI using data source linkage and long-term follow-up: workgroup statements from the 15th ADQI consensus conference. *Can J Kidney Heal Dis.* (2016) 3:13. doi: 10.1186/s40697-016-0102-0
- Sutherland SM, Chawla LS, Kane-Gill SL, Hsu RK, Kramer AA, Goldstein SL, et al. Utilizing electronic health records to predict acute kidney injury risk and outcomes: workgroup statements from the 15th ADQI Consensus Conference. *Can J Kidney Heal Dis.* (2016) 3:11. doi: 10.1186/s40697-016-0099-4
- Kashani K, Rosner MH, Haase M, Lewington AJP, O'Donoghue DJ, Wilson FP, et al. Quality improvement goals for acute kidney injury. *Clin J Am Soc Nephro.* (2019) 14:941–53. doi: 10.2215/cjn.01250119
- Goldstein SL, Kirkendall E, Nguyen H, Schaffzin JK, Bucuvalas J, Bracke T, et al. Electronic health record identification of nephrotoxin exposure and associated acute kidney injury. *Pediatrics*. (2013) 132:e756– 67. doi: 10.1542/peds.2013-0794
- Holmes J, Roberts G, Meran S, Williams JD, Phillips AO, Group WAS. Understanding electronic AKI alerts: characterization by definitional rules. *Kidney Int Rep.* (2017) 2:342–9. doi: 10.1016/j.ekir.2016.12.001
- Wilson FP, Shashaty M, Testani J, Aqeel I, Borovskiy Y, Ellenberg SS, et al. Automated, electronic alerts for acute kidney injury: a singleblind, parallel-group, randomised controlled trial. *Lancet.* (2015) 385:1966– 74. doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(15)60266-5
- Goldstein SL, Dahale D, Kirkendall ES, Mottes T, Kaplan H, Muething S, et al. A prospective multi-center quality improvement initiative (NINJA) indicates a reduction in nephrotoxic acute kidney injury in hospitalized children. *Kidney Int.* (2019) 97:580–8. doi: 10.1016/j.kint.2019.10.015
- Driest SLV, Wang L, McLemore MF, Bridges BC, Fleming GM, McGregor TL, et al. Acute kidney injury risk-based screening in pediatric inpatients: a pragmatic randomized trial. *Pediatr Res.* (2020) 87:118–24. doi: 10.1038/s41390-019-0550-1
- Tomašev N, Glorot X, Rae JW, Zielinski M, Askham H, Saraiva A, et al. A clinically applicable approach to continuous prediction of future acute kidney injury. *Nature*. (2019) 572:116–9. doi: 10.1038/s41586-019-1390-1
- Sandokji I, Yamamoto Y, Biswas A, Arora T, Ugwuowo U, Simonov M, et al. A time-updated, parsimonious model to predict AKI in hospitalized children. J Am Soc Nephrol. (2020) 31:1348–57. doi: 10.1681/asn.2019070745
- Rashidi P, Bihorac A. Artificial intelligence approaches to improve kidney care. Nat Rev Nephrol. (2020) 16:71–2. doi: 10.1038/s41581 -019-0243-3
- Workgroup K. KDIGO clinical practice guidelines for acute kidney injury. *Kidney Int.* (2012) 120:c179–84. doi: 10.1159/000339789
- 22. Goldstein SL. Urine output assessment in acute kidney injury: the cheapest and most impactful biomarker. *Front Pediatr.* (2020) 7:565. doi: 10.3389/fped.2019.00565
- Roy J-P, Goldstein S, Schuh M. Under-recognition of neonatal acute kidney injury and lack of follow-up. *Am J Perinat*. (2020). doi: 10.1055/s-0040-1716841. [Epub ahead of print].
- Lin J, Fernandez H, Shashaty MGS, Negoianu D, Testani JM, Berns JS, et al. False-positive rate of AKI using consensus creatinine-based criteria. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol Cjasn.* (2015) 10:1723–31. doi: 10.2215/cjn.02430315
- Ostermann M, Zarbock A, Goldstein S, Kashani K, Macedo E, Murugan R, et al. Recommendations on acute kidney injury biomarkers from the acute disease quality initiative consensus conference. *JAMA Netw Open.* (2020) 3:e2019209. doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.19209
- Meijers B, Moor BD, Bosch BVD. The acute kidney injury e-alert and clinical care bundles: the road to success is always under construction. *Nephrol Dial Transpl.* (2016) 31:1761–3. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfw213
- 27. Forde C, McCaughan J, Leonard N. Acute kidney injury: it's as easy as ABCDE. *Bmj Qual Improv Rep.* (2012) 1:u200370.w326. doi: 10.1136/bmjquality.u200370.w326

- Kolhe NV, Reilly T, Leung J, Fluck RJ, Swinscoe KE, Selby NM, et al. A simple care bundle for use in acute kidney injury: a propensity score-matched cohort study. *Nephrol Dial Transpl.* (2016) 31:1846–54. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfw087
- Meersch M, Schmidt C, Hoffmeier A, Aken HV, Wempe C, Gerss J, et al. Prevention of cardiac surgery-associated AKI by implementing the KDIGO guidelines in high risk patients identified by biomarkers: the PrevAKI randomized controlled trial. *Intens Care Med.* (2017) 43:1551– 61. doi: 10.1007/s00134-016-4670-3
- Kellum JA. AKI: the myth of inevitability is finally shattered. Nat Rev Nephrol. (2017) 13:140–1. doi: 10.1038/nrneph.2017.11
- Bagshaw SM. Acute kidney injury care bundles. Nephron. (2016) 131:247– 51. doi: 10.1159/000437152
- Gubb S, Holmes J, Smith G, Geen J, Williams J, Donovan K, et al. Acute kidney injury in children based on electronic alerts. J Pediatr. (2020) 220:14– 20.e4. doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2019.11.019
- Holmes J, Roberts G, May K, Tyerman K, Geen J, Williams JD, et al. The incidence of pediatric acute kidney injury is increased when identified by a change in a creatinine-based electronic alert. *Kidney Int.* (2017) 92:432– 9. doi: 10.1016/j.kint.2017.03.009
- Wilson FP, Martin M, Yamamoto Y, Partridge C, Moreira E, Arora T, et al. Electronic health record alerts for acute kidney injury: multicenter, randomized clinical trial. *BMJ*. (2021) 372:m4786. doi: 10.1136/bmj.m4786
- 35. Holmes J, Donovan K, Geen J, Williams J, Phillips AO. Acute kidney injury demographics and outcomes: changes following introduction of electronic acute kidney injury alerts-an analysis of a national dataset. *Nephrol Dialysis Transplant.* (2020). doi: 10.1093/ ndt/gfaa071. [Epub ahead of print].
- Selby NM, Casula A, Lamming L, Stoves J, Samarasinghe Y, Lewington AJ, et al. An organizational-level program of intervention for AKI: a pragmatic stepped wedge cluster randomized trial. J Am Soc Nephrol. (2019) 30:505– 15. doi: 10.1681/asn.2018090886
- Park S, Baek SH, Ahn S, Lee K-H, Hwang H, Ryu J, et al. Impact of electronic acute kidney injury (AKI) alerts with automated nephrologist consultation on detection and severity of AKI: a quality improvement study. *Am J Kidney Dis.* (2018) 71:9–19. doi: 10.1053/j.ajkd.2017.06.008
- Al-Jaghbeer M, Dealmeida D, Bilderback A, Ambrosino R, Kellum JA. Clinical decision support for in-hospital AKI. J Am Soc Nephrol. (2017) 29:654– 60. doi: 10.1681/asn.2017070765
- Bataineh A, Dealmeida D, Bilderback A, Ambrosino R, Al-Jaghbeer MJ, Fuhrman DY, et al. Sustained effects of a clinical decision support system for acute kidney injury. *Nephrol Dial Transpl.* (2020) 35:1819– 21. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfaa099
- Kolhe NV, Staples D, Reilly T, Merrison D, Mcintyre CW, Fluck RJ, et al. Impact of compliance with a care bundle on acute kidney injury outcomes: a prospective observational study. *PLoS ONE.* (2015) 10:e0132279. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0132279
- Selby NM, Crowley L, Fluck RJ, McIntyre CW, Monaghan J, Lawson N, et al. Use of electronic results reporting to diagnose and monitor AKI in hospitalized patients. *Clin J Am Soc Nephro.* (2012) 7:533– 40. doi: 10.2215/cjn.08970911
- Sawhney S, Fluck N, Marks A, Prescott G, Simpson W, Tomlinson L, et al. Acute kidney injury—how does automated detection perform? *Nephrol Dial Transpl.* (2015) 30:1853–61. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfv094
- Colpaert K, Hoste EA, Steurbaut K, Benoit D, Hoecke SV, Turck FD, et al. Impact of real-time electronic alerting of acute kidney injury on therapeutic intervention and progression of RIFLE class&ast. *Crit Care Med.* (2012) 40:1164–70. doi: 10.1097/ccm.0b013e3182387a6b
- 44. Wilson FP, Reese PP, Shashaty MG, Ellenberg SS, Gitelman Y, Bansal AD, et al. A trial of in-hospital, electronic alerts for acute kidney injury: design and rationale. *Clin Trials.* (2014) 11:521–9. doi: 10.1177/1740774514542619
- 45. Biswas A, Parikh CR, Feldman HI, Garg AX, Latham S, Lin H, et al. Identification of patients expected to benefit from electronic alerts for acute kidney injury. *Clin J Am Soc Nephro.* (2018) 13:842– 9. doi: 10.2215/cjn.13351217
- 46. Liu KD, Hsu C, Yang J, Tan TC, Zheng S, Ordonez JD, et al. Acute kidney injury ascertainment is affected by the use of first inpatient versus outpatient baseline serum creatinine. *Kidney Int Rep.* (2018) 3:211– 5. doi: 10.1016/j.ekir.2017.08.011

- Zappitelli M, Parikh CR, Akcan-Arikan A, Washburn KK, Moffett BS, Goldstein SL. Ascertainment and epidemiology of acute kidney injury varies with definition interpretation. *Clin J Am Soc Nephro.* (2008) 3:948– 54. doi: 10.2215/cjn.05431207
- Martin M, Wilson FP. Utility of electronic medical record alerts to prevent drug nephrotoxicity. *Clin J Am Soc Nephro.* (2019) 14:115– 23. doi: 10.2215/cjn.13841217
- Wilson FP. Information technology and acute kidney injury: alerts, alarms, bells, and whistles. *Adv Chronic Kidney D.* (2017) 24:241– 5. doi: 10.1053/j.ackd.2017.05.007

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Nguyen and Menon. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## A Precision Medicine Approach to Biomarker Utilization in Pediatric Sepsis-Associated Acute Kidney Injury

#### James D. Odum<sup>1</sup>, Hector R. Wong<sup>1,2</sup> and Natalja L. Stanski<sup>1,2\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Division of Critical Care, Cincinnati Children's Hospital Medical Center, Cincinnati, OH, United States, <sup>2</sup> Department of Pediatrics, University of Cincinnati College of Medicine, Cincinnati, OH, United States

Sepsis is a leading cause of morbidity and mortality in critically ill children, and acute kidney injury (AKI) is a frequent complication that confers an increased risk for poor outcomes. Despite the documented consequences of sepsis-associated AKI (SA-AKI), no effective disease-modifying therapies have been identified to date. As such, the only treatment options for these patients remain prevention and supportive care, both of which rely on the ability to promptly and accurately identify at risk and affected individuals. To achieve these goals, a variety of biomarkers have been investigated to help augment our currently limited predictive and diagnostic strategies for SA-AKI, however, these have had variable success in pediatric sepsis. In this mini-review, we will briefly outline the current use of biomarkers for SA-AKI, and propose a new framework for biomarker discovery and utilization that considers the individual patient's sepsis inflammatory response. Now recognized to be a key driver in the complex pathophysiology of SA-AKI, understanding the dysregulated host immune response to sepsis is a growing area of research that can and should be leveraged to improve the prediction and diagnosis of SA-AKI, while also potentially identifying novel therapeutic targets. Reframing SA-AKI in this manner - as a direct consequence of the individual patient's sepsis inflammatory response - will facilitate a precision medicine approach to its management, something that is required to move the care of this consequential disorder forward.

#### Keywords: sepsis, acute kidney injury, biomarkers, precision medicine, enrichment

#### INTRODUCTION

Sepsis is common in the pediatric intensive care unit (PICU), accounting for 75,000 hospitalizations annually in the United States (1). Children with sepsis suffer substantial morbidity and mortality, and those risks are further increased by the co-incidence of acute kidney injury (AKI), a frequent complication of pediatric sepsis (2, 3). Impacting almost half of critically ill children who meet criteria for severe sepsis (4), sepsis-associated AKI (SA-AKI) has been associated with poor outcomes including prolonged lengths of stay, higher mortality, and increased healthcare costs (3, 5, 6). Unfortunately, despite the burden it imposes on health outcomes, there are currently no effective disease-modifying therapies for SA-AKI once present (7, 8). As a result, therapeutic approaches are centered on prevention and supportive care, including employment of renal protective measures and timely initiation of renal replacement therapy, if indicated (9, 10).

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Katja Michelle Gist, Children's Hospital Colorado, United States

#### Reviewed by:

Emily Lauren Joyce, Rainbow Babies & Children's Hospital, United States Michael Seifert, University of Alabama at Birmingham, United States

> \*Correspondence: Natalja L. Stanski natalja.stanski@cchmc.org

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Pediatric Nephrology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Pediatrics

Received: 22 November 2020 Accepted: 22 March 2021 Published: 14 April 2021

#### Citation:

Odum JD, Wong HR and Stanski NL (2021) A Precision Medicine Approach to Biomarker Utilization in Pediatric Sepsis-Associated Acute Kidney Injury: Front. Pediatr. 9:632248. doi: 10.3389/fped.2021.632248

A primary limitation to the successful development of novel therapies to treat SA-AKI is an incomplete understanding of the pathophysiology. Historical perspectives considered SA-AKI to be the result of renal hypoperfusion during the shock state, leading to acute tubular necrosis (11). However, the modern pathophysiologic model of SA-AKI recognizes a much more complex and heterogeneous disease - a combination of a dysregulated host inflammatory response to infection, altered microcirculatory blood flow, and metabolic derangements that ultimately lead to cell cycle arrest and apoptosis of renal tubular epithelial cells (12, 13). Difficulties in treatment development encountered due to this complexity are further exacerbated by the limited diagnostic strategies for SA-AKI, as it is now well-established that serum creatinine and urine output the current gold standards for diagnosis - are fraught with issues, particularly among patients with sepsis (14). Indeed, the limitations of these tools are highlighted by the recent 23rd Acute Dialysis Quality Initiative recommendations, which suggest incorporating tubular injury biomarker status into the definition of AKI, when available (15). Taken together, the lack of precision diagnostics for SA-AKI, coupled with a limited understanding of the individual heterogeneous pathophysiology, have prevented advances in therapy beyond our current standards of prevention and supportive care (16).

With these issues in mind, it is not surprising that there is a growing interest in identifying biomarkers for SA-AKI. In addition to the clear need for validated injury biomarkers to improve diagnostic precision once present, biomarkers that allow for early identification of patients at risk for severe, persistent SA-AKI and those that reflect the patient-specific underlying pathophysiology are needed, as they might allow for prompt implementation of renal protective strategies, identification of biologically important targets for development of novel therapies, and provide a mechanism for enrichment of future clinical trials (17). Given the complexity of SA-AKI outlined above, it is unlikely that one biomarker measured at one moment in time will be able to achieve these goals, and this reality should inform our approach to identifying and employing biomarkers for SA-AKI.

This mini-review proposes a new framework for the discovery and utilization of biomarkers for SA-AKI. The foundational premise is that the pathophysiology of SA-AKI is directly tied to an individual's unique sepsis-related inflammatory response, and thus the diagnostic and treatment approach to SA-AKI may be different from other forms of AKI. Within this framework, we will briefly describe the current state of biomarkers for SA-AKI and discuss their limitations. We will then evaluate how biomarkers have been employed for the identification of individual sepsis molecular signatures, and how these may be leveraged in SA-AKI. Ultimately, if biomarkers can be biologically linked to the dysregulated inflammatory response to sepsis, then a precision medicine approach to the diagnosis and treatment of SA-AKI can be utilized to improve patient outcomes.

#### THE CURRENT APPLICATION OF BIOMARKERS IN SEPSIS-ASSOCIATED AKI

To date, a variety of biomarkers for SA-AKI have been studied. The biological underpinnings of these biomarkers vary, and include direct markers of tubular injury, regulatory proteins responsible for promoting cell cycle arrest, and more recently, proteins involved in the inflammatory cascade induced by sepsis (18, 19). Thus, far, SA-AKI research utilizing biomarkers has been limited to improving diagnostic and predictive capacity, most with modest success (18). Importantly, there have been no interventional trials to date utilizing biomarkers to initiate disease-specific therapy in SA-AKI. An overview of the biomarkers that have been most widely investigated in SA-AKI is included in **Table 1**.While the purpose of this review is not to cover these previously studied biomarkers of SA-AKI in detail, two deserve more in depth discussion.

#### Neutrophil Gelatinase-Associated Lipocalin (NGAL)

As the most widely studied biomarker of AKI, NGAL - a protein produced by the injured nephron that can be measured in both urine and serum - has also been studied extensively as a biomarker of SA-AKI (37). While NGAL has been shown to successfully identify patients with AKI secondary to a variety of etiologies (38-40), its utility in sepsis is less clear (41-44). This is in large part due to an increase in systemic NGAL production - namely by neutrophils and the liver - as part of the inflammatory response to infection, independent of injury to nephrons (20). The consequence of this lack of kidneyspecific production of NGAL has been modest performance when utilized for diagnosis and prediction of SA-AKI, often with high sensitivity but poor specificity (Table 1) (21, 22). Unfortunately, difficulty disentangling the fraction of NGAL elevation that is attributable to AKI, vs. a more generic systemic inflammatory response among patients with sepsis, likely limits its utility as a single biomarker for the diagnosis of SA-AKI, although more study is warranted.

#### **Cell Cycle Arrest Markers**

The induction of cell cycle arrest in renal tubular epithelial cells plays an important role in the early pathophysiology of all forms of AKI (11). Consequently, the expression of cell cycle arrest proteins tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase-2 (TIMP-2) and insulin-like growth factor-binding protein 7 (IGFBP7) have been shown to be increased in renal tubular cells in response to stress or injury (18, 25). The combination of TIMP-2 and IGFBP7 for the prediction of AKI in high risk patients has been examined in several landmark studies (**Table 1**) (26, 28, 45), and is now approved by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration for critically ill adults with one or more risk factors for AKI, including sepsis (25). In adults with sepsis, this tool (known as NephroCheck<sup>®</sup>) demonstrated an area under the receiver

#### TABLE 1 | Investigated biomarkers of sepsis-associated acute kidney injury.

Biomarker	Site of production	Function	Pathophysiology	Measured	Potential applications in SA-AKI	Time to AKI	Limitations
Neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin (NGAL)	Systemic: liver, circulating neutrophils, epithelial cells	Binds bacterial siderophores to inhibit growth; also has anti-apoptosis effects and enhances proliferation of renal tubules (20)	Marker of renal tubular epithelial injury and systemic inflammation (20)	Plasma, Urine	Plasma NGAL within 24 h of admission predicted SA-AKI in children with an AUROC of 0.68 (21)	AKI diagnosed by day 7 (median 1, range 1–6) (21)	High sensitivity with poor specificity
	Kidney: proximal tubule, thick ascending limb of Henle's loop, distal tubule, and collecting duct				Meta-Analysis: plasma NGAL predicted SA-AKI with an AUROC of 0.86, and urine NGAL with an AUROC of 0.90 (22)		Elevated in the setting of systemic inflammation
Kidney injury molecule-1 (KIM-1)	Kidney: tubular apical transmembrane protein, soluble form excreted in urine	Involved with repair of renal tubular epithelial cells (23)	Upregulated during ischemic and nephrotoxic AKI (23)	Urine	Increased within 6–24 h of admission in patients with SA-AKI. Level at 24 h predicted SA-AKI with an AUROC of 0.91 (24)	AKI diagnosed by 48 h (24)	Limited investigations in pediatric SA-AKI
Netrin-1	Systemic: nervous system, heart, lung, liver, intestines, blood vessels Kidney: secreted by proximal tubule opithelial colla, procent	Axon guidance molecule, inhibits leukocyte migration, promotes endothelial chemoattraction (18)	Increased production in renal tubular epithelial cells in response to ischemic AKI (18)	Urine	Levels peaked early, within 3-6 h of admission, in patients SA-AKI. Level at 3 h predicted SA-AKI with an AUROC of 0.86 (24)	AKI diagnosed by 48 h (24)	Limited investigations in pediatric SA-AKI
	epithelial cells, present in renal microvascular endothelial cells						
Tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase-2 (TIMP-2)	Renal tubular epithelial cells	Promotes G1 cell cycle arrest via increasing p27 expression (25)	In response to tubular epithelial damage, TIMP-2 and IGFBP7 expression is increased to initiate cell	Urine	Product of urine TIMP-2 · IGFBP7 predicts SA-AKI within 12 h of admission with an AUROC of 0.84 (27)	AKI diagnosed within 12 h of study enrollment (28)	Limited study in children, FDA approval does not apply to patients
Insulin-like growth factor-binding protein 7 (IGFBP7)	Renal tubular epithelial cells	Promotes G1 cell cycle arrest via increasing expression of p53 and p21 (25)	cycle arrest and signal to neighboring cells via paracrine and autocrine modalities (26)		Now available as FDA approved tool known as NephroCheck <sup>®</sup> in adults with one or more AKI risk factors, including sepsis (27)		<18 years old
Soluble triggering receptor expressed on myeloid cells 1 (sTREM-1)	Systemic: expressed by neutrophils and monocytes	TREM-1 triggers secretion of pro-inflammatory mediators in response to extracellular bacterial infections (29). sTREM-1 is a soluble form of TREM-1 that modulates cytokine production to prevent hyper-responsive inflammatory cascade (30)	Plasma sTREM-1 levels strongly correlate to sepsis severity (31). It may be filtered into the urine, or produced and excreted locally during acute tubular necrosis (32)	Plasma, Urine	Plasma sTREM-1 predicted SA-AKI with an AUROC of 0.746 and urine sTREM-1 with an AUROC of 0.778 24-h prior to diagnosis by SCr (33)	AKI diagnosed by day 7 (median 2, range 1–7) (33)	No prospective studies in pediatric SA-AKI

Frontiers in Pediatrics | www.frontiersin.org

(Continued)

Biomarkers in Pediatric Sepsis-Associated AKI

Biomarker	Site of production	Function	Pathophysiology	Measured	Potential applications in SA-AKI	Time to AKI	Limitations
	Kidney: endothelial cells, tubular epithelial cells, inflitrating inflammatory cells				Urine sTREM-1 increased 48-h prior to SA-AKI in adults (34)		
Interleukin-18 (IL-18)	Systemic: secreted by macrophages after precursor is cleaved by caspase-1 intracellularly	IL-18 is a proinflammatory cytokine that induces interferon gamma production from natural killer cells, also induces T-cells to produce interleukin-17 (35)	IL-18 is released by renal tubular cells in response to injury and is thought to mediate acute tubular necrosis (36)	Urine	Urinary 1L-18 increased 24–48 h prior to diagnosis of AKI in adult patients with Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrome and AKI. IL-18 demonstrated an AUC of 0.73 to predict AKI in the next 24 h (36)	AKI diagnosed by day 6 of hospitalization. Biomarker values reported 24h prior to time AKI was diagnosed	No studies in children, less specific to acute kidney injury
	Kidney: released in response to tubular injury						

operating curve (AUROC) of 0.84 for the prediction of SA-AKI, and its predictive performance significantly improved via the addition of a clinical prediction model (AUROC of 0.94) (27). The use of NephroCheck<sup>®</sup> to assess the impact of directed implementation of standardized renal protection strategies compared to standard of care in patients with septic shock will be assessed in the upcoming Limiting AKI Progression in Sepsis (LAPIS) Trial (NCT04434209) (46). Unfortunately, this tool has not been studied robustly nor been validated in children.

As noted above and in **Table 1**, there are several limitations to the use of these biomarkers in pediatric SA-AKI. First and foremost, the data for their use in pediatric sepsis is scare, and this is especially problematic given a growing host of literature to suggest fundamental differences in the sepsis inflammatory response – and thus, the risk of SA-AKI – based on age (47–50). Furthermore, the biologic action of many of these biomarkers appear to be non-specific to sepsis (38, 51, 52), thereby providing no information regarding the patient's underlying inflammatory state, which is likely necessary to identify effective, patientspecific therapies for SA-AKI. Taken together, these realities suggest that additional approaches to biomarker discovery and utilization is required.

#### THE SEPSIS MOLECULAR SIGNATURE AND ITS ROLE IN SEPSIS-ASSOCIATED AKI

As outlined above, sepsis is a complex syndrome that stems from a dysregulated host immune response to an infectious trigger, and is a leading cause of death and disability in critically ill children (53). Given these consequences, substantial resources have been focused on improving the care of patients with sepsis, however, these efforts have failed to produce meaningful therapeutic advances beyond the mainstays of supportive care and antibiotics (54). Failures are undoubtedly tied to the heterogeneity of the disease expression on the individual patient level (17). As such, attempts to resolve this heterogeneity by identifying the sepsis molecular signature of a patient are becoming more common, as successful strategies for doing so could allow for more targeted employment of therapies (55– 61).

This concept of separating a heterogeneous group of patients into more homogenous subgroups to guide management is termed *enrichment*, a fundamental tenant of precision medicine (62). *Prognostic enrichment* refers to selecting a subgroup of patients who share a similar likelihood of suffering an outcome of interest, such as mortality, while *predictive enrichment* selects a subgroup who are more likely to respond to a particular therapy based on underlying biology (63). This general concept, and how it may be employed to direct a precision medicine approach to SA-AKI therapy, is depicted in **Figure 1**.

In pediatric sepsis, *prognostic enrichment* strategies have been used to develop a set of serum biomarkers – known as the Pediatric Sepsis Biomarker Risk Model (PERSEVERE) – capable of reliably assigning baseline risk of 28-day mortality


(67). This model incorporates five serum protein biomarkers measured in the first 24 h of septic shock that were originally identified utilizing discovery-oriented genome-wide profiling of children with septic shock (68, 69), and then narrowed further using classification and regression tree (CART) modeling for estimation of baseline mortality risk (67). An updated version of the model (PERSEVERE-II) incorporates platelet count, and has been recently prospectively validated for the prediction of mortality (70). Similarly, predictive enrichment has also been utilized to subgroup patients based on gene expression, which led to the identification of two distinct endotypes that may require different treatment approaches (58). For example, one particular endotype - endotype A - is associated with increased repression of genes that regulate adaptive immunity and glucocorticoid receptor signaling, and patients with this endotype have demonstrated an increased mortality rate when treated with corticosteroids (71, 72). This association between endotype A and poor outcome in response to corticosteroids was recently corroborated among adults with septic shock (73). Given our current understanding of the significant role that the host inflammatory response plays in the pathophysiology of SA-AKI (12, 13), it is reasonable to consider leveraging this pediatric sepsis enrichment work to improve the care of SA-AKI, a similarly heterogeneous disorder (11, 12).

## THE GOAL: SEPSIS-SPECIFIC BIOMARKERS FOR A PRECISION MEDICINE APPROACH TO SEPSIS-ASSOCIATED AKI

A precision medicine approach to SA-AKI will require both prognostic enrichment tools to identify high risk patients early and accurately, and predictive enrichment tools to deliver the right treatment to the right patient. Biomarkers play an important role in achieving these goals, however, we believe that a shift to include biomarkers of the dysregulated immune response to infection is prudent. Such a shift will also require a reframing of AKI in sepsis, recognizing that it is not simply "associated" with sepsis (as suggested by the term SA-AKI), but a disease state that is induced by the host inflammatory response. In this section, we will outline the current application of precision medicine to the study of SA-AKI within this framework, and highlight the remaining critical knowledge gaps.

## **Prognostic Enrichment Tools for SA-AKI**

The first step to improving outcomes for patients with SA-AKI is early identification of those at highest risk. While sepsis is perhaps the most significant risk factor for AKI in critically ill patients, a significant proportion of patients with septic shock do not develop AKI. Therefore, further delineation of an individual's risk profile via the development of prognostic enrichment tools is required. To date, few validated prognostic enrichment strategies for SA-AKI that incorporate sepsis-specific biomarkers exist, as outlined below.

Leveraging work done in the more advanced field of sepsis precision medicine, researchers have utilized "omic" technologies (notably genomics, transcriptomics and proteomics) to identify patients at high risk for persistent SA-AKI (10, 64, 74). Using microarray technology to study SA-AKI related transcriptomics, one group retrospectively identified 21 candidate biomarkers for the prediction of SA-AKI based on the upregulation of mRNA gene probes in patients with persistence of severe SA-AKI at day 7 of septic shock (74). The expression pattern of these 21 upregulated genes were shown to predict the presence of this severe, persistent form of SA-AKI with high sensitivity (98%) and reasonable specificity (80%) (74). Results from this work informed a second study in which the protein products of five of the aforementioned 21 genes-elastase 2 (ELA2), fibroblast growth factor 13, matrix metalloproteinase 8 (MMP8), olfactomedin 4 (OFM4), and proteinase 3 (PRTN3) - were incorporated into a new CART-derived model to predict the presence of SA-AKI at day 3 of septic shock (10). The test characteristics of this model in the derivation cohort were robust. with an AUROC of 0.95; when tested in a validation cohort, the predictive capacity of the model remained reasonable with an AUROC of 0.82, which was superior to knowledge of AKI stage by serum creatinine on the day of septic shock development alone (AUROC 0.73) (10). Using a similar approach, a more recent study utilized the PERSEVERE biomarkers and AKI stage by serum creatinine on the day of admission to develop a model for prediction of severe SA-AKI at day 3. This model had similarly impressive test characteristics, with an AUROC of 0.95 (64). Unfortunately, while these models represent potentially feasible prognostic enrichment tools for SA-AKI, they have not yet been prospectively validated nor utilized to inform patient care, which represent areas of future study.

Another strategy incorporating biomarkers that has been utilized for prognostic enrichment in SA-AKI is latent class analysis (LCA). This approach allows for the incorporation of multiple variables- including comorbidities, clinical data and biomarkers - to allow for the identification of potential subphenotypes of heterogeneous disease states. Using this methodology, a recent post-hoc analysis of the FINNAKI Study described two subphenotypes of critically ill patients with SA-AKI who have significantly different rates of mortality and renal recovery (65). Patients categorized as subphenotype 2 - which was associated with increased mortality and decreased short-term renal recovery - demonstrated elevations in biomarkers associated with endothelial dysfunction and an overall increased inflammatory state. Interestingly, four of the significantly upregulated inflammatory biomarkers in subphenotype 2 (ELA2, OFM4, MMP8 and PRTN3) overlapped with the above mentioned AKI prediction model derived by Wong and colleagues (10). Using a similar approach, a second group also identified two SA-AKI subphenotypes (AKI-SP1 and AKI-SP2) via the application of LCA to a panel of 29 clinical and biomarker variables (75). This study similarly showed decreased survival and renal recovery in patients with upregulation of biomarkers associated with endothelial dysfunction and inflammation, although the included biomarkers differed. While these LCA-driven studies identified high-risk subphenotypes of patients already known to have SA-AKI, they represent potentially viable prognostic enrichment tools, specifically to help delineate patients most likely to benefit from enrollment in clinical trials, as well as from potentially high-risk and high-resource utilizing therapies such as renal replacement therapy (RRT).

## **Predictive Enrichment Tools for SA-AKI**

The identification of predictive enrichment tools for SA-AKIthose that provide insight into the underlying pathophysiology and thereby reveal potential treatment strategies-remains an elusive goal. Predictive enrichment tools are particularly helpful in heterogeneous disease states, as they may identify subphenotypes of patients who might benefit from a specific, biologically-based therapy. While **Figure 1** outlines an ideal circumstance in which predictive enrichment occurs in an identified high risk subset of patients, it is important to note that the development and use of predictive enrichment tools does not necessarily rely on the availability of reliable prognostic enrichment strategies. However, the identification of effective predictive enrichment tools requires a deep understanding of the patient-specific pathophysiology, which remains a significant barrier in SA-AKI.

Thus far, the only proposed predictive enrichment strategy that is clinically feasible was elucidated via a series of post-hoc analyses of the Angiotensin II for the Treatment of High-Output Shock (ATHOS-3), a clinical trial of adults with vasodilatory shock treated with angiotensin II (76). In these studies, the authors were able to demonstrate that patients who were treated with angiotensin II had improved 28-day survival and earlier discontinuation of RRT (77), and that these advantages were best seen in patients who had higher serum renin levels prior to angiotensin II administration, suggestive of sepsis-induced angiotensin converting enzyme deficiency (and thus angiotensin II deficiency) in the setting of endothelial injury (66). From these findings, the authors postulated that administration of exogenous angiotensin II to patients with vasodilatory shock may be beneficial beyond simply increasing blood pressure, as it was also demonstrated to normalize high renin levels, which have been known to be proinflammatory (66). Given that serum renin levels can be easily measured, this example of predictive enrichment can and should be applied prospectively in future studies examining the effect of angiotensin II on mitigation of SA-AKI.

## CONCLUSION

SA-AKI is a common and consequential diagnosis in critically ill children, yet successful diagnostic and treatment strategies remain unacceptably scarce. In order to improve the care of patients with SA-AKI, researchers must move toward a precision medicine approach that considers the heterogeneity of the disease on the individual patient level. While biomarkers will undoubtedly play an important role in these endeavors, the complex pathophysiology of SA-AKI requires that we consider the use of biomarkers specific to the individual sepsis inflammatory response, a key driver of renal injury in these patients. To do this, researchers must leverage and build upon existing sepsis precision medicine work, facilitating the development of prognostic and predictive enrichment tools that could advance the care of SA-AKI beyond prevention and renal support. A necessary and feasible first step in this process is the development and validation of reliable tools for the prediction of patients at highest risk for SA-AKI, as such a tool could facilitate the implementation of early and aggressive renal protection strategies, and perhaps more importantly in pediatrics, reduce the number of patients needed to study by informing enrollment in clinical trials aimed at identifying disease-modifying therapies.

#### REFERENCES

- Hartman ME., Linde-Zwirble WT, Angus DC, Watson RS. Trends in the epidemiology of pediatric severe sepsis. *Pediatr Crit Care Med.* (2013) 14:686– 93. doi: 10.1097/PCC0b013e3182917fad
- Weiss SL, Fitzgerald JC, Pappachan J, Wheeler D., Jaramillo-Bustamante JC, Salloo A, et al. Global epidemiology of pediatric severe sepsis: the sepsis prevalence, outcomes, and therapies study. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2015) 191:1147–57. doi: 10.1164/rccm201412-2323OC
- Fitzgerald JC, Basu R, Akcan-Arikan A, Izquierdo LM, Piñeres Olave BE, Hassinger AB, et al. Acute kidney injury in pediatric severe sepsis, an independent risk factor for death and new disability. *Crit Care Med.* (2016) 44:2241–50. doi: 10.1097/CCM000000000002007
- Fitzgerald JC, Ross ME, Thomas NJ, Weiss SL, Balamuth F, Anderson AH. Risk factors and inpatient outcomes associated with acute kidney injury at pediatric severe sepsis presentation. *Pediatric Nephrology*. (2018) 33:1781–90. doi: 10.1007/s00467-018-3981-8
- Stanski NL, Cvijanovich NZ, Fitzgerald JC, Bigham MT, Wong HR, Weiss SL, et al. Severe acute kidney injury is independently associated with mortality in children with septic shock. *Intensive Care Med.* (2020) 46:1050– 1. doi: 10.1007/s00134-020-05940-8
- Angus DC, Linde-Zwirble WT, Lidicker J, Clermont G, Carcillo J, Pinsky MR. Epidemiology of severe sepsis in the United States: analysis of incidence, outcome, and associated costs of care. *Crit Care Med.* (2001) 29:1303– 10. doi: 10.1097/00003246-200107000-00002
- Alobaidi R, Basu RK, Goldstein SL, Bagshaw SM. Sepsisassociated acute kidney injury. Semin Nephrol. (2015) 35:2– 11. doi: 10.1016/j.semnephrol.2015.01002
- Godin M, Murray P, Mehta RL. Clinical approach to the patient with AKI and sepsis. Semin Nephrol. (2015) 35:12–22. doi: 10.1016/j.semnephrol.2015.01003
- Bellomo R, Kellum JA, Ronco C, Wald R, Martensson J, Maiden M, et al. Acute kidney injury in sepsis. *Intensive Care Med.* (2017) 43:816– 28. doi: 10.1007/s00134-017-4755-7
- Wong HR, Cvijanovich NZ, Anas N, Allen GL, Thomas NJ, Bigham MT, et al. A multibiomarker-based model for estimating the risk of septic acute kidney injury. *Crit Care Med.* (2015) 43:1646–53. doi: 10.1097/CCM00000000001079
- Gomez H, Ince C, De Backer D, Pickkers P, Payen D, Hotchkiss J, et al. A unified theory of sepsis-induced acute kidney injury: inflammation, microcirculatory dysfunction, bioenergetics, and the tubular cell adaptation to injury. *Shock.* (2014) 41:3–11. doi: 10.1097/SHK000000000 000052
- Fani F, Regolisti G, Delsante M, Cantaluppi V, Castellano G, Gesualdo L, et al. Recent advances in the pathogenetic mechanisms of sepsis-associated acute kidney injury. J Nephrol. (2018) 31:351–9. doi: 10.1007/s40620-017-0452-4

While the use of individual patient biology-driven therapies via predictive enrichment remains an elusive goal, reframing SA-AKI as a heterogeneous disease that will likely require an individualized approach to therapy is an important first step that should inform future research.

#### **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

JO, NS, and HW were responsible for writing and editing this mini-review. All authors approved the final version for submission.

## FUNDING

This work was funded by National Institutes of Health; R35 GM126943 (HW).

- Emlet DR, Shaw AD, Kellum JA. Sepsis-associated AKI: epithelial cell dysfunction. *Semin Nephrol.* (2015) 35:85– 95. doi: 10.1016/j.semnephrol.2015.01009
- Doi K, Yuen PST, Eisner C, Hu X, Leelahavanichkul A, Schnermann J, et al. Reduced production of creatinine limits its use as marker of kidney injury in sepsis. J Am Soc Nephrol. (2009) 20:1217–21. doi: 10.1681/ASN2008060617
- Ostermann M, Zarbock A, Goldstein S, Kashani K, Macedo E, Murugan R, et al. Recommendations on acute kidney injury biomarkers from the acute disease quality initiative consensus conference: a consensus statement. *JAMA Netw Open*. (2020) 3:e2019209. doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.202019209
- Peerapornratana S, Manrique-Caballero CL, Gómez H, Kellum JA. Acute kidney injury from sepsis: current concepts, epidemiology, pathophysiology, prevention and treatment. *Kidney Int.* (2019) 96:1083–99. doi: 10.1016/j.kint.2019.05026
- Stanski NL, Wong HR. Prognostic and predictive enrichment in sepsis. Nat Rev Nephrol. (2020) 16:20–31. doi: 10.1038/s41581-019-0199-3
- Wang K, Xie S, Xiao K, Yan P, He W, Xie L. Biomarkers of sepsis-induced acute kidney injury. *Biomed Res Int.* (2018) 2018:6937947. doi: 10.1155/2018/6937947
- Umbro I, Gentile G, Tinti F, Muiesan P, Mitterhofer AP. Recent advances in pathophysiology and biomarkers of sepsis-induced acute kidney injury. J Infect. (2016) 72:131–42. doi: 10.1016/j.jinf.2015. 11008
- Singer E, Markó L, Paragas N, Barasch J, Dragun D, Müller DN, et al. Neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin: pathophysiology and clinical applications. *Acta Physiol.* (2013) 207:663–72. doi: 10.1111/apha12054
- Wheeler DS, Devarajan P, Ma Q, Harmon K, Monaco M, Cvijanovich N, et al. Serum neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin (NGAL) as a marker of acute kidney injury in critically ill children with septic shock. *Crit Care Med.* (2008) 36:1297–303. doi: 10.1097/CCM0b013e318169245a
- 22. Zhang A, Cai Y, Wang P-F, Qu J-N, Luo Z-C, Chen X-D, et al. Diagnosis and prognosis of neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin for acute kidney injury with sepsis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Crit Care.* (2016) 20:41. doi: 10.1186/s13054-016-1212-x
- Waanders F, van Timmeren MM, Stegeman CA, Bakker SJL, van Goor H. Kidney injury molecule-1 in renal disease. J Pathol. (2010) 220:7– 16. doi: 10.1002/path2642
- 24. Tu Y, Wang H, Sun R, Ni Y, Ma L, Xv F, et al. Urinary netrin-1 and KIM-1 as early biomarkers for septic acute kidney injury. *Renal Failure*. (2014) 36:1559–63. doi: 10.3109/0886022X.2014949764
- Vijayan A, Faubel S, Askenazi DJ, Cerda J, Fissell WH, Heung M, et al. Clinical use of the urine biomarker [TIMP-2] × [IGFBP7] for acute kidney injury risk assessment. *Am J Kidney Dis*. (2016) 68:19–28. doi: 10.1053/j.ajkd.2015.12033
- Kashani K, Al-Khafaji A, Ardiles T, Artigas A, Bagshaw SM, Bell M, et al. Discovery and validation of cell cycle arrest biomarkers in human acute kidney injury. *Crit Care*. (2013) 17:R25. doi: 10.1186/cc12503

- Honore PM, Nguyen HB, Gong M, Chawla LS, Bagshaw SM, Artigas A, et al. Urinary tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase-2 and insulinlike growth factor-binding protein 7 for risk stratification of acute kidney injury in patients with sepsis. *Crit Care Med.* (2016) 44:1851– 60. doi: 10.1097/CCM00000000001827
- Meersch M, Schmidt C, Van Aken H, Rossaint J, Görlich D, Stege D, et al. Validation of cell-cycle arrest biomarkers for acute kidney injury after pediatric cardiac surgery. *PLoS ONE*. (2014) 9:e110865. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone0110865
- Bouchon A, Facchetti F, Weigand MA, Colonna M. TREM-1 amplifies inflammation and is a crucial mediator of septic shock. *Nature*. (2001) 410:1103–7. doi: 10.1038/35074114
- Gibot S, Cravoisy A, Kolopp-Sarda M-N, Béné M-C, Faure G, Bollaert P-E, et al. Time-course of sTREM (soluble triggering receptor expressed on myeloid cells)-1, procalcitonin, and C-reactive protein plasma concentrations during sepsis. *Crit Care Med.* (2005) 33:792–6. doi: 10.1097/01.CCM.0000159089.164624A
- Zhang J, She D, Feng D, Jia Y, Xie L. Dynamic changes of serum soluble triggering receptor expressed on myeloid cells-1 (sTREM-1) reflect sepsis severity and can predict prognosis: a prospective study. *BMC Infect Dis.* (2011) 11:53. doi: 10.1186/1471-2334-11-53
- Su L, Xie L, Liu D. Urine sTREM-1 may be a valuable biomarker in diagnosis and prognosis of sepsis-associated acute kidney injury. *Crit Care.* (2015) 19:281. doi: 10.1186/s13054-015-0998-2
- 33. Dai X, Zeng Z, Fu C, Zhang S, Cai Y, Chen Z. Diagnostic value of neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin, cystatin C, and soluble triggering receptor expressed on myeloid cells-1 in critically ill patients with sepsis-associated acute kidney injury. *Crit Care.* (2015) 19:1– 10. doi: 10.1186/s13054-015-0941-6
- 34. Su L, Feng L, Zhang J, Xiao Y, Jia Y, Yan P, et al. Diagnostic value of urine sTREM-1 for sepsis and relevant acute kidney injuries: a prospective study. *Crit Care*. (2011) 15:R250. doi: 10.1186/cc10508
- Dinarello C, Novick D, Kim S, Kaplanski G. Interleukin-18 and IL-18 binding protein. *Front Immunol.* (2013) 4:289. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2013 00289
- Parikh CR, Abraham E, Ancukiewicz M, Edelstein CL. Urine IL-18 is an early diagnostic marker for acute kidney injury and predicts mortality in the intensive care unit. *JASN*. (2005) 16:3046–52. doi: 10.1681/ASN200 5030236
- 37. Kim S, Kim H-J, Ahn H-S, Song JY, Um T-H, Cho C-R, et al. Is plasma neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin a predictive biomarker for acute kidney injury in sepsis patients? A systematic review and meta-analysis. J Crit Care. (2016) 33:213–23. doi: 10.1016/j.jcrc.2016.02014
- Haase M, Bellomo R, Devarajan P, Schlattmann P, Haase-Fielitz A. Accuracy of neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin (NGAL) in diagnosis and prognosis in acute kidney injury: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Am J Kidney Dis.* (2009) 54:1012–24. doi: 10.1053/j.ajkd.2009.07020
- 39. Mishra J, Dent C, Tarabishi R, Mitsnefes MM, Ma Q, Kelly C, et al. Neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin (NGAL) as a biomarker for acute renal injury after cardiac surgery. *Lancet.* (2005) 365:1231– 8. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(05)74811-X
- Zappitelli M, Washburn KK, Arikan AA, Loftis L, Ma Q, Devarajan P, et al. Urine neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin is an early marker of acute kidney injury in critically ill children: a prospective cohort study. *Crit Care.* (2007) 11:R84. doi: 10.1186/cc6089
- Mårtensson J, Bell M, Oldner A, Xu S, Venge P, Martling C-R. Neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin in adult septic patients with and without acute kidney injury. *Intensive Care Med.* (2010) 36:1333– 40. doi: 10.1007/s00134-010-1887-4
- Bagshaw SM, Bennett M, Haase M, Haase-Fielitz A, Egi M, Morimatsu H, et al. Plasma and urine neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin in septic versus non-septic acute kidney injury in critical illness. *Intensive Care Med.* (2010) 36:452–61. doi: 10.1007/s00134-009-1724-9
- 43. Törnblom S, Nisula S, Petäjä L, Vaara ST, Haapio M, Pesonen E, et al. Urine NGAL as a biomarker for septic AKI: a critical appraisal of clinical utility data from the observational FINNAKI study. *Ann Intensive Care.* (2020) 10:51. doi: 10.1186/s13613-020-00667-7

- 44. Wang B, Chen G, Zhang J, Xue J, Cao Y, Wu Y. Increased neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin is associated with mortality and multiple organ dysfunction syndrome in severe sepsis and septic shock. Shock. (2015) 44:234– 8. doi: 10.1097/SHK00000000000408
- Hoste EAJ, McCullough PA, Kashani K, Chawla LS, Joannidis M, Shaw AD, et al. Derivation and validation of cutoffs for clinical use of cell cycle arrest biomarkers. *Nephrol Dial Transplant*. (2014) 29:2054– 61. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfu292
- 46. BioMérieux. Limiting AKI Progression In Sepsis (LAPIS): A Phase 4, Multicenter, Randomized Controlled Trial of Biomarker-guided Delivery of Kidney-sparing Care Measures in Sepsis Subjects at Risk of Developing AKI. clinicaltrials.gov (2020). Available online at: https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/ show/NCT04434209 (accessed September 22, 2020).
- Wynn J, Cornell TT, Wong HR, Shanley TP, Wheeler DS. The host response to sepsis and developmental impact. *Pediatrics*. (2010) 125:1031– 41. doi: 10.1542/peds2009-3301
- Raymond SL, López MC, Baker HV, Larson SD, Efron PA, Sweeney TE, et al. Unique transcriptomic response to sepsis is observed among patients of different age groups. *PLoS ONE*. (2017) 12:e0184159. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone0184159
- Gentile LF, Nacionales DC, Lopez MC, Vanzant E, Cuenca A, Cuenca AG, et al. Protective immunity and defects in the neonatal and elderly immune response to sepsis. *J Immunol.* (2014) 192:3156–65. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol 1301726
- Atreya MR, Whitacre BE, Cvijanovich NZ, Bigham MT, Thomas NJ, Schwarz AJ, et al. Proprotein Convertase subtilisin/kexin type 9 loss-of-function is detrimental to the juvenile host with septic shock. *Crit Care Med.* (2020) 48:1513–20. doi: 10.1097/CCM00000000004487
- Shao X, Tian L, Xu W, Zhang Z, Wang C, Qi C, et al. Diagnostic value of urinary kidney injury molecule 1 for acute kidney injury: a meta-analysis. *PLoS ONE*. (2014) 9:e84131. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone0084131
- Ramesh G, Kwon O, Ahn K. Netrin-1: a novel universal biomarker of human kidney injury. *Transplant Proc.* (2010) 42:1519–22. doi: 10.1016/j.transproceed.2009.11040
- Weiss SL, Peters MJ, Alhazzani W, Agus MSD, Flori HR, Inwald DP, et al. Surviving sepsis campaign international guidelines for the management of septic shock and sepsis-associated organ dysfunction in children. *Intensive Care Med.* (2020) 46:10–67. doi: 10.1007/s00134-019-05878-6
- Marshall JC. Why have clinical trials in sepsis failed? *Trends Mol Med.* (2014) 20:195–203. doi: 10.1016/j.molmed.2014.01007
- Pimienta G, Heithoff DM, Rosa-Campos A, Tran M, Esko JD, Mahan MJ, et al. Plasma proteome signature of sepsis: a functionally connected protein network. *PROTEOMICS*. (2019) 19:1800389. doi: 10.1002/pmic201800389
- Feng A, Rice AD, Zhang Y, Kelly GT, Zhou T, Wang T. S1PR1-associated molecular signature predicts survival in patients with sepsis. *Shock*. (2020) 53:284–92. doi: 10.1097/SHK00000000001376
- Sweeney TE, Wynn JL, Cernada M, Serna E, Wong HR, Baker HV, et al. Validation of the sepsis metascore for diagnosis of neonatal sepsis. *J Pediatric Infect Dis Soc.* (2018) 7:129–35. doi: 10.1093/jpids/pix021
- Wong HR, Cvijanovich N, Lin R, Allen GL, Thomas NJ, Willson DF, et al. Identification of pediatric septic shock subclasses based on genome-wide expression profiling. *BMC Med.* (2009) 7:34. doi: 10.1186/1741-7015-7-34
- Scicluna BP, van Vught LA, Zwinderman AH, Wiewel MA, Davenport EE, Burnham KL, et al. Classification of patients with sepsis according to blood genomic endotype: a prospective cohort study. *Lancet Respir Med.* (2017) 5:816–26. doi: 10.1016/S2213-2600(17)30294-1
- Sweeney TE, Perumal TM, Henao R, Nichols M, Howrylak JA, Choi AM, et al. A community approach to mortality prediction in sepsis via gene expression analysis. *Nat Commun.* (2018) 9:694. doi: 10.1038/s41467-018-03078-2
- Davenport EE, Burnham KL, Radhakrishnan J, Humburg P, Hutton P, Mills TC, et al. Genomic landscape of the individual host response and outcomes in sepsis: a prospective cohort study. *Lancet Respir Med.* (2016) 4:259– 71. doi: 10.1016/S2213-2600(16)00046-1
- Wong HR, Lindsell CJ. An enrichment strategy for sepsis clinical trials. Shock. (2016) 46:632–4. doi: 10.1097/SHK0000000000693
- Atreya MR, Wong HR. Precision medicine in pediatric sepsis. Curr Opin Pediatr. (2019) 31:322–7. doi: 10.1097/MOP00000000000753

- 64. Stanski NL, Stenson EK, Cvijanovich NZ, Weiss SL, Fitzgerald JC, Bigham MT, et al. Persevere biomarkers predict severe acute kidney injury and renal recovery in pediatric septic shock. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. (2020) 201:848–55. doi: 10.1164/rccm201911-2187OC
- 65. Wiersema R, Jukarainen S, Vaara ST, Poukkanen M, Lakkisto P, Wong H, et al. Two subphenotypes of septic acute kidney injury are associated with different 90-day mortality and renal recovery. *Crit Care.* (2020) 24:150. doi: 10.1186/s13054-020-02866-x
- Bellomo R, Forni LG, Busse LW, McCurdy MT, Ham KR, Boldt DW, et al. Renin and survival in patients given angiotensin ii for catecholamineresistant vasodilatory shock. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2020)rccm.201911-2172OC. doi: 10.1164/rccm201911-2172OC
- Wong HR, Salisbury S, Xiao Q, Cvijanovich NZ, Hall M, Allen GL, et al. The pediatric sepsis biomarker risk model. *Crit Care.* (2012) 16:R174. doi: 10.1186/cc11652
- Kaplan JM, Wong HR. Biomarker discovery and development in pediatric critical care medicine. *Pediatr Crit Care Med.* (2011) 12:165–73. doi: 10.1097/PCC0b013e3181e28876
- Standage SW, Wong HR. Biomarkers for pediatric sepsis and septic shock. Expert Rev Anti Infect Ther. (2011) 9:71–9. doi: 10.1586/eri.10154
- Wong HR, Caldwell JT, Cvijanovich NZ, Weiss SL, Fitzgerald JC, Bigham MT, et al. Prospective clinical testing and experimental validation of the pediatric sepsis biomarker risk model. *Sci Transl Med.* (2019) 11:eaax9000. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmedaax9000
- Wong HR, Cvijanovich NZ, Allen GL, Thomas NJ, Freishtat RJ, Anas N, et al. Validation of a gene expression-based subclassification strategy for pediatric septic shock. *Crit Care Med.* (2011) 39:2511–7. doi: 10.1097/CCM0b013e3182257675
- Wong HR, Cvijanovich NZ, Anas N, Allen GL, Thomas NJ, Bigham MT, et al. Developing a clinically feasible personalized medicine approach to pediatric septic shock. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2015) 191:309– 15. doi: 10.1164/rccm201410-1864OC
- 73. Wong HR, Hart KW, Lindsell CJ, Sweeney TE. External corroboration that corticosteroids may be harmful to septic shock endotype A patients.

*Crit Care Med.* (2020) 49:e98-e101. doi: 10.1097/CCM0000000000 04709

- 74. Basu RK, Standage SW, Cvijanovich NZ, Allen GL, Thomas NJ, Freishtat RJ, et al. Identification of candidate serum biomarkers for severe septic shock-associated kidney injury via microarray. *Crit Care.* (2011) 15:1–11. doi: 10.1186/cc10554
- Bhatraju PK, Zelnick LR, Herting J, Katz R, Mikacenic C, Kosamo S, et al. Identification of acute kidney injury subphenotypes with differing molecular signatures and responses to vasopressin therapy. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2019) 199:863–72. doi: 10.1164/rccm201807-1346OC
- Khanna A, English SW, Wang XS, Ham K, Tumlin J, Szerlip H, et al. Angiotensin II for the treatment of vasodilatory shock. *N Engl J Med.* (2017) 377:419–30. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1704154
- 77. Tumlin JA, Murugan R, Deane AM, Ostermann M, Busse LW, Ham KR, et al. Outcomes in patients with vasodilatory shock and renal replacement therapy treated with intravenous angiotensin II. *Crit Care Med.* (2018) 46:949–57. doi: 10.1097/CCM00000000003092

**Conflict of Interest:** The Cincinnati Children's Research Foundation has submitted a provisional patent application for the sepsis-associated acute kidney injury prediction strategy discussed in this review article. NS and HW were named as co-inventors in the patent application.

The remaining author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Odum, Wong and Stanski. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## Impact of Acute Kidney Injury on Critically III Children and Neonates

Bassil Leghrouz<sup>1\*</sup> and Ahmad Kaddourah<sup>1,2\*</sup>

INTRODUCTION

<sup>1</sup> Pediatric Nephrology and Hypertension Division, Sidra Medicine, Doha, Qatar, <sup>2</sup> Weill Cornel Medical College, Ar-Rayyan, Qatar

Acute kidney injury (AKI) is a clinical syndrome that manifests as an abrupt impairment of kidney function. AKI is common in critically ill pediatric patients admitted to the pediatric intensive care units. AKI is a deleterious complication in critically ill children as it is associated with increased morbidity and mortality. This review provides an overview of the incidence, morbidity, and mortality of AKI in critically ill children in general and specific cohorts such as post-cardiac surgeries, sepsis, critically ill neonates, and post stem cell transplantation.

Keywords: acute kidney injure, volume overload, critically ill children, neonatal intensive care unit, COVID-19

#### OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Danielle Elise Soranno, University of Colorado, United States

#### Reviewed by:

David Joseph Askenazi, University of Alabama at Birmingham, United States Tennille N. Webb, University of Alabama at Birmingham, United States

#### \*Correspondence:

Bassil Leghrouz bleghrouz@sidra.org Ahmad Kaddourah akaddourah@sidra.org

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Pediatric Nephrology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Pediatrics

Received: 30 November 2020 Accepted: 16 March 2021 Published: 26 April 2021

#### Citation:

Leghrouz B and Kaddourah A (2021) Impact of Acute Kidney Injury on Critically III Children and Neonates. Front. Pediatr. 9:635631. doi: 10.3389/fped.2021.635631

Acute kidney injury (AKI) refers to a clinical syndrome manifested as abrupt impairment of kidney function. Although the first systematic terminology and classification of AKI were not developed till 2002 by the Acute Dialysis Quality Initiative (ADQI) group, the clinical manifestations and the deleterious impacts of this syndrome were reported in ancient medical scripts. In his Aphorisms written sometime in 400 BCE, Hippocrates described oliguric kidney failure complicating a febrile illness and described the generalized edema as "leucophlegmatia," which means an overabundance of white phlegm as an attempt to interpret the cause of the white skin color seen in such edematous patients (1). Throughout history, researchers and clinicians gave this syndrome different terms, such as "ischuria renalis" in the 1800s, acute Bright's disease in the early 1900s, and "war nephritis" during the First World War (2, 3). However, the description of this syndrome was not based on a systematic approach till the "Risk, Injury, Failure, Loss, and End-Stage (RIFLE)" criteria were developed by the ADQI working group in 2004 in adults (4). Since then, the RILFE criteria were modified and refined to include more precise criteria and different terminology. In 2007, "pediatric" RIFLE criteria were adopted for children (5) and the acute kidney injury network (AKIN) working group added further criteria and modified the staging of AKI severity (6). Finally, a comprehensive definition and staging that take into consideration the previously described criteria were introduced by the Kidney Disease Improving Global Outcomes (KDIGO) in 2012 (3) as shown in Table 1.

This chapter provides an overview of AKI epidemiology in critically ill pediatric patients and its associated morbidity and mortality. Additionally, we looked into the epidemiology and outcomes of AKI in specific populations of critically ill children.

## **INCIDENCE OF AKI IN HOSPITALIZED CHILDREN**

AKI is common in hospitalized pediatric patients with variably reported incidences ranging from 0.34% up to 5% in different studies (7, 8). It is more common in critically ill children than other hospitalized children, with a reported incidence of 30-50% (9, 10). This high incidence rate sets AKI as the commonest medical complication in critically ill pediatric patients admitted to pediatric intensive care units (ICU) (7).

41

TABLE 1 | The kidney disease improving global outcomes (KDIGO) definition and classification of acute kidney injury (AKI)\*.

#### Definition

1. Increase in sCr  $\geq$  0.3 mg/dl ( $\geq$ 26.5  $\mu$ mol/L) within 48 h; OR

2. Increase in sCr  $\geq$  1.5 times baseline, which is known or presumed to have occurred within the prior 7 days; OR

3. UOP < 0.5 ml/kg/h for 6 h.

#### AKI severity stages

	Per sCr criteria	Per UOP criteria
Stage 1	1.5–1.9 times baseline OR	
	$\geq$ 0.3 mg/dl ( $\geq$ 26.5 $\mu$ mol/L) absolute increase.	<0.5 ml/kg/h for 6–12 h
Stage 2	sCr $\geq$ 2–2.9 times baseline	UOP < 0.5 ml/kg/h for $\ge$ 12 h
Stage 3	$sCr \ge 3$ times baseline OR	
	Increase in sCr to $\geq$ 4 mg/dl ( $\geq$ 353.6 $\mu$ mol/L) OR	
	Initiation of kidney replacement therapy OR,	
	In patients $<$ 18 years, decrease in eGFR $<$ 35 ml/min/1.73 m <sup>2</sup>	$<$ 0.3 ml/kg/h for $\geq$ 24 h OR
	Anuria for >12h	

\*Adopted and modified from (3)

sCr, serum creatinine; UOP, urine output; eGFR, estimated glomerular filtration rate.

AKI rates increased 20-fold, from 0.5 to 9.9 cases per 1,000 hospitalized children between 1982 and 2004 according to a Thai study (11). The increase of the incidence is likely influenced by many factors such as the increased awareness of AKI as a common complication in the ICU population specifically after the evolution of systematic definitions of AKI. Additionally, the increased utilization of nephrotoxic medications (8–10, 12) and the advanced interventional and medical approaches to support critically ill children such as cardiopulmonary bypass (CBP) surgeries, extracorporeal membrane oxygenation (ECMO), solid organ, and stem cell transplantations could contribute to the increased incidence in of AKI.

The pathophysiology of AKI in critically ill patients is multifactorial. It varies in different areas of the world; it can occur secondary to kidney hypo-perfusion (e.g., cardiac dysfunction, hypotension, severe dehydration, bleeding, sepsis, or significant ascites impairing kidney perfusion), kidney tissue injury (secondary to prolonged impaired kidney perfusion or nephrotoxic medications) (10, 13–15), or less commonly due to primary kidney diseases like hemolytic uremic syndrome and glomerulonephritis in <10% of the cases (11, 16).

#### IMPACT OF AKI ON PEDIATRIC ICU POPULATION

#### Impact of AKI on ICU Population Collectively

The AWARE (Association Worldwide AKI Renal Angina and Epidemiology) study, published in 2017, comprehensively delineated AKI in children admitted to ICU. The (AWARE) study (17) is one of the most inclusive published studies in the epidemiology of AKI in critically ill children regardless of the underlying cause of ICU admission. This international observational study involved 32 pediatric ICU centers from the world, mainly from North America. The study enrolled more than 4,600 critically ill children from 3 months up to 25 years old. The study excluded patients with chronic kidney disease who have estimated glomerular filtration rate (GFR) of < 15 ml/min/1.73 m<sup>2</sup>, patients on dialysis, kidney transplant patients admitted within 90 days of transplantation, patients admitted to ICU within 3 months following surgical correction of congenital heart disease, patients with uncorrected congenital heart disease, and patients post-cardiac catheterization. The authors reported AKI incidence using UOP or Cr KDIGO definition as 26.9% (95% CI: 25.6–28.2) during the first 7 days of ICU admission. 11.6% of critically ill children had severe AKI defined as stage II or stage III AKI using serum creatinine and/or urine output KDIGO criteria.

Severe AKI was a statistically independent risk factor for mortality after adjusting for the diagnosis at ICU admission, coexisting medical conditions, the severity of illness scores, and utilization of mechanical ventilation, vasoactive support, ECMO, and renal replacement therapy. The adjusted odds risk of mortality on day 28 of ICU admission was 1.77 in patients with severe AKI. Moreover, severe AKI was independently associated with other secondary outcomes such as increased kidney replacement therapy utilization, increased mechanical ventilation days, and ICU stay length.

In a *post hoc* analysis in the AWARE data (18), the authors highlighted the importance of utilizing both urine output and serum creatinine criteria to identify AKI. They found that isolated use of the creatinine criteria would have missed nearly a third of AKI cases as the creatinine-missed cases met only the KDIGO UOP definition portion. The 28-day mortality rate was similar for those who met stage II or III by only serum creatinine criteria (6.7%) and those who met stage II or III by only urine output criteria. Moreover, the mortality rate was much higher (38%) in those who met both criteria.

The majority of childhood AKI studies did not utilize the urine output criteria. This can be attributed mainly to the fact that the majority of critically ill children do not have good documentation of urine output, as there is a general push back not to insert Foley catheters to prevent urinary tract infections. Even when a urinary catheter is inserted, AKI is usually hard to capture because the urine output is a dynamic measure that requires evaluation over different periods of time for which special programming in the electronic medical record systems is needed to be reliably captured. However, despite the challenges, oliguria remains a crucial component to recognize AKI as the drop in urine output should prompt evaluation of kidney function and more careful management of fluids and nephrotoxic agents.

#### Impact of AKI on Children With Congenital Heart Disease Undergoing Cardiac Surgery

AKI following post-cardiac surgery is a known complication in children undergoing cardiac surgery, mainly when utilizing CBP. Indeed, this cohort of critically ill children was the initial focus of childhood AKI research to understand the impact of the biomarkers on AKI. The timed and isolated risk factor of inducing AKI by applying the CBP made this cohort of patients the ideal cohort to study the consecutive pathological changes after initiating the bypass. A significant portion of the data and knowledge regarding the diagnostic utilities, such as the sensitivity and the positive predictive value of the novel tubular injury markers, were acquired by studying these biomarkers in this cohort. Cardiopulmonary bypass is associated with hypotension, impaired kidney perfusion, nonpulsatile perfusion, the release of inflammatory markers, kidney hypoxia, ischemia, and reperfusion injury and tissue damage secondary to oxidative stress; all of these factors contribute to developing AKI post-cardiac surgery (19, 20).

The incidence rate varies from one center to another, but most pediatric studies reported that 30-50% of children and up to 60% of neonates develop AKI after open-heart surgery (21-23). Many well-identified risk factors increase the risk of AKI following cardiac surgeries, such as low weight with the highest risk in the neonates and weight <5 kg, the complexity of the cardiac defect, high pre-operative serum creatinine level, decreased post-operative cardiac output, and high inotropic requirement (19-21, 24-28). Several studies have found out that there is a potential direct association between prolonged CPB times and the development of AKI. In a prospective pediatric multicenter study, the risk of developing AKI was 51 and 70% for bypass duration of more than 120 and 180 min, respectively (19). In a meta-analysis of nine studies, the authors concluded that longer CPB times are strongly associated with a higher incidence of AKI (29). Despite the consensus of the plausibility of the association between AKI and CBP duration, it is worth mentioning that this association was not observed in other studies. Some other technical and medical factors such as the flow rates, temperature, patient's hematocrit, and cardiac index probably play more interactive roles in determining the risk of AKI rather than the CBP time itself (30–32).

Development of AKI in post-cardiac surgery has been reported to be independently associated with increased morbidity and mortality in children, hospital length of stay, prolonged mechanical ventilation duration, more inotropic requirement, and increased mortality rate (17, 19, 20, 33).

#### Impact of AKI on Children Receiving ECMO

The Kidney Intervention During Extracorporeal Membrane Oxygenation (KIDMO) study is probably the most comprehensive study devoted to evaluating AKI and kidney supportive measures for critically ill children receiving ECMO (34). The study group utilized data of more than 800 pediatric ECMO patients from multiple centers to describe the incidence and timing of AKI by utilizing serum creatinine KDIGO criteria and to investigate the association of AKI with the length of ECMO need and mortality (35). The reported incidence of any stage AKI was 60%. Duration of ECMO support days and the need for renal replacement therapy were significantly higher in patients with AKI. The presence of AKI was associated with reduced survival to hospital discharge after controlling for multiple patients' characteristics and interventional support variables. In a separate analysis by the same group (36), the authors evaluated fluid overload as a modifiable risk of survival in critically ill children receiving ECMO. The median peak fluid overload was lower in patients who survived ECMO (27.2 vs. 44.4%) and those who survived until hospital discharge (24.8 vs. 43.3%).

## Impact of AKI on Pediatric Patients With Severe Sepsis

Sepsis is common in pediatric patients admitted to the pediatric intensive care unit. Severe sepsis occurs in around 8% of pediatric ICU patients (37).

Sepsis and shock were reported as the most frequent risk factors for AKI in critically ill children. A nationwide Taiwanese study that included more than 60,000 critically ill children found that 46.5% of the AKI cases were due to sepsis (38). A similar finding was reported in a study by Fitzgerald et al. in which AKI occurred in 42% of severe pediatric sepsis patients and severe AKI occurred in about 20% (8, 39).

The etiology of AKI in patients with severe sepsis seems to be multifactorial. This includes poor kidney perfusion secondary to septic shock, inflammatory mediators, kidney vasculature microthrombosis, kidney parenchymal ischemia and necrosis, and the use of nephrotoxic medications. In patients with warm shock, there is a decrease in the vascular resistance, with higher kidney perfusion, but lower GFR (glomerular filtration rate) secondary to changes in kidney microcirculation.

Fitzgerald et al. conducted one of the most important works regarding the impact of AKI on critically ill children. The authors did a *post hoc* analysis of the sepsis prevalence, outcomes, and therapies (SPROUT) study, which enrolled about 7,000 pediatric patients with severe sepsis from 128 pediatric intensive care units from over 26 countries (37). Twenty-one percent of critically ill children with severe sepsis, according to the 2005 international pediatric sepsis consensus criteria, developed stage II or III AKI. AKI carried an adjusted OR risk of 2.5 to have a composite outcome of death or new disability (39).

#### Impact of AKI on Neonates

Premature and full-term neonates are unique in many health aspects. They are affected by the intrauterine environment, the stressful transition during delivery, and the postnatal complications.

AKI in neonates is multifactorial. Many risk factors were identified to complicate the ICU course of neonates. These risk factors can occur perinatally with early development of AKI or later during ICU admission. These risk factors include but are not limited to (1) prematurity, which is associated with incomplete nephrogenesis; (2) perinatal asphyxia and reperfusion injury following hypoxia (40, 41); and (3) the patency of the patent ductus arteriosus (PDA), which is associated with lower systemic vascular resistance and decreased kidney perfusion along with the use of NSAIDs to manage PDA (42). Other risk factors include low birth weight, congenital diaphragmatic hernia, bronchopulmonary dysplasia, and maternal nephrotoxic medications exposure like Angiotensin-Converting Enzyme (ACE) inhibitors (17). Other factors are associated with the late incidence of AKI such as sepsis, necrotizing enterocolitis with more than 50% of neonates with necrotizing colitis develop AKI (43), and the use of nephrotoxic medications in neonates like vancomycin, gentamicin, piperacillin-tazobactam, and amphotericin B. Some studies showed that more than 80% of premature babies receive at least one nephrotoxic medication (44, 45).

The prime attention of neonatal AKI was mainly highlighted in the last decade (46). The poor performance of serum creatinine and its fluctuated levels depending on the gestational and birth ages, especially in the first week of life in term babies and for a more extended period in premature babies, limited neonatal AKI research.

Several small, single-center studies in neonates with various primary morbidities such as congenital heart disease, hypoxicischemic injury, and very low birth weight infants suggest that AKI is common and that those with AKI have poor outcomes. A thorough AKI-core data were presented by the Assessment of Worldwide Acute Kidney Injury Epidemiology in Neonates (AWAKEN) study (47). AWAKEN is a comprehensive epidemiological study that was conducted to evaluate the impact of AKI in critically ill neonates. It included more than 2000 neonates admitted to 24 neonatal ICUs from Australia, Canada, India, and the United States. The study excluded infants admitted to NICU at 2 weeks of age or older, infants who underwent cardiovascular surgery repair of congenital heart disease within a week of life, infants diagnosed with lethal anomaly upon admission, and infants who died within 48 h of admission. The authors utilized the KDIGO definition of AKI with minor modifications to make the criteria applicable to neonates. The study showed that the overall incidence of AKI by meeting urine output or serum creatinine criteria was 29.9%. Neonates with gestational age < 29 weeks had the highest incidence rate of AKI (47.9%) (48). Infants who met the criteria for any stage AKI had a mortality rate of 9.7% compared to 1.4% without AKI. Within the AKI group, stage 3 AKI had higher mortality rates than stage 2 or stage 1. The impact of AKI on mortality was still significant after adjusting for multiple demographic characteristics, interventions, and comorbidities. Like other pediatric and adult literature, the authors reported longer hospital stay in neonates with AKI.

# Impact of AKI on Patients Post-stem Cell Transplantation

Hematopoietic stem cell transplantation (HSCT) is the transplantation of multipotent stem cells taken from bone marrow, umbilical cord, or peripheral blood to treat various diseases (e.g., leukemias, immunodeficiencies, and inborn errors of metabolism). HSCT is associated with numerous acute and long-term complications. The pre-HSCT conditioning, its intensity, preexisting comorbidities, chemotherapy exposure, the stem cell source, immunosuppression, and post-HSCT complications all make this population a unique population of critically ill children frequently admitted to pediatric ICUs. AKI is a well-known and common complication of HSCT in children. One of the first pediatric epidemiological studies of AKI in HSCT recipients using pRILFE criteria to define AKI was conducted in 2016 by Kizilbash et al. (49). They reported that 84% of patients developed AKI within 100 days post-HSCT, making AKI a prevalent HSCT complication. Previous pediatric studies have reported AKI in 21-42% of recipients within the first 100 days post-stem cell transplant; this wide range of incidence can be attributed to the difference in the AKI definitions used in different studies (50-52). In 2015, a systematic review study that included five observational studies showed that one-third of children post-HSCT developed AKI, with a median onset time of 4-6 weeks after transplantation (53).

There is a wide range of reported mortality rates in children with AKI post-HSCT. A published paper in 2003 about kidney function in children post-HSCT (54) showed that the mortality rate in the first 30 days post-HSCT was 19%, and the mortality rate in the patients who had AKI, defined as doubling in serum creatinine, was 55%. Lane et al. reported a mortality rate of 77% in children who developed severe AKI requiring dialysis after HSCT (55). In the systematic review study referenced earlier, the overall 100-day mortality for pediatric patients with AKI post-HSCT patients ranged from 10.5 to 12% (53). Kizilbash et al. (49) showed that the overall survival rate in pediatric patients post-HSCT was significantly lower among patients with AKI than patients without AKI (75 vs. 94%), and severe AKI was independently associated with increased mortality. There was a significant incremental increase in the mortality rate with increased AKI severity. Other studies showed that 5-10% of pediatric patients with severe AKI post-HSCT required RRT (50, 51, 54, 56), and the survival rate among them was only 42% (57).

Many risk factors for AKI have been reported in the literature, and these include unrelated donor, severe graft vs. host disease, severe infections, sepsis, veno-occlusive disease, the use of nephrotoxic medications (cyclosporine, amphotericin B, foscarnet, methotrexate, and calcineurin inhibitors), anemia, and total body irradiation (51, 52, 56, 58–60).

Post-HSCT AKI is associated with long-term complications. Kizilbash et al. (49) reported that 8% of children who developed AKI post HSCT and were alive at 1 year developed CKD. Other studies have reported CKD in 10% of children at 1-year post-HSCT (50–52, 56).

## THE IMPACT OF VOLUME OVERLOAD ON PEDIATRIC ICU PATIENTS

Multiple factors make critically ill children vulnerable to volume overload. The systemic inflammation, capillary leak, and the arbitrary use of intravenous fluids to manage hypotension are among many factors that can contribute to volume overload. Regardless of meeting the AKI definition, the concept of volume overload has received extensive attention in the recent pediatric AKI and critical care literature. Despite the lack of a clear definition of volume overload and utilization of different formulas to identify it, multiple pediatric studies (61–64) found a good correlation between the percentile ratio of positive balance from ICU admission to weight upon admission (percent volume overload) and mortality rate. The percent volume overload can be calculated using different formulas. The following formula is one of the most commonly used formulas to calculate the percent volume overload:

[(total fluid intake (L) - total fluid output in liters (L))/(admission weight in kilograms) \* 100] (64, 65).

By utilizing the above formula, Gillespie et al. (62) reported a death odds ratio (OR) of 3.02 for patients with >10% volume overload. Foland et al. (63) reported a death OR of 1.8 for each 10% volume overload increase and Hayes et al. reported an OR of 6.1 for volume overload of >20%.

However, such association between volume overload and mortality was not duplicated by Diaz et al. (66), who concluded that despite being common in children, volume overload in critically ill children was not an independent mortality risk factor after adjusting for other covariates. It is worth mentioning that AKI was an independent mortality risk factor in that study.

Selewski et al. evaluated the impact of volume overload in a specific ICU population. The group published a comprehensive 5-year multicenter evaluation of fluid overload and its association with patients' outcomes in children managed by ECMO (36). They found that fluid overload is common in children receiving ECMO, as more than 50% of patients had more than 10% fluid overload, and it was associated with prolonged ECMO duration and increased mortality independently when adjusted for other factors, including AKI.

Similarly, in patients with severe sepsis, Wong et al. found that cumulative fluid overload percent in the first 5 days of ICU admission was consistently and independently associated with increased mortality, fewer ventilator-free days, more inotrope utilization, and increased length of stay (67).

Two *post hoc* analyses from the AWAKEN study group evaluated the impact of volume overload in term and premature critically ill neonates (68, 69). The authors evaluated the percentile by calculating fluid balance during the first week of life using the formula: (daily weight – birth weight)/(birth

weight  $\times$  100). The primary outcome was set for the need for mechanical ventilation on day 7 of life. The authors found that high positive fluid balance during the first week of life is independently associated with the primary outcome. However, the multivariate analysis did not show a solid association between positive volume balance and survival. The authors commented that the lack of statistical signal can be contributed to the low incidence of mortality in both cohorts of neonates.

A collective conclusion of the significance of volume overload in critically ill children regardless of the underlying etiology was highlighted in a systematic review and meta-analysis published in 2018 (70). In this work, the authors looked into more than 40, mainly retrospective studies, and found that the volume overload was associated with a 6% increase in adjusted risk of mortality. The study shed light on a major inconsistency among different studies in calculating and defining volume overload and its severity. Despite this, the authors concluded that their findings were robust and consistent in suggesting that fluid overload carried a greater risk for mortality and prolonged ventilator utilization.

Volume overload is common in critically ill children after cardiopulmonary resuscitation. Fluid resuscitation is a fundamental component of the metabolic phase of the threephase pathophysiology model of cardiac arrest (71), and large volumes of intravenous fluids are often administered to increase the cardiac output and global oxygen delivery during this phase. However, the clinical course of these patients is commonly complicated with oliguric AKI and poor diuresis of the administered fluids. With the growing evidence of the deleterious impact of volume overload, conservative fluid management was proposed to decrease the risk of volume overload after resuscitation. A meta-analysis that included 49 studies concluded that conservative fluid strategy results in an increased number of ventilator-free days and a decreased length of ICU stay compared with a liberal strategy or standard care without observing a difference in mortality rates (72). Thus, when prescribing fluids during or after resuscitation, fluids should be used wisely. The conceptual model of "Four Phases of Intravenous Fluid Therapy" provides a pathophysiologic approach in managing the fluids around resuscitation time. These phases are rescue, optimization, stabilization, and de-escalation. More details about this model can be obtained from (73, 74).

# AKI AND COVID-19 CRITICALLY ILL CHILDREN

According to the World Health Organization (WHO), since being declared as a global pandemic in March 2020 by the WHO, coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) cases reached more than 115 million globally by the end of February 2021 as per the WHO COVID-19 dashboard. Pediatric COVID-19 cases account for around 1% of total COVID-19 cases reported by the Chinese center for disease control and prevention. Most children with COVID-19 had mild illnesses than adults, and only 0.6% of infected children have severe symptoms (75), with infants being affected more with severe illness (76, 77). While the early data in adults suggested that AKI was related to increased mortality risk, even after adjustment for age, sex, and comorbidities (78), the early data in children were not precise and probably conflicting. For example, one of the first studies describing AKI in COVID-19 children was published by Wang et al. (79), who reviewed 238 pediatric patients with confirmed COVID-19 from Wuhan Children's hospital; only three patients were sick and required ICU admission, and they developed AKI (incidence rate of 1.2%). The AKI in the three patients was part of the multisystem inflammatory syndrome and required supportive care with renal replacement therapy and plasma exchange. However, the data from Great Ormond Street Hospital in London (80) suggested a higher incidence of AKI than the Chinese study. AKI incidence was reported in 29% of 52 children with COVID-19 infection in the British report. AKI was again part of a multisystem inflammatory syndrome in most of the cases. None of the AKI cases required support with renal replacement therapy. To overcome this discrepancy, a multicenter crosssectional study in SARS-CoV-2-infected critically ill children from six countries, but mainly from US centers, was conducted to evaluate the epidemiologic aspect of AKI in this cohort (81). The preliminary results of this study showed that among the 41 participating centers, only 26 centers reported COVID-19 children required ICU admission during the study period. Almost half (44%) of the enrolled critically ill children (a total of 106) developed AKI by KDIGO serum creatinine criteria. Despite the high prevalence, the AKI severity was not momentous as none of these patients needed dialysis despite the relatively

## REFERENCES

- Diamandopoulos A, Goudas P, Oreopoulos D. Thirty-six Hippocratic aphorisms of nephrologic interest. Am J Kidney Dis. (2009) 54:143– 53. doi: 10.1053/j.ajkd.2009.01.275
- Eknoyan G. Emergence of the concept of acute renal failure. Am J Nephrol. (2002) 22:225–30. doi: 10.1159/000063766
- Kellum JA, Lameire N, Aspelin P, Barsoum RS, Burdmann EA, Goldstein SL, et al. Kidney disease: Improving Global Outcomes (KDIGO) Acute Kidney Injury Work GroupKDIGO clinical practice guideline for acute kidney injury. *Kidney Int.* (2012) 2:1–38. doi: 10.1038/kisup.2012.1
- Bellomo R, Ronco C, Kellum JA, Mehta RL, Palevsky P, workgroup ADQI. Acute renal failure - definition, outcome measures, animal models, fluid therapy and information technology needs: the Second International Consensus Conference of the Acute Dialysis Quality Initiative (ADQI) Group. *Crit Care.* (2004) 8:R204–12. doi: 10.1186/ cc2872
- Akcan-Arikan A, Zappitelli M, Loftis LL, Washburn KK, Jefferson LS, Goldstein SL. Modified RIFLE criteria in critically ill children with acute kidney injury. *Kidney Int.* (2007) 71:1028–35. doi: 10.1038/sj.ki.5002231
- Mehta RL, Kellum JA, Shah SV, Molitoris BA, Ronco C, Warnock DG, et al. Acute Kidney Injury Network: report of an initiative to improve outcomes in acute kidney injury. *Crit Care.* (2007) 11:R31. doi: 10.1186/cc5713
- 7. Goldstein SL. Acute kidney injury biomarkers: renal angina and the need for a renal troponin I. *BMC Med.* (2011) 9:135. doi: 10.1186/1741-7015-9-135
- Fitzgerald JC, Ross ME, Thomas NJ, Weiss SL, Balamuth F, Anderson AH. Risk factors and inpatient outcomes associated with acute kidney injury at pediatric severe sepsis presentation. *Pediatr Nephrol.* (2018) 33:1781– 90. doi: 10.1007/s00467-018-3981-8
- 9. Kari JA, Alhasan KA, Shalaby MA, Khathlan N, Safdar OY, Al Rezgan SA, et al. Outcome of pediatric acute kidney injury: a multicenter prospective

high mortality rate among this cohort (6%). Diagnosis of shock and inotropic requirement at the time of admission were the main risk factors for AKI in univariate analysis. The authors concluded that the high prevalence of AKI in critically ill children would add more complexity to these children's medical care and recommended early identification of AKI to adjust the management accordingly.

#### CONCLUSION

In this review, we depicted the impact of AKI in critically ill children in pediatric ICUs. The most recent literature consensus supports the conclusion that AKI is common in pediatric ICUs in general and in specific cohorts of critically ill children. AKI and its sequelae, such as volume overload, are considered consistent and independent risk factors for different outcomes such as mortality rates and ICU length of stay.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

BL did the literature review and wrote the first draft. AK did literature review and finalized the submitted version of the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

## FUNDING

This study was supported by Qatar National Library.

cohort study. Pediatr Nephrol. (2018) 33:335-40. doi: 10.1007/s00467-017-3786-1

- Slater MB, Gruneir A, Rochon PA, Howard AW, Koren G, Parshuram CS. Risk factors of acute kidney injury in critically ill children. *Pediatr Crit Care Med.* (2016) 17:e391–8. doi: 10.1097/PCC.00000000000859
- Vachvanichsanong P, Dissaneewate P, Lim A, McNeil E. Childhood acute renal failure: 22-year experience in a university hospital in southern Thailand. *Pediatrics*. (2006) 118:e786–91. doi: 10.1542/peds.200 6-0557
- 12. Alkandari O, Eddington KA, Hyder A, Gauvin F, Ducruet T, Gottesman R, et al. Acute kidney injury is an independent risk factor for pediatric intensive care unit mortality, longer length of stay and prolonged mechanical ventilation in critically ill children: a two-center retrospective cohort study. *Crit Care.* (2011) 15:R146. doi: 10.1186/cc10269
- Goldstein SL, Kirkendall E, Nguyen H, Schaffzin JK, Bucuvalas J, Bracke T, et al. Electronic health record identification of nephrotoxin exposure and associated acute kidney injury. *Pediatrics*. (2013) 132:e756– 67. doi: 10.1542/peds.2013-0794
- Goldstein SL, Mottes T, Simpson K, Barclay C, Muething S, Haslam DB, et al. A sustained quality improvement program reduces nephrotoxic medication-associated acute kidney injury. *Kidney Int.* (2016) 90:212–21. doi: 10.1016/j.kint.2016.03.031
- Goldstein SL. Medication-induced acute kidney injury. Curr Opin Crit Care. (2016) 22:542–5. doi: 10.1097/MCC.00000000000355
- Moghal NE, Brocklebank JT, Meadow SR. A review of acute renal failure in children: incidence, etiology and outcome. *Clin Nephrol.* (1998) 49:91–5.
- Kaddourah A, Basu RK, Bagshaw SM, Goldstein SL, Investigators A. Epidemiology of acute kidney injury in critically ill children and young adults. *N Engl J Med.* (2017) 376:11–20. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1611391
- Kaddourah A, Basu RK, Goldstein SL, Sutherland SM. Oliguria and acute kidney injury in critically ill children: implications

for diagnosis and outcomes. *Pediatr Crit Care Med.* (2019) 20:332–9. doi: 10.1097/PCC.00000000001866

- Li S, Krawczeski CD, Zappitelli M, Devarajan P, Thiessen-Philbrook H, Coca SG, et al. Incidence, risk factors, and outcomes of acute kidney injury after pediatric cardiac surgery: a prospective multicenter study. *Crit Care Med.* (2011) 39:1493–9. doi: 10.1097/CCM.0b013e31821201d3
- Aydin SI, Seiden HS, Blaufox AD, Parnell VA, Choudhury T, Punnoose A, et al. Acute kidney injury after surgery for congenital heart disease. *Ann Thorac Surg.* (2012) 94:1589–95. doi: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2012.06.050
- Yuan SM. Acute kidney injury after pediatric cardiac surgery. Pediatr Neonatol. (2019) 60:3–11. doi: 10.1016/j.pedneo.2018.03.007
- Skippen PW, Krahn GE. Acute renal failure in children undergoing cardiopulmonary bypass. Crit Care Resusc. (2005) 7:286–91.
- Morgan CJ, Zappitelli M, Robertson CM, Alton GY, Sauve RS, Joffe AR, et al. Risk factors for and outcomes of acute kidney injury in neonates undergoing complex cardiac surgery. J Pediatr. (2013) 162:120– 7.e1. doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2012.06.054
- 24. Kumar TK, Allen Ccp J, Spentzas Md T, Berrios Ccp L, Shah Md S, Joshi Md VM, et al. Acute kidney injury following cardiac surgery in neonates and young infants: experience of a single center using novel perioperative strategies. *World J Pediatr Congenit Heart Surg.* (2016) 7:460– 6. doi: 10.1177/2150135116648305
- Pedersen KR, Povlsen JV, Christensen S, Pedersen J, Hjortholm K, Larsen SH, et al. Risk factors for acute renal failure requiring dialysis after surgery for congenital heart disease in children. *Acta Anaesthesiol Scand.* (2007) 51:1344–9. doi: 10.1111/j.1399-6576.2007.01379.x
- Dagan O, Birk E, Katz Y, Gelber O, Vidne B. Relationship between caseload and morbidity and mortality in pediatric cardiac surgery-a four year experience. *Isr Med Assoc J.* (2003) 5:471–4.
- Graziani MP, Moser M, Bozzola CM, Gálvez HM, Irman Garrido J, Álvarez PG, et al. Acute kidney injury in children after cardiac surgery: risk factors and outcomes. A retrospective, cohort study. *Arch Argent Pediatr.* (2019) 117:e557–67. doi: 10.5546/aap.2019.eng.e557
- Singh SP. Acute kidney injury after pediatric cardiac surgery. Ann Card Anaesth. (2016) 19:306–13. doi: 10.4103/0971-9784.179635
- Karim HM, Yunus M, Saikia MK, Kalita JP, Mandal M. Incidence and progression of cardiac surgery-associated acute kidney injury and its relationship with bypass and cross clamp time. *Ann Card Anaesth.* (2017) 20:22–7. doi: 10.4103/0971-9784.197823
- Mancini E, Caramelli F, Ranucci M, Sangiorgi D, Reggiani LB, Frascaroli G, et al. Is time on cardiopulmonary bypass during cardiac surgery associated with acute kidney injury requiring dialysis? *Hemodial Int.* (2012) 16:252– 8. doi: 10.1111/j.1542-4758.2011.00617.x
- Tadphale SD, Ramakrishnan K, Spentzas T, Kumar TKS, Allen J, Staffa SJ, et al. Impact of different cardiopulmonary bypass strategies on renal injury after pediatric heart surgery. *Ann Thorac Surg.* (2020) 111:1374–9. doi: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2020.05.056
- Reagor JA, Clingan S, Gao Z, Morales DLS, Tweddell JS, Bryant R, et al. Higher flow on cardiopulmonary bypass in pediatrics is associated with a lower incidence of acute kidney injury. *Semin Thorac Cardiovasc Surg.* (2020) 32:1015–20. doi: 10.1053/j.semtcvs.2019.08.007
- 33. dos Santos El Halal MG, Carvalho PR. Acute kidney injury according to pediatric RIFLE criteria is associated with negative outcomes after heart surgery in children. *Pediatr Nephrol.* (2013) 28:1307–14. doi: 10.1007/s00467-013-2495-7
- 34. Fleming GM, Askenazi DJ, Bridges BC, Cooper DS, Paden ML, Selewski DT, et al. A multicenter international survey of renal supportive therapy during ECMO: the Kidney Intervention During Extracorporeal Membrane Oxygenation (KIDMO) group. ASAIO J. (2012) 58:407–14. doi: 10.1097/MAT.0b013e3182579218
- 35. Fleming GM, Sahay R, Zappitelli M, King E, Askenazi DJ, Bridges BC, et al. The incidence of acute kidney injury and its effect on neonatal and pediatric extracorporeal membrane oxygenation outcomes: a multicenter report from the kidney intervention during extracorporeal membrane oxygenation study group. *Pediatr Crit Care Med.* (2016) 17:1157–69. doi: 10.1097/PCC.00000000000970
- 36. Selewski DT, Askenazi DJ, Bridges BC, Cooper DS, Fleming GM, Paden ML, et al. The impact of fluid overload on outcomes in

children treated with extracorporeal membrane oxygenation: a multicenter retrospective cohort study. *Pediatr Crit Care Med.* (2017) 18:1126–35. doi: 10.1097/PCC.00000000001349

- Weiss SL, Fitzgerald JC, Pappachan J, Wheeler D, Jaramillo-Bustamante JC, Salloo A, et al. Global epidemiology of pediatric severe sepsis: the sepsis prevalence, outcomes, and therapies study. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2015) 191:1147–57. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201412-2323OC
- Chang JW, Jeng MJ, Yang LY, Chen TJ, Chiang SC, Soong WJ, et al. The epidemiology and prognostic factors of mortality in critically ill children with acute kidney injury in Taiwan. *Kidney Int.* (2015) 87:632– 9. doi: 10.1038/ki.2014.299
- Fitzgerald JC, Basu RK, Akcan-Arikan A, Izquierdo LM, Piñeres Olave BE, Hassinger AB, et al. Acute kidney injury in pediatric severe sepsis: an independent risk factor for death and new disability. *Crit Care Med.* (2016) 44:2241–50. doi: 10.1097/CCM.000000000002007
- Saikumar P, Venkatachalam MA. Role of apoptosis in hypoxic/ischemic damage in the kidney. *Semin Nephrol.* (2003) 23:511–21. doi: 10.1053/S0270-9295(03)00130-X
- Selewski DT, Jordan BK, Askenazi DJ, Dechert RE, Sarkar S. Acute kidney injury in asphyxiated newborns treated with therapeutic hypothermia. J Pediatr. (2013) 162:725–9.e1. doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2012. 10.002
- Benitz WE, Committee on Fetus Newborn AeAoP. Patent ductus arteriosus in preterm infants. *Pediatrics*. (2016) 137:e20153730. doi: 10.1542/peds.2015-3730
- Criss CN, Selewski DT, Sunkara B, Gish JS, Hsieh L, Mcleod JS, et al. Acute kidney injury in necrotizing enterocolitis predicts mortality. *Pediatr Nephrol.* (2018) 33:503–10. doi: 10.1007/s00467-017-3809-y
- Rhone ET, Carmody JB, Swanson JR, Charlton JR. Nephrotoxic medication exposure in very low birth weight infants. *J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med.* (2014) 27:1485–90. doi: 10.3109/14767058.2013.860522
- Barhight M, Altaye M, Gist KM, Isemann B, Goldstein SL, Akinbi H. Nephrotoxic medications and associated acute kidney injury in very low birth weight infants. J Clin Nephrol Res. (2017) 4:1070.
- Askenazi DJ, Ambalavanan N, Goldstein SL. Acute kidney injury in critically ill newborns: what do we know? What do we need to learn? *Pediatr Nephrol.* (2009) 24:265–74. doi: 10.1007/s00467-008-1060-2
- Askenazi DJ. AWAKEN-Ing a new frontier in neonatal nephrology. Front Pediatr. (2020) 8:21. doi: 10.3389/fped.2020.00021
- Jetton JG, Boohaker LJ, Sethi SK, Wazir S, Rohatgi S, Soranno DE, et al. Incidence and outcomes of neonatal acute kidney injury (AWAKEN): a multicentre, multinational, observational cohort study. *Lancet Child Adolesc Health.* (2017) 1:184–94. doi: 10.1016/S2352-4642(17)30069-X
- Kizilbash SJ, Kashtan CE, Chavers BM, Cao Q, Smith AR. Acute kidney injury and the risk of mortality in children undergoing hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. *Biol Blood Marrow Transplant*. (2016) 22:1264– 70. doi: 10.1016/j.bbmt.2016.03.014
- Hazar V, Gungor O, Guven AG, Aydin F, Akbas H, Gungor F, et al. Renal function after hematopoietic stem cell transplantation in children. *Pediatr Blood Cancer*. (2009) 53:197–202. doi: 10.1002/pbc.22030
- Kist-van Holthe JE, Goedvolk CA, Brand R, van Weel MH, Bredius RG, van Oostayen JA, et al. Prospective study of renal insufficiency after bone marrow transplantation. *Pediatr Nephrol.* (2002) 17:1032– 7. doi: 10.1007/s00467-002-0989-9
- Ileri T, Ertem M, Ozcakar ZB, Ince EU, Biyikli Z, Uysal Z, et al. Prospective evaluation of acute and chronic renal function in children following matched related donor hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. *Pediatr Transplant.* (2010) 14:138–44. doi: 10.1111/j.1399-3046.2009. 01182.x
- Didsbury MS, Mackie FE, Kennedy SE. A systematic review of acute kidney injury in pediatric allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell recipients. *Pediatr Transplant.* (2015) 19:460–70. doi: 10.1111/petr.12483
- Patzer L, Kentouche K, Ringelmann F, Misselwitz J. Renal function following hematological stem cell transplantation in childhood. *Pediatr Nephrol.* (2003) 18:623–35. doi: 10.1007/s00467-003-1146-9
- Lane PH, Mauer SM, Blazar BR, Ramsay NK, Kashtan CE. Outcome of dialysis for acute renal failure in pediatric bone marrow transplant patients. *Bone Marrow Transplant*. (1994) 13:613–7.

- Kist-van Holthe JE, van Zwet JM, Brand R, van Weel MH, Vossen JM, van der Heijden AJ. Bone marrow transplantation in children: consequences for renal function shortly after and 1 year post-BMT. *Bone Marrow Transplant.* (1998) 22:559–64. doi: 10.1038/sj.bmt.1701388
- Bunchman T. Stem cell transplantation and renal replacement therapy: new predictors of outcome. *Pediatr Crit Care Med.* (2010) 11:754– 5. doi: 10.1097/PCC.0b013e3181dd515d
- Mogul MJ. Unrelated cord blood transplantation vs matched unrelated donor bone marrow transplantation: the risks and benefits of each choice. *Bone Marrow Transplant.* (2000) 25(Suppl. 2):S58–60. doi: 10.1038/sj.bmt.1702372
- 59. Parody R, Martino R, Rovira M, Vazquez L, Vázquez MJ, de la Cámara R, et al. Severe infections after unrelated donor allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation in adults: comparison of cord blood transplantation with peripheral blood and bone marrow transplantation. *Biol Blood Marrow Transplant.* (2006) 12:734–48. doi: 10.1016/j.bbmt.2006.03.007
- Van Why SK, Friedman AL, Wei LJ, Hong R. Renal insufficiency after bone marrow transplantation in children. *Bone Marrow Transplant*. (1991) 7:383–8.
- Goldstein SL, Currier H, Graf Cd, Cosio CC, Brewer ED, Sachdeva R. Outcome in children receiving continuous venovenous hemofiltration. *Pediatrics.* (2001) 107:1309–12. doi: 10.1542/peds.107.6.1309
- Gillespie RS, Seidel K, Symons JM. Effect of fluid overload and dose of replacement fluid on survival in hemofiltration. *Pediatr Nephrol.* (2004) 19:1394–9. doi: 10.1007/s00467-004-1655-1
- Foland JA, Fortenberry JD, Warshaw BL, Pettignano R, Merritt RK, Heard ML, et al. Fluid overload before continuous hemofiltration and survival in critically ill children: a retrospective analysis. *Crit Care Med.* (2004) 32:1771– 6. doi: 10.1097/01.CCM.0000132897.52737.49
- 64. Goldstein SL, Somers MJ, Baum MA, Symons JM, Brophy PD, Blowey D, et al. Pediatric patients with multi-organ dysfunction syndrome receiving continuous renal replacement therapy. *Kidney Int.* (2005) 67:653–8. doi: 10.1111/j.1523-1755.2005.67121.x
- Hayes LW, Oster RA, Tofil NM, Tolwani AJ. Outcomes of critically ill children requiring continuous renal replacement therapy. J Crit Care. (2009) 24:394–400. doi: 10.1016/j.jcrc.2008.12.017
- Diaz F, Benfield M, Brown L, Hayes L. Fluid overload and outcomes in critically ill children: a single center prospective cohort study. J Crit Care. (2017) 39:209–13. doi: 10.1016/j.jcrc.2017.02.023
- 67. Wong JJ, Ho SX, Lee AOC, Sultana R, Chong SL, Mok YH, et al. Positive fluid balance is associated with poor clinical outcomes in paediatric severe sepsis and septic shock. *Ann Acad Med Singap.* (2019) 48:290–7.
- Selewski DT, Akcan-Arikan A, Bonachea EM, Gist KM, Goldstein SL, Hanna M, et al. The impact of fluid balance on outcomes in critically ill nearterm/term neonates: a report from the AWAKEN study group. *Pediatr Res.* (2019) 85:79–85. doi: 10.1038/s41390-018-0183-9
- Selewski DT, Gist KM, Nathan AT, Goldstein SL, Boohaker LJ, Akcan-Arikan A, et al. The impact of fluid balance on outcomes in premature neonates: a report from the AWAKEN study group. *Pediatr Res.* (2020) 87:550–7. doi: 10.1038/s41390-019-0579-1
- 70. Alobaidi R, Morgan C, Basu RK, Stenson E, Featherstone R, Majumdar SR, et al. Association between fluid balance and outcomes

in critically ill children: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *JAMA Pediatr.* (2018) 172:257–68. doi: 10.1001/jamapediatrics. 2017.4540

- Weisfeldt ML, Becker LB. Resuscitation after cardiac arrest: a 3-phase timesensitive model. JAMA. (2002) 288:3035–8. doi: 10.1001/jama.288.23.3035
- 72. Silversides JA, Major E, Ferguson AJ, Mann EE, McAuley DF, Marshall JC, et al. Conservative fluid management or deresuscitation for patients with sepsis or acute respiratory distress syndrome following the resuscitation phase of critical illness: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Intensive Care Med.* (2017) 43:155–70. doi: 10.1007/s00134-016-4573-3
- Hoste EA, Maitland K, Brudney CS, Mehta R, Vincent JL, Yates D, et al. Four phases of intravenous fluid therapy: a conceptual model. *Br J Anaesth.* (2014) 113:740–7. doi: 10.1093/bja/aeu300
- 74. Malbrain MLNG, Van Regenmortel N, Saugel B, De Tavernier B, Van Gaal PJ, Joannes-Boyau O, et al. Principles of fluid management and stewardship in septic shock: it is time to consider the four D's and the four phases of fluid therapy. Ann Intensive Care. (2018) 8:66. doi: 10.1186/s13613-018-0402-x
- Dong Y, Mo X, Hu Y, Qi X, Jiang F, Jiang Z, et al. Epidemiology of COVID-19 among children in China. *Pediatrics*. (2020) 145:e20200702. doi: 10.1542/peds.2020-0702
- Xu Y, Li X, Zhu B, Liang H, Fang C, Gong Y, et al. Characteristics of pediatric SARS-CoV-2 infection and potential evidence for persistent fecal viral shedding. *Nat Med.* (2020) 26:502–5. doi: 10.1038/s41591-020-0817-4
- Lu X, Xiang Y, Du H, Wing-Kin Wong G. SARS-CoV-2 infection in children -Understanding the immune responses and controlling the pandemic. *Pediatr Allergy Immunol.* (2020) 31:449–53. doi: 10.1111/pai.13267
- Cheng Y, Luo R, Wang K, Zhang M, Wang Z, Dong L, et al. Kidney disease is associated with in-hospital death of patients with COVID-19. *Kidney Int.* (2020) 97:829–38. doi: 10.1016/j.kint.2020.03.005
- Wang X, Chen X, Tang F, Luo W, Fang J, Qi C, et al. Be aware of acute kidney injury in critically ill children with COVID-19. *Pediatr Nephrol.* (2020) 36:163–9. doi: 10.1007/s00467-020-04715-z
- Stewart DJ, Hartley JC, Johnson M, Marks SD, du Pré P, Stojanovic J. Renal dysfunction in hospitalised children with COVID-19. *Lancet Child Adolesc Health*. (2020) 4:e28–9. doi: 10.1016/S2352-4642(20)30178-4
- Bjornstad EC, Krallman KA, Askenazi D, Zappitelli M, Goldstein SL, Basu RK, et al. Preliminary assessment of acute kidney injury in critically ill children associated with SARS-CoV-2 infection: a multicenter cross-sectional analysis. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol.* (2020) 16:446–8. doi: 10.2215/CJN.11470720

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Leghrouz and Kaddourah. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## Continuous Renal Replacement Therapy in Critically III Children in the Pediatric Intensive Care Unit: A Retrospective Analysis of Real-Life Prescriptions, Complications, and Outcomes

Emanuele Buccione<sup>1,2†</sup>, Francesco Guzzi<sup>3,4†</sup>, Denise Colosimo<sup>1</sup>, Brigida Tedesco<sup>1</sup>, Stefano Romagnoli<sup>5,6</sup>, Zaccaria Ricci<sup>1,5\*</sup>, Manuela L'Erario<sup>1</sup> and Gianluca Villa<sup>5,6</sup>

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Akash Deep, King's College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust, United Kingdom

#### Reviewed by:

Theresa Mottes, Texas Children's Hospital, United States Se Jin Park, Eulji University, South Korea

#### \*Correspondence:

Zaccaria Ricci zaccaria.ricci@unifi.it

<sup>†</sup>These authors have contributed equally to this work and share first authorship

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Pediatric Nephrology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Pediatrics

Received: 17 April 2021 Accepted: 19 May 2021 Published: 14 June 2021

#### Citation:

Buccione E, Guzzi F, Colosimo D, Tedesco B, Romagnoli S, Ricci Z, L'Erario M and Villa G (2021) Continuous Renal Replacement Therapy in Critically III Children in the Pediatric Intensive Care Unit: A Retrospective Analysis of Real-Life Prescriptions, Complications, and Outcomes. Front. Pediatr. 9:696798. doi: 10.3389/fped.2021.696798 <sup>1</sup> Pediatric Intensive Care Unit, Meyer Children's University Hospital, Florence, Italy, <sup>2</sup> Neonatal Intensive Care Unit, AUSL Pescara, Pescara, Italy, <sup>3</sup> Nephrology and Dialysis Unit, Meyer Children's University Hospital, Florence, Italy, <sup>4</sup> Department of Experimental and Clinical Biomedical Sciences "Mario Serio", University of Florence, Florence, Italy, <sup>6</sup> Section of Anesthesiology and Intensive Care, Department of Health Sciences, University of Florence, Florence, Italy, <sup>6</sup> Department of Anesthesia and Intensive Care, AOU Careggi, Florence, Italy

**Introduction:** Severe acute kidney injury is a common finding in the Pediatric Intensive Care Unit (PICU), however, Continuous Renal Replacement Therapy (CRRT) is rarely applied in this setting. This study aims to describe our experience in the rate of application of CRRT, patients' clinical characteristics at admission and CRRT initiation, CRRT prescription, predictors of circuit clotting, short- and long-term outcomes.

Methods: A 6-year single center retrospective study in a tertiary PICU.

**Results:** Twenty-eight critically ill patients aged 0 to 18 years received CRRT between January 2012 and December 2017 (1.4% of all patients admitted to PICU). Complete clinical and CRRT technical information were available for 23/28 patients for a total of 101 CRRT sessions. CRRT was started, on average, 40 h (20–160) after PICU admission, mostly because of fluid overload. Continuous veno-venous hemodiafiltration and systemic heparinization were applied in 83.2 and 71.3% of sessions, respectively. Fifty-nine sessions (58.4%) were complicated by circuit clotting. At multivariate Cox-regression analysis, vascular access caliber larger than 8 Fr [HR 0.37 (0.19–0.72), p = 0.004] and regional citrate anticoagulation strategy [HR 0.14 (0.03–0.60), p = 0.008] were independent protective factors for clotting. PICU mortality rate was 42.8%, and six survivors developed chronic kidney disease (CKD), within an average follow up of 3.5 years.

**Conclusions:** CRRT is uncommonly applied in our PICU, mostly within 2 days after admission and because of fluid overload. Larger vascular access and citrate anticoagulation are independent protective factors for circuit clotting. Patients' PICU mortality rate is high and survival often complicated by CKD development.

Keywords: acute kidney injury, hemodialysis, artificial membranes, blood clotting, vascular catheters, chronic kidney disease

49

## INTRODUCTION

Acute kidney injury (AKI) is a common complication in the Pediatric Intensive Care Unit (PICU), involving approximately one third of critically ill neonates and children (1, 2). Although Continuous Renal Replacement Therapy (CRRT) is usually applied in critically ill adult patients with severe AKI and/or multiple organ dysfunction syndrome (MODS) in order to support kidney function (3-5), this technique is uncommonly used in the PICU (6). In a large multicenter observational study, only 1.5% of critically ill children underwent CRRT (2). A knowledge gap exists regarding clinical and technical peculiarities of CRRT in the pediatric population (7), and several researchers in the field encourage the sharing of experiences and clinical and technical data (8-11). Predictors for circuit clotting are mostly unknown and originate from large cohorts of adult patients (12, 13). Uncertainties also exist on long-term kidney and global outcomes of critically ill pediatric patients who underwent CRRT. Although CRRT has been recognized as a strong predictor of short-term mortality, particularly when associated with fluid overload (FO) and MODS (14-17), pediatric AKI patients undergoing CRRT often encounter delays in referral to the nephrology unit or are lost to long-term follow-up (10, 18).

In this single center retrospective study we observe a cohort of pediatric critically ill patients with the aim of describing: (1) the rate of application of CRRT; (2) the demographic and clinical characteristics at PICU admission of patients treated with CRRT; (3) timing-to-start, indication, and technical prescription for CRRT; (4) baseline predictors (at CRRT initiation) of premature circuit clotting; (5) short- and long-term outcomes of CRRT patients, both in terms of PICU survival and nephrology follow-up.

## MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### **Data Collection and Definitions**

In this single center, retrospective, observational study, we included all consecutive patients aged 0 to 18 years who received CRRT during their PICU stay at the Meyer Children's Hospital (Florence, IT) from January 2012 to December 2017. Rate of CRRT application, along with patients' clinical data at PICU admission [i.e., anthropometric and clinical characteristics, such as admission diagnosis, urinary output (UO), accumulated FO, need for vasopressors or mechanical ventilation] are described. In the subgroup of patients where data on CRRT prescription and delivery were available, we also described patients' clinical characteristics at CRRT initiation and CRRT technical features. In particular, UO, FO, and laboratory data were collected immediately before CRRT initiation, along with timing-to-start and indication for CRRT. Being a retrospective observational study, CRRT initiation was determined by the attending physicians according to local policy and practice. Technical data include information on CRRT initial prescription (i.e., treatment modality, filter type, treatment duration, adopted vascular access, anticoagulation strategy), and minute-by-minute treatment delivery information recorded on the CRRT monitor memory card (e.g., flows, pressures, and machine alarms). Combined analysis of overtime pressure drop and overtime transmembrane pressure (TMP) and machine alarms allowed the identification of unintended discontinuation sessions due to membrane fouling. Stopped sessions were reported as "clotted" if pressure drop had increased above 150 mmHg and/or clotting machine alarms had been identified in the machine recorded treatment data. Technical CRRT data regarding CRRT prescription, available for each delivered session, were used to identify predictors for circuit clotting. Recorded treatment data were analyzed to identify treatment clogging (TMP elevation >250 mmHg) and vascular access dysfunction (negative access pressure, below -100 mmHg for a cumulative time longer than 120 min). Patients experiencing a rate of clotted sessions >25% of total CRRT sessions were considered as patients with "high clotting rate." On this basis, patients' clinical and laboratory characteristics were also reported according to clotting rate.

Finally, mortality rate at PICU discharge, long-term patient survival, proteinuria or chronic kidney disease (CKD) development at last available follow-up, and referral to nephrology outpatient clinic were evaluated. Patients were considered lost to follow-up if data in the hospital electronic chart were not available. Three authors (EB, BT, and FG) independently performed data extraction and collection and subsequently cross-checked the results. Discrepancies were re-examined by GV. AKI was defined according to KDIGO criteria (19), while percentage of FO was defined as [(fluid in - fluid out)/PICU admission weight]\*100, as previously described (20). Proteinuria and CKD were defined based on KDIGO definitions (urinary albumin-to-creatinine ratio >3 mg/mmol; eGFR < 90 ml/min/1.73 m<sup>2</sup>, bed-side Schwartz formula), while end stage kidney disease (ESKD) was defined by initiation of chronic replacement therapy (intermittent hemodialysis or kidney transplantation) (21). Patients' clinical and laboratory characteristics were also reported according to PICU survival.

#### **Statistical Analysis**

Descriptive statistics were reported as appropriate after testing continuous variables for normality of the distribution by the Shapiro-Wilk test. Frequency and percentage were reported for qualitative variables, while mean and standard deviation were calculated for quantitative variables. Median and interquartile range (IQR) were calculated for quantitative variables with non-normal distribution. Kaplan-Meier survival analysis was run to evaluate parameters associated with premature clotting. Univariate logistic regression and Cox regression analysis were performed to estimate the size of association between clinical and technical variables and patient's clotting rate, circuit premature clotting, and PICU survival. Odds ratio (OR), hazard ratio (HR) and their 95% confidence interval (95%CI) were reported. For circuit clotting prediction, variables with a Wald test's p-value <0.10 in the univariate analysis were considered for multivariate Cox regression analysis. Independent predictors for premature clotting were identified through backward selection based on the AIC. Statistical significance was set to p-value < 0.05. Statistical analysis was performed using  $\mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{C}}$  software version 3.5.1.

ID	Sex, age	Height (cm), Weight (Kg)	BSA (m <sup>2</sup> )	Admission diagnosis	UO (ml/Kg/h), FO (%)	VP-MV
1	M, 1d	56, 3	0.21	Meconium aspiration	4.0, 22.0	1–1
2	M, 8d	60, 3	0.22	Pulmonary HTN	2.7, 0.5	1–1
3	M, 2m	52, 4	0.23	TAPVR	2.5, -0.5	1–1
4	M, 2m	60, 6.6	0.31	Septic shock	0.0, 0.0	1–1
5	M, 5m	62, 6	0.31	Tracheomalacia	4.2, 1.7	0–0
6	M, 11m	75, 9	0.42	HUS	0.4, 8.0	0–1
7	M, 1y	52, 2	0.17	Pneumonia	8.6, 1.5	1–1
8	F, 1y	75, 10	0.44	Severe AKI	0.1, 3.9	0–1
9	M, 1y	82, 10	0.47	T cell leukemia	0.3, 7.5	1–1
10	F, 1y	82, 12	0.50	HUS	0.7, 5.7	0–1
11	F, 2y	81, 12	0.50	Pneumonia	3.8, 6.2	1–1
12	F, 2y	90, 12	0.54	Pneumonia	0.4, 10.4	0–0
13	F, 2y	100, 12	0.58	Septic shock	8.2, 3.1	0–1
14	F, 2 y	91, 14	0.58	MAS	0.6, 4.0	1–1
15	M, 2y	92, 14	0.59	T cell leukemia	3.4, 2.8	0–1
16	M, 4y	90, 13	0.56	Pneumonia	3.3, 4.2	0–1
17	F, 4y	92, 16	0.62	Severe AKI	3.7, -2.7	0–1
18	M, 4y	98, 14	0.61	X-CGD	5.9, 1.1	1–1
19	F, 5y	96, 13	0.58	Pulmonary edema	0.7, 3.5	0–1
20	F, 5y	86, 17	0.61	FB ingestion	0.0, 3.3	1–1
21	F, 5y	105, 25	0.82	Pneumonia	0.2, 0.7	0–1
22	F, 9y	120, 29	0.97	B cell leukemia	1.5, 0.9	1–0
23	F, 10y	160, 75	1.78	Rhabdomyolysis	6.5, -1.5	1–1
24	F, 11y	125, 20	0.85	Septic shock	0.0, 5.4	1–1
25	M, 12y	130, 26	0.98	Septic shock	0.2, -2.8	0–1
26	M, 15y	163, 68	1.73	B cell leukemia	1.1, 0.1	0–1
27	F, 16y	165, 52	1.56	ALL	3.5, 3.7	1–1
28	F, 17y	168, 50	1.56	Septic shock	5.5, 7.3	0–0

TABLE 1 | Demographic and clinical characteristics at pediatric intensive care unit admission.

Age (d, days; m, months; y, years); AKI, acute kidney injury; ALL, acute lymphoblastic leukemia; BSA, body surface area; FB, foreign body; FO, fluid overload; HTN, hypertension; HUS, hemolytic uremic syndrome; MAS, macrophage activation syndrome; MV, need for mechanical ventilation; PICU, pediatric intensive care unit; Sex (F, female; M, male); TAPVR, total anomalous pulmonary venous return; UO, urinary output; VP, need for vasopressors; X-CGD, x-linked chronic granulomatous disease; 0 = no; 1 = yes.

#### **Ethical Concerns**

The present study has been approved by the Meyer Children's Hospital Ethics Committee (registry number 104/2020). Being an observational study, the Ethics Committee waived informed consent for the analysis. Patients enrolled in this study did not receive additional medical, pharmacological or behavioral interventions other than those routinely administered in the PICU. Research was carried out in agreement with the principles of the original Declaration of Helsinki and its later amendments.

## RESULTS

# Rate of CRRT Application and Patients' Characteristics at PICU Admission

Of the 1,996 patients admitted to the Meyer Children's Hospital PICU in the 6-year study period, 28 patients (1.4%)

received CRRT (Table 1). In this cohort of CRRT patients, median age at PICU admission was 2 years [1-6], with a slightly higher proportion of females (15/28, 53.6%). Median height, weight, and body surface area were 90 cm [75-108], 13.0 Kg [9.8-21.3], and 0.58 m<sup>2</sup> [0.45-0.84], respectively. PICU admission diagnoses were: respiratory failure, pneumonia or respiratory distress (10/28, 35.7%), septic shock (5/28, 17.9%), onco-hematological disease (5/28, 17.9%), hemolytic uremic syndrome, severe AKI or rhabdomyolysis (5/28, 17.9%), and others (3/28, 10.7%, macrophage activation syndrome n = 1, pulmonary hypertension n = 1, X-linked chronic granulomatosis n = 1) (Table 1). At PICU admission, median urinary output and fluid overload were 2.00 ml/Kg/h [0.36-3.82] and 3.2% [0.6-5.5], respectively, while mechanical ventilation was needed in 24/28 (85.7%) patients. Hemodynamic instability requiring vasopressors was observed in 14/28 (50%) cases at PICU admission (Table 1).

TABLE 2 | Clinical and biochemical characteristics at continuous renal replacement therapy initiation; number, duration, and clotting rate.

ID	Time-to-start (h)	ne-to-start (h) Indication	UO (ml/Kg/h), FO (%)	sCr (umol/L)	BUN (mmol/L)	K (mmol/L)	CRRT sessions	
							Number, mean duration (h)	Clotting rate
1	17	FO	1.8, 24.1	92.8	3.2	5.9	10, 27.5	2/10
2	150	FO	1.1, 31.1	61.9	22.8	3.5	3, 21.1	3/3
5	217	FO	1.3, 120.7	35.4	6.0	3.8	5, 29.3	3/5
6	7	Hyperazotemia	0.1, 0.4	594.2	51.2	4.8	5, 38.4	1/5
7	395	FO	4.0, 200.0	77.8	37.3	6.6	4, 12.3	1/4
8	4	Hyperazotemia	0.0, 1.8	634.0	58.2	6.5	9, 20.1	8/9
9	41	FO	0.5, 27.4	114.9	29.3	4.7	4, 16.4	4/4
10	60	FO	0.2, 21.1	201.6	20.3	3.4	2, 21.5	2/2
11	74	FO	5.1, 12.4	62.8	13.0	3.5	1, 22.2	1/1
12	18	FO	0.5, 15.1	142.4	19.5	3.6	5, 49.7	4/5
13	27	FO	2.1, 10.4	114.9	21.7	4.3	7, 10.0	6/7
14	28	FO	1.5, 8.2	22.1	8.0	5.1	3, 48.9	0/3
15	168	FO	2.1, 18.5	82.2	22.5	4.6	6, 66.5	2/6
16	219	Hyperkalemia	0.3,-4.1	133.5	37.3	6.0	7, 74.9	0/7
18	40	FO	1.8, 10.8	79.6	7.3	3.4	4, 59.7	2/4
19	11	Hyperazotemia	0.4, 4.7	847.1	44.3	4.1	1, 9.8	0/1
20	22	Hyperkalemia	0.0, 2.8	132.6	6.0	5.9	1, 4.5	1/1
21	7	Hyperazotemia	0.1, 0.7	610.1	48.3	4.5	3, 68.8	0/3
22	188	FO	0.1, 8.9	70.7	6.7	3.3	1, 32.1	1/1
23	61	Hyperazotemia	0.8, 4.9	448.3	29.3	4.8	8, 49.5	7/8
25	29	Shock in IHD	1.9, 0.1	IHD	20.3	5.4	6, 31.0	3/6
26	38	Hyperazotemia	0.7,-0.2	154.7	44.8	4.4	4, 64.2	2/4
28	210	FO	2.7, 28.6	238.7	24.5	4.5	2, 79.8	0/2

Clotting rate represents the proportion of clotted sessions for each patient. A clotting rate > than 25% identifies patients at "high clotting rate." BUN, blood urea nitrogen; FO, fluid overload; IHD, intermittent hemodialysis; K, potassium; sCr, serum creatinine; Time-to-start, time from admission to CRRT initiation; UO, urinary output.

#### **CRRT Indication and Prescription**

Clinical characteristics of 23 patients are described in **Table 2**. All of the 23 patients were treated with  $Prismaflex^{(R)}$  (Baxter, Deerfield, Illinois) machine, for a total of 101 treatment sessions.

Median time from PICU admission to CRRT initiation was 40 h [20–160], and indications for CRRT initiation were fluid overload in 14/23 (60.9%) patients, hyperazotemia and/or hyperkalemia in 8/23 (34.8%) patients. At CRRT initiation, median UO, FO, serum creatinine, blood urea nitrogen, and potassium were 0.75 ml/Kg/h [0.27–1.89], 10.4% [2.3–22.6], 124 umol/L [78–229] (1.4 mg/dl [0.9–2.6]), 22.5 mmol/L [10.5–37.3] (63 mg/dl [29–105]), and 4.5 mmol/L [3.7–5.3], respectively (**Table 2**). Median hemoglobin, hematocrit, and calcium levels were 6.2 mmol/L [5.3–7.1], 28.9% [25.7–34.6], and 2.26 mmol/L [1.96–2.44], respectively. **Table 2** also shows the number of CRRT sessions for each treatment, as well as mean session duration, and proportion of clotted sessions for each patient. Clotting rate was higher than 25% in 15 patients (65.2%).

Among the 101 CRRT sessions, the most common prescription was Continuous Veno-Venous Hemodiafiltration (CVVHDF) (84/101, 83.2%), and 3/4 treatments were performed

with a AN69ST membrane (acrylonitrile and sodium methallyl sulfonate copolymer) (**Table 3**). Filters with surface area smaller than 0.6 m<sup>2</sup> were used in 13.8% of sessions. The most frequently used access site was the femoral vein, and 17 sessions were linked to an ECMO circuit (patient IDs 1, 2, 11, 18). Median access length and caliber were 12 cm and 8.0 Fr, respectively. In all patients, packed red blood cells were used to prime the extracorporeal circuit. The most common anticoagulation method was continuous systemic unfractioned heparin (72/101, 71.3%) with an average dose of 13.9 U/Kg/h, while regional citrate anticoagulation (RCA) was used in 11/101 (10.9%) sessions. Eighteen sessions (17.8%) were performed with no anticoagulation for clinical decision. CRRT was continued for a median of 12 days [7.75–17] and sessions lasted for a median of 30.2 h [7.1–65.6].

## Predictors of Unintended Discontinuation Due to Clotting

Unintended treatment discontinuation due to clotting was detected in more than half of CRRT sessions (59/101, 58.4%), after a median session duration of 21.2 h [7.1–42.1]. Every clotted session showed an increase in TMP (indicating membrane

TABLE 3 | Prescription characteristics and clotting predictors of continuous renal replacement therapy sessions.

Parameter	Total ( <i>n</i> = 101)	No clotting ( $n = 42$ )	Clotting ( $n = 59$ )	HR [95% CI]	Р
Treatment modality					0.059
CVVHD	16 (15.8%)	3 (18.8%)	13 (81.2%)	Ref.	
CVVHDF	84 (83.2%)	39 (47.0%)	45 (53.0%)	0.50 [0.27-0.94]	0.031
SCUF	1 (1.0%)	0 (0.0%)	1 (100.0%)	1.64 [0.21–12.76]	0.635
Filter type					0.033
HF1000	4 (4.0%)	0 (0.0%)	4 (100.0%)	Ref.	
HF20	14 (13.9%)	4 (28.6%)	10 (71.4%)	1.47 [0.46–4.71]	0.520
M60	16 (15.8%)	8 (50.0%)	8 (50.0%)	0.53 [0.16–1.78]	0.304
ST60	39 (38.6%)	16 (41.0%)	23 (59.0%)	0.65 [0.22–1.91]	0.437
ST100	15 (14.9%)	10 (66.7%)	5 (33.3%)	0.28 [0.07-1.07]	0.063
ST150	6 (5.9%)	3 (50.0%)	3 (50.0%)	0.35 [0.07–1.56]	0.168
SEPTEX	7 (6.9%)	1 (14.3%)	6 (85.7%)	1.26 [0.36–4.49]	0.718
Membrane type					0.005
PAES	18 (17.8%)	4 (22.2%)	14 (77.8%)	Ref.	
AN69ST	76 (75.2%)	37 (48.7%)	39 (51.3%)	0.39 [0.21–0.74]	0.004
PAES-HCO	7 (6.9%)	1 (14.3%)	6 (85.7%)	0.98 [0.38-2.56]	0.969
Filter area					0.030
0.2 m <sup>2</sup>	14 (13.8%)	4 (28.6%)	10 (71.4%)	Ref.	
0.6 m <sup>2</sup>	55 (54.5%)	24 (43.6%)	31 (56.4%)	0.43 [0.21-0.88]	0.022
$\geq 1 \text{ m}^2$	32 (31.7%)	14 (43.6%)	18 (56.4%)	0.36 [0.16–0.79]	0.010
Prescription flows					
Blood flow (ml/min)	60 [40-80]	60 [50-100]	60 [40-80]	0.99 [0.99–1.00]	0.379
Dialysate flow (ml/h)	400 [200-600]	400 [250–500]	400 [100-800]	1.00 [1.00-1.00]	0.073
Replacement flow (ml/h)	200 [50-400]	200 [50–500]	200 [0-400]	0.99 [0.99–1.00]	0.309
Net ultrafiltration (ml /h)	40 [25–70]	40 [25–60]	40 [25–70]	1.00 [0.99–1.00]	0.726
Effluent flow (ml /h)	900 [510–1120]	790 [525–1080]	910 [390–1130]	1.00 [0.99–1.00]	0.739
Filtration fraction (%)	17.1 [9.1–23.8]	15.6 [5.7–22.4]	18.7 [11.3–23.9]	1.00 [0.98–1.03]	0.849
Vascular access site					0.175
Jugular	29 (28.7%)	18 (62.1%)	11 (37.9%)	Ref.	
Femoral	55 (54.5%)	20 (36.4%)	35 (63.6%)	1.51 [0.76–2.97]	0.238
ECMO	17 (16.8%)	4 (23.5%)	13 (76.5%)	2.16 [0.96-4.82]	0.062
Vascular access caliber	8.0 [8.0–8.5]				0.004
≤ 8 Fr	65/92 (70.7%)	24 (36.9%)	41 (63.1%)	Ref.	
> 8 Fr	27/92 (29.3%)	16 (59.3%)	11 (40.7%)	0.37 [0.19–0.72]	
Vascular access length	12.0 [11.5–14.0]				0.806
≤ 12 cm	46/71 (64.8%)	22 (47.8%)	24 (52.2%)	Ref.	
> 12 cm	25/71 (35.2%)	10 (40.0%)	15 (60.0%)	0.92 [0.48–1.76]	
Anticoagulation					0.010
None	18 (17.8%)	5 (27.8%)	13 (72.2%)	Ref.	
Heparin	72 (71.3%)	28 (39.4%)	44 (60.6%)	0.75 [0.40–1.40]	0.376
Citrate	11 (10.9%)	9 (81.8%)	2 (18.2%)	0.13 [0.03-0.59]	0.008

AN69ST, acrylonitrile and sodium methallyl sulfonate copolymer; CWHD(F), continuous veno-venous hemodialysis (Hemodiafiltration); HCO, high cut-off; HR, hazard ratio; PAES, polyarylethersulfone; Ref., reference; SCUF, slow continuous ultrafiltration.

clogging in most of the cases), and 50/59 (84.7%) sessions also presented signs of vascular access dysfunction. Variables significantly associated with clotting in the univariate Cox regression analysis were membrane type (p = 0.005), filter area (p = 0.03), vascular access caliber (p = 0.004), and anticoagulation strategy (p = 0.01) (**Table 3**). In particular, most of the sessions performed with a polyarylethysulfone (PAES)

high-flux membrane (77.8%), using a filter with smaller surface area (71.4%), via a smaller vascular access ( $\leq$ 8 Fr, 63.1%), and without regional citrate anticoagulation (72.2 and 60.6%, respectively, for no-anticoagulation and systemic heparinization) underwent premature clotting. Initial prescription flows were not significantly different between clotting and no-clotting groups. Multivariate Cox regression analysis identified dimension (in



Fr) of the vascular access [HR 0.37 (0.19–0.72), p = 0.004] and RCA strategy [HR 0.14 (0.03–0.60), p = 0.008] as two baseline independent predictors for premature clotting (**Figure 1**). Among the 23 patients, 8 (34.8%) experienced clotting in  $\leq 25\%$  of CRRT sessions and were thus considered as patients with "low clotting rate." On the other hand, the remaining 15 (65.2%) patients had clotting in more than 25% of CRRT sessions and were thus considered as patients with "high clotting rate." Patients' clinical characteristics at CRRT initiation are described for both groups in **Supplementary Table 1**. No significant clinical predictors were found in these groups.

#### Short- and Long-Term Outcomes

Considering the whole study population (n = 28), average PICU length of stay was 24 days [12–30], with a PICU mortality rate of 42.8% (12/28). Baseline clinical and CRRT characteristics

of patients who died and patients who survived to PICU discharge are described in **Supplementary Table 2**. Requirement of vasoactive treatment was the only predictor of mortality among these subgroups. Of the 16/28 CRRT patients successfully discharged from the PICU, one was a ESKD patient already treated with IHD before PICU admission; three were lost to follow-up soon after discharge; the remaining 12 had at least 1 year follow-up, with a mean follow-up length of  $3.5 \pm 2.0$  years. Among these 12 patients, only 5 (42%) did not develop any form of kidney dysfunction, one (8%) developed low grade proteinuria, three (25%) developed CKD, and three (25%) developed ESKD (**Table 4**). Of note, 3/5 (60%) patients who did not develop kidney disease have a follow-up of only 1 year after discharge. Overall, 7/15 patients (46.7%) were never referred to nephrology follow-up after PICU discharge.

## DISCUSSION

In this single center retrospective study, we have observed a rate of CRRT application of 1.4% in a cohort of pediatric critically ill patients admitted to a tertiary pediatric hospital. In our cohort, extracorporeal treatments were applied within 48 h after PICU admission and mainly for management of fluid overload. Most of the treatments were performed in CVVHDF modality, with large (>0.6 m<sup>2</sup>) acrylonitrile high-flux membranes and systemic heparinization. Large vascular access (>8 Fr) and RCA were independent protective factors for circuit clotting. Patients' PICU mortality rate was high and survival often complicated by CKD development.

In the context of a general lack of clinical and technical information on CRRT in PICU, here we accurately describe our cohort of pediatric CRRT patients in terms of clinical presentation, treatment prescription, and CRRT indication. Our results are in agreement with the available literature. The findings confirm the relative low rate of application of CRRT in PICU and describe FO as the main indication for CRRT initiation (22). In the literature, the most frequent clinical indication for CRRT is severe AKI complicated with the concomitant the requirement of fluid administration (diuretic-unresponsive oligo-anuria and subsequent FO) and/or metabolic (untreatable acidosis, hyperkalemia, and uremic toxins accumulation) disturbances (23). However, no clear cut-off values for CRRT initiation are currently available and, as a consequence, timing is controversial, even in adult patients (24-29). Since almost two decades, FO has been identified as a main independent predictor of mortality in the PICU setting (14, 20). The US multicenter, prospective, pediatric CRRT (ppCRRT) registry has led to numerous studies addressing diverse clinical questions about CRRT patients and modalities (6). Evidence from these studies suggests that survival is greatly influenced by the underlying disease at admission. It also highlights the importance of circuit survival and nutritional prescription, and it confirms the independent association between FO at CRRT initiation and mortality (15, 30). However, these studies failed to define a target %FO for CRRT initiation or to determine if aggressive treatment of FO could improve survival in these

TABLE 4   Long-term follow-up after pediatric intensive care unit surviva
---

ID	PICU stay (d)	PICU survival	Follow-up data	Follow-up time (y)	Kidney outcome
1	30	yes	yes	6.5	ok
6	22	yes	yes	3	proteinuria
8	27	yes	yes	6	ESKD
10	13	yes	yes	1	ok
11	25	yes	yes	1	ok
12	30	yes	yes	3.5	CKD
13	29	yes	no	-	-
14	25	yes	no	-	-
16	97	yes	yes	1	CKD
17	4	yes	yes	6	CKD
19	26	yes	yes	5	ESKD
21	40	yes	no	-	-
23	34	yes	yes	2.5	ok
24	51	yes	yes	6	ESKD
25	12	yes	IHD		
28	52	yes	yes	1	ok

CKD, chronic kidney disease; ESKD, end-stage kidney disease; IHD, intermittent hemodialysis; PICU, pediatric intensive care unit; Time (d, days; y, years).

patients (6). It has been suggested that CRRT should be started rapidly in oligo-anuric patients, before a FO threshold of 10-20% is reached (15). Retrospective cohort studies suggest that earlier CRRT initiation is associated with improved survival (31), with mortality increasing per each hour of delay (16), but other studies also stress that CRRT initiation confers a more than eight-fold higher mortality risk with respect to the total PICU population (17). In fact, CRRT patients, especially children, can experience complications related to vascular access placement, anticoagulation and blood loss, hypotension, and electrolytes derangement (32-34). Particularly in small pediatric patients, maintenance of filter patency and avoidance of premature clotting are crucial to increase safety, efficacy and effectiveness of the treatment (9). Beside undertreatment caused by membrane fouling and downtime due to circuit substitution (35), the amount of blood retained into the extracorporeal circuit for unexpected clotting can be clinically relevant in a small pediatric patient. Risk factors for filter clotting should be explored in pediatric population and clinical practice improved in order to minimize this harmful complication.

In line with previous experiences reported in the literature (36, 37), we found that dimension of vascular access and anticoagulation strategy were independent predictors for circuit clotting. In particular, smaller vascular access ( $\leq 8$  Fr) was significantly associated with filter clotting. This was likely associated with the fact that treatments in smaller patients, carrying the smallest catheters sizes were those complicated by more frequent unintended interruptions. Interestingly, overtime analysis of access pressure during treatment revealed signs of vascular access dysfunction in most of the clotted sessions. Thus, when possible, a larger catheter should always be used for vascular access. Unfortunately, use of large catheters is often not feasible in newborn or small pediatric patients. In these cases, the adoption of hardware components specifically designed

for pediatric patients might help delivering an adequate CRRT session. It is also possible that the internal jugular vein might be preferred in order to optimize circuit patency (6). As described in our population, however, this access in critically ill children may frequently be already utilized for a central venous catheter and the only available option could be to select the femoral vein. Even if in our study access site did not show significant differences in terms of clotting rate, it might be interesting in larger studies to further address this important aspect. Again, regardless of vascular access site and size, miniaturized disposable, filters, and roller pumps, mainly, might reduce the amplitude of excessive cyclic pressure oscillations, led by large peristaltic pumps flowing fluids against small tubes and vascular accesses (38, 39). In this context, Carpediem<sup>®</sup> (Cardio Renal Pediatric Emergency Machine) (Bellco-Medtronic, Mirandola, Italy) might be proposed for smaller patients, especially those with "high clotting rate" characteristics. Interestingly, despite the relatively small size of patients enrolled in our cohort, filters with surface area smaller than 0.6 m<sup>2</sup> were used in <15% of sessions. Moreover, our results confirm RCA as a major independent protective factor to reduce circuit clotting, compared to heparin or no-anticoagulation strategies. Therefore, also according to the literature, RCA should be adopted as a first choice anticoagulation strategy for CRRT.

Mortality in our study was similar to that reported in the ppCRRT study (42%) (6) but higher than the results of the AWARE trial (25%) (2). The latter study involved 4,984 critically ill children and young adults and described RRT as one of the most important predictors of mortality in the PICU [OR 3.38 (1.74–6.54)] (2). Moreover, it is possible that the population described in our study was mainly composed by children with multiple organ failure, similarly to that reported in the pediatric registry (6). The availability of data on long-term renal function is the last crucial finding of this study. According to our data, the

majority of children undergoing CRRT developed some form of chronic kidney dysfunction. Few studies are available on CKD following pediatric AKI and their results appear controversial, with the rate of uncomplete recovery of renal function ranging from 10 to 20% (16, 40). This aspect likely depends on the severity of AKI of analyzed patients (16), their age (41), admission diagnosis (42), and effectiveness of follow-up (43). Interestingly, about 60% of our cohort underwent a post PICU discharge renal referral and follow-up which is higher than recently described (44). This was probably due to the identification of the high severity of renal dysfunction in patients who required dialysis during their PICU admission. In this regard, it would be desirable that close to 100% of AKI children requiring CRRT were referred to the nephrology consultation and follow-up. Unfortunately, this target is far to be reached in clinical practice and very limited information is available in the literature on long-term outcomes of pediatric patients treated with CRRT (45).

#### Limitations

Several drawbacks should be recognized in this study. Although the relatively small sample size is a major limitation, the single center nature of our study has allowed to accurately describe each patient's clinical presentation at admission and at CRRT initiation, treatment prescription, characteristics, and each circuit lifespan, and also to describe short- and long-term survival and kidney outcome in a precise setting. Unfortunately, we were not able to present data for the entire population of 28 patients who underwent CRRT, but only for the subgroup of 23 patients treated with Prismaflex® machine. Multicenter registries (46) are certainly required for the observation of larger populations. Duration of follow-up was relatively short, and it is possible that longer observation may reveal different outcomes: it is currently unknown if these would imply improvement of further worsening of renal function of these patients. Given the observation nature of this study it is currently unknown if timing of CRRT start, severity of the admission disease, and dose of the analyzed treatment could have affected short and long-term outcomes. However, literature in this field of pediatric critical care nephrology is poor and consistent results should be extrapolated by large databases.

## CONCLUSIONS

Our data indicate a low prevalence of CRRT in the PICU population and confirm high morbidity and mortality in these patients. Pediatric CRRT administration is often complicated by unintended discontinuation due to circuit clotting and loss of effective treatment time that should be taken into account early during treatment prescription. Use of adequate vascular accesses and RCA might protect the circuit from clotting. Moreover, despite a relatively short median follow-up time, a great proportion of CRRT patients developed CKD and needed nephrology consult. Once more, this highlights the importance of nephrology referral for these patients, from first CRRT prescription to, more importantly, post-discharge outpatient care.

## DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions generated for the study are included in the article/**Supplementary Material**, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author/s.

## **ETHICS STATEMENT**

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Meyer Children's Hospital Ethics Committee (registry number 104/2020). Research was performed in line with the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki. Written informed consent for participation was not provided by the participants' legal guardians/next of kin because the Ethics Committee waived informed consent for the analysis and publication.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

EB and FG contributed equally to the work, conceived the research idea and the design of the study, were responsible for material preparation and data collection and wrote the first draft of the manuscript. DC and BT contributed to material preparation and data collection. GV was responsible for statistical analysis. SR, ZR, ML'E, and GV contributed to the conception and design of the study. All authors commented on previous versions of the manuscript, read and approved the final manuscript providing substantial contribution as per ICMJE recommendations.

## FUNDING

Fondazione Cassa di Risparmio di Firenze (grant number 2014.0679) and Philip and Irene Toll Gage Foundation (grant number: NA) supported this study through research grants aimed at study coordination, statistical analysis, and recruitment of investigators. The funders had no role in study design, data collection and analysis, decision to publish, or preparation of the manuscript.

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank all the clinical and nursing staff of the Meyer Children's University Hospital Pediatric Intensive Care Unit, Lorenzo Tofani (Statistician, Department of Health Sciences, Section of Anesthesiology and Intensive Care, University of Florence), and Caterina Scirè Calabrisotto (PhD, Research Assistant, Department of Health Sciences, University of Florence) for their precious support to this study.

## SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fped. 2021.696798/full#supplementary-material

## REFERENCES

- Jetton JG, Boohaker LJ, Sethi SK, Wazir S, Rohatgi S, Soranno DE, et al. Incidence and outcomes of neonatal acute kidney injury (AWAKEN): a multicentre, multinational, observational cohort study. *Lancet Child Adolesc Health*. (2017) 1:184–94. doi: 10.1016/S2352-4642(17)30069-X
- Kaddourah A, Basu RK, Bagshaw SM, Goldstein SL, AWARE Investigators. Epidemiology of acute kidney injury in critically ill children and young adults. *N Engl J Med.* (2017) 376:11–20. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1611391
- Bridges BC, Askenazi DJ, Smith J, Goldstein SL. Pediatric renal replacement therapy in the intensive care unit. *Blood Purif.* (2012) 34:138–48. doi: 10.1159/000342129
- Wang AY, Bellomo R. Renal replacement therapy in the ICU: intermittent hemodialysis, sustained low-efficiency dialysis or continuous renal replacement therapy? *Curr Opin Crit Care.* (2018) 24:437–42. doi: 10.1097/MCC.000000000000541
- Villa G, Romagnoli S, De Rosa S, Greco M, Resta M, Pomarè Montin D, et al. Blood purification therapy with a hemodiafilter featuring enhanced adsorptive properties for cytokine removal in patients presenting COVID-19: a pilot study. *Crit Care.* (2020) 24:605. doi: 10.1186/s13054-020-03322-6
- Sutherland SM, Goldstein SL, Alexander SR. The prospective pediatric continuous renal replacement therapy (ppCRRT) registry: a critical appraisal. *Pediatr Nephrol.* (2014) 29:2069–76. doi: 10.1007/s00467-013-2594-5
- Ricci Z, Guzzi F, Tuccinardi G, Romagnoli S. Dialytic dose in pediatric continuous renal replacement therapy patients. *Minerva Pediatr.* (2016) 68:366–73.
- Pistolesi V, Di Napoli A, Fiaccadori E, Zeppilli L, Polistena F, Sacco MI, et al. Severe acute kidney injury following cardiac surgery: short-term outcomes in patients undergoing continuous renal replacement therapy (CRRT). *J Nephrol.* (2016) 29:229–39. doi: 10.1007/s40620-015-0213-1
- Ricci Z, Guzzi F, Tuccinardi G, Di Chiara L, Clark W, Goldstein SL, et al. Dose prescription and delivery in neonates with congenital heart diseases treated with continuous veno-venous hemofiltration. *Pediatr Crit Care Med.* (2017) 18:623–9. doi: 10.1097/PCC.000000000001177
- Riley AA, Watson M, Smith C, Guffey D, Minard CG, Currier H, et al. Pediatric continuous renal replacement therapy: have practice changes changed outcomes? A large single-center ten-year retrospective evaluation. *BMC Nephrol.* (2018) 19:268. doi: 10.1186/s12882-018-1068-1
- Lee KH, Sol IS, Park JT, Kim JH, Shin JW, Park MR, et al. Continuous renal replacement therapy (CRRT) in children and the specialized CRRT team: a 14year single-center study. J Clin Med. (2019) 9:110. doi: 10.3390/jcm9010110
- Neri M, Villa G, Garzotto F, Bagshaw S, Bellomo R, Cerda J, et al. Nomenclature for renal replacement therapy in acute kidney injury: basic principles. *Crit Care.* (2016) 20:318. doi: 10.1186/s13054-016-1489-9
- Villa G, Neri M, Bellomo R, Cerda J, De Gaudio AR, De Rosa S, et al. Nomenclature for renal replacement therapy and blood purification techniques in critically ill patients: practical applications. *Crit Care.* (2016) 20:283. doi: 10.1186/s13054-016-1456-5
- Foland JA, Fortenberry JD, Warshaw BL, Pettignano R, Merritt RK, Heard ML, et al. Fluid overload before continuous hemofiltration and survival in critically ill children: a retrospective analysis. *Crit Care Med.* (2004) 32:1771– 6. doi: 10.1097/01.CCM.0000132897.52737.49
- Sutherland SM, Zappitelli M, Alexander SR, Chua AN, Brophy PD, Bunchman TE, et al. Fluid overload and mortality in children receiving continuous renal replacement therapy: the prospective pediatric continuous renal replacement therapy registry. *Am J Kidney Dis.* (2010) 55:316– 25. doi: 10.1053/j.ajkd.2009.10.048
- Cortina G, McRae R, Hoq M, Donath S, Chiletti R, Arvandi M, et al. Mortality of critically ill children requiring continuous renal replacement therapy: effect of fluid overload, underlying disease, and timing of initiation. *Pediatr Crit Care Med.* (2019) 20:314–22. doi: 10.1097/PCC.000000000001806
- Miklaszewska M, Korohoda P, Zachwieja K, Sobczak A, Kobylarz K, Stefanidis CJ, et al. Factors affecting mortality in children requiring continuous renal replacement therapy in pediatric intensive care unit. *Adv Clin Exp Med.* (2019) 28:615–23. doi: 10.17219/acem/81051
- Askenazi DJ, Feig DI, Graham NM, Hui-Stickle S, Goldstein SL. 3-5 year longitudinal follow-up of pediatric patients after acute renal failure. *Kidney Int.* (2006) 69:184–9. doi: 10.1038/sj.ki.5000032

- Kidney Disease: improving global outcomes (KDIGO) acute kidney injury work group. KDIGO clinical practice guideline for acute kidney injury. *Kidney Int Suppl.* (2012) 2:1–138. doi: 10.1038/kisup.2012.1
- Goldstein SL, Currier H, Graf Cd null, Cosio CC, Brewer ED, Sachdeva R. Outcome in children receiving continuous venovenous hemofiltration. *Pediatrics.* (2001) 107:1309–12. doi: 10.1542/peds.107.6.1309
- Kidney Disease: Improving Global Outcomes (KDIGO) CKD Work Group. KDIGO 2012 clinical practice guideline for the evaluation and management of chronic kidney disease. *Kidney Int Suppl.* (2013) 3:1–150. doi: 10.1038/kisup.2012.73
- Villa G, Ricci Z, Romagnoli S, Ronco C. Multidimensional approach to adequacy of renal replacement therapy in acute kidney injury. *Contrib Nephrol.* (2016) 187:94–105. doi: 10.1159/000442580
- 23. Symons JM, Chua AN, Somers MJG, Baum MA, Bunchman TE, Benfield MR, et al. Demographic characteristics of pediatric continuous renal replacement therapy: a report of the prospective pediatric continuous renal replacement therapy registry. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol.* (2007) 2:732–8. doi: 10.2215/CJN.03200906
- 24. Wald R, Adhikari NKJ, Smith OM, Weir MA, Pope K, Cohen A, et al. Comparison of standard and accelerated initiation of renal replacement therapy in acute kidney injury. *Kidney Int.* (2015) 88:897–904. doi: 10.1038/ki.2015.184
- Zarbock A, Kellum JA, Schmidt C, Van Aken H, Wempe C, Pavenstädt H, et al. Effect of early vs delayed initiation of renal replacement therapy on mortality in critically ill patients with acute kidney injury: the elain randomized clinical trial. *JAMA*. (2016) 315:2190–9. doi: 10.1001/jama.2016.5828
- Gaudry S, Hajage D, Schortgen F, Martin-Lefevre L, Pons B, Boulet E, et al. Initiation strategies for renal-replacement therapy in the intensive care unit. *N Engl J Med.* (2016) 375:122–33. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1603017
- Barbar SD, Clere-Jehl R, Bourredjem A, Hernu R, Montini F, Bruyère R, et al. Timing of renal-replacement therapy in patients with acute kidney injury and sepsis. N Engl J Med. (2018) 379:1431–42. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1803213
- 28. STARRT-AKI Investigators, Canadian Critical Care Trials Group, Australian and New Zealand Intensive Care Society Clinical Trials Group, United Kingdom Critical Care Research Group, Canadian Nephrology Trials Network, Irish Critical Care Trials Group, et al. Timing of initiation of renal-replacement therapy in acute kidney injury. N Engl J Med. (2020) 383:240–51. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa2000741
- 29. Ricci Z, Romagnoli S, Villa G, Ronco C. Modality and dosing of acute renal replacement therapy. *Minerva Urol Nefrol.* (2016) 68:78–86.
- Askenazi DJ, Goldstein SL, Koralkar R, Fortenberry J, Baum M, Hackbarth R, et al. Continuous renal replacement therapy for children ≤10 kg: a report from the prospective pediatric continuous renal replacement therapy registry. *J Pediatr.* (2013) 162:587–92.e3. doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2012.08.044
- Modem V, Thompson M, Gollhofer D, Dhar AV, Quigley R. Timing of continuous renal replacement therapy and mortality in critically ill children. *Crit Care Med.* (2014) 42:943–53. doi: 10.1097/CCM.000000000000039
- 32. Bihari S, Taylor S, Bersten AD. Inadvertent sodium loading with renal replacement therapy in critically ill patients. *J Nephrol.* (2014) 27:439–44. doi: 10.1007/s40620-014-0041-8
- Pistolesi V, Zeppilli L, Fiaccadori E, Regolisti G, Tritapepe L, Morabito S. Hypophosphatemia in critically ill patients with acute kidney injury on renal replacement therapies. J Nephrol. (2019) 32:895–908. doi: 10.1007/s40620-019-00648-5
- 34. Fernández S, Santiago MJ, González R, Urbano J, López J, Solana MJ, et al. Hemodynamic impact of the connection to continuous renal replacement therapy in critically ill children. *Pediatr Nephrol.* (2019) 34:163– 8. doi: 10.1007/s00467-018-4047-7
- Villa G, Ricci Z, Ronco C. Renal replacement therapy. Crit Care Clin. (2015) 31:839–48. doi: 10.1016/j.ccc.2015.06.015
- Cortina G, McRae R, Chiletti R, Butt W. The effect of patient- and treatmentrelated factors on circuit lifespan during continuous renal replacement therapy in critically ill children. *Pediatr Crit Care Med.* (2020) 21:578– 85. doi: 10.1097/PCC.00000000002305
- 37. Sik G, Demirbuga A, Annayev A, Citak A. Regional citrate versus systemic heparin anticoagulation for continuous renal replacement therapy in critically ill children. *Int J Artif Organs.* (2020) 43:234–41. doi: 10.1177/0391398819893382

- Cerdá J, Baldwin I, Honore PM, Villa G, Kellum JA, Ronco C, et al. Role of technology for the management of aki in critically ill patients: from adoptive technology to precision continuous renal replacement therapy. *Blood Purif.* (2016) 42:248–65. doi: 10.1159/000448527
- Garzotto F, Vidal E, Ricci Z, Paglialonga F, Giordano M, Laforgia N, et al. Continuous kidney replacement therapy in critically ill neonates and infants: a retrospective analysis of clinical results with a dedicated device. *Pediatr Nephrol.* (2020) 35:1699–705. doi: 10.1007/s00467-020-04562-y
- Hessey E, Ali R, Dorais M, Morissette G, Pizzi M, Rink N, et al. Renal function follow-up and renal recovery after acute kidney injury in critically ill children. *Pediatr Crit Care Med.* (2017) 18:733–40. doi: 10.1097/PCC.000000000001166
- Huynh L, Rodriguez-Lopez S, Benisty K, Dancea A, Garros D, Hessey E, et al. Follow-up after neonatal heart disease repair: watch out for chronic kidney disease and hypertension! *Pediatr Nephrol.* (2020) 35:2137–45. doi: 10.1007/s00467-020-04621-4
- Zappitelli M, Parikh CR, Kaufman JS, Go AS, Kimmel PL, Hsu C-Y, et al. Acute kidney injury and risk of CKD and hypertension after pediatric cardiac surgery. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol.* (2020) 15:1403– 12. doi: 10.2215/CJN.00150120
- Robinson C, Benisty K, Cockovski V, Joffe AR, Garros D, Riglea T, et al. Serum creatinine monitoring after acute kidney injury in the PICU. *Pediatr Crit Care Med.* (2021) 22:412–25. doi: 10.1097/PCC.00000000002662
- Robinson C, Hessey E, Nunes S, Dorais M, Chanchlani R, Lacroix J, et al. Acute kidney injury in the pediatric intensive care unit: outpatient follow-up. *Pediatr Res.* (2021). doi: 10.1038/s41390-021-01414-9. [Epub ahead of print].

- Almarza S, Bialobrzeska K, Casellas MM, Santiago MJ, López-Herce J, Toledo B, et al. [Long-term outcomes of children treated with continuous renal replacement therapy]. *An Pediatr.* (2015) 83:404–9. doi: 10.1016/j.anpede.2015.09.015
- 46. Villa G, De Rosa S, Samoni S, Neri M, Cosimo C, Romagnoli S, et al. oXirisNet registry: a prospective, national registry on the oXiris membrane. *Blood Purif.* (2019) 47 (Suppl 3):1–8. doi: 10.1159/0004 99356

**Conflict of Interest:** GV has received honoraria for lectures from Baxter and Pall Italia. SR has received honoraria for lectures/consultancy from Baxter, Orion Pharma, Vygon, MSD, and Medtronic and funds for travel expenses, hotel accommodation and registration to meetings from Baxter, BBraun, Pall International, Medigas and Vygon.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Buccione, Guzzi, Colosimo, Tedesco, Romagnoli, Ricci, L'Erario and Villa. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## Acute Kidney Injury in Pediatric Diabetic Kidney Disease

Federica Piani<sup>1,2,3</sup>, Trenton Reinicke<sup>1</sup>, Claudio Borghi<sup>3</sup>, Kalie L. Tommerdahl<sup>1,2</sup>, Gabriel Cara-Fuentes<sup>1,4</sup>, Richard J. Johnson<sup>1</sup> and Petter Bjornstad<sup>1,2\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Division of Renal Diseases and Hypertension, Department of Medicine, University of Colorado Anschutz Medical Campus, Aurora, CO, United States, <sup>2</sup> Section of Pediatric Endocrinology, Department of Pediatrics, Children's Hospital Colorado and University of Colorado Anschutz Medical Campus, Aurora, CO, United States, <sup>3</sup> Department of Medicine and Surgery Sciences, Alma Mater Studiorum–University of Bologna, Bologna, Italy, <sup>4</sup> Section of Pediatric Nephrology, Department of Pediatrics, Children's Hospital Colorado, Aurora, CO, United States

Diabetic kidney disease (DKD) is a common complication of type 1 and 2 diabetes and often presents during adolescence and young adulthood. Given the growing incidence of both type 1 and type 2 diabetes in children and adolescents, DKD represents a significant public health problem. Acute kidney injury (AKI) in youth with diabetes is strongly associated with risk of DKD development. This review will summarize the epidemiology and pathophysiology of AKI in children with diabetes, the relationship between AKI and DKD, and the potential therapeutic interventions. Finally, we will appraise the impact of the recent COVID-19 infection pandemic on AKI in children with diabetes.

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Michael Zappitelli, Hospital for Sick Children, Canada

#### Reviewed by:

Emily Lauren Joyce, Rainbow Babies & Children's Hospital, United States Nicole Hayde, Children's Hospital at Montefiore, United States

#### \*Correspondence:

Petter Bjornstad Petter.M.Bjornstad@CUAnschutz.edu

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Pediatric Nephrology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Pediatrics

Received: 15 February 2021 Accepted: 17 May 2021 Published: 15 June 2021

#### Citation:

Piani F, Reinicke T, Borghi C, Tommerdahl KL, Cara-Fuentes G, Johnson RJ and Bjornstad P (2021) Acute Kidney Injury in Pediatric Diabetic Kidney Disease. Front. Pediatr. 9:668033. doi: 10.3389/fped.2021.668033 Keywords: acute kidney injury, diabetes, diabetic kidney disease, pediatric, COVID-19

## INTRODUCTION

Type 1 diabetes (T1D) has consistently remained one of the most common chronic diseases affecting children and adolescents (1). In the past few decades, the incidence of youth-onset type 2 diabetes (T2D) has also progressively increased, likely due to rising rates of childhood obesity (2). Both types of diabetes are associated with long term complications that result in increased morbidity and mortality (1). Among these complications, diabetic kidney disease (DKD) is associated with the highest rates of excess mortality observed in young persons with diabetes (1). Indeed, DKD represents the leading cause of end-stage kidney disease (ESKD) and dialysis in the developed world (3). The pathophysiology of DKD is multifaceted and is characterized by progressive chronic kidney disease (CKD) (1, 4). In children and adolescents with diabetes, AKI can magnify the risk for CKD development and progression later in life (5–9).

Several mechanisms have been proposed to explain the accentuated risk of acute kidney injury (AKI) in youth with diabetes, including diabetic ketoacidosis (DKA), acute hyperglycemic events, and chronic poor glycemic control (10–12). Hyperglycemia has been shown to directly induce kidney inflammation and tubulopathy (12), while poor glycemic control can lead to polyuria with resultant volume contraction and hypovolemia, which is subsequently associated with the development of pre-renal AKI (11). In this review we seek to appraise the evolving mechanisms, risk-factors, and management strategies for diabetes-induced AKI in the pediatric population.

## EPIDEMIOLOGY AND PATHOPHYSIOLOGY OF AKI IN DIABETES Epidemiology and Definition of AKI in the Pediatric Population

AKI in youth represents a significant and growing challenge for clinicians, as AKI has been demonstrated in 3.9 out of every 1,000 pediatric hospitalizations at-risk in the U.S. (13), including

up to 64% of hospitalizations for DKA in youth with T1D (14). AKI is currently defined by the Kidney Disease Improving Global Outcomes (KDIGO) consensus classification based on conventional serum creatinine and urine output (UO) criteria (15). Previous widely used classification criteria have also shown an excellent accuracy in screening for AKI in the pediatric population. The pediatric Risk, Injury, Failure, Loss and Endstage Kidney (pRIFLE) criteria, which include a decrease in estimated creatinine clearance (eCCl) per the Schwartz formula over 8 to 24h and anuria for 12h (15), and the Acute Kidney Injury Network (16) criteria, which include an increase in serum creatinine over 6 to 24h and anuria for 12h (15). The pRIFLE criteria have been shown to have high sensitivity in detecting AKI (16), and the AKIN criteria have demonstrated high specificity (15).

AKI is typically classified into three main categories: prerenal, intrinsic/renal, and post-renal (17). The most common form of pediatric AKI is pre-renal, a usually reversible form of kidney dysfunction caused by kidney hypoperfusion (18, 19). In the setting of diabetes, the extracellular volume depletion leading to pre-renal AKI is commonly induced by glycosuria because of poorly controlled diabetes (14, 20). The combination of poor glycemic control with pre-renal AKI can eventually lead to intrinsic renal AKI, characterized by structural damage to the renal parenchyma and the occurrence of tubular necrosis (18, 21). Although DKD has historically been considered a glomerular disease, a growing body of evidence suggests that tubular-interstitial injury may be the first alteration in DKD (18, 21). AKI is also divided by severity into stage 1, 2, or 3 with different definitions according to the applied diagnostic criteria for AKI (e.g., pRIFLE AKI stage 1 is defined as a 25% decrease of estimated GFR (eGFR), stage 2 as a decrease of 50%, and stage 3 as a decrease of 75%) (15). Despite a growing body of literature evaluating the incidence and etiologies of AKI in adults, large epidemiologic studies involving pediatric populations with AKI, with or without diabetes, are lacking, as many studies are either limited to a single center or are focused on specific subpopulations (13, 18) (Table 1).

#### Markers of AKI in the Pediatric Population

The diagnosis of AKI, per the Kidney Disease Improving Global Outcomes (KDIGO) guidelines, is currently defined by factors including elevated serum creatinine concentration, decreased UO, and renal replacement therapy requirement (32, 33). UO is the oldest known indicator of AKI, yet it retains multiple theoretical advantages over biomarkers such as serum creatinine concentration due to a predefined cut-off value and rapid response to treatment. In contrast, serum creatinine concentration requires comparison to a baseline value which is often either unknown or estimated (34). However, the sole use of UO to diagnose AKI also has several constrains, notably the significant influence of hydration status and blood pressure, the dependence on hemodynamic stability, and the artificial effect of medications such as diuretics and vasopressors (34). Severe glycosuria from uncontrolled diabetes or use of SGLT2 inhibitors can also lead to prerenal or true AKI despite continued UO. Another issue includes the difficulty in accurately measuring UO, particularly in children without Foley catheters in place (34). UO is also not an infallible indicator of AKI as it has been shown that some individuals with severe AKI can still have a preserved UO (34). Serum creatinine concentration is also an imperfect indicator of AKI as it can be delayed and unreliable in the setting of concurrent infections, sepsis, malnutrition, and obesity, which can ultimately lead to an inaccurate diagnosis (34–36). Laboratory and clinical studies are currently targeting the identification of biomarkers that predict the development of early AKI. Some of the most promising AKI biomarkers include neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin (NGAL), kidney injury molecule 1 (KIM-1), interleukin 18 (IL-18), liver-type fatty-acid-binding protein (L-FABP, also called FABP1), insulin-like-growth-factor-binding protein 7 (IGFBP7), and tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase 2 (TIMP-2) (37, 38).

NGAL is a protease-resistant polypeptide of the lipocalin superfamily identified in human neutrophils and is expressed by the tubular epithelia of the kidneys in response to inflammation (39–41). NGAL is a promising marker for AKI because it is easily detected in urine or plasma as soon as 1 h following kidney damage and prior to changes in serum creatinine, and it correlates with the severity and duration of AKI (37). Additionally, urine NGAL has been extensively studied in pediatrics and has been shown to be an early and sensitive biomarker for both AKI and DKD (42).

KIM-1, a type-1 transmembrane protein expressed in the renal proximal tubular cells, is significantly upregulated following ischemia (43, 44). In a 2019 study by Assadi and Sharbaf urinary KIM-1 demonstrated the strongest performance for the early detection of AKI among critically ill children with circulatory collapse when compared to NGAL, IL-18, and sCr (45). However, while current evidence supports the use of KIM-1 as a promising new avenue for the detection of AKI, concentrations may be affected by a variety of additional factors including the type of assay, timing and clinical setting of the sample collection, and patient age (46). Similar to NGAL, KIM-1 has also been shown to be elevated in children with diabetes and higher concentrations may associated with the development of early DKD (47).

IL-18 is a cytokine in the IL-1 superfamily that is synthesized by monocytes, macrophages, and proximal tubular epithelial cells of the kidney. Urine IL-18 is currently a promising predictor of early AKI as concentrations increase rapidly after ischemic kidney injury, nearly 12 h before clinical AKI is diagnosed by other means (37). Yet, identification of additional biomarkers for AKI is still necessary as IL-18's accuracy in predicting AKI among children and adolescents is highest when combined with other biomarkers (37).

L-FABP is a cytoplasmic protein involved in intracellular lipid trafficking and endogenous cytoprotection against oxidative stress that is expressed in the proximal epithelial tubular cells of the kidneys (34, 48). Urine L-FABP has been shown to predict both AKI and adverse clinical outcomes in pediatrics, reflecting the negative impact of oxidative stress on the kidneys and the associated resultant proximal tubule cellular injury (38). However, urine L-FABP concentrations may be elevated by factors including obesity, insulin resistance, and high blood pressure, even without concurrent kidney injury (49).

#### TABLE 1 | Studies on AKI in pediatric populations with and without diabetes.

Study	n	Study population	Study aim	Results
Askenazi et al. (8)	174	Children who had previously developed AKI at a single hospital	3–5-year survivorship among children hospitalized with AKI	The 3–5-year survivorship after hospitalization among children with an episode of AKI was 139/174 (79.9%). Thus, patients have a high risk of ongoing residual renal injury and death after AKI
Mammen et al. (9)	126	Children who survived an episode of AKI at a tertiary-care pediatric intensive care unit from 2006 to 2008	Determine the incidence of CKD development following an episode of AKI	13/126 (10.3%) of children developed CKD 1–3 years after AKI. In addition, 59/126 (46.8%) patients were identified as being at risk of CKD
Sutherland et al. (13)	2,644,263	Children in the United States (U.S.) listed in the 2009 Kids Inpatient Database	Characterize pediatric AKI across the U.S. and identify AKI risk factors among a national cohort	AKI occurs in 3.9/1,000 at-risk pediatric hospitalizations. Mortality was highest among neonates and children requiring critical care or dialysis. AKI occurs most commonly with systemic/multiorgan disease
Hursh et al. (14)	165	Children with T1D hospitalized for DKA at a single hospital from 2008 to 2013	Determine the proportion of children hospitalized for DKA who develop AKI, as well as the associated markers of AKI	106/165 (64.2%) of children admitted for DKA had developed AKI. AKI was associated with clinical and biochemical markers of volume depletion and severe acidosis
Kaddourah et al. (22)	4,683	Multinational, prospective study involving pediatric patients admitted to pediatric intensive care units	Define the incremental risk of death and complications associated with severe AKI	AKI developed in 1,261/4,683 patients (26.9%) and severe AKI developed in 543/4,683 patients (11.6%). Death occurred in 60/543 patients (11.0%) with severe AKI vs. 105/4,140 patients (2.5%) without severe AKI. AKI is common and associated with poor outcomes, including increased mortality, among critically ill children and young adults
Baalaaji et al. (23)	79	Children with DKA admitted to a single pediatric intensive care unit (PICU) between 2011 and 2014	Identify the predictors and outcomes of AKI in children	28/79 (35.4%) children developed AKI. 20/28 (71.4%) children with AKI recovered with hydration alone. Serum chloride at 24 h was independently associated with AKI. Children with AKI had prolonged acidosis, longer PICU stay, and higher mortality
Ho et al. (24)	74	Children admitted to a single children's hospital with DKA, with and without AKI, from 2010 to 2018	Assess the influence of intravenous fluid regimens and blood pH on the incidence of AKI in pediatric DKA	There was no statistically significant difference between the volume of IV fluid given to patients with AKI and those without AKI
Charlton et al. (25)	2,110	Neonates admitted to a neonatal intensive care unit who received at least 48 h of intravenous fluids	To assess the risk factors and outcomes of neonatal AKI in the first postnatal week	AKI in the first postnatal week is common and associated with death and longer duration of hospitalization. Risk factors for AKI included resuscitation with epinephrine, admission diagnosis of hyperbilirubinemia, inborn errors of metabolism, and surgical need
Myers et al. (26)	1,255	Children admitted to the Emergency Department with a diagnosis of DKA in 13 United States hospitals	Investigate risk factors for AKI and its association with neurocognitive outcomes in pediatric DKA	AKI occurred in 584/1,359 (43.0%) of DKA episodes. Children with AKI, when compared to those without, had lower scores on tests of short-term memory during DKA. AKI may occur more frequently in children with greater acidosis and circulatory volume depletion during DKA

(Continued)

TABLE 1 | Continued

Study	п	Study population	Study aim	Results
Hapca et al. (27)	16,700	Retrospective, cohort study of participants with or without T2D over a median period of 8.2 years	Evaluate rates of AKI and to determine their relationship to CKD status and further kidney function decline	Patients with diabetes have significantly higher rates of AKI compared to patients without diabetes. In addition, patients with diabetes were significantly more likely to have preexisting CKD or CKD that developed during follow-up
Yang et al. (28)	58	Retrospective study performed in a single center from 2004 to 2018 including children admitted with DKA who had T1D	Assess incidence and clinical characteristics of AKI and to identify the associated risk factors of AKI in children with T1D and DKA	AKI frequently occurred in children with T1D who had DKA. Longer duration of TID and elevated anion gap are associated with occurrence of severe AKI
DePiero et al. (29)	1,389	Children diagnosed with DKA in 13-centers from 2011 to 2016	Characterize hemodynamic alterations occurring during DKA and to identify clinical and biochemical factors associated with hypertension	Hypertension occurs in a substantial number of children with DKA (27.8%). Factors associated with hypertension include severe acidosis, AKI, and lower Glasgow Coma Scale scores
Williams et al. (30)	66	Children with DKA in a tertiary care, teaching, and referral hospital	To investigate 0.9% saline compared to Plasma-Lyte-A as an initial fluid in pediatric DKA	The incidence of new or progressive AKI and resolution of AKI were similar in both groups. Plasma-Lyte-A was similar to 0.9% Saline in time to resolution of DKA, need for renal replacement therapy, mortality, and lengths of pediatric intensive care unit and hospital stay
Huang et al. (10)	223	Children presenting with T1D or T2D and DKA between 2000 and 2017	Identify the prevalence of AKI and associations between AKI severity and recovery time from metabolic acidosis	170/223 (56.5%) patients with DKA presented with AKI. Approximately 80% of children with DKA recovered from metabolic acidosis on the first day, regardless of AKI severity
De Zan et al. (31)	811	Children admitted to the pediatric intensive care unit at a single center from 2014 to 2016	Assess the incidence rate of AKI, identify risk factors, and evaluate clinical outcomes	222/811 (27%) patients developed AKI. The most common intensive care admission diagnosis in AKI cases was heart disease (38.6%). Hypoxic ischemia was the most frequent cause of AKI. Risk factors for AKI were multifactorial and were mainly associated with illness severity

AKI, acute kidney injury; CKD, chronic kidney disease; DKA, diabetic ketoacidosis; DKD, diabetic kidney disease; T1D, type 1 diabetes; T2D, type 2 diabetes.

IGFBP7 and TIMP-2 are cell-cycle arrest proteins expressed in higher concentrations from the renal tubular cells during cellular stress (50). Evaluations of the urinary excretion of TIMP-2 and IGFBP7 have been proven useful in the detection of AKI and the urinary concentration of the product of TIMP-2 and IGFBP7 [(TIMP-2) × (IGFBP7)] was the first urinary AKI biomarker approved by the United States Food and Drug Administration (51). Notably, this biomarker combination has also been validated in post-operative youth following cardiopulmonary bypass, demonstrating accuracy in predicting AKI 6 h after major surgery as well (38).

Other novel biomarkers are currently being investigated for the diagnosis and prognostic stratification of AKI in youth, including microRNAs, urinary low-molecular-weight proteins, and urinary tubular enzymes (37). The validation of these emerging biomarkers in large epidemiological studies is still necessary, but the biomarkers previously discussed hold significant clinical promise as supplements to our current tools for the identification of AKI in youth, namely serum creatinine concentration and UO.

# Pathophysiologic Mechanisms of AKI in Youth With Diabetes

The pathophysiologic mechanisms leading to diabetes-induced kidney injury are complex and oftentimes multifactorial (**Figure 1**). Structural and functional changes in the endothelial cells of the vasculature and the epithelial cells of the kidney tubules have been postulated to promote the production of cytokines and chemokines, which induce inflammation, ischemic tubular epithelial and endothelial injury, and isolated proximal tubulopathy (19, 52, 53).

Risk factors for the development of AKI in children and adolescents with diabetes are numerous and include, but are not limited to, episodes of DKA as well as the presence of acute and chronic hyperglycemia. DKA is a severe risk factor for the development of AKI, particularly in youth with T1D, and



is characterized by a combination of hyperglycemia, metabolic acidosis, and the production of ketone bodies (54, 55). DKA is currently the leading cause of hospitalization, morbidity, and mortality in youth with T1D (14, 56, 57) and in a study by Hursh et al. up to 64% of youth with T1D hospitalized for DKA developed AKI (14). This percentage increased to 85% if the individual required admission to the Intensive Care Unit (14). Severe hyperglycemia associated with DKA leads to osmotic diuresis, dehydration, and significant pre-renal AKI (54, 55).

Additionally, DKA has also been associated with early tubulopathy that may be caused by dysregulation of uric acid and vasopressin (58–62). Indeed, a recent study by Burckhardt et al. found that copeptin, a surrogate marker for vasopressin, was elevated in children with DKA (63). Elevated copeptin concentrations have also been associated with markers of tubular injury and an increased risk for the development of DKD (62, 64). We have previously demonstrated that adults with T1D and DKD had higher concentrations of copeptin compared to both healthy controls and adults with T1D without DKD (65). Furthermore, elevations in copeptin are more strongly

correlated with intrarenal renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system (RAAS) activation in individuals with T1D compared to healthy controls (65). We have also demonstrated in a study of 169 adolescents with T1D that adolescents with T1D in the highest tertile of copeptin concentration had a significantly higher urinary albumin-to-creatinine ratio compared to those in the lowest tertile (66). Furthermore, several studies have shown that chronically elevated vasopressin can exacerbate kidney injury in animal models (67, 68).

Thus, we hypothesize that vasopressin dysregulation may increase the risk of AKI during an episode of DKA and may subsequently accentuate the risk for future DKD. Activation of the intrarenal RAAS has been shown to impact regulation of renal vascular tone and children and adolescents with T1D and T2D have demonstrated greater resistance indexes when compared to their healthy peers without diabetes (69–71). Additionally, nitric oxide (NO), endothelin-1 (ET-1), vasopressin, and vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) have also been shown to be impaired as regulators of kidney vascular tone in individuals with diabetes (58, 65, 72–74).

Dysregulation of kidney vascular endothelial tone secondary to poor glycemic control is thought to be primarily responsible for the development of glomerular hyperfiltration, a common early finding in young persons with diabetes (75, 76). Persistent glomerular hyperfiltration leads to the development of intraglomerular hypertension and subsequent glomerulosclerosis which results in a progressive impairment in kidney function and eventual DKD (75, 76). A dysregulation in baseline kidney vascular tone may accelerate the damage due to AKI, particularly in the setting of pre-renal AKI where the body relies on changes in kidney vascular resistance to maintain blood pressure (18, 19). Kidney hypoperfusion secondary to dehydration or shock also can be significantly worsened by the absence of an appropriate counterregulatory vascular response to maintain kidney blood flow (75, 76). Consequently, the incidence of AKI in the setting of sepsis has been found to be significantly higher in people with diabetes compared to people without diabetes (4, 77).

Hyperuricemia may also contribute to the development of diabetes-related acute and chronic kidney disease (60). High uric acid concentrations have been shown to induce both a crystal-mediated and crystal-independent nephropathy, with the additional development of tubulointerstitial fibrosis, proximal tubulopathy, and glomerular hypertension (61, 78). Elevations in serum uric acid concentrations have also been associated with the development of AKI and medications that lower serum uric acid concentrations have demonstrated a potential to reduce the incidence of AKI (79-82). However, it is important to note that elevated uric acid concentrations may be due to dehydration that may directly induce kidney injury. We have previously demonstrated that youth with T1D and hyperfiltration had a higher urinary fractional uric acid excretion compared to both healthy controls and peers with T1D who have normofiltration (81). Additionally, overweight and obese youth with T1D demonstrated a stronger negative correlation between serum uric acid concentrations and eGFR when compared to their normal weight peers with T1D (83). Thus, high serum uric acid concentrations exhibit a clear association with AKI. Additionally, not only do young persons with diabetes have higher baseline concentrations of serum uric acid, they also demonstrate a stronger association between elevations in uric acid concentration and impaired kidney function.

Another pathophysiologic pathway that has been shown to greatly contribute to the development of diabetes-induced AKI is the presence of persistent hyperglycemia, a hallmark of diabetes. The degree of persistent hyperglycemia has been shown to correlate with longer durations of stay in the intensive care unit as well as an increased risk for the development of AKI which can eventually lead to both CKD and ESKD (4, 12, 78). Notably, laboratory studies have demonstrated endothelial cell apoptosis, interstitial vascular rarefaction, mitochondrial dysfunction, proximal tubular cell inflammation, profibrogenic cytokine secretion, and podocyte apoptosis and autophagy in response to hyperglycemia (4).

Among the glomerular endothelial cells, hyperglycemia also induces cellular apoptosis via the Nuclear Factor- $\kappa$ B (NF- $\kappa$ B) and c-Jun NH2-terminal kinase (JNK) pathways (84, 85) and causes interstitial vascular rarefaction which leads to kidney

hypoxic injury and can compromise the generation of necessary ATP (86). Overproduction of reactive oxygen species (ROS) has also been shown to induce endothelial cell damage and reduce the amount of nitric oxide available to modulate vascular tone, thereby contributing to dysregulation of sympathetic tone and sodium homeostasis in the kidneys (87).

Mitochondrial dysfunction has also been identified in the proximal tubules of individuals with diabetes during states of kidney hypoxia, further delaying future recovery from kidney injury (88). Furthermore, in diabetic rat models, the enzyme Myo-inositol oxygenase (MIOX) is upregulated in the setting of mitochondrial dysfunction, thereby inducing ROS production, cellular apoptosis, and eventually, DKD (89). MIOX is modulated by specificity protein-1 (Sp-1), a transcription factor which could serve as a potential site for the development of interventions targeting the progression of DKD as inhibition of Sp-1 has been shown to reduce ROS production (90).

Inflammatory cytokines in the proximal tubule have also been shown to play a significant role in the progression of AKI to diabetes-related CKD. Tissue necrosis factor (TNF)- $\alpha$ , interleukin (IL)-1, and IL-6 have been reported to be upregulated in the setting of diabetes-related CKD and are known to stimulate an inflammatory cascade that contributes to the progression of CKD (91-94). Hyperglycemia has also been shown to induce the expression of adhesion molecules and chemokines in proximal tubular cells that result in inflammation, fibrosis, and kidney injury (95, 96). Additionally, a maladaptive compensatory response for this hyperglycemia-induced inflammatory cascade in the proximal tubule leads to a profibrogenic cytokine secretion and subsequent fibrosis that plays a significant role in the transition of AKI to CKD (97). It has been demonstrated that proximal tubular cells cultured in hyperglycemic media secrete transforming growth factor beta (TGF-β)-dependent extracellular matrix (98, 99) and activation of this pathway, which plays a central role in mediating kidney fibrosis, has been shown to be significantly upregulated in both diabetic rat models and biopsies from humans with diabetes (100). Hyperglycemia has also induced podocyte apoptosis in murine models of diabetes and in adults with T2D, leading to kidney injury and future diabetes-related CKD. Podocyte apoptosis in the setting of hyperglycemia occurs through mechanisms that include, but are not limited to, increased ROS, RAAS activation, and upregulation of the mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) pathway (4, 101-105). However, unlike hyperglycemiainduced injury to the proximal tubule cells of the kidney, podocyte apoptosis in DKD is likely irreversible and leads to permanent damage (106).

# Risk of AKI in the Pediatric Population With Diabetes

Risk factors for AKI are numerous and include concurrent hospitalizations and comorbid conditions such as hypertension and diabetes. Diabetes is an important risk factor for AKI as it has been shown to independently associate with longer hospitalizations, increased severity of concomitant infections, and future development of CKD (5, 107–112). Indeed, there is a strong association between AKI, CKD, and ESKD (4, 6, 113– 115), as it has been demonstrated that both single and repetitive episodes of AKI significantly increase the risk for developing CKD in youth and adults with diabetes (5–9). Additionally, the incidence of AKI is further compounded by factors including surgical interventions (116–120), aminoglycoside usage (121), and sepsis (4, 77), and this occurs to a greater degree in individuals with vs. without diabetes. Yet, while AKI and CKD remain strongly interconnected, as evidenced by a robust body of literature detailing the transition from AKI to CKD, the effects of AKI on CKD are less clear, thus resulting in a disproportionate focus on CKD vs. AKI in diabetes research (4, 13, 34).

# THERAPEUTIC STRATEGIES AND IMPLICATIONS

To date, there is no universal effective therapy for AKI. As AKI is the result of different pathophysiologic mechanisms, the treatment consists of addressing the underlying causes (e.g., dehydration), correcting the hydro-electrolyte imbalances, withdrawing potential nephrotoxins, starting diuretics, and, when needed, renal replacement therapy (122). As previously mentioned, children with diabetes and DKD have a higher risk of developing AKI. In this paragraph we will discuss how DKD therapeutic strategies may impact the risk of AKI in youth with diabetes.

RAAS inhibitors, in addition to strategies that target euglycemia and minimize cardiovascular risk factors, remain the cornerstone of our existing treatment methods for DKD and has shown to attenuate proteinuria (123-125). In the SEARCH for Diabetes in Youth (SEARCH) study, youth with T2D were found to have significantly higher urinary albumin-tocreatinine ratios than youth with T1D (126), and this difference remained significant after multivariable adjustment for obesity, hypertension, and dyslipidemia, all known risk factors for DKD that are more prevalent in youth with T2D vs. T1D (126). Consequently, due to known differences in risk for the development of DKD, treatment of youth with T2D with RAAS inhibitors may be more frequently indicated than treatment of youth with T1D. However, RAAS inhibitors should be withdraw during AKI due to their effects on intrarenal hemodynamic function as well as potential direct nephrotoxic effect, which could magnify the acute kidney insult (123–125).

In addition to glucose-lowering effects, many antiavailable hyperglycemic agents today also showcase significant nephroprotective properties in DKD. To date, antihyperglycemic agents that have demonstrated nephroprotective properties include metformin and thiazolidinediones, as well as newer classes of glycemic-lowering agents including dipeptidyl peptidase-4 (DPP-4) inhibitors, glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1) receptor agonists, and sodium/glucose cotransporter 2 (SGLT2) inhibitors (127-129). Insulin, metformin and GLP-1 receptor agonists are the only medications approved for diabetes treatment in children in the US. Despite being widely used in the of the management of patients with diabetes-related CKD, metformin has been shown to accumulate in the setting

of an impaired eGFR (e.g., 30-60 mL/min/1.73 m<sup>2</sup>), thereby causing toxicity that can lead to impairments in mitochondrial function and possible non-hypoxic type B lactic acidosis (130). Thiazolidinediones, such as pioglitazone, are insulin sensitizing agents that target Peroxisome Proliferators Activated Receptors (PPARs) to regulate gene expression and thereby decrease hepatic gluconeogenesis, increase adiponectin concentrations, and increase insulin-dependent glucose uptake in muscle and fat tissues (131). Studies have previously demonstrated a possible role for PPARs in the protection against AKI (132-134) and a large meta-analysis reported an association between treatment with thiazolidinediones and a significant decrease in urinary albumin excretion (129). Yet, no randomized controlled trials have been completed to thoroughly explore the acute and chronic kidney protective effects of thiazolidinediones (135). Next, some studies have also suggested beneficial nephroprotective effects for both DPP-4 inhibitors and GLP-1 receptor agonists (127, 136). However, a recent Cochrane review was less definitive and concluded that the known effects of DPP-4 inhibitors and GLP-1 receptor agonists on eGFR are uncertain (136). Additionally, SGLT2 inhibitors have been shown to be beneficial in the prevention of AKI in two different randomized, placebocontrolled trials: Empagliflozin Cardiovascular Outcome Event Trial in Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus Patients (EMPA-REG OUTCOME) and Dapagliflozin Effect on Cardiovascular Events-Thrombolysis in Myocardial Infarction 58 (DECLARE-TIMI 58) (137, 138). However, similarly to DPP-4 inhibitors and GLP-1 receptor agonists, a recent Cochrane review found that SGLT2 inhibitors had little to no effect on the risk for AKI (136).

Several ongoing or recently terminated trials have also analyzed the effects of other classes of drugs, particularly those targeting the kidney vasculature and the complex homeostatic mechanisms of vasoconstriction and vasodilation, in the prevention and treatment of DKD (74). Several compounds have shown promise with possible nephroprotective effects against both AKI and CKD; however, many of the human trials are still ongoing and most exclude pediatric participants. In animal models, endothelin receptor antagonists, PPAR agonists, phosphodiesterase inhibitors, and novel mineralocorticoid receptor blockers have demonstrated possible nephroprotective effects against AKI and may represent future therapeutic strategies for the prevention and treatment of AKI and CKD (123, 139-142). In particular, finerenone, a non-steroidal selective mineralocorticoid receptor antagonist, has recently been shown to reduce the risk of CKD progression in adults with T2D in the Efficacy and Safety of Finerenone in Subjects with Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus and Diabetic Kidney Disease (FIDELIO-DKD) study (143). Notably, finerenone was also able to prevent the transition from AKI to CKD in animal models and could represent an early therapeutic intervention for individuals demonstrating AKI to prevent long term complications (144).

In summary, in addition to known anti-hyperglycemic effects, many glucose-lowering agents have also demonstrated evidence of nephroprotection against both diabetes-associated AKI and CKD, two comorbidities that significantly increase the risk of morbidity and mortality in youth with diabetes. Additionally, newer classes of drugs that target intrarenal hemodynamic dysfunction in children and adolescents with diabetes are a promising new avenue for the treatment of both AKI and CKD. Consequently, well-designed pediatric trials are warranted to address the steadily increasing burden of AKI in children and adolescents with diabetes and subsequently prevent the development and progression of chronic DKD.

#### **COVID-19 IMPACT**

Epidemiologic studies have demonstrated evidence of AKI in more than 35% of adults who are hospitalized for the novel coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) (145, 146). The prevalence of diabetes in patients with COVID-19 varies from 5 to 58% (147), yet patients with diabetes are far more likely to develop severe COVID-19 and consequent AKI than their counterparts without diabetes, with a prevalence of critical disease varying from 14 to 32% in adults with diabetes and COVID-19 (147). Acute proximal tubular damage, collapsing glomerulopathy, and podocyte injury have been found to be pathologic hallmarks of kidney injury in adults with confirmed COVID-19 (148–150).

In contrast, AKI in youth with COVID-19 has mostly been described as a consequence of dehydration secondary to gastrointestinal side effects (151, 152). One possible explanation that has been proposed is the presence of immature angiotensin converting enzyme 2 (ACE2) receptors in children and adolescents (151). ACE2 receptors are expressed in both

#### REFERENCES

- 1. Afkarian M. Diabetic kidney disease in children and adolescents. *Pediatr Nephrol.* (2015) 30:65–74; quiz 70–1. doi: 10.1007/s00467-014-2796-5
- Pulgaron ER, Delamater AM. Obesity and type 2 diabetes in children: epidemiology and treatment. *Curr Diab Rep.* (2014) 14:508. doi: 10.1007/s11892-014-0508-y
- Alicic RZ, Rooney MT, Tuttle KR. Diabetic kidney disease: challenges, progress, and possibilities. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol.* (2017) 12:2032– 45. doi: 10.2215/CJN.11491116
- Yu SM, Bonventre JV. Acute kidney injury and progression of diabetic kidney disease. Adv Chronic Kidney Dis. (2018) 25:166–80. doi: 10.1053/j.ackd.2017.12.005
- Thakar CV, Christianson A, Himmelfarb J, Leonard AC. Acute kidney injury episodes and chronic kidney disease risk in diabetes mellitus. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol.* (2011) 6:2567–72. doi: 10.2215/CJN.01120211
- Ishani A, Nelson D, Clothier B, Schult T, Nugent S, Greer N, et al. The magnitude of acute serum creatinine increase after cardiac surgery and the risk of chronic kidney disease, progression of kidney disease, and death. *Arch Intern Med.* (2011) 171:226–33. doi: 10.1001/archinternmed.2010.514
- Garg AX, Suri RS, Barrowman N, Rehman F, Matsell D, Rosas-Arellano MP, et al. Long-term renal prognosis of diarrhea-associated hemolytic uremic syndrome: a systematic review, meta-analysis, and meta-regression. *JAMA*. (2003) 290:1360–70. doi: 10.1001/jama.290.10.1360
- Askenazi DJ, Feig DI, Graham NM, Hui-Stickle S, Goldstein SL. 3-5 year longitudinal follow-up of pediatric patients after acute renal failure. *Kidney Int*. (2006) 69:184–9. doi: 10.1038/sj.ki.5000032
- Mammen C, Al Abbas A, Skippen P, Nadel H, Levine D, Collet JP, et al. Longterm risk of CKD in children surviving episodes of acute kidney injury in the intensive care unit: a prospective cohort study. *Am J Kidney Dis.* (2012) 59:523–30. doi: 10.1053/j.ajkd.2011.10.048
- 10. Huang SK, Huang CY, Lin CH, Cheng BW, Chiang YT, Lee YC, et al. Acute kidney injury is a common complication in children and

the proximal tubular cells and podocytes and thus may be a site of cytokine-mediated effects as a result of a heightened immune system response in the setting of an active COVID-19 infection (149, 153). However, COVID-19induced effects on the ACE2 receptor may not fully describe the AKI seen in children and adolescents with COVID-19 as other factors including the presence of a cytokine storm and/or a pro-coagulative state have also been shown to be independently associated with AKI in the setting of COVID-19 (145, 151). This finding has been corroborated by evidence of a close temporal relationship between the development of AKI and impending respiratory failure in patients with COVID-19 (145).

Thus, while AKI remains a somewhat rare complication of COVID-19 infection in pediatrics, it is notable that a concurrent diagnosis of diabetes increases the risk of associated kidney injury. Methods to assist with rapid diagnosis and treatment of AKI in youth, particularly in those with diabetes, could prevent further AKI progression and help mitigate the risk of future CKD development.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

FP, TR, and PB contributed to the conception and design of the review paper. All authors contributed to the manuscript revision, read, and approved the submitted version.

adolescents hospitalized for diabetic ketoacidosis. *PLoS ONE.* (2020) 15:e0239160. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0239160

- Vallon V. Do tubular changes in the diabetic kidney affect the susceptibility to acute kidney injury? *Nephron Clin Pract.* (2014) 127:133-8. doi: 10.1159/000363554
- Gordillo R, Ahluwalia T, Woroniecki R. Hyperglycemia and acute kidney injury in critically ill children. Int J Nephrol Renovasc Dis. (2016) 9:201– 4. doi: 10.2147/IJNRD.S115096
- Sutherland SM, Ji J, Sheikhi FH, Widen E, Tian L, Alexander SR, et al. AKI in hospitalized children: epidemiology and clinical associations in a national cohort. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol.* (2013) 8:1661–9. doi: 10.2215/CJN.00270113
- Hursh BE, Ronsley R, Islam N, Mammen C, Panagiotopoulos C. Acute kidney injury in children with type 1 diabetes hospitalized for diabetic ketoacidosis. *JAMA Pediatr.* (2017) 171:e170020. doi: 10.1001/jamapediatrics.2017.0020
- Ricci Z, Romagnoli S. Acute kidney injury: diagnosis and classification in adults and children. *Contrib Nephrol.* (2018) 193:1–12. doi: 10.1159/000484956
- Hasegawa K, Wakino S, Simic P, Sakamaki Y, Minakuchi H, Fujimura K, et al. Renal tubular Sirt1 attenuates diabetic albuminuria by epigenetically suppressing Claudin-1 overexpression in podocytes. *Nat Med.* (2013) 19:1496–504. doi: 10.1038/nm.3363
- Koza Y. Acute kidney injury: current concepts and new insights. J Inj Violence Res. (2016) 8:58–62. doi: 10.5249/jivr.v8i1.610
- Makris K, Spanou L. Acute kidney injury: definition, pathophysiology and clinical phenotypes. *Clin Biochem Rev.* (2016) 37:85–98.
- Basile DP, Anderson MD, Sutton TA. Pathophysiology of acute kidney injury. Compr Physiol. (2012) 2:1303–53. doi: 10.1002/cphy.c110041
- 20. Schrier RW. ARF, AKI, or ATN? Nat Rev Nephrol. (2010) 6:125. doi: 10.1038/nrneph.2010.1
- Devarajan P. Update on mechanisms of ischemic acute kidney injury. J Am Soc Nephrol. (2006) 17:1503–20. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2006 010017

- Kaddourah A, Basu RK, Bagshaw SM, Goldstein SL. Epidemiology of acute kidney injury in critically ill children and young adults. *N Engl J Med.* (2017) 376:11–20. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1611391
- Baalaaji M, Jayashree M, Nallasamy K, Singhi S, Bansal A. Predictors and outcome of acute kidney injury in children with diabetic ketoacidosis. *Indian Pediatr.* (2018) 55:311–4. doi: 10.1007/s13312-018-1274-8
- Ho C, Wong C, Randell T. G575(P) acute kidney injury and diabetic ketoacidosis; intravenous fluids or ph the culprit? *Arch Dis Childh.* (2019) 104 (Suppl. 2):A232. doi: 10.1136/archdischild-2019-rcpch.556
- Charlton JR, Boohaker L, Askenazi D, Brophy PD, D'Angio C, Fuloria M, et al. Incidence and risk factors of early onset neonatal AKI. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol.* (2019) 14:184–95. doi: 10.2215/CJN.03670318
- 26. Myers SR, Glaser NS, Trainor JL, Nigrovic LE, Garro A, Tzimenatos L, et al. Frequency and risk factors of acute kidney injury during diabetic ketoacidosis in children and association with neurocognitive outcomes. JAMA Netw Open. (2020) 3:e2025481. doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.25481
- Hapca S, Siddiqui MK, Kwan RSY, Lim M, Matthew S, Doney ASF, et al. The relationship between AKI and CKD in patients with type 2 diabetes: an observational cohort study. J Am Soc Nephrol. (2020) 32:138– 50. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2020030323
- Yang EM, Lee HG, Oh KY, Kim CJ. Acute kidney injury in pediatric diabetic ketoacidosis. *Indian J Pediatr.* (2020) 88:568–73. doi: 10.1007/s12098-020-03549-9
- DePiero A, Kuppermann N, Brown KM, Schunk JE, McManemy JK, Rewers A, et al. Hypertension during diabetic ketoacidosis in children. J Pediatr. (2020) 223:156–63.e5. doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2020.04.066
- Williams V, Jayashree M, Nallasamy K, Dayal D, Rawat A. 0.9% saline versus plasma-lyte as initial fluid in children with diabetic ketoacidosis (SPinK trial): a double-blind randomized controlled trial. *Crit Care*. (2020) 24:1. doi: 10.1186/s13054-019-2683-3
- De Zan F, Amigoni A, Pozzato R, Pettenazzo A, Murer L, Vidal E. Acute kidney injury in critically ill children: a retrospective analysis of risk factors. *Blood Purif.* (2020) 49:1–7. doi: 10.1159/000502081
- Rahman M, Shad F, Smith MC. Acute kidney injury: a guide to diagnosis and management. *Am Fam Physician*. (2012) 86:631–9. Available online at: https://www.aafp.org/afp/2012/1001/p631.html
- Khwaja A. KDIGO clinical practice guidelines for acute kidney injury. Nephron Clin Pract. (2012) 120:c179–84. doi: 10.1159/000339789
- Makris K, Spanou L. Acute kidney injury: diagnostic approaches and controversies. *Clin Biochem Rev.* (2016) 37:153–75.
- Marenzi G, Cosentino N, Bartorelli AL. Acute kidney injury in patients with acute coronary syndromes. *Heart.* (2015) 101:1778–85. doi: 10.1136/heartjnl-2015-307773
- Aggarwal N, Porter AC, Tang IY, Becker BN, Akkina SK. Creatininebased estimations of kidney function are unreliable in obese kidney donors. *J Transplant*. (2012) 2012:872894. doi: 10.1155/2012/872894
- 37. Rizvi MS, Kashani KB. Biomarkers for early detection of acute kidney injury. *J Appl Lab Med.* (2019) 2:386–99. doi: 10.1373/jalm.2017.023325
- Sandokji I, Greenberg JH. Novel biomarkers of acute kidney injury in children: an update on recent findings. *Curr Opin Pediatr.* (2020) 32:354– 9. doi: 10.1097/MOP.00000000000891
- Kjeldsen L, Johnsen AH, Sengeløv H, Borregaard N. Isolation and primary structure of NGAL, a novel protein associated with human neutrophil gelatinase. J Biol Chem. (1993) 268:10425– 32. doi: 10.1016/S0021-9258(18)82217-7
- Cowland JB, Borregaard N. Molecular characterization and pattern of tissue expression of the gene for neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin from humans. *Genomics*. (1997) 45:17–23. doi: 10.1006/geno.1997.4896
- Sanjeevani S, Pruthi S, Kalra S, Goel A, Kalra OP. Role of neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin for early detection of acute kidney injury. *Int J Crit Illn Inj Sci.* (2014) 4:223–8. doi: 10.4103/2229-5151.141420
- 42. Tang XY, Zhou JB, Luo FQ, Han YP, Zhao W, Diao ZL, et al. Urine NGAL as an early biomarker for diabetic kidney disease: accumulated evidence from observational studies. *Ren Fail.* (2019) 41:446–54. doi: 10.1080/0886022X.2019.1617736
- 43. Ichimura T, Bonventre JV, Bailly V, Wei H, Hession CA, Cate RL, et al. Kidney injury molecule-1 (KIM-1), a putative epithelial cell

adhesion molecule containing a novel immunoglobulin domain, is upregulated in renal cells after injury. *J Biol Chem.* (1998) 273:4135-42. doi: 10.1074/jbc.273.7.4135

- Han WK, Bailly V, Abichandani R, Thadhani R, Bonventre JV. Kidney injury molecule-1 (KIM-1): a novel biomarker for human renal proximal tubule injury. *Kidney Int.* (2002) 62:237–44. doi: 10.1046/j.1523-1755.2002.00433.x
- Assadi F, Sharbaf FG. Urine KIM-1 as a potential biomarker of acute renal injury after circulatory collapse in children. *Pediatr Emerg Care.* (2019) 35:104–7. doi: 10.1097/PEC.00000000000886
- 46. Shao X, Tian L, Xu W, Zhang Z, Wang C, Qi C, et al. Diagnostic value of urinary kidney injury molecule 1 for acute kidney injury: a meta-analysis. *PLoS ONE*. (2014) 9:e84131. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0084131
- Ucakturk A, Avci B, Genc G, Ozkaya O, Aydin M. Kidney injury molecule-1 and neutrophil gelatinase associated lipocalin in normoalbuminuric diabetic children. J Pediatr Endocrinol Metab. (2016) 29:145–51. doi: 10.1515/jpem-2015-0138
- Wang G, Bonkovsky HL, de Lemos A, Burczynski FJ. Recent insights into the biological functions of liver fatty acid binding protein 1. *J Lipid Res.* (2015) 56:2238–47. doi: 10.1194/jlr.R056705
- 49. Shi J, Zhang Y, Gu W, Cui B, Xu M, Yan Q, et al. Serum liver fatty acid binding protein levels correlate positively with obesity and insulin resistance in Chinese young adults. *PLoS ONE.* (2012) 7:e48777. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0048777
- Vijayan A, Faubel S, Askenazi DJ, Cerda J, Fissell WH, Heung M, et al. Clinical use of the urine biomarker [TIMP-2] × [IGFBP7] for acute kidney injury risk assessment. *Am J Kidney Dis.* (2016) 68:19– 28. doi: 10.1053/j.ajkd.2015.12.033
- Guzzi LM, Bergler T, Binnall B, Engelman DT, Forni L, Germain MJ, et al. Clinical use of [TIMP-2]•[IGFBP7] biomarker testing to assess risk of acute kidney injury in critical care: guidance from an expert panel. *Crit Care.* (2019) 23:225. doi: 10.1186/s13054-019-2504-8
- Bonventre JV, Zuk A. Ischemic acute renal failure: an inflammatory disease? *Kidney Int.* (2004) 66:480–5. doi: 10.1111/j.1523-1755.2004.761\_2.x
- Friedewald JJ, Rabb H. Inflammatory cells in ischemic acute renal failure. *Kidney Int.* (2004) 66:486–91. doi: 10.1111/j.1523-1755.2004. 761\_3.x
- Castellanos L, Tuffaha M, Koren D, Levitsky LL. Management of diabetic ketoacidosis in children and adolescents with type 1 diabetes mellitus. *Paediatr Drugs*. (2020) 22:357–67. doi: 10.1007/s40272-020-00397-0
- Gilbert RE. Proximal tubulopathy: prime mover and key therapeutic target in diabetic kidney disease. *Diabetes*. (2017) 66:791–800. doi: 10.2337/db16-0796
- Realsen J, Goettle H, Chase HP. Morbidity and mortality of diabetic ketoacidosis with and without insulin pump care. *Diabetes Technol Ther*. (2012) 14:1149–54. doi: 10.1089/dia.2012.0161
- Razavi Z. Frequency of ketoacidosis in newly diagnosed type 1 diabetic children. Oman Med J. (2010) 25:114–7. doi: 10.5001/omj.2010.31
- Roussel R, Velho G, Bankir L. Vasopressin and diabetic nephropathy. *Curr Opin Nephrol Hypertens*. (2017) 26:311– 8. doi: 10.1097/MNH.00000000000335
- Bjornstad P, Cherney D, Maahs DM. Early diabetic nephropathy in type 1 diabetes: new insights. *Curr Opin Endocrinol Diabetes Obes*. (2014) 21:279– 86. doi: 10.1097/MED.00000000000074
- Bjornstad P, Lanaspa MA, Ishimoto T, Kosugi T, Kume S, Jalal D, et al. Fructose and uric acid in diabetic nephropathy. *Diabetologia*. (2015) 58:1993–2002. doi: 10.1007/s00125-015-3650-4
- Verzola D, Ratto E, Villaggio B, Parodi EL, Pontremoli R, Garibotto G, et al. Uric acid promotes apoptosis in human proximal tubule cells by oxidative stress and the activation of NADPH oxidase NOX 4. *PLoS ONE*. (2014) 9:e115210. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0115210
- Bjornstad P, Maahs DM, Jensen T, Lanaspa MA, Johnson RJ, Rewers M, et al. Elevated copeptin is associated with atherosclerosis and diabetic kidney disease in adults with type 1 diabetes. J Diabetes Complications. (2016) 30:1093–6. doi: 10.1016/j.jdiacomp.2016.04.012
- Burckhardt MA, Gotta V, Beglinger S, Renggli L, Bachmann S, Hess M, et al. Copeptin kinetics and its relationship to osmolality during rehydration for diabetic ketoacidosis in children. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. (2020) 105:dgaa568. doi: 10.1210/clinem/dgaa568

- 64. Velho G, El Boustany R, Lefèvre G, Mohammedi K, Fumeron F, Potier L, et al. Plasma copeptin, kidney outcomes, ischemic heart disease, and allcause mortality in people with long-standing type 1 diabetes. *Diabetes Care.* (2016) 39:2288–95. doi: 10.2337/dc16-1003
- 65. Piani F, Reinicke T, Lytvyn Y, Melena I, Lovblom LE, Lai V, et al. Vasopressin associated with renal vascular resistance in adults with longstanding type 1 diabetes with and without diabetic kidney disease. *J Diabetes Complications*. (2020) 35:107807. doi: 10.1016/j.jdiacomp.2020.107807
- Wiromrat P, Bjornstad P, Vinovskis C, Chung LT, Roncal C, Pyle L, et al. Elevated copeptin, arterial stiffness, and elevated albumin excretion in adolescents with type 1 diabetes. *Pediatr Diabetes*. (2019) 20:1110– 7. doi: 10.1111/pedi.12909
- Roncal-Jimenez CA, Milagres T, Andres-Hernando A, Kuwabara M, Jensen T, Song Z, et al. Effects of exogenous desmopressin on a model of heat stress nephropathy in mice. *Am J Physiol Renal Physiol.* (2017) 312:F418–26. doi: 10.1152/ajprenal.00495.2016
- El Boustany R, Taveau C, Chollet C, Velho G, Bankir L, Alhenc-Gelas F, et al. Antagonism of vasopressin V2 receptor improves albuminuria at the early stage of diabetic nephropathy in a mouse model of type 2 diabetes. J Diabetes Complications. (2017) 31:929–32. doi: 10.1016/j.jdiacomp.2017.04.005
- Abd El Ghaffar S, El Kaffas K, Hegazy R, Mostafa M. Renal doppler indices in diabetic children with insulin resistance syndrome. *Pediatr Diabetes*. (2010) 11:479–86. doi: 10.1111/j.1399-5448.2009.00628.x
- Raes A, Matthys D, Donckerwolcke R, Craen M, Van Aken S, Vande Walle J. Renal functional changes in relation to hemodynamic parameters during exercise test in normoalbuminuric insulin-dependent children. *Acta Paediatr.* (2007) 96:548–51. doi: 10.1111/j.1651-2227.2006.00157.x
- Youssef DM, Fawzy FM. Value of renal resistive index as an early marker of diabetic nephropathy in children with type-1 diabetes mellitus. Saudi J Kidney Dis Transpl. (2012) 23:985–92. doi: 10.4103/1319-2442.100880
- Anguiano L, Riera M, Pascual J, Soler MJ. Endothelin blockade in diabetic kidney disease. J Clin Med. (2015) 4:1171–92. doi: 10.3390/jcm4061171
- Fu J, Lee K, Chuang PY, Liu Z, He JC. Glomerular endothelial cell injury and cross talk in diabetic kidney disease. *Am J Physiol Renal Physiol.* (2015) 308:F287–97. doi: 10.1152/ajprenal.00533.2014
- Leung WK, Gao L, Siu PM, Lai CW. Diabetic nephropathy and endothelial dysfunction: current and future therapies, and emerging of vascular imaging for preclinical renal-kinetic study. *Life Sci.* (2016) 166:121– 30. doi: 10.1016/j.lfs.2016.10.015
- Bjornstad P, Cherney DZ. Renal hyperfiltration in adolescents with type 2 diabetes: physiology, sex differences, and implications for diabetic kidney disease. *Curr Diab Rep.* (2018) 18:22. doi: 10.1007/s11892-018-0996-2
- Premaratne E, Verma S, Ekinci EI, Theverkalam G, Jerums G, MacIsaac RJ. The impact of hyperfiltration on the diabetic kidney. *Diabetes Metab.* (2015) 41:5–17. doi: 10.1016/j.diabet.2014.10.003
- 77. Venot M, Weis L, Clec'h C, Darmon M, Allaouchiche B, Goldgran-Tolédano D, et al. Acute kidney injury in severe sepsis and septic shock in patients with and without diabetes mellitus: a multicenter study. *PLoS ONE.* (2015) 10:e0127411. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0127411
- 78. Piani F, Johnson RJ. Does gouty nephropathy exist, and is it more common than we think? *Kidney Int.* (2021) 99:31–3. doi: 10.1016/j.kint.2020.10.015
- Ejaz AA, Johnson RJ, Shimada M, Mohandas R, Alquadan KF, Beaver TM, et al. The role of uric acid in acute kidney injury. *Nephron.* (2019) 142:275–83. doi: 10.1159/000499939
- Fathallah-Shaykh SA, Cramer MT. Uric acid and the kidney. *Pediatr Nephrol.* (2014) 29:999–1008. doi: 10.1007/s00467-013-2549-x
- Bjornstad P, Roncal C, Milagres T, Pyle L, Lanaspa MA, Bishop FK, et al. Hyperfiltration and uricosuria in adolescents with type 1 diabetes. *Pediatr Nephrol.* (2016) 31:787–93. doi: 10.1007/s00467-015-3299-8
- Lytvyn Y, Bjornstad P, Lovshin JA, Singh SK, Boulet G, Farooqi MA, et al. Association between uric acid, renal haemodynamics and arterial stiffness over the natural history of type 1 diabetes. *Diabetes Obes Metab.* (2019) 21:1388–98. doi: 10.1111/dom.13665
- Santucci MP, Muzzio ML, Peredo MS, Brovarone L, Scricciolo R, Diez C, et al. Different alterations of glomerular filtration rate and their association with uric acid in children and adolescents with type 1 diabetes or with overweight/obesity. *Pediatr Diabetes.* (2020) 21:657–63. doi: 10.1111/pedi.13008

- Ho FM, Liu SH, Liau CS, Huang PJ, Lin-Shiau SY. High glucose-induced apoptosis in human endothelial cells is mediated by sequential activations of c-Jun NH(2)-terminal kinase and caspase-3. *Circulation*. (2000) 101:2618– 24. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.101.22.2618
- 85. Ho FM, Lin WW, Chen BC, Chao CM, Yang CR, Lin LY, et al. High glucose-induced apoptosis in human vascular endothelial cells is mediated through NF-kappaB and c-Jun NH2-terminal kinase pathway and prevented by PI3K/Akt/eNOS pathway. *Cell Signal.* (2006) 18:391– 9. doi: 10.1016/j.cellsig.2005.05.009
- Lindenmeyer MT, Kretzler M, Boucherot A, Berra S, Yasuda Y, Henger A, et al. Interstitial vascular rarefaction and reduced VEGF-A expression in human diabetic nephropathy. J Am Soc Nephrol. (2007) 18:1765– 76. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2006121304
- Han HJ, Lee YJ, Park SH, Lee JH, Taub M. High glucose-induced oxidative stress inhibits Na+/glucose cotransporter activity in renal proximal tubule cells. *Am J Physiol Renal Physiol.* (2005) 288:F988– 96. doi: 10.1152/ajprenal.00327.2004
- Zuk A, Bonventre JV. Acute kidney injury. Annu Rev Med. (2016) 67:293– 307. doi: 10.1146/annurev-med-050214-013407
- Zhan M, Usman IM, Sun L, Kanwar YS. Disruption of renal tubular mitochondrial quality control by Myo-inositol oxygenase in diabetic kidney disease. J Am Soc Nephrol. (2015) 26:1304–21. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2014050457
- Sharma I, Dutta RK, Singh NK, Kanwar YS. High glucose-induced hypomethylation promotes binding of Sp-1 to myo-inositol oxygenase: implication in the pathobiology of diabetic tubulopathy. *Am J Pathol.* (2017) 187:724–39. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2016.12.011
- Navarro JF, Milena FJ, Mora C, León C, García J. Renal pro-inflammatory cytokine gene expression in diabetic nephropathy: effect of angiotensinconverting enzyme inhibition and pentoxifylline administration. *Am J Nephrol.* (2006) 26:562–70. doi: 10.1159/000098004
- Suzuki D, Miyazaki M, Naka R, Koji T, Yagame M, Jinde K, et al. In situ hybridization of interleukin 6 in diabetic nephropathy. *Diabetes*. (1995) 44:1233–8. doi: 10.2337/diabetes.44.10.1233
- Sekizuka K, Tomino Y, Sei C, Kurusu A, Tashiro K, Yamaguchi Y, et al. Detection of serum IL-6 in patients with diabetic nephropathy. *Nephron.* (1994) 68:284–5. doi: 10.1159/000188281
- Navarro-González JF, Mora-Fernández C, Muros de Fuentes M, García-Pérez J. Inflammatory molecules and pathways in the pathogenesis of diabetic nephropathy. *Nat Rev Nephrol.* (2011) 7:327–40. doi: 10.1038/nrneph.2011.51
- 95. Tang SC, Leung JC, Chan LY, Tsang AW, Lai KN. Activation of tubular epithelial cells in diabetic nephropathy and the role of the peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-gamma agonist. J Am Soc Nephrol. (2006) 17:1633–43. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2005101113
- Tang SCW, Leung JCK, Lai KN. Diabetic tubulopathy: an emerging entity. Contrib Nephrol. (2011) 170:124–34. doi: 10.1159/000325647
- Venkatachalam MA, Weinberg JM, Kriz W, Bidani AK. Failed tubule recovery, AKI-CKD transition, and kidney disease progression. J Am Soc Nephrol. (2015) 26:1765–76. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2015010006
- Ziyadeh FN, Snipes ER, Watanabe M, Alvarez RJ, Goldfarb S, Haverty TP. High glucose induces cell hypertrophy and stimulates collagen gene transcription in proximal tubule. *Am J Physiol.* (1990) 259 (4 Pt. 2):F704– 14. doi: 10.1152/ajprenal.1990.259.4.F704
- Rocco MV, Chen Y, Goldfarb S, Ziyadeh FN. Elevated glucose stimulates TGF-beta gene expression and bioactivity in proximal tubule. *Kidney Int.* (1992) 41:107–14. doi: 10.1038/ki.1992.14
- 100. Yamamoto T, Nakamura T, Noble NA, Ruoslahti E, Border WA. Expression of transforming growth factor beta is elevated in human and experimental diabetic nephropathy. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (1993) 90:1814– 8. doi: 10.1073/pnas.90.5.1814
- 101. Anil Kumar P, Welsh GI, Saleem MA, Menon RK. Molecular and cellular events mediating glomerular podocyte dysfunction and depletion in diabetes mellitus. *Front Endocrinol.* (2014) 5:151. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2014.00151
- Chuang PY, Yu Q, Fang W, Uribarri J, He JC. Advanced glycation endproducts induce podocyte apoptosis by activation of the FOXO4 transcription factor. *Kidney Int.* (2007) 72:965–76. doi: 10.1038/sj.ki.5002456
- 103. Zhou LL, Cao W, Xie C, Tian J, Zhou Z, Zhou Q, et al. The receptor of advanced glycation end products plays a central role in advanced oxidation

protein products-induced podocyte apoptosis. *Kidney Int.* (2012) 82:759–70. doi: 10.1038/ki.2012.184

- 104. Verzola D, Gandolfo MT, Ferrario F, Rastaldi MP, Villaggio B, Gianiorio F, et al. Apoptosis in the kidneys of patients with type II diabetic nephropathy. *Kidney Int.* (2007) 72:1262–72. doi: 10.1038/sj.ki.5002531
- 105. Susztak K, Raff AC, Schiffer M, Böttinger EP. Glucose-induced reactive oxygen species cause apoptosis of podocytes and podocyte depletion at the onset of diabetic nephropathy. *Diabetes*. (2006) 55:225–33. doi: 10.2337/diabetes.55.01.06.db05-0894
- 106. Anders HJ. Immune system modulation of kidney regenerationmechanisms and implications. Nat Rev Nephrol. (2014) 10:347– 58. doi: 10.1038/nrneph.2014.68
- 107. Chen J, Zeng H, Ouyang X, Zhu M, Huang Q, Yu W, et al. The incidence, risk factors, and long-term outcomes of acute kidney injury in hospitalized diabetic ketoacidosis patients. *BMC Nephrol.* (2020) 21:48. doi: 10.1186/s12882-020-1709-z
- Jain A, McDonald HI, Nitsch D, Tomlinson L, Thomas SL. Risk factors for developing acute kidney injury in older people with diabetes and community-acquired pneumonia: a population-based UK cohort study. *BMC Nephrol.* (2017) 18:142. doi: 10.1186/s12882-017-0566-x
- Heung M, Chawla LS. Acute kidney injury: gateway to chronic kidney disease. Nephron Clin Pract. (2014) 127:30–4. doi: 10.1159/000363675
- 110. Saran R, Robinson B, Abbott KC, Agodoa LY, Albertus P, Ayanian J, et al. US renal data system 2016 annual data report: epidemiology of kidney disease in the United States. Am J Kidney Dis. (2017) 69 (3 Suppl. 1):A7– 8. doi: 10.1053/j.ajkd.2017.01.036
- Waikar SS, Liu KD, Chertow GM. Diagnosis, epidemiology and outcomes of acute kidney injury. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol.* (2008) 3:844–61. doi: 10.2215/CJN.05191107
- 112. James MT, Grams ME, Woodward M, Elley CR, Green JA, Wheeler DC, et al. A meta-analysis of the association of estimated GFR, albuminuria, diabetes mellitus, and hypertension with acute kidney injury. *Am J Kidney Dis.* (2015) 66:602–12. doi: 10.1053/j.ajkd.2015.02.338
- 113. Southern DA, James MT, Wilton SB, DeKoning L, Quan H, Knudtson ML, et al. Expanding the impact of a longstanding Canadian cardiac registry through data linkage: challenges and opportunities. *Int J Popul Data Sci.* (2018) 3:441. doi: 10.23889/ijpds.v3i3.441
- 114. Chew ST, Ng RR, Liu W, Chow KY, Ti LK. Acute kidney injury increases the risk of end-stage renal disease after cardiac surgery in an Asian population: a prospective cohort study. *BMC Nephrol.* (2017) 18:60. doi: 10.1186/s12882-017-0476-y
- 115. Hsu CY, Chertow GM, McCulloch CE, Fan D, Ordoñez JD, Go AS. Nonrecovery of kidney function and death after acute on chronic renal failure. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol.* (2009) 4:891–8. doi: 10.2215/CJN.05571008
- 116. Mehta RH, Grab JD, O'Brien SM, Bridges CR, Gammie JS, Haan CK, et al. Bedside tool for predicting the risk of postoperative dialysis in patients undergoing cardiac surgery. *Circulation*. (2006) 114:2208–16; quiz 2208. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.106.635573
- 117. Kheterpal S, Tremper KK, Heung M, Rosenberg AL, Englesbe M, Shanks AM, et al. Development and validation of an acute kidney injury risk index for patients undergoing general surgery: results from a national data set. *Anesthesiology*. (2009) 110:505–15. doi: 10.1097/ALN.0b013e3181979440
- 118. Parolari A, Pesce LL, Pacini D, Mazzanti V, Salis S, Sciacovelli C, et al. Risk factors for perioperative acute kidney injury after adult cardiac surgery: role of perioperative management. *Ann Thorac Surg.* (2012) 93:584– 91. doi: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2011.09.073
- 119. Ko B, Garcia S, Mithani S, Tholakanahalli V, Adabag S. Risk of acute kidney injury in patients who undergo coronary angiography and cardiac surgery in close succession. *Eur Heart J.* (2012) 33:2065– 70. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehr493
- 120. Hertzberg D, Sartipy U, Holzmann MJ. Type 1 and type 2 diabetes mellitus and risk of acute kidney injury after coronary artery bypass grafting. *Am Heart J.* (2015) 170:895–902. doi: 10.1016/j.ahj.2015.08.013
- 121. Oliveira JF, Silva CA, Barbieri CD, Oliveira GM, Zanetta DM, Burdmann EA. Prevalence and risk factors for aminoglycoside nephrotoxicity in intensive care units. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*. (2009) 53:2887–91. doi: 10.1128/AAC.01430-08

- 122. Basu RK. Acute kidney injury in hospitalized pediatric patients. *Pediatr Ann.* (2018) 47:e286–91. doi: 10.3928/19382359-20180619-02
- 123. Thomas MC, Brownlee M, Susztak K, Sharma K, Jandeleit-Dahm KA, Zoungas S, et al. Diabetic kidney disease. Nat Rev Dis Primers. (2015) 1:15018. doi: 10.1038/nrdp.2015.70
- National Kidney Foundation. KDOQI clinical practice guideline for diabetes and CKD: 2012 update. Am J Kidney Dis. (2012) 60:850– 86. doi: 10.1053/j.ajkd.2012.07.005
- Perkins BA, Ficociello LH, Silva KH, Finkelstein DM, Warram JH, Krolewski AS. Regression of microalbuminuria in type 1 diabetes. *N Engl J Med.* (2003) 348:2285–93. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa021835
- 126. Maahs DM, Snively BM, Bell RA, Dolan L, Hirsch I, Imperatore G, et al. Higher prevalence of elevated albumin excretion in youth with type 2 than type 1 diabetes: the SEARCH for diabetes in youth study. *Diabetes Care.* (2007) 30:2593–8. doi: 10.2337/dc07-0450
- 127. Schernthaner G, Mogensen CE, Schernthaner GH. The effects of GLP-1 analogues, DPP-4 inhibitors and SGLT2 inhibitors on the renal system. *Diab Vasc Dis Res.* (2014) 11:306–23. doi: 10.1177/1479164114542802
- Ravindran S, Kuruvilla V, Wilbur K, Munusamy S. Nephroprotective effects of metformin in diabetic nephropathy. J Cell Physiol. (2017) 232:731– 42. doi: 10.1002/jcp.25598
- 129. Sarafidis PA, Stafylas PC, Georgianos PI, Saratzis AN, Lasaridis AN. Effect of thiazolidinediones on albuminuria and proteinuria in diabetes: a metaanalysis. Am J Kidney Dis. (2010) 55:835–47. doi: 10.1053/j.ajkd.2009.11.013
- Rhee CM, Kalantar-Zadeh K. Diabetes mellitus: Complex interplay between metformin, AKI and lactic acidosis. *Nat Rev Nephrol.* (2017) 13:521– 2. doi: 10.1038/nrneph.2017.105
- Nanjan MJ, Mohammed M, Prashantha Kumar BR, Chandrasekar MJN. Thiazolidinediones as antidiabetic agents: a critical review. *Bioorg Chem.* (2018) 77:548–67. doi: 10.1016/j.bioorg.2018.02.009
- 132. Iwaki T, Bennion BG, Stenson EK, Lynn JC, Otinga C, Djukovic D, et al. PPARα contributes to protection against metabolic and inflammatory derangements associated with acute kidney injury in experimental sepsis. *Physiol Rep.* (2019) 7:e14078. doi: 10.14814/phy2.14078
- 133. Singh AP, Singh N, Pathak D, Bedi PMS. Estradiol attenuates ischemia reperfusion-induced acute kidney injury through PPARγ stimulated eNOS activation in rats. *Mol Cell Biochem.* (2019) 453:1–9. doi: 10.1007/s11010-018-3427-4
- 134. Kaur T, Singh D, Singh AP, Pathak D, Arora S, Singh B, et al. Stevioside protects against rhabdomyolysis-induced acute kidney injury through PPARγ agonism in rats. *Drug Dev Res.* (2020) doi: 10.1002/ddr.21722
- Sarafidis PA, Bakris GL. Protection of the kidney by thiazolidinediones: an assessment from bench to bedside. *Kidney Int.* (2006) 70:1223– 33. doi: 10.1038/sj.ki.5001620
- 136. Lo C, Toyama T, Wang Y, Lin J, Hirakawa Y, Jun M, et al. Insulin and glucose-lowering agents for treating people with diabetes and chronic kidney disease. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* (2018) 9:CD011798. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD011798.pub2
- 137. Chu C, Lu YP, Yin L, Hocher B. The SGLT2 inhibitor empagliflozin might be a new approach for the prevention of acute kidney injury. *Kidney Blood Press Res.* (2019) 44:149–57. doi: 10.1159/000498963
- 138. Menne J, Dumann E, Haller H, Schmidt BMW. Acute kidney injury and adverse renal events in patients receiving SGLT2inhibitors: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *PLoS Med.* (2019) 16:e1002983. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1002983
- 139. Afyouni NE, Halili H, Moslemi F, Nematbakhsh M, Talebi A, Shirdavani S, et al. Preventive role of endothelin antagonist on kidney ischemia: reperfusion injury in male and female rats. *Int J Prev Med.* (2015) 6:128. doi: 10.4103/2008-7802.172549
- 140. Mohandas R, Dass B, Ejaz AA. Kinetics of vascular endothelial growth factor and endothelin 1 levels in acute kidney injury. Am J Kidney Dis. (2019) 74:712–3. doi: 10.1053/j.ajkd.2019.08.004
- 141. Bates CM, Lin F. Future strategies in the treatment of acute renal failure: growth factors, stem cells, and other novel therapies. *Curr Opin Pediatr.* (2005) 17:215–20. doi: 10.1097/01.mop.0000156269.48510.4e
- 142. Georgiadis G, Zisis IE, Docea AO, Tsarouhas K, Fragkiadoulaki I, Mavridis C, et al. Current concepts on the reno-protective effects of phosphodiesterase

5 inhibitors in acute kidney injury: systematic search and review. *J Clin Med.* (2020) 9:1284. doi: 10.3390/jcm9051284

- 143. Bakris GL, Agarwal R, Anker SD, Pitt B, Ruilope LM, Rossing P, et al. Effect of finerenone on chronic kidney disease outcomes in type 2 diabetes. *N Engl J Med.* (2020) 383:2219–29. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa2025845
- 144. Lattenist L, Lechner SM, Messaoudi S, Le Mercier A, El Moghrabi S, Prince S, et al. Nonsteroidal mineralocorticoid receptor antagonist finerenone protects against acute kidney injury-mediated chronic kidney disease: role of oxidative stress. *Hypertension*. (2017) 69:870–8. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.116.08526
- 145. Hirsch JS, Ng JH, Ross DW, Sharma P, Shah HH, Barnett RL, et al. Acute kidney injury in patients hospitalized with COVID-19. *Kidney Int.* (2020) 98:209–18. doi: 10.1016/j.kint.2020.05.006
- 146. Chan L, Chaudhary K, Saha A, Chauhan K, Vaid A, Zhao S, et al. AKI in hospitalized patients with COVID-19. J Am Soc Nephrol. (2020) 32:151– 60. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2020050615
- 147. Singh AK, Gupta R, Ghosh A, Misra A. Diabetes in COVID-19: prevalence, pathophysiology, prognosis and practical considerations. *Diabetes Metab* Syndr. (2020) 14:303–10. doi: 10.1016/j.dsx.2020.04.004
- Gagliardi I, Patella G, Michael A, Serra R, Provenzano M, Andreucci M. COVID-19 and the kidney: from epidemiology to clinical practice. J Clin Med. (2020) 9:2506. doi: 10.3390/jcm9082506
- 149. Kudose S, Batal I, Santoriello D, Xu K, Barasch J, Peleg Y, et al. Kidney biopsy findings in patients with COVID-19. J Am Soc Nephrol. (2020) 31:1959–68. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2020060802
- 150. Su H, Yang M, Wan C, Yi LX, Tang F, Zhu HY, et al. Renal histopathological analysis of 26 postmortem findings of patients with COVID-19 in China. *Kidney Int.* (2020) 98:219–227. doi: 10.1016/j.kint.2020.04.003
- 151. Wang X, Chen X, Tang F, Luo W, Fang J, Qi C, et al. Be aware of acute kidney injury in critically ill children with COVID-19, *Pediatr Nephrol.* (2021) 36:163–9. doi: 10.1007/s00467-020-04715-z

- 152. Deep A, Bansal M, Ricci Z. Acute kidney injury and special considerations during renal replacement therapy in children with coronavirus disease-19: perspective from the critical care nephrology section of the European society of paediatric and neonatal intensive care. *Blood Purif.* (2020) 50:150– 60. doi: 10.1159/000509677
- 153. Menon R, Otto EA, Sealfon R, Nair V, Wong AK, Theesfeld CL, et al. SARS-CoV-2 receptor networks in diabetic and COVID-19-associated kidney disease. *Kidney Int.* (2020) 98:1502–18. doi: 10.1016/j.kint.2020. 09.015

**Conflict of Interest:** PB has acted as a consultant for AstraZeneca, Bayer, Bristol-Myers Squibb, Boehringer Ingelheim, Sanofi, Novo Nordisk, Lilly USA, and Horizon Pharma. PB serves on the advisory board of AstraZeneca, NovoNordisk, XORTX, and Boehringer Ingelheim. KT receives salary and research support from the NIDDK (5T32DK007135-43), ISPAD-JDRF Research Fellowship, Center for Women's Health Research at the University of Colorado, and the Department of Pediatrics, Section of Endocrinology at the University of Colorado School of Medicine. RJ has consulted for Horizon Pharma and also has equity with XORTX Therapeutics and with Colorado Research Partners, LLC.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Piani, Reinicke, Borghi, Tommerdahl, Cara-Fuentes, Johnson and Bjornstad. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## Two to Tango: Kidney-Lung Interaction in Acute Kidney Injury and Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrome

Joseph Alge<sup>1†</sup>, Kristin Dolan<sup>1,2†</sup>, Joseph Angelo<sup>1</sup>, Sameer Thadani<sup>2</sup>, Manpreet Virk<sup>2</sup> and Ayse Akcan Arikan<sup>1,2\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Division of Nephrology, Department of Pediatrics, Baylor College of Medicine, Texas Children's Hospital, Houston, TX, United States, <sup>2</sup> Division of Critical Care Medicine, Department of Pediatrics, Baylor College of Medicine, Texas Children's Hospital, Houston, TX, United States

Acute Kidney Injury (AKI) is an independent risk factor for mortality in hospitalized patients, AKI syndrome leads to fluid overload, electrolyte and acid-base disturbances. immunoparalysis, and propagates multiple organ dysfunction through organ "crosstalk". Preclinical models suggest AKI causes acute lung injury (ALI), and conversely, mechanical ventilation and ALI cause AKI. In the clinical setting, respiratory complications are a key driver of increased mortality in patients with AKI, highlighting the bidirectional relationship. This article highlights the challenging and complex interactions between the lung and kidney in critically ill patients with AKI and acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS) and global implications of AKI. We discuss disease-specific molecular mediators and inflammatory pathways involved in organ crosstalk in the AKI-ARDS construct, and highlight the reciprocal hemodynamic effects of elevated pulmonary vascular resistance and central venous pressure (CVP) leading to renal hypoperfusion and pulmonary edema associated with fluid overload and increased right ventricular afterload. Finally, we discuss the notion of different ARDS "phenotypes" and the response to fluid overload, suggesting differential organ crosstalk in specific pathological states. While the directionality of effect remains challenging to distinguish at the bedside due to lag in diagnosis with conventional renal function markers and lack of tangible damage markers, this review provides a paradigm for understanding kidney-lung interactions in the critically ill patient.

#### Keywords: AKI, ARDS, lung, PARDS, fluid overload

## INTRODUCTION

Acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS) is a life-threatening condition and a leading cause of mortality in critically ill patients causing nearly 200,000 deaths in the United States each year (1). The development of acute kidney injury (AKI) is common in patients with ARDS. AKI significantly adds to the morbidity and mortality of patients with ARDS. In the ARDSNet trial, patients with AKI and ARDS had almost twice the mortality rate than those with ARDS alone (2).

The implications of AKI are broad and include fluid overload, electrolyte abnormalities, immunoparalysis, and multiple organ dysfunction through organ crosstalk. Respiratory complications are a key marker of increased mortality in patients with AKI, which points to a biologically plausible mechanistic link between AKI and Acute Lung Injury (ALI).

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Danielle Elise Soranno, University of Colorado, United States

#### Reviewed by:

Sarah Faubel, University of Colorado, United States Rajiv Sinha, Institute of Child Health, India

> \***Correspondence:** Ayse Akcan Arikan aysea@bcm.edu

<sup>†</sup>These authors share first authorship

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Pediatric Nephrology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Pediatrics

Received: 19 July 2021 Accepted: 03 September 2021 Published: 18 October 2021

#### Citation:

Alge J, Dolan K, Angelo J, Thadani S, Virk M and Akcan Arikan A (2021) Two to Tango: Kidney-Lung Interaction in Acute Kidney Injury and Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrome. Front. Pediatr. 9:744110. doi: 10.3389/fped.2021.744110

71
Animal models show AKI causes ALI (3). Conversely, mechanical ventilation and ALI can lead to AKI, further supporting a bidirectional relationship (4).

There are many challenging and complex interactions between the lung and kidney in critically ill patients with AKI and ARDS (Figure 1). These include disease specific molecular mediators and inflammatory pathways unique to ARDS and AKI that are involved in organ crosstalk. Additionally, there are patient characteristics such as hemodynamics, comorbidities, and host factors such as genetic susceptibility in AKI that can lead to worsening ARDS. Recently, different ARDS "phenotypes" have been proposed via utilization of unsupervised clustering with or without the combination of unique biomarkers (1, 5). An intriguing aspect of these models has been demonstration of a differential response to fluid, which might suggest discrete mechanisms of organ crosstalk in specific pathological states. Finally, there are likely reciprocal hemodynamic effects of elevated pulmonary vascular resistance and central venous pressure (CVP) leading to renal hypoperfusion and pulmonary edema associated with fluid overload, which could lead to increased right ventricular afterload. Each of these interactions contribute to the ARDS-AKI construct and highlight how the implications of AKI go beyond just the kidney. The directionality of effect remains challenging to distinguish at bedside due to a lag in diagnosis with conventional renal function markers and lack of tangible damage markers in both AKI and ARDS. Thus, it is important to have an in depth understanding of this relationship. This review provides a paradigm for understanding the kidney-lung interactions in critically ill patients.

#### KIDNEY MEDIATED LUNG INJURY

Elucidation of the pathophysiology of AKI has revealed a complex, multisystem disorder with clinically important implications for patients with AKI. Important among these is the relationship between AKI, acute lung injury (ALI) and acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS). Data from studies in multiple clinical settings and animal models support a dynamic interplay between the kidneys and lungs with each set of organs having the potential to influence and disrupt the structure and function of the other (**Table 1**). In the setting of AKI, injury to the kidneys can have distant effects on the lungs through both cellular and circulating biochemical mediators. These warrant further investigation as biomarkers and potential therapeutic targets and include both inflammatory and non-inflammatory mediators.

# Inflammatory Mediators of ARDS in the Setting of AKI

#### Cellular Inflammatory Mediators

Several populations of immune cells, including T-cells, neutrophils and macrophages, have been shown to mediate lung injury in the setting of AKI. Evidence for the involvement



**FIGURE 1** Schematic of mediators of kidney-lung crosstalk in AKI and ARDS. Acute kidney injury propagates acute lung injury and contributes to the development of acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS) by generation of inflammatory cytokines, such as IL-6, increased trafficking of T lymphocytes and neutrophils to the lungs. Additionally, AKI can contribute to the development of pulmonary edema and ARDS due to the combination of fluid overload, changes in expression of pulmonary epithelial Na channels and aquaporin-5 mediated by uremic toxins, and angiopoietin-2 induced vascular leak. A reduction in circulating α-Klotho after AKI increases the lungs' susceptibility to oxidative damage. Factors that promote renal injury after ALI/ARDS include a systemic inflammatory response associated with mechanical ventilation. Key lung mediated factors include IL-6, nucleotides, and soluble receptor for advanced glycation end products (RAGE). Increased circulating FasL induces renal tubular epithelial cell apoptosis. Additionally, the ALI/ARDS may reduce renal blood flow through the effects of hypoxia and hypercapnia on intrarenal vasculature, as well by the direct action of elevated right ventricular and central venous pressures in opposition to renal perfusion.

TABLE 1 | Selected publications highlighting kidney mediated lung injury.

Authors	Key findings
Inflammatory mediators	of lung injury
Lie et al. (6)	Renal ischemia-reperfusion injury is associated pulmonary epithelial cell apoptosis mediated by increased trafficking of CD8+ T lymphocytes to the lungs
Nakazawa et al. (7)	Renal ischemia-reperfusion injury leads to increased neutrophil extracellular trap formation in the lungs and is associated with pulmonary epithelial cell apoptosis
Klein et al. (3) Ahuja et al. (8)	IL-6 deletion or blockade attenuate lung inflammation and injury after renal ischemia-reperfusion injury (mouse model)
Non-inflammatory media	tors of lung injury
Rabb et al. (9)	Renal ischemia-reperfusion injury and bilateral nephrectomy are associated with pulmonary edema and altered expression of the pulmonary epithelial Na channel and aquaporin-5
Yabuuchi et al. (10)	The uremic toxin indoxyl sulfate accumulates in the lungs after renal ischemia-reperfusion injury and induces altered pulmonary expression of aquaporin-5
Hsia et al. (11)	Supplementation with alpha Klotho, which is normally decreased after AKI, attenuates lung damage after renal ischemia-reperfusion injury
de Vries et al. (12)	Renal ischemia-reperfusion injury releases systemic angiopoietin-2
Zinter et al. (13)	Elevated plasma angiopoietin-2 concentration is associated with increased mortality in children with ARDS
Alobaidi et al. (14)	Fluid overload is associated with mortality in critically ill children

of T-cells in distant organ effects in the setting of AKI comes initially from investigation of the actions of T cells following organ specific injury. For example, in a mouse model of ischemiareperfusion AKI, T-cell trafficking to the injured kidney has been shown to occur within 1 hour of the time of insult and to result in the local release of proinflammatory mediators (15). Furthermore, a major target of this T-cell recruitment and proinflammatory activation are endothelial cells, resulting in disruption of the renal microvascular barrier and an increase in renal microvascular permeability (15, 16). Extending these findings to potential mechanisms of T-cell mediated lung injury in AKI, Lie et al. examined T-cell trafficking and activation in a mouse model of ischemic AKI and found that, compared to sham controls, the number of T-cells, specifically CD8+ T-cells, was significantly increased in the lungs of mice with ischemic AKI (6). In addition, markers of T-cell activation were also increased (6). Together, these findings suggest that in AKI, T-cells are not only targeted to the lungs but also that these T-cells display markers of activation at the time of infiltration into the lungs. This study also showed that T-cells mediate pulmonary cell apoptosis, as evidenced by an increase in caspase-3 activity in the pulmonary tissue of mice following ischemic AKI, and that this pulmonary apoptosis results in disruption of the pulmonary microvascular barrier shown by increased bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL) total protein (6). Interestingly, this apoptotic effect was not present in T-cell depleted mice and was restored by adoptive transfer and reconstitution of T cells in the T-cell deficient mice (6). In aggregate, these animal model findings highlight the influence of T-cells not only in modulating injury to the kidney in AKI but also show the impact that T-cell trafficking, and activation can have on the lungs in the setting of AKI.

Similar to T-cells, both neutrophils and macrophages have been shown to be involved in the mediation of organ specific injury in both the kidney and the lung. In several models of AKI, including ischemia and nephrotoxin associated AKI, resident renal macrophages are involved in the initial response to injury and are targeted to the sites of injury through the release of damage associated molecular pattern (DAMP) molecules and hypoxia inducible factors (HIFs) from injured renal tubular epithelial cells (17, 18). This process occurs relatively quickly during the first 24 hours following injury (19), and subsequently, these recruited macrophages perpetuate the inflammatory response by recruiting other leukocytes including bone marrow derived macrophages, neutrophils, and lymphocytes through the secretion of proinflammatory signal molecules, such as tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF- $\alpha$ ) (20, 21). The next steps in the macrophage response to tissue injury in AKI involve the regulation of inflammation and a shift in macrophage subtype from M1 macrophages that promote the initial rapid inflammatory response to the M2 subtype which move towards tissue repair (22).

Similar macrophage and neutrophil driven processes occur in ARDS, and highlight the importance of the balance between initial rapid pro-inflammatory phase, and the subsequent regulation of inflammation and shift to a more reparative milieu. One important neutrophil related intersection of AKI and ALI could be at the formation of neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs). NET formation is a unique form of bacterial killing and is important to the normal response to microbial infection, but it also has been shown to occur at sites of sterile inflammation including the development of AKI and ALI/ARDS (23, 24). Interestingly, in a mouse model of ischemic AKI, NET formation was not only shown to amplify kidney damage, but NET levels and apoptosis were also increased in the lungs, suggesting a role for NETs as a circulating factor mediating ALI/ARDS following AKI (7). While an appropriately targeted cellular response to tissue injury is a critically important adaptive response, the above noted data support the idea that a dysregulated and exaggerated inflammatory response can potentially worsen not only local tissue damage at the initial site of injury, but also might cause injury at distant sites in other organs.

#### Soluble Inflammatory Mediators

In addition to cellular mediators of tissue injury, several soluble factors have been reported to trigger ARDS in the setting of AKI. Similar to the cell driven inflammatory responses outlined above, these inflammatory molecules have been shown to mediate damage not only locally but also have been implicated in distant organ effects including causing ALI in the setting of AKI (25).

Important among the molecular mediators of lung injury associated with AKI is interleukin-6 (IL-6). Clinically, serum IL-6 levels have been shown to increase in patients following AKI, and also have been associated with prolonged mechanical ventilation in the setting of AKI (26). Regarding the pulmonary effects of IL-6 in AKI, a study by Klein et al. showed increased pulmonary inflammation, increased neutrophil recruitment to the lungs, and increased pulmonary capillary leak using a mouse model of renal ischemic injury and also in a bilateral nephrectomy model (3). In this model, IL-6 deficient mice and mice treated with IL-6 antibody showed an attenuated lung inflammatory response following AKI despite similar levels of renal dysfunction (3). As a corollary to this, intravenous injection of IL-6 to IL-6 deficient mice has been shown to restore lung inflammation implicating circulating, and not local pulmonary, IL-6 in driving pulmonary inflammation following AKI (8). Intriguingly, inhaled IL-6 might actually provide a protective effect for the lungs compared with circulating IL-6, highlighting circulating IL-6 as a mediator of distant lung injury after AKI (27).

Similar to IL-6, interleukin-8 (IL-8) has been studied with regard to its involvement in tissue specific injury in AKI and ALI as well as in AKI mediated lung injury. There is evidence that IL-8 is increased in the serum of patients with AKI following cardiac surgery, and that this elevation in IL-8 is associated with prolonged mechanical ventilation (26). Also similar to IL-6, mice deficient in CXCL1, the mouse functional analog of human IL-8, or treated with anti CXCL1 antibodies, have been shown to be protected from AKI associated lung injury (8, 28). In this way, both circulating IL-6 and IL-8 are shown to play a strong role in generating and perpetuating injury to the lungs following AKI.

In contrast to IL-6 and IL-8, other circulating cytokines appear to play a more anti-inflammatory role in modulating lung injury following AKI. In a mouse model of AKI using bilateral nephrectomy, treatment with IL-10 was shown to decrease pulmonary edema, neutrophil infiltration and BAL fluid protein, indicating a protective effect of IL-10 on the lungs of these experimental animals with AKI (29). Conflicting data exist on the impact of extracorporeal blood purification and its impact on mitigation of these mechanisms of kidney and lung injury, a complete review of this topic is beyond the scope of this manuscript.

# Non-inflammatory Mediators of ARDS in the Setting of AKI

#### Uremic Lung: Resurrecting an Old Idea

The link between AKI and subsequent ARDS was first recognized in the mid-20th century when clinicians coined the term "uremic lung" (30). While this antiquated nomenclature has fallen into disuse, it was in fact quite prescient because it encapsulates the role of uremic toxins in kidney lung crosstalk. Uremic toxins such as indoxyl sulfate and p-cresyl sulfate contribute to the development of ARDS via their pro-inflammatory effects and through direct effects on pulmonary gene expression leading to dysregulated fluid handling in the lungs. While induction of pro-inflammatory genes in the lung and histologic evidence of pulmonary inflammation is more severe after renal ischemia reperfusion injury, mice that undergo bilateral nephrectomy also demonstrate increased pulmonary expression of TNFa, IL-6, and CXLCL-1 (3, 31, 32). In fact, lung injury in nephrectomized mice is markedly attenuated in IL-6 knockouts or treatment with an IL-6 neutralizing antibody (3). However, the proinflammatory effects of bilateral nephrectomy may not be solely explained by reduced clearance of IL-6, since more recent studies have shown that indoxyl sulfate is a potent inducer of IL-6 expression through the aryl hydrocarbon receptor and NFkB pathways (33-35). In addition to their proinflammatory effects, uremic toxins accumulate in the lungs and pleural fluid where they contribute to the development of non-cardiogenic pulmonary edema by dysregulated Na and water clearance via downregulated expression of epithelial Na channels, the Na,K ATPase, and aquaporins-1 and -5 (9, 10, 36, 37). Finally, uremic toxins are well-known inducers of endothelial dysfunction, which is mediated by increased reactive oxygen species production and downregulation of antioxidant genes such as Nrf-2, α-Klotho, and Heme oxygenase-1 and have been implicated as proinflammatory mediators of endothelial dysfunction (38). While this has not been demonstrated specifically in the pulmonary vasculature, it is biologically plausible that endothelial dysfunction caused by uremic toxins contributes to pulmonary vascular leak. Therefore, uremic toxins can contribute to the development of ARDS by several mechanisms, and future studies should investigate the ability of these biomarkers to identify patients with AKI who are at risk of developing pulmonary complications.

#### $\alpha$ -Klotho

a-Klotho has recently emerged as an important mediator of kidney-lung crosstalk in the setting of AKI. Initially identified as an anti-aging gene, disruption of  $\alpha$ -Klotho expression in mice leads to early death due to progressive multi-organ failure that resembles accelerated aging and is associated with emphysematous changes in the lung (39). However, a-Klotho is not expressed in the lung, its expression is restricted predominantly to the kidney and parathyroid glands, where it functions as the co-receptor for FGF-23, a hormone that is a critical regulator of phosphate metabolism (40, 41). a-Klotho exists as both a type-I single pass transmembrane protein and a soluble form, which is generated either by alternative splicing or proteolytic cleavage of the ectodomain of the membrane bound form (42, 43). Soluble  $\alpha$ -Klotho has pleiotropic cytoprotective effects and is predominantly derived from the kidney (11, 44, 45). Of note, AKI leads to a precipitous decrease in soluble α-Klotho, and in a rodent model of ARDS after AKI, repletion of  $\alpha$ -Klotho provided protection of subsequent oxidative lung injury through upregulation of downstream antioxidant effectors of the Nrf2

#### TABLE 2 | Selected publications highlighting lung mediated renal injury.

Authors	Key findings
Effects of hypoxemia an	d hypercapnea on renal perfusion
Darmon et al. (60)	Hypoxemia reduces renal perfusion, increases renal resistive index
Sharkey et al. (61)	Hypoxia and hypercapnia increase renal resistive index and reduce renal perfusion independent of the sympathetic nervous system
Renal hemodynamic effe	ects of ARDS
Ottolina et al. (62)	Higher PEEP is associated with increased risk of AKI in patients with COVID-19
Inflammatory mediators	of kidney injury
Douillet et al. (63)	Mechanical ventilation induces release of nucleotides from pulmonary tissue and altered expression of purinoreceptors in the kidney
Imai et al. (4)	Injurious mechanical ventilation strategies increase systemic levels of inflammatory cytokines, chemokines, and soluble FasL is associated with proximal tubule epithelial cell apoptosis
Ranieri et al. (64)	Effect of mechanical ventilation on systemic and local production of inflammatory cytokines
Parsons et al. (65)	Lung-protective ventilation strategy reduces systemic levels of proinflammatory cytokines
Calfee et al. (66)	Acute lung injury is associated with increased plasma concentration of receptor for advanced glycation end products (RAGE)
Subphenotypes of ARDS	3
Calfee et al. (67)	Identification of ARDS subphenotypes using molecular phenotyping
Famous et al. (5)	Differential response of ARDS subphenotypes respond to fluid management

pathway (46–49). Therefore,  $\alpha$ -Klotho has been proposed both as a biomarker for predicting the development of AKI-induced ARDS and as a potential therapeutic target.

#### Angiopoietin-2 – Endothelial Damage Marker

Angiopoietin-2 (Ang-2) has been identified as a mediator of vascular permeability in patients with sepsis and ARDS, and it could play a pivotal role in kidney-lung crosstalk (50-53). Ang-2 is stored in Weibel-Palade bodies in endothelial cells and is released in response to endothelial activation (54). It acts in an autocrine manner as an antagonist for the Tie-2 receptor, which is predominantly expressed by endothelial cells to promote vascular leakage, and it is opposed by the agonistic action of angiopoietin-1 (55). As a biomarker, polymorphisms in the Ang-2 gene have been linked to increased risk of ARDS, and higher serum Ang-2 levels correlate with impaired oxygenation and an increased risk of mortality in patients with ARDS (13, 56, 57). The angiopoietin/Tie-2 signaling axis plays an important role in vascular development during nephrogenesis, and a study of renal transplant recipients demonstrated that renal ischemia/reperfusion injury leads to rapid release of Ang-2, suggesting that Ang-2 could contribute to the development of ARDS in patients with AKI (12, 58, 59).

## LUNG MEDIATED KIDNEY INJURY

Available data support the concept of distant organ effects on the lungs in AKI caused by a complex interplay between multiple cellular and molecular modulators of the immune system, which can initiate and perpetuate damage to the lungs. This is all under the assumption that the initial site of injury is the kidneys, and it is important to recognize the bidirectionality of kidneylung crosstalk. Despite the high incidence of AKI in patients with ARDS, the impact of ALI on this ARDS-AKI construct and the effects of mechanical ventilation on the kidneys are not well understood (1). The leading hypotheses of lung mediated AKI include the direct effects of hypoxemia and hypercarbia on renal blood flow and renal cell injury, the systemic inflammatory response, and other molecular mediators causing direct renal cell damage (**Table 2**).

# Hypoxemia, Hypercapnia, and Tissue Hypoxia

ALI and ARDS often lead to hypoxemia and hypercapnia, both of which affect renal blood flow and can lead to direct renal ischemia and subsequent injury. While the hallmark of ARDS is hypoxemic respiratory failure, hypercapnia can result from either the primary disease process, lung protective strategies limiting ventilation, or frequently, a combination of the two. Specifically, the current recommendations for treatment of ARDS include targeting lung protective strategies with lower goals for oxygen levels (both partial pressure of arterial oxygen and systemic saturations) and permissive hypercapnia (60). Both hypoxemia and hypercarbia have significant effects on renal blood flow and potentially lead to the development and progression of AKI. The presence of severe hypoxemia (Pa02 < 40) leads to decreased renal blood flow and renal dysfunction (60). There are conflicting reports regarding moderate or mild hypoxemia on renal blood flow. Some studies suggest acute hypoxemia, even at mildly low systemic oxygen saturation levels of 88%, causes an acute decrease in renal blood flow while others suggest there is a kidney-lung protective strategy with mild hypoxemia with an increase in urine output, called the hypoxemic diuretic response (68). The mechanisms of hypoxemic changes in renal vascular tone and blood flow are largely unknown but thought to be related to activation and/or inactivation of nitric oxide, angiotensin II, endothelin, bradykinin, and the sympathetic reflex (61, 68, 69). The exact threshold of hypoxemia that is no longer "protective" and, instead, becomes injurious to the renal tissue bed requires further delineation. Hypercarbia, in turn, leads to decreased renal blood flow and perhaps has a stronger impact than hypoxemia, especially in the acute setting (60, 69).

The arterial partial pressure of carbon dioxide is inversely related to renal blood flow in animal models and in subjects with normal respiratory physiology, acute respiratory failure, and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Hypercapnia directly causes renal vasoconstriction and systemic vasodilation inducing the release of noradrenaline and the activation of the renin-angiotensinaldosterone system which also contributes to renal vascular tone (69). Decreased renal blood flow, in turn, leads to renal hypoxia, and apoptosis and necrosis with resultant vascular and tubular damage culminating in acute tubular injury (70). Highly metabolically active and energy dependent proximal tubular cells are most sensitive to hypoxic injury as the medulla becomes far more hypoxic than the renal cortex in states of decreased renal blood flow (71).

# Inflammatory Mediators of Kidney Damage in the Setting of ARDS

An additional suggested mechanism of lung-kidney crosstalk involves extracellular nucleotides released by injured pulmonary epithelial cells. Nucleotides are molecules that modulate numerous functions including vascular tone, apoptosis, membranous ion conductance, and trans alveolar fluid regulation in the lungs. Nucleotides are released by pulmonary epithelial cells in response to physical stimuli including shear stress during mechanical ventilation. In addition, nucleotides induce the synthesis and release of cytokines, specifically IL-6, which is a proinflammatory mediator described in the pathogenesis of AKI and the generation of renal tubular injury (72, 73). Douillet et al. demonstrated that mechanical ventilation alters the nucleotide and purinoreceptor expression in the kidney, even in the presence of protective mechanical ventilation strategies, suggesting ongoing lung-kidney cross talk in the setting of lung injury and mechanical ventilation (63, 74).

Renal cell injury has also been suggested by Imai et al., who compared injurious and non-injurious ventilator strategies (4). Injurious ventilator strategies led to the production of inflammatory cytokines and chemokines IL-8, MCP-1, and GRO, all of which have been implicated in the pathophysiology of AKI (4, 75). Additionally, proximal tubular cell apoptosis was observed in vitro with elevated blood urea nitrogen and creatinine levels as well as in vivo in rabbit models with injurious ventilator strategies; hypothesized to be secondary to soluble Fas ligand (sFasL), an important mediator of renal cell injury via apoptosis (4). Lastly, nitric oxide, a vasodilator that has been shown to have systemic and renal cytotoxic effects, has been implicated in ARDS-AKI construct. Choi et al. showed that injurious mechanical ventilation induced nitric oxide synthase (NOS) expression in both the lung and kidney, causing release of vascular endothelial growth factor causing increased vascular permeability and cytokine release (76).

# Mechanical Ventilation as a Pro-inflammatory state

In addition to direct effects of hypoxemia, tissue hypoxia, and hypercapnia, lung injury involves multiple cytokines, chemokine, and pro-inflammatory pathways leading to kidney specific injury

and the development of AKI. Mechanical ventilation, especially when higher tidal volumes and mean airway pressure are used and lung protective principles are not applied, propagates lung injury through atelectotrauma and sheer stress and contributes significantly to the release of damage associated molecular patterns (DAMPs), and various cytokines, and chemokines (77). In fact, inflammatory cytokines in patients ventilated with lung protective strategy were significantly decreased compared to controls who received standard mechanical ventilation in randomized control trials, with a noted reduction in bronchoalveolar concentrations of polymorphonuclear cells, TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$ , soluble TNF- $\alpha$  receptor, and IL-8 (64). Plasma and bronchoalveolar levels of IL-6, IL-8, soluble TNF-α receptor, and IL-1 receptor antagonist were also decreased, all of which have been implicated in the pathophysiology of AKI (64, 65). It is reasonable to surmise that even in the absence of a primary pulmonary pathology, injurious ventilation strategies could contribute to the organ crosstalk, leading to remote organ injury manifested as AKI (65). Receptor for Advanced Glycation End Products (RAGE) is considered an alveolar epithelial injury marker and levels can increase in the serum within an hour after a recruitment maneuver, which is typically characterized by brief but sustained increase in airway pressure in order to recruit collapsed segments of injured lung (78). Certain subgroups of adult ARDS patients have higher RAGE levels, suggesting more epithelial damage (79, 80). Soluble forms of these mediators spill over into circulation and are measurable in peripheral blood, an example that many other DAMPs contribute to remote signaling and inflammation propagation in ARDS (66).

Most recently, the changing epidemiology of AKI among the pandemic SARS-CoV-2 related ARDS cases worldwide has further highlighted the potential mechanistic link between a therapeutic approach and remote organ injury propagation. Many centers have reported a high incidence of renal replacement therapy requiring AKI in the setting of COVID-19 early on in the pandemic with dismal outcomes (81). The use of higher end pressures has been associated with AKI (62). Others have proposed that aggressive fluid restriction and attempt at decongestion through liberal diuretic use has exacerbated kidney injury and delayed renal recovery, leading to worsening of AKI and earlier use of RRT (82). The high incidence of AKI in patients with COVID-19 underscores dynamic interplay between the kidneys and the lungs.

Although our understanding remains incomplete, awareness of continuous interaction and organ crosstalk highlights the importance of vigilance related to lung protective ventilation strategies in the management of ARDS in order to limit lung mediated remote organ injury, such as AKI. In addition to inflammatory consequences, mechanical ventilation has a number of hemodynamic effects and influences neurohormonal factors that contribute to AKI. Elevated pulmonary vascular resistance and right ventricular strain in the setting of ARDS might impact renal perfusion (74). Elevated filling pressures contribute to decreased renal perfusion, especially in the setting of marginal arterial pressures, which can initiate and propagate AKI. In addition, mechanical ventilation can alter  $\ensuremath{\mathsf{TABLE 3}}\xspace$  ] Future basic and translational research directions in kidney-lung crosstalk.

- Further elucidation of the molecular and cellular basis of organ crosstalk
- Determination of ventilator and hemodynamic parameters that optimize renal perfusion in patients with ARDS
- Development of alternatives to animal models for studying organ crosstalk, such as organoid-based microfluidic chips
- Application of systems biology tools such as transcriptomics, proteomics, metabolomics, and single cell sequencing to identify molecular phenotypes of pediatric AKI and ARDS
- Incorporation of molecular phenotyping into future clinical trial design

renal hemodynamics by increasing sympathetic tone and reninangiotensin aldosterone system activation (83–85).

## Fluid Overload, ARDS Phenotypes and AKI

Knowledge of the pathophysiologic links between AKI and ARDS could be leveraged to identify patients with AKI who are at risk of developing ARDS and can be used to develop targeted therapies that prevent or treat this complication. Unfortunately, the complex interplay between both organ systems discussed thus far makes this endeavor less attainable in clinical practice. Lung protective mechanical ventilation and fluid management to restore effective arterial blood volume are the cornerstones of ARDS management. Currently, avoiding positive fluid balance remains the most important predictor of pulmonary complications in patients with AKI and is the primary target for intervention. Restrictive fluid management in ARDS has indeed become the standard of care (86, 87). Despite advances in medical care, treatment options remain limited and are largely supportive. Lack of positive data from multiple interventional randomized control trials has incited a search towards discerning molecular sub-phenotypes of ARDS based on clinical and biological determinants. Recent work aimed at understanding the different presentations clustered under the rather heterogeneous complex syndromic designation of ARDS has provided fascinating insight regarding patient and disease specific characteristics of ARDS and differential response to treatment that drive this complex construct.

Calfee et al. have described two different subphenotypes ARDS in patient cohorts enrolled in two randomized controlled trials based on clinical and biomarker variables derived from latent class analysis (1, 67). Importantly, both subphenotype classifications relied on the plasma biomarkers not available in routine clinical practice to delineate the two groups, signifying that these specific biomarkers may be uncovering aspects of underlying pathophysiology not captured by routine clinical variables. In these analyses, the inflammatory subphenotype 2 had higher levels of proinflammatory biomarkers such as IL-8, IL-6, and sTNF receptor 1, and higher plasma levels of and RAGE compared to subphenotype 1. Subjects with sepsis associated ARDS were more likely to belong to subphenotype 2 compared to subjects with trauma associated ARDS who were classified as subphenotype 1. Subjects with phenotype 2 were more likely to have higher mortality, and fewer organ

failure free and ventilator free days. Most surprisingly, the two groups had differential response to treatment strategies: subjects in subphenotype 1 had higher mortality with higher versus lower PEEP; conversely, in subphenotype 2 higher PEEP was associated with lower mortality. Even more pertinent to our topic, the two subphenotypes had a differential response to fluid exposure; subphenotype 2 had a higher mortality when assigned to liberal fluid management strategy. Conversely, subphenotype 1 had a higher mortality with restrictive fluid management. The underlying reason for this differential response remains speculative. However, higher Ang-2 levels in subphenotype 2 signal endothelial damage, putting patients at risk of altered fluid excretion and fluid imbalance leading to fluid overload and higher mortality. Conversely, fluid restriction in patients sub phenotype 1 with lower Ang-2 levels could signify lower effective arterial blood volume and impaired end organ perfusion and higher mortality (5). Although subjects in subphenotype 2 had fewer ventilator free days compared to subphenotype 1, there was no association with fluid management strategy, perhaps signaling the contribution of other extra pulmonary organ injury such as AKI leading to fluid overload and worse pulmonary compliance. Interestingly, none of the extensive clinical variables tested was predictive of a subphenotype, suggesting that targeting clinically relevant subphenotypes might be the next strategy in designing interventional trials.

It is easy to speculate that pediatric AKI could very well represent a heterogenous syndrome with varied responses to fluid exposure significantly impacting lung-kidney interactions. Stratified analysis of a prospective study showed that mortality was associated with greater cumulative fluid balance on Day 3 of ARDS with concomitant AKI (88). In addition, higher degrees of inflammation, indicated by elevated IL-6 levels on day 1 were associated with positive cumulative fluid balance, AKI and, hence, mortality. Conceivably, higher IL-6 levels could signal a hyperinflammatory subphenotype of ARDS that might result in increased vascular permeability, endothelial damage, and AKI. Currently available data do not differentiate between adverse effects noted on the two subphenotypes of ARDS and the concomitant or sequential occurrence of oliguric vs. non-oliguric AKI. Oliguric AKI is known to carry a worse prognosis compared to non-oliguric AKI, yet available pediatric data are conflicting regarding oliguric AKI as a precursor to development of fluid overload (14, 89-93). Higher levels of inflammatory and endothelial activation mediators in the inflammatory subphenotype could result in microcirculatory dysfunction and energy failure leading to impaired fluid excretion, contributing to fluid overload and, hence, worse pulmonary compliance. Currently available adult data revealing the paradoxical response to fluid exposure suggest that the hyperinflammatory subphenotype could be the target population to test whether restrictive fluid strategy would help mitigate the effects of endothelial damage and vascular permeability, and related higher risk of fluid overload and AKI in this population. To help advance our understanding of the complex mechanisms involved in ARDS, AKI, and their interactions, it is crucial to identify if similar subphenotypes also exist in pediatric ARDS in order to develop and test an individualized approach to clinical management, specifically pertaining to ventilator and fluid exposure, to care for our patients with a more informed and personalized approach.

## CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE RESEARCH DIRECTIONS

Critical illness is largely a state of organ crosstalk and interaction; therefore, successful management requires a thorough understanding of its management. Changing epidemiology of pediatric AKI has clearly placed this syndrome in the setting of multiple organ dysfunction especially as it relates to the most severe forms of AKI with the poorest outcomes. Similarly, refinement of the pediatric ARDS definition has improved our understanding of the disease pathophysiology. As such, pediatric AKI and ARDS are the two most common organ failures intensivists deal with on a daily basis. Recent evidence, especially around mechanistic pathways in each syndrome, has enhanced our appreciation of the actual scale of organ crosstalk that extends beyond simply fluid accumulation and its management in AKI and ARDS. Multiple disease-specific molecular mediators and inflammatory pathways are involved in organ crosstalk in the AKI-ARDS construct, and the reciprocal hemodynamic effects of elevated pulmonary vascular resistance and central

#### REFERENCES

- Calfee CS, Delucchi K, Parsons PE, Thompson BT, Ware LB, Matthay MA. Subphenotypes in acute respiratory distress syndrome: latent class analysis of data from two randomised controlled trials. *Lancet Respir Med.* (2014) 2:611–20. doi: 10.1016/S2213-2600(14)70097-9
- Liu KD, Glidden DV, Eisner MD, Parsons PE, Ware LB, Wheeler A, et al. Predictive and pathogenetic value of plasma biomarkers for acute kidney injury in patients with acute lung injury. *Crit Care Med.* (2007) 35:2755–61. doi: 10.1097/00003246-200712000-00013
- Klein CL, Hoke TS, Fang W-F, Altmann CJ, Douglas IS, Faubel S. Interleukin-6 mediates lung injury following ischemic acute kidney injury or bilateral nephrectomy. *Kidney Int.* (2008) 74:901–9. doi: 10.1038/ki.2008.314
- 4. Imai Y, Parodo J, Kajikawa O, de Perrot M, Fischer S, Edwards V, et al. Injurious mechanical ventilation and end-organ epithelial cell apoptosis and organ dysfunction in an experimental model of acute respiratory distress syndrome. *JAMA*. (2003) 289:2104–12. doi: 10.1001/jama.289.16.2104
- Famous KR, Delucchi K, Ware LB, Kangelaris KN, Liu KD, Thompson BT, et al. Acute respiratory distress syndrome subphenotypes respond differently to randomized fluid management strategy. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2017) 195:331–8. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201603-0645OC
- Lie ML, White LE, Santora RJ, Park JM, Rabb H, Hassoun HT. Lung T lymphocyte trafficking and activation during ischemic acute kidney injury. J Immunol. (2012) 189:2843–51. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1103254
- Nakazawa D, Kumar SV, Marschner J, Desai J, Holderied A, Rath L, et al. Histones and neutrophil extracellular traps enhance tubular necrosis and remote organ injury in ischemic AKI. J Am Soc Nephrol. (2017) 28:1753–68. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2016080925
- Ahuja N, Andres-Hernando A, Altmann C, Bhargava R, Bacalja J, Webb RG, et al. Circulating IL-6 mediates lung injury via CXCL1 production after acute kidney injury in mice. *Am J Physiol-Renal Physiol.* (2012) 303:F864–72. doi: 10.1152/ajprenal.00025.2012
- 9. Rabb H, Wang Z, Nemoto T, Hotchkiss J, Yokota N, Soleimani M. Acute renal failure leads to dysregulation of lung salt and water

venous pressure (CVP) augment both renal and pulmonary congestion and impair renal oxygenation. Future research (Table 3) should be directed at further elucidating the molecular and cellular basis of kidney lung crosstalk, which will require the development of alternatives to animal models. Potentials strategies include systems biology applications such as "-omics" platforms and single cell sequencing of circulating immune cells, as well as the development of microfluidic organ-on-a-chip models that incorporate lung and kidney organoids to model organ crosstalk. Knowledge gained from these studies could be used to develop targeted therapies and molecular phenotyping tools that identify discrete subtypes of pediatric AKI and ARDS. Ultimately, this knowledge could arm clinicians with the tools for a precision medicine based approach, such as biomarker directed fluid management and other therapies. While it will be some time before these ambitious goals are realized, in the interim, clinicians must develop an appreciation of complexity of organ interactions and maintain vigilance regarding bidirectionality while treating these interrelated conditions in the critically ill pediatric patient.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct, and intellectual contribution to the work and approved it for publication.

channels. *Kidney Int.* (2003) 63:600-6. doi: 10.1046/j.1523-1755.2003. 00753.x

- Yabuuchi N, Sagata M, Saigo C, Yoneda G, Yamamoto Y, Nomura Y, et al. Indoxyl sulfate as a mediator involved in dysregulation of pulmonary aquaporin-5 in acute lung injury caused by acute kidney injury. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2016) 18:11. doi: 10.3390/ijms18010011
- Hsia CCW, Ravikumar P, Ye J. Acute lung injury complicating acute kidney injury: a model of endogenous αKlotho deficiency and distant organ dysfunction. *Bone*. (2017) 100:100–9. doi: 10.1016/j.bone.2017.03.047
- de Vries DK, Khairoun M, Lindeman JHN, Bajema IM, de Heer E, Roest M, et al. Renal ischemia-reperfusion induces release of angiopoietin-2 from human grafts of living and deceased donors. *Transplantation*. (2013) 96:282–9. doi: 10.1097/TP.0b013e31829854d5
- Zinter MS, Spicer A, Orwoll BO, Alkhouli M, Dvorak CC, Calfee CS, et al. Plasma angiopoietin-2 outperforms other markers of endothelial injury in prognosticating pediatric ARDS mortality. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol. (2016) 310:L224–31. doi: 10.1152/ajplung.003 36.2015
- Alobaidi R, Morgan C, Basu RK, Stenson E, Featherstone R, Majumdar SR, et al. Association between fluid balance and outcomes in critically Ill children: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *JAMA Pediatr.* (2018) 172:257–68. doi: 10.1001/jamapediatrics.2017.4540
- Liu M, Chien C-C, Grigoryev DN, Gandolfo MT, Colvin RB, Rabb H. Effect of T cells on vascular permeability in early ischemic acute kidney injury in mice. *Microvasc Res.* (2009) 77:340–7. doi: 10.1016/j.mvr.2009.01.011
- Burne-Taney MJ, Liu M, Ascon D, Molls RR, Racusen L, Rabb H. Transfer of lymphocytes from mice with renal ischemia can induce albuminuria in naive mice: a possible mechanism linking early injury and progressive renal disease? *Am J Physiol Renal Physiol.* (2006) 291:F981–986. doi: 10.1152/ajprenal.00229.2005
- Jang HR, Rabb H. Immune cells in experimental acute kidney injury. Nat Rev Nephrol. (2015) 11:88–101. doi: 10.1038/nrneph.2014.180
- Bonavia A, Singbartl K. A review of the role of immune cells in acute kidney injury. *Pediatr Nephrol.* (2018) 33:1629–39. doi: 10.1007/s00467-017-3774-5

- Ysebaert DK, De Greef KE, Vercauteren SR, Ghielli M, Verpooten GA, Eyskens EJ, et al. Identification and kinetics of leukocytes after severe ischaemia/reperfusion renal injury. *Nephrol Dial Transplant*. (2000) 15:1562– 74. doi: 10.1093/ndt/15.10.1562
- Zhang M-Z, Yao B, Yang S, Jiang L, Wang S, Fan X, et al. CSF-1 signaling mediates recovery from acute kidney injury. *J Clin Invest.* (2012) 122:4519–32. doi: 10.1172/JCI60363
- Han HI, Skvarca LB, Espiritu EB, Davidson AJ, Hukriede NA. The role of macrophages during acute kidney injury: destruction and repair. *Pediatr Nephrol.* (2019) 34:561–9. doi: 10.1007/s00467-017-3883-1
- Lee S, Huen S, Nishio H, Nishio S, Lee HK, Choi B-S, et al. Distinct macrophage phenotypes contribute to kidney injury and repair. J Am Soc Nephrol. (2011) 22:317–26. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2009060615
- Nakazawa D, Marschner JA, Platen L, Anders H-J. Extracellular traps in kidney disease. *Kidney Int*. (2018) 94:1087–98. doi: 10.1016/j.kint.2018.08.035
- 24. Grégoire M, Uhel F, Lesouhaitier M, Gacouin A, Guirriec M, Mourcin F, et al. Impaired efferocytosis and neutrophil extracellular trap clearance by macrophages in ARDS. *Eur Respir J.* (2018) 52:1702590. doi: 10.1183/13993003.02590-2017
- Faubel S, Edelstein CL. Mechanisms and mediators of lung injury after acute kidney injury. Nat Rev Nephrol. (2016) 12:48–60. doi: 10.1038/nrneph.2015.158
- 26. Liu KD, Altmann C, Smits G, Krawczeski CD, Edelstein CL, Devarajan P, et al. Serum interleukin-6 and interleukin-8 are early biomarkers of acute kidney injury and predict prolonged mechanical ventilation in children undergoing cardiac surgery: a case-control study. *Crit Care.* (2009) 13:R104. doi: 10.1186/cc7940
- Bhargava R, Janssen W, Altmann C, Andrés-Hernando A, Okamura K, Vandivier RW, et al. Intratracheal IL-6 protects against lung inflammation in direct, but not indirect, causes of acute lung injury in mice. *PLoS ONE*. (2013) 8:e61405. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0061405
- Teixeira JP, Ambruso S, Griffin BR, Faubel S. pulmonary consequences of acute kidney injury. *Semin Nephrol.* (2019) 39:3–16. doi: 10.1016/j.semnephrol.2018.10.001
- Hoke TS, Douglas IS, Klein CL, He Z, Fang W, Thurman JM, et al. Acute renal failure after bilateral nephrectomy is associated with cytokine-mediated pulmonary injury. JASN. (2007) 18:155–64. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2006050494
- Scheel PJ, Liu M, Rabb H. Uremic lung: new insights into a forgotten condition. *Kidney Int.* (2008) 74:849–51. doi: 10.1038/ki.2008.390
- Hassoun HT, Grigoryev DN, Lie ML, Liu M, Cheadle C, Tuder RM, et al. Ischemic acute kidney injury induces a distant organ functional and genomic response distinguishable from bilateral nephrectomy. *Am J Physiol Renal Physiol.* (2007) 293:F30–40. doi: 10.1152/ajprenal.00023.2007
- 32. Doi K, Ishizu T, Tsukamoto-Sumida M, Hiruma T, Yamashita T, Ogasawara E, et al. The high-mobility group protein B1-Toll-like receptor 4 pathway contributes to the acute lung injury induced by bilateral nephrectomy. *Kidney Int.* (2014) 86:316–26. doi: 10.1038/ki.2014.62
- 33. Adelibieke Y, Yisireyili M, Ng H-Y, Saito S, Nishijima F, Niwa T. Indoxyl sulfate induces IL-6 expression in vascular endothelial and smooth muscle cells through OAT3-mediated uptake and activation of AhR/NFκB pathway. *Nephron Exp Nephrol.* (2014) 128:1–8. doi: 10.1159/0003 65217
- 34. Kawakami T, Inagi R, Wada T, Tanaka T, Fujita T, Nangaku M. Indoxyl sulfate inhibits proliferation of human proximal tubular cells via endoplasmic reticulum stress. Am J Physiol Renal Physiol. (2010) 299:F568– 576. doi: 10.1152/ajprenal.00659.2009
- Lekawanvijit S, Adrahtas A, Kelly DJ, Kompa AR, Wang BH, Krum H. Does indoxyl sulfate, a uraemic toxin, have direct effects on cardiac fibroblasts and myocytes? *Eur Heart J.* (2010) 31:1771–9. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehp574
- 36. Chang J-F, Liang S-S, Thanasekaran P, Chang H-W, Wen L-L, Chen C-H, et al. Translational medicine in pulmonary-renal crosstalk: therapeutic targeting of p-cresyl sulfate triggered nonspecific ROS and chemoattractants in dyspneic patients with uremic lung injury. J Clin Med. (2018) 7:266. doi: 10.3390/jcm7090266
- 37. Ma T, Liu Z. Functions of aquaporin 1 and  $\alpha$ -epithelial Na+ channel in rat acute lung injury induced by acute ischemic kidney injury. *Int Urol Nephrol.* (2013) 45:1187–96. doi: 10.1007/s11255-012-0355-1

- Vanholder R, Schepers E, Pletinck A, Nagler EV, Glorieux G. The uremic toxicity of indoxyl sulfate and p-cresyl sulfate: a systematic review. J Am Soc Nephrol. (2014) 25:1897–907. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2013101062
- Kuro-o M, Matsumura Y, Aizawa H, Kawaguchi H, Suga T, Utsugi T, et al. Mutation of the mouse klotho gene leads to a syndrome resembling ageing. *Nature*. (1997) 390:45–51. doi: 10.1038/36285
- Hu MC, Shiizaki K, Kuro-o M, Moe OW. Fibroblast growth factor 23 and Klotho: physiology and pathophysiology of an endocrine network of mineral metabolism. *Annu Rev Physiol.* (2013) 75:503–33. doi: 10.1146/annurev-physiol-030212-183727
- Zhang J, Cao K, Pastor JV Li L, Moe OW, Hsia CCW. Alpha-Klotho, a critical protein for lung health, is not expressed in normal lung. *FASEB Bioadv.* (2019) 1:675–87. doi: 10.1096/fba.2019-00016
- Matsumura Y, Aizawa H, Shiraki-Iida T, Nagai R, Kuro-o M, Nabeshima Y. Identification of the human klotho gene and its two transcripts encoding membrane and secreted klotho protein. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* (1998) 242:626–30.
- Bloch L, Sineshchekova O, Reichenbach D, Reiss K, Saftig P, Kuro-o M, et al. Klotho is a substrate for alpha-, beta- and gamma-secretase. *FEBS Lett.* (2009) 583:3221–4. doi: 10.1016/j.febslet.2009.09.009
- Picciotto D, Murugavel A, Ansaldo F, Rosa GM, Sofia A, Milanesi S, et al. The organ handling of soluble klotho in humans. *Kidney Blood Press Res.* (2019) 44:715–26. doi: 10.1159/000501316
- Hu MC, Shi M, Zhang J, Addo T, Cho HJ, Barker SL, et al. Renal production, uptake, and handling of circulating αKlotho. J Am Soc Nephrol. (2016) 27:79–90. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2014101030
- Hu M-C, Shi M, Zhang J, Quiñones H, Kuro-o M, Moe OW. Klotho deficiency is an early biomarker of renal ischemia-reperfusion injury and its replacement is protective. *Kidney Int.* (2010) 78:1240–51. doi: 10.1038/ki.2 010.328
- Ravikumar P, Ye J, Zhang J, Pinch SN, Hu MC, Kuro-o M, et al. α-Klotho protects against oxidative damage in pulmonary epithelia. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol.* (2014) 307:L566–75. doi: 10.1152/ajplung.00306.2013
- Gazdhar A, Ravikumar P, Pastor J, Heller M, Ye J, Zhang J, et al. Alphaklotho enrichment in induced pluripotent stem cell secretome contributes to antioxidative protection in acute lung injury. *Stem Cells*. (2018) 36:616–25. doi: 10.1002/stem.2752
- Hsieh C-C, Kuro-o M, Rosenblatt KP, Brobey R, Papaconstantinou J. The ASK1-Signalosome regulates p38 MAPK activity in response to levels of endogenous oxidative stress in the Klotho mouse models of aging. *Aging* (*Albany NY*). (2010) 2:597–611. doi: 10.18632/aging.100194
- Parikh SM, Mammoto T, Schultz A, Yuan H-T, Christiani D, Karumanchi SA, et al. Excess circulating angiopoietin-2 may contribute to pulmonary vascular leak in sepsis in humans. *PLoS Med.* (2006) 3:e46. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.0030046
- Giuliano JSJ, Lahni PM, Harmon K, Wong HR, Doughty LA, Carcillo JA, et al. Admission angiopoietin levels in children with septic shock. *Shock.* (2007) 28:650–4. doi: 10.1097/shk.0b013e318123867b
- Agrawal A, Matthay MA, Kangelaris KN, Stein J, Chu JC, Imp BM, et al. Plasma angiopoietin-2 predicts the onset of acute lung injury in critically ill patients. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2013) 187:736–42. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201208-1460OC
- Benest AV, Kruse K, Savant S, Thomas M, Laib AM, Loos EK, et al. Angiopoietin-2 is critical for cytokine-induced vascular leakage. *PLoS ONE*. (2013) 8:e70459. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0070459
- Rondaij MG, Bierings R, Kragt A, van Mourik JA, Voorberg J. Dynamics and plasticity of Weibel-Palade bodies in endothelial cells. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* (2006) 26:1002–7. doi: 10.1161/01.ATV.0000209501.56852.6c
- Imhof BA, Aurrand-Lions M. Angiogenesis and inflammation face off. Nat Med. (2006) 12:171–2. doi: 10.1038/nm0206-171
- Su L, Zhai R, Sheu C-C, Gallagher DC, Gong MN, Tejera P, et al. Genetic variants in the angiopoietin-2 gene are associated with increased risk of ARDS. *Intensive Care Med.* (2009) 35:1024–30. doi: 10.1007/s00134-009-1413-8
- 57. Calfee CS, Gallagher D, Abbott J, Thompson BT, Matthay MA. Plasma angiopoietin-2 in clinical acute lung injury: prognostic and pathogenetic significance. *Crit Care Med.* (2012) 40:1731–7. doi: 10.1097/CCM.0b013e3182451c87

- Yuan HT, Suri C, Yancopoulos GD, Woolf AS. Expression of angiopoietin-1, angiopoietin-2, and the Tie-2 receptor tyrosine kinase during mouse kidney maturation. J Am Soc Nephrol. (1999) 10:1722–36. doi: 10.1681/ASN.V1081722
- Yuan HT, Suri C, Landon DN, Yancopoulos GD, Woolf AS. Angiopoietin-2 is a site-specific factor in differentiation of mouse renal vasculature. J Am Soc Nephrol. (2000) 11:1055–66. doi: 10.1681/ASN.V1161055
- Darmon M, Schortgen F, Leon R, Moutereau S, Mayaux J, Di Marco F, et al. Impact of mild hypoxemia on renal function and renal resistive index during mechanical ventilation. *Intensive Care Med.* (2009) 35:1031–8. doi: 10.1007/s00134-008-1372-5
- Sharkey RA, Mulloy EMT, O'Neill SJ. Acute effects of hypoxaemia, hyperoxaemia and hypercapnia on renal blood flow in normal and renal transplant subjects. *Eur Respir J.* (1998) 12:653–7. doi: 10.1183/09031936.98.12030653
- 62. Ottolina D, Zazzeron L, Trevisi L, Agarossi A, Colombo R, Fossali T, et al. Acute kidney injury (AKI) in patients with Covid-19 infection is associated with ventilatory management with elevated positive end-expiratory pressure (PEEP). J Nephrol. (2021) doi: 10.1007/s40620-021-01100-3. [Epub ahead of print].
- Douillet CD, Robinson WP, Zarzaur BL, Lazarowski ER, Boucher RC, Rich PB. Mechanical ventilation alters airway nucleotides and purinoceptors in lung and extrapulmonary organs. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol.* (2005) 32:52–8. doi: 10.1165/rcmb.2004-0177OC
- Ranieri VM, Suter PM, Tortorella C, De Tullio R, Dayer JM, Brienza A, et al. Effect of mechanical ventilation on inflammatory mediators in patients with acute respiratory distress syndrome: a randomized controlled trial. *JAMA*. (1999) 282(1):54. doi: 10.1001/jama.282.1.54
- Parsons PE, Eisner MD, Thompson BT, Matthay MA, Ancukiewicz M, Bernard GR, et al. Lower tidal volume ventilation and plasma cytokine markers of inflammation in patients with acute lung injury. *Crit Care Med.* (2005) 33:1–6. doi: 10.1097/01.CCM.0000149854.61192.DC
- Calfee CS, Ware LB, Eisner MD, Parsons PE, Thompson BT, Wickersham N, et al. Plasma receptor for advanced glycation end products and clinical outcomes in acute lung injury. *Thorax.* (2008) 63:1083–9. doi: 10.1136/thx.2008.095588
- 67. Calfee CS, Delucchi KL, Sinha P, Matthay MA, Hackett J, Shankar-Hari M, et al. Acute respiratory distress syndrome subphenotypes and differential response to simvastatin: secondary analysis of a randomised controlled trial. *Lancet Respir Med.* (2018) 6:691–8.
- Hildebrandt W, Ottenbacher A, Schuster M, Swenson ER, Bärtsch P. Diuretic effect of hypoxia, hypocapnia, and hyperpnea in humans: relation to hormones and O<sup>2</sup> chemosensitivity. *J Appl Physiol.* (2000) 88:599–610. doi: 10.1152/jappl.2000.88.2.599
- Sharkey RA, Mulloy EMT, O'Neill SJ. The acute effects of oxygen and carbon dioxide on renal vascular resistance in patients with an acute exacerbation of COPD. *Chest.* (1999) 115:1588–92. doi: 10.1378/chest.115.6.1588
- Devarajan P. Update on mechanisms of ischemic acute kidney injury. J Am Soc Nephrol. (2006) 17:1503–20. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2006010017
- Scholz H, Boivin FJ, Schmidt-Ott KM, Bachmann S, Eckardt K-U, Scholl UI, et al. Kidney physiology and susceptibility to acute kidney injury: implications for renoprotection. *Nat Rev Nephrol.* (2021) 17:335–49. doi: 10.1038/s41581-021-00394-7
- Douillet CD, Robinson WP, Milano PM, Boucher RC, Rich PB. Nucleotides induce IL-6 release from human airway epithelia via P2Y<sup>2</sup> and p38 MAPKdependent pathways. *Am J Physiol-Lung Cell Molec Physiol.* (2006) 291:L734– 46. doi: 10.1152/ajplung.00389.2005
- Nechemia-Arbely Y, Barkan D, Pizov G, Shriki A, Rose-John S, Galun E, et al. IL-6/IL-6R axis plays a critical role in acute kidney injury. *JASN*. (2008) 19:1106–15. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2007070744
- Koyner JL, Murray PT. Mechanical ventilation and lung-kidney interactions. CJASN. (2008) 3:562–70. doi: 10.2215/CJN.03090707
- Kuiper JW, Groeneveld ABJ, Slutsky AS, Plötz FB. Mechanical ventilation and acute renal failure. *Crit Care Med.* (2005) 33:1408–15. doi: 10.1097/01.CCM.0000165808.30416.EF
- Choi W-I, Quinn DA, Park KM, Moufarrej RK, Jafari B, Syrkina O, et al. Systemic microvascular leak in an *in vivo* rat model of ventilatorinduced lung injury. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2003) 167:1627–32. doi: 10.1164/rccm.200210-1216OC

- Kuipers MT, van der Poll T, Schultz MJ, Wieland CW. Bench-to-bedside review: Damage-associated molecular patterns in the onset of ventilatorinduced lung injury. *Crit Care*. (2011) 15:235. doi: 10.1186/cc10437
- Jabaudon M, Hamroun N, Roszyk L, Guérin R, Bazin J-E, Sapin V, et al. Effects of a recruitment maneuver on plasma levels of soluble RAGE in patients with diffuse acute respiratory distress syndrome: a prospective randomized crossover study. *Intensive Care Med.* (2015) 41:846– 55. doi: 10.1007/s00134-015-3726-0
- Jabaudon M, Blondonnet R, Pereira B, Cartin-Ceba R, Lichtenstern C, Mauri T, et al. Plasma sRAGE is independently associated with increased mortality in ARDS: a meta-analysis of individual patient data. *Intensive Care Med.* (2018) 44:1388–99. doi: 10.1007/s00134-018-5327-1
- Calfee CS, Budev MM, Matthay MA, Church G, Brady S, Uchida T, et al. Plasma receptor for advanced glycation end-products predicts duration of ICU stay and mechanical ventilation in patients after lung transplantation. *J Heart Lung Transpl.* (2007) 26:675–80. doi: 10.1016/j.healun.2007. 04.002
- Domecq JP, Lal A, Sheldrick CR, Kumar VK, Boman K, Bolesta S, et al. Outcomes of patients with coronavirus disease 2019 receiving organ support therapies: the international viral infection and respiratory illness universal study registry. *Crit Care Med.* (2021) 49:437–48. doi: 10.1097/CCM.00000000005007
- Nadim MK, Forni LG, Mehta RL, Connor MJ, Liu KD, Ostermann M, et al. COVID-19-associated acute kidney injury: consensus report of the 25th acute disease quality initiative (ADQI) workgroup. *Nat Rev Nephrol.* (2020) 16, 747Ű-64. doi: 10.1038/s41581-020-00356-5
- Dudoignon E, Moreno N, Deniau B, Coutrot M, Longer R, Amiot Q, et al. Activation of the renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system is associated with Acute Kidney Injury in COVID-19. *Anaesth Crit Care Pain Med.* (2020) 39:453–5. doi: 10.1016/j.accpm.2020.06.006
- Joannidis M, Forni LG, Klein SJ, Honore PM, Kashani K, Ostermann M, et al. Lung-kidney interactions in critically ill patients: consensus report of the Acute Disease Quality Initiative (ADQI) 21 Workgroup. *Intensive Care Med.* (2020) 46:654–72. doi: 10.1007/s00134-019-0 5869-7
- Armutcu F. Organ crosstalk: the potent roles of inflammation and fibrotic changes in the course of organ interactions. *Inflamm Res.* (2019) 68:825–39. doi: 10.1007/s00011-019-01271-7
- Wiedemann HP. A perspective on the fluids and catheters treatment trial (FACTT) Fluid restriction is superior in acute lung injury and ARDS Cleve. *Clin J Med.* (2008) 75:42–8. doi: 10.3949/ccjm.75.1.42
- Wiedemann HP, Wheeler AP, Bernard GR, Thompson BT, Hayden D, deBoisblanc B, et al. Comparison of two fluid-management strategies in acute lung injury. *N Engl J Med.* (2006) 354:2564–75. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa0 62200
- Zinter MS, Spicer AC, Liu KD, Orwoll BE, Alkhouli MF, Brakeman PR, et al. Positive cumulative fluid balance is associated with mortality in pediatric acute respiratory distress syndrome in the setting of acute kidney injury. *Pediatr Crit Care Med.* (2019) 20:323–31. doi: 10.1097/PCC.0000000000 001845
- Kaddourah A, Basu RK, Bagshaw SM, Goldstein SL. Epidemiology of acute kidney injury in critically Ill children and young adults. *N Engl J Med.* (2017) 376:11–20. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1611391
- Kaddourah A, Basu RK, Goldstein SL, Sutherland SM. Oliguria and acute kidney injury in critically Ill children: implications for diagnosis and outcomes. *Pediatr Crit Care Med.* (2019) 20:332–9. doi: 10.1097/PCC.000000000001866
- Alobaidi R, Basu RK, DeCaen A, Joffe AR, Lequier L, Pannu N, et al. Fluid accumulation in critically Ill children. *Crit Care Med.* (2020) 48:1034–41. doi: 10.1097/CCM.00000000004376
- 92. Sutherland SM, Kaddourah A, Gillespie SE, Soranno DE, Woroniecki RP, Basu RK, et al. Cumulative application of creatinine and urine output staging optimizes the kidney disease: improving global outcomes definition and identifies increased mortality risk in hospitalized patients with acute kidney injury. *Critical Care Medicine*. (2021) doi: 10.1097/CCM.00000000 0005073. [Epub ahead of print].
- Akcan-Arikan A, Gebhard DJ, Arnold MA, Loftis LL, Kennedy CE. Fluid Overload and Kidney Injury Score: A Multidimensional Real-Time Assessment of Renal Disease Burden in the Critically Ill Patient.

Pediatr Crit Care Med. (2017) 18:524-30. doi: 10.1097/PCC.00000000 0001123

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Alge, Dolan, Angelo, Thadani, Virk and Akcan Arikan. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# A Review on the Application and Limitations of Administrative Health Care Data for the Study of Acute Kidney Injury Epidemiology and Outcomes in Children

#### Emma H. Ulrich<sup>1</sup>, Gina So<sup>2</sup>, Michael Zappitelli<sup>3</sup> and Rahul Chanchlani<sup>4,5,6\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Division of Pediatric Nephrology, Department of Pediatrics, University of Alberta, Edmonton, AB, Canada, <sup>2</sup> Department of Health Sciences, McMaster University, Hamilton, ON, Canada, <sup>3</sup> Division of Nephrology, Department of Pediatrics, Hospital for Sick Children, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada, <sup>4</sup> Institute of Clinical and Evaluative Sciences, Ontario, ON, Canada, <sup>5</sup> Department of Health Research Methods, Evidence and Impact, McMaster University, Hamilton, ON, Canada, <sup>6</sup> Division of Pediatric Nephrology, Department of Pediatrics, McMaster University, Hamilton, ON, Canada,

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Marjolein Bonthuis, Academic Medical Center, Netherlands

#### Reviewed by:

Timo Jahnukainen, New Children's Hospital, Helsinki University Hospital, Finland Evgenia Preka, Southampton Children's Hospital, United Kingdom

> \*Correspondence: Rahul Chanchlani chanchlr@mcmaster.ca

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Pediatric Nephrology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Pediatrics

Received: 16 July 2021 Accepted: 03 September 2021 Published: 27 October 2021

#### Citation:

Ulrich EH, So G, Zappitelli M and Chanchlani R (2021) A Review on the Application and Limitations of Administrative Health Care Data for the Study of Acute Kidney Injury Epidemiology and Outcomes in Children. Front. Pediatr. 9:742888. doi: 10.3389/fped.2021.742888 Administrative health care databases contain valuable patient information generated by health care encounters. These "big data" repositories have been increasingly used in epidemiological health research internationally in recent years as they are easily accessible and cost-efficient and cover large populations for long periods. Despite these beneficial characteristics, it is also important to consider the limitations that administrative health research presents, such as issues related to data incompleteness and the limited sensitivity of the variables. These barriers potentially lead to unwanted biases and pose threats to the validity of the research being conducted. In this review, we discuss the effectiveness of health administrative data in understanding the epidemiology of and outcomes after acute kidney injury (AKI) among adults and children. In addition, we describe various validation studies of AKI diagnostic or procedural codes among adults and children. These studies reveal challenges of AKI research using administrative data and the lack of this type of research in children and other subpopulations. Additional pediatric-specific validation studies of administrative health data are needed to promote higher volume and increased validity of this type of research in pediatric AKI, to elucidate the large-scale epidemiology and patient and health systems impacts of AKI in children, and to devise and monitor programs to improve clinical outcomes and process of care.

Keywords: administrative health care data, acute kidney injury, nephrology, epidemiology, pediatrics

# INTRODUCTION

Acute kidney injury (AKI), characterized by an abrupt deterioration of kidney function, is common in adults and children, and the incidence is increasing (1). The Kidney Disease Improving Global Outcomes (KDIGO) definition incorporates rise in serum creatinine and decreased urine output to identify AKI and classify severity. Approximately 5% of hospitalized children develop AKI (2), and 20–50% of children in the intensive care unit (ICU) and those with cardiac surgery develop AKI (3, 4). Pediatric and adult AKIs are associated with adverse in-hospital outcomes, including

82

mortality and prolonged hospitalization. Many studies among adults have shown that AKI is a strong risk factor for chronic kidney disease (CKD), end-stage kidney disease (ESKD), hypertension (HTN), cardiovascular disease, and mortality (5). Among children, available data suggest that AKI is also associated with worse long-term outcomes (6–9).

Administrative health care databases have enabled expansive observational studies because these data are pre-collected and easily accessible and provide a wealth of information regarding epidemiology, risk factors, and outcomes of AKI (10). The purpose of this review is to provide an overview of administrative health care data, as well as its strengths and limitations. In addition, we review validation studies to identify individuals with AKI using administrative health data. Finally, we provide an update on the incidence, risk factors, and outcomes after AKI, as learned from the studies conducted in the last 5 years using administrative health data.

# ADMINISTRATIVE HEALTH CARE DATA RESEARCH

Administrative health care databases store large quantities of information that are routinely compiled and updated by provinces and/or countries on patients, health care providers, and institutions during various patient encounters (11, 12). Examples of data collected are summarized in Figure 1 and include physician billing codes, prescription claims, vital records, and hospitalization/discharge summaries (13). These data contained within the administrative health databases are often referred to as "big data," which are distinguished by the large volume of information, speed at which it is generated, and the wide range of fields that it covers (14). Epidemiological studies, in particular, benefit greatly from the availability of administrative health care databases to evaluate and track the health of large populations over a period (12). For example, the International Classification of Diseases (ICD) diagnostic codes found in the databases have been established as an international standard for classification of diseases (15, 16). Using standardized ICD diagnostic codes as a main source of data allows clinical epidemiologists to study patterns of disease, patient care, and various health outcomes in an efficient way (17).

In recent years, the use of administrative health data as a powerful research tool has become increasingly established and extensively applied to various fields of epidemiological research (11, 15, 16). AKI, in particular, is an ideal disease to study using administrative health data (18) due to the high prevalence in hospitalized patients, increased risk for major morbidity (CKD, progression to ESKD, and death), financial costs, and recent research demonstrating that care of patients with AKI is suboptimal due to avoidable systemic issues (18). A series of statements from the Acute Dialysis Quality Initiative (ADQI) consensus conference in 2015 outline the potential of large database research for AKI, including real-time prediction of risk for AKI, developing electronic alerts for quality improvement, and "tagging" AKI patients for longitudinal care and advancing our understanding of long-term outcomes following AKI (18– 23). Currently, real-time AKI alerts using electronic systems notify health care providers using the KDIGO definition of AKI events (20). In the future, however, machine learning could incorporate real-time patient comorbidities, nephrotoxin exposure, and so on that would allow these electronic systems to provide prognostic data directly to health care providers managing the individual patient, even before an AKI event has occurred (20). The potential real-time application of "big data" to the management of AKI at the individual, organizational, and institutional level is summarized in **Figure 2**.

# STRENGTHS AND LIMITATIONS OF ADMINISTRATIVE HEALTH DATA RESEARCH

To effectively conduct and interpret outcomes of administrative health data research, it is important to understand the strengths and limitations (**Table 1**).

# Strengths

One of the most significant advantages of administrative health care data is the very large sample size, which in turn reduces sampling error, increases statistical power, and increases validity (16, 24). The inclusion of a larger and more diverse population also increases generalizability of the study findings to a greater population (25). Having larger numbers of variables collected also allows researchers adjust for many types of variables in multivariable analyses (24).

Although prospective randomized controlled trials (RCTs) are considered to be the gold standard of scientific evidence in clinical medicine, it is often difficult to conduct them because of various logistical, financial, and ethical limitations (24). As administrative health care data are pre-collected and readily available, they allow studies to be less costly and much quicker to perform (24). In fact, cluster RCTs that obtain data through administrative health databases can act as a solution to allow for inclusion of a broad number of facilities and larger representative samples of patients (26). As with any cluster RCT, care would be required to ensure information about exposure status, and outcomes are generalizable and derived from data sources in a consistent manner across trial centers. The heterogeneity and accessibility of administrative health data also allow for easier identification of patients with rare diseases (27–29).

Administrative health care databases often allow patients to be followed over extended time periods (6, 30, 31). Unlike studies that require primary data collection, administrative health databases do not involve researchers having to contact individuals, and loss to follow-up is not a significant issue (unless the patients do not immigrate) when conducting longitudinal studies for outcomes. In fact, researchers can follow patients over a long period by linking their clinical research records to administrative databases with the patients' consent (32). This, in turn, simplifies the follow-up process and eliminates any chances of non-response and recall bias (33).



Administrative health care data also can be supplemented and linked with other data sources, allowing for a larger and more comprehensive data set. This involves the easily computerized process of linking an individual using personal identifier variables across different databases without affecting patient privacy (16). Other data sources, such as census or citizenship data, allow researchers to gain more information about certain target groups' socioeconomic status and lifestyle (34, 35). Linkage with electronic medical records, which includes more detailed information about a patient's health, helps to increase the validity of research findings (36, 37).

## Limitations

Because of health care databases being structured primarily for administrative and billing purposes, they often lack additional clinical information about the diseases of interest, health outcomes, and medications (38). Detailed data about some comorbidities, anthropometric measures, quality of life, education status, physical activity levels, and patient-reported outcomes are usually unavailable or recorded inconsistently and can negatively impact the research process (39-41). Additionally, changes in clinical diagnostic billing coding practices and different software systems that different physicians and institutions use may cause additional gaps in data (41). For example, the mandatory transition from ICD-9 to ICD-10 diagnostic codes in 2015 involved nearly four times more codes (42). Hence, it is important to consider the changing thresholds and other factors for diagnosing certain diseases to prevent overestimation or underestimation of cases when evaluating incidence and outcomes, which is mainly accomplished through regular and rigorous validation studies. To address this, it is essential for policymakers to devise a standard framework surrounding the coding and software system used within institutions to help bridge the data and communication gaps. This will help ensure that the collection of data is more consistent within and between countries and that the information can be used more effectively in research studies.

Patient identification in administrative health data research is usually made upon the basis of specific diagnostic or procedural codes of disease (11). Validation studies that evaluate the different



combination of codes and criteria, also known as "algorithms," are essential when conducting administrative health research, but are currently very limited (11, 43). A scoping review for validation studies of administrative health data from 2014 was able to identify only a very limited number of pediatric validation studies for a wide range of diseases and revealed that most studies focused exclusively on adult populations (44).

When working with larger sample sizes in administrative data research, issues related to statistical analyses may occur. For instance, although associations between outcome variables and exposures present as statistically significant (p < 0.05) due to a large sample size and power, clinical significance is not always evident and should be critically evaluated when

reviewing the results (25). The clustered nature of the data sets in administrative health databases may also result in overestimating associations, which may lead to incorrect conclusions, and ideally should be addressed through models that take into account the hierarchical nature of data present (11).

Just like any other type of study, administrative health data research has the potential to be affected by information bias. Misclassification of an outcome can result when there is unclear or unavailable clinical documentation or a range of definitions for a certain disease, as mentioned previously (16). To address this, adding additional data sources through data linkage can be performed (16). Confounding by indication (also known as indication bias) commonly occurs when people with certain TABLE 1 | Summary of strengths and limitations of administrative health research.

Strengths	Limitations
Large sample size	Gaps in clinical informati
<ul> <li>Reduces sample error and biases</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Lack of information about</li> </ul>

- · Provides information for addressing
- precise clinical research questions

#### Accessibility of data

- Addresses drawbacks of traditional **RCTs**
- Cost-effective
- · Increasingly accessible by the
- broader research community Ability to study rare diseases

#### Long follow-up

- Continuous and long periods of data collection
- Easy follow-up process

#### Ability to link data to other data sources

- Other databases
- Electronic medical records
- Census and surveys

#### ion

- ack of information about certain comorbidities and confounders
- Changes to coding practices contribute to gaps in data

#### Lack of validation studies

- Gaps in literature for validation studies of administrative health data
- Pediatric-focused validation studies are very limited

#### Statistical issues and biases

- · Overestimated statistical significance
- Information/misclassification bias
- · Selection bias More expertise in analysis of
- administrative health databases required

conditions are more likely to get certain tests or diagnoses attributed to them (45). For example, if someone already has AKI, they may be more likely to be diagnosed with CKD, but this does not necessarily mean they were originally at a higher risk for having CKD.

Additionally, selection bias may result when certain diagnostic codes do not selectively represent a condition under study as study samples will be restricted to a special population, especially when consent is required (11). Careful planning of studies should be done to avoid these biases. When carrying out different objectives during an administrative health data-based research study, using a multidisciplinary team of researchers that include statisticians with expertise in health data analysis and modeling of the specific database being used is essential (11, 39).

# VALIDATION STUDIES FOR **ADMINISTRATIVE HEALTH CARE DATA IN** AKI

Since the late 1990s, there has been increasing interest in validating the use of discharge and procedural billing codes from administrative health care data research on AKI, including severe AKI requiring kidney replacement therapy (KRT) (46). In 2011, Vlasschaert et al. published a systematic review on the validity of using administrative codes for AKI and CKD (47). The results of this review showed high specificity but lower sensitivity for identifying AKI using administrative data; of note, sensitivity is improved when administrative health care data are used to identify more severe AKI and/or AKI treated with KRT. We conducted a MEDLINE search with the following search terms: (1) acute kidney injury, aki, acute renal failure, or continuous renal replacement therapy, and (2) admin\* adj3 data\* to identify validation studies published since this systematic review, which identified an additional eight studies. A summary of the results of these studies (48-55) and a selection of those published in the systematic review (56-61) are included in Table 2. To our knowledge, this represents the most up-to-date summary of validation studies for AKI administrative health research.

We have summarized 14 studies that took place between 2004 and 2020. Validation studies have generally compared cases of AKI identified from administrative data, including diagnostic and/or procedure codes for AKI, to a reference standard. More recent validation studies tended to use ICD-10 codes (50, 52, 55, 59), although many studies utilized ICD-9 codes (51, 53, 54, 56-61). For the most part, the reference standard has consisted of either standardized chart review (48, 50-53, 56, 57, 59) or laboratory data linked to either an (1) electronic health record (49, 51) or (2) administrative database containing data from inpatient and outpatient laboratories (54, 55, 58, 60, 61). The source for the reference standard significantly impacted study size with full chart reviews tending to have much smaller study populations. Early studies used acute renal failure (ARF) (56-61) for the reference standard, but the definition of ARF was not always well-defined. Newer studies have tended toward using KDIGO criteria (62) for AKI using serum creatinine levels as the reference standard (50, 51, 53); two studies used serum creatinine or urine output criteria (51, 53). Several studies compared only patients with more severe AKI against the reference standard (48, 51, 53, 55). Most studies were done in hospitalized adults (48, 50-52, 54-61); two studies examined adults admitted to the ICU (48, 55), and two early studies examined adults post-coronary artery bypass graft (58) operation and post-acute myocardial infarction (59). Only two studies were done in children (49, 53); one study examined hospitalized pediatric patients exposed to nephrotoxins (49) and the other examined pediatric patients admitted to the ICU (53).

Most studies reported various parameters, such as sensitivity, specificity, positive predictive value (PPV), and negative predictive value (NPV) of the administrative data vs. reference data for identifying cases of AKI or ARF. Specificity of administrative data tended to be high (86.7-100%). Studies comparing administrative data to a standardized chart review, regardless of definition used, had a high specificity (>94%) (48-53, 56, 57, 59-61). Two studies compared administrative data to another administrative database and reported reduced specificity (86.7-98.3%); however, these results are likely to be impacted by the quality of data in the administrative database used as a reference standard and are less reliable. However, sensitivity tended to be highly variable (5.9-94.5%). Studies with higher severity of AKI or AKI receiving KRT or ARF generally reported a higher sensitivity. When compared to standardized chart review as the reference standard (51, 53), administrative data identified patients with stage 3 AKI by KDIGO criteria with a sensitivity of 36.5% in hospitalized adults (51), 14.3% in pediatric cardiac surgery patients in ICU (53), and 42.2% for pediatric non-cardiac surgery patients in ICU (53). In one study of billing codes of adult hospitalizations, applying criteria for creatinine or urine output

References	Validated Measure	Study Population	N	Administrative Health Data Source	Reference Standard			Study Findings			Limitations
Quan et al. (56)	ARF	Adults hospitalized in Canada in	1,200 (600 medical service, 600 general	Discharge billing codes, including ICD-9 diagnostic codes for	Standardized review of medical charts for ARF		Sensitivity-% (CI)	Specificity-% (CI)	PPV-% (CI)	NPV-% (CI)	- Small sample size may limit generalizability
		1996–1997	surgical service)	ARF		ARF	33.3 (CI NR)	99.1 (CI NR)	15.4 (CI NR)	99.7 (CI NR)	<ul> <li>Reference standard definition of ARF is unclear</li> <li>Cohort admitted in 1996–1997; higher sensitivity may be apparent based on more current practices and increased AKI awareness</li> </ul>
Liangos et al. (57)	ARF	Adults without ESRD hospitalized in	13,237	NHDS administrative database, which provides discharge	Standardized review of medical charts with ARF defined using		Sensitivity-% (CI)	Specificity-% (CI)	PPV-% (CI)	NPV-% (CI)	- Cohort admitted in 2001; higher sensitivit may be apparent
		USA in 2001		billing codes, including ICD-9 diagnostic and procedure codes for ARF	variable change (104, 105)	ARF	19.2 (CI NR)	99.6 (CI NR)	87.6 (CI NR)	90.1 (CI NR)	based on more curren practices and increased AKI awareness - Validation study dom in single tertiary centre which may limit generalizability
Parker et al. (58)	ARF	Adults hospitalized for CABG in USA	38,230	Discharge billing codes using ICD-9 diagnostic codes for ARF			Sensitivity-% (CI)	Specificity-% (CI)	PPV-% (CI)	NPV-% (CI)	- CABG cohort may limit generalizability - Absence of a "gold
		from 2000 to 2001			registry data, including complications	ARF	22.4 (CI NR)	98.3 (CI NR)	31.7 (CI NR)	97.3 (CI NR)	standard," Reference standard did not use chart reviewed data and definition of ARF is unclear - Cohort admitted in 2000–2001; higher sensitivity may be apparent based on more current practice
											and increased AKI awareness

TABLE 2 Summary of validation studies for acute kidney injury and renal replacement therapy codes in adults and pediatric administrative health research.

(Continued)

Administrative Data and Acute Kidney Injury

# Frontiers in Pediatrics | www.frontiersin.org

TABLE 2 | Continued

#### References Validated Study Ν Administrative Reference Study Findings Limitations Measure Population Health Data Standard Source So et al. (59) ARF Adults 193 Discharge billing codes Standardized review of Small sample size, Sensitivity-% Specificity-% PPV-% (CI) NPV-% (CI) cohort with AMI mav hospitalized using either ICD-9 medical charts for ARF (CI) (CI) with AMI in (from 1994 to 2000) limit generalizability ARF 80.0 95.5 and ICD-10 (from 2001 60.0 (36.05- 98.3 - Reference standard Canada from (ICD-10, (51.91-95.67) (91.34-98.04) 80.88) (95.02-99.64) 1994 to 2004 to 2004) diagnostic and was collected in a 2001-2004) procedure codes for different province and ARF definition of ARF ARF (ICD-9, 80.0 98.3 80.0 (51.91- 98.3 (95.15-99.65) is unclear (95.15-99.65) 1994–2000) (51.91–95.67) 95.67) - Cohort admitted in 1994–2004; higher sensitivity may be apparent based on more current practices and increased AKI awareness Waikar et al. ARF Adults 26,751 NIS administrative Linked laboratory and - Reference standard Specificity-% PPV-% (CI) NPV-% (CI) Sensitivity-% (60) hospitalized in admissions database, which hospital administrative based on laboratory (CI) (CI) USA in 1994 (19,206 in 2002; provides discharge data with ARF defined data may have resulted ARF (2002) 29.3 (CI NR) 97.4 (CI NR) 59.1 (CI NR) 91.5 (CI NR) and 2002 7.545 in 1994) billing codes, including as 100% increase in misclassification of ICD-9 diagnostic and between nadir and ARF as ARF (1994) 17.4 (CI NR) 98.7 (CI NR) 63.5 (CI NR) 89.9 (CI NR) procedure codes for peak SCr diagnostic standard ARF - Cohort admitted in 1994 and 2002; higher sensitivity may be apparent based on more current practices and increased AKI awareness - Validation study done in two academic centres, which may limit generalizability

(Continued)

Administrative Data and Acute Kidney Injun

# TABLE 2 | Continued

References	Validated Measure	Study Population	N	Administrative Health Data Source	Reference Standard			Study Findings			Limitations
Waikar et al. (61)	ARF	Adults hospitalized in USA in 2004	99,629	Discharge billing codes, including ICD-9 diagnostic and	Linked laboratory and hospital administrative data with ARF defined		Sensitivity-% (CI)	Specificity-% (Cl)	PPV-% (CI)	NPV-% (CI)	- Reference standard based on laboratory data may have resulted
				procedure codes for ARF	using nadir and peak SCr: (1) 100% change and (2) a variable change (104, 105);	ARF [by Variable Change (104, 105)]	28.3 (CI NR)	99.0 (CI NR)	80.2 (CI NR)	91.0 (CI NR)	in misclassification of ARF as diagnostic standard - Sampling strategy for
					standardized review of 300 charts for ARF requiring dialysis	ARF (Requiring Dialysis)	90.4 (CI NR)	93.8 (CI NR)	94.0 (CI NR)	90.0 (CI NR)	chart review of ARF requiring dialysis may overestimate sensitivity
						ARF (by 100% Change)	35.4 (CI NR)	97.7 (CI NR)	47.9 (CI NR)	96.1 (CI NR)	
Blichert- Hansen et al. (48)	AKI-RRT	Adults admitted to ICU in	50	Danish National Patient Registry, which includes discharge	Standardized review of medical charts for ARF-RRT, including		Sensitivity-% (CI)	Specificity-% (Cl)	PPV-% (CI)	NPV-% (CI)	- Small sample size limits generalizability - Study limited to
( )		Denmark between 2005 and 2010		procedure codes for AKI-RRT	acute HD or CRRT	AKI-RRT	NR	NR	98 (91.0–99.8)	NR	AKI-RRT only - Sensitivity, specificity, and NPV could not
		and 2010									be reported
Schaffzin et al. (49)	AKI	Children hospitalized in USA_exposed	747 from retrospective cohort; 261 from	Pediatric Health Information System, which includes	Standardized review of medical charts, merged with electronic medical		Sensitivity-% (CI)	Specificity-% (CI)	PPV-% (CI)	NPV-% (CI)	- Small sample size, single-center data may limit generalizability
		to 3+ nephrotoxins at once OR 3+	prior prospective cohort (106)	medication and discharge billing codes for AKI	record, using pRIFLE definition (using SCr criteria for R, I, and F	AKI (using retrospectiv cohort)		) 95.0 (93.1–96.6)	) 36.5 (23.6–51.0)	90.9 (88.6–93.0)	- pRIFLE criteria may still underestimate nephrotoxin-associated
		days of aminoglycoside therapy from 2011 to 2012	8		strata)	AKI [using prospective cohort (106)]		) 94.2 (90.1–97.5)	) 57.7 (38.7–76.7)	76.6 (71.2–82.0)	AKI without daily screening, as in the prospective cohort

(Continued)

Administrative Data and Acute Kidney Injury

# Frontiers in Pediatrics | www.frontiersin.org

TABLE 2 | Continued

#### N Administrative References Validated Study Reference Study Findings Limitations Measure Population Health Data Standard Source Adults without | 121 (58 in 2005, Tomlinson AKI Discharge billing codes, Standardized review of Small sample size, Sensitivity-% Specificity-% PPV-% (CI) NPV-% (CI) et al. (50) ESRD 63 in 2010) including ICD-10 selected medical charts single-center data may (CI) (CI) hospitalized in diagnostic code for AKI using KDIGO AKI limit generalizability AKI NR NR 95 (91–99) NR England in definition (using SCr - One diagnostic code 2005 and examined only criteria) AKI, 2005 NR NR 95 (89–100) NR 2010 - Sensitivity, specificity, Only and NPV could not AKI, 2010 NR NR 94 (88–100) NR be reported Only Discharge billing Grams et al. AKI Adults without 10,056 Standardized review of - Cohort admitted Specificity-% PPV-% (CI) NPV-% (CI) Sensitivity-% (51) ESRD codes, including ICD-9 selected medical charts between 1996 and (CI) (CI) hospitalized in diagnostic and using KDIGO AKI 2008; nearly 50% of AKI (vs. 17.4 (11.6–23.1) 99.6 (99.3–99.9) 92.0 81.8 the US procedure codes for definition (using hospitalizations used (85.9–98.2) (76.5-87.2) Chart between 1996 AKI SCr criteria) for chart review were Standardized review of Review) and 2008. between 1996 and 2002. Sensitivity Atherosclerosis electronic medical 40.3 (CI NR) NR NR 99.9 (CI NR) Stage 2 or Risk in record using KDIGO significantly increased 3 AKI (vs. Communities when comparing AKI definition (using Chart (ARIC) study SCr or UO criteria) hospitalizations Review) participants between 1996 and Stage 3 AKI 36.5 (CI NR) 99.9 (CI NR) NR NR 2002 vs. 2002 and (vs. Chart 2008; age <65 vs. ≥65 Review) years. This may reflect AKI (vs. 11.7 (8.8–14.5) 98.9 (98.2–99.5) 83.5 69.3 increased Electronic (75.4–91.7) (66.9–71.7) AKI awareness Medical - Electronic medical Record) record data is from one center, which may limit generalizability

(Continued)

Administrative Data and Acute Kidney Injun

## TABLE 2 | Continued

References	Validated Measure	Study Population	N	Administrative Health Data Source	Reference Standard			Study Findings			Limitations
Maass et al. (52)	ARF	Adults, aged 65 years or older, hospitalized in Germany between May- December 2010	3000 (of which 1500 were post-operative)	Discharge billing codes, including ICD-10 diagnostic and procedure codes for ARF	Standardized review of selected medical charts for ARF	ARF	Sensitivity-% (Cl) 17.6 (12.7–24.1)	<b>Specificity-%</b> (CI) 99.2 (98.7–99.4)			- KDIGO criteria not applied
D'Arienzo et al. (53)	AKI	Children (aged 0–18 years) without ESRD admitted to pediatric ICU	2051 (355 cardiac surgery, 1696 non-cardiac surgery)	Provincial health care administrative database using ICD-9 primary and secondary diagnostic and dialysis	Standardized chart review using KDIGO AKI definition (using SCr or UO criteria) and severity	Cardiac Surgery,	Sensitivity-% (CI) 5.9 (4.7–7.6)	<b>Specificity-%</b> (CI) 100 (99.2–100)	<b>PPV-% (CI)</b> 100 (88.2–100)	<b>NPV-% (CI)</b> 49.4 (47.5–51.4)	- Small sample size for cardiac surgery cohort - Center-specific practices may limit generalizability
		in Canada between 2003 and 2005		procedure codes	Soverty	Any AKI Cardiac Surgery, Stage 2 or Worse AKI	14.1 (10.8–18.2	99.3 (98.7–99.7)		84.0 (82.5–85.4)	- Cohort admitted     between 2003 and     2005; higher sensitivity     may be apparent     based on more current
						Cardiac Surgery, Stage 3 AKI		98.1 (97.3–98.7)	45.5 (31.7–59.8)	91.3 (90.0–92.4)	practices and increased AKI awareness
						Non- Cardiac, Any AKI	13.8 (12.6–15.1)	99.1 (98.9–99.3)	82.4 (78.2–85.8)	78.5 (77.8–79.2)	-
						Non- Cardiac, Stage 2 or Worse AKI	23.6 (21.3–26.1)	98.3 (98.0–98.5)	) 61.8 (57.0–66.3)	91.7 (91.1–92.1)	
						Non- Cardiac, Stage 3 AKI		98.0 (97.7–98.2)	51.5 (46.7–56.2)	97.1 (96.7–97.3)	
Etzioni et al. (54)	ARF	Adults hospitalized for surgical operations across 8 hospitals in USA between 2013 and 2015	41,432 surgical hospitalizations (37% general surgery, 20% orthopedic)	Intra-hospital administrative data using ICD-9 codes diagnostic and dialysis procedure codes	ACS' NSQIP administrative data, including patient information, treatment, and complications	NSQIP data Hospital-spe	for ARF: 0.10. cific concordanc	value) between ar e was not statistic t inter-hospital he	cally significan	t (P =	<ul> <li>Absence of a "gold standard," Reference standard did not use chart reviewed data and confirm AKI using SCr or UO data</li> <li>Significant inter-hospital variability is likely contributory to poor concordance</li> </ul>

(Continued)

References Validated Measure	Validated Measure	Study Population	z	Administrative Health Data Source	Reference Standard			Study Findings			Limitations
Garland et al. AKI-RRT (55)	AKI-RRT	Adults (aged 40 years or older),		ICD-10	Clinical data from combined Winnipeg ICU database and		Sensitivity-% (Cl)	Sensitivity-%         Specificity-%         PPV-%         (CI)         NPV-%         (CI)           (CI)         (CI)         (CI)         00         0         00         0         00         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0	PPV-% (CI)	NPV-% (CI)	- Single-center data may limit generalizability
		requiring life support,	urlique ir laiviauais	ulagriostic and procedure codes. For	iviar ilioua ulaiysis registry	2000	(0.00-3.00) 3.30		-57.9)	(99.5–99.7)	- Absence or a goid standard," Reference
		admitted to 11 adult ICUs in Canada between 2007		RRT, codes representing intermittent or continuous HD,		Above + HD Catheter Codes	92.3 (90.3–93.9)	92.3 (90.3–93.9) 96.2 (96.0–96.5) 52.8 (50.3	-55.3)	99.6 (99.5–99.7)	standard did not use chart reviewed data and confirm AKI using SCr or UO data
		and 2012		excluding PD, were used		Above + ARF Diagnostic Codes	94.5 (92.8–95.9)	94.5 (92.8–95.9) 86.7 (86.2–87.1) 24.4 (23.0	-25.9)	99.7 (99.6–99.8)	
ACS' NSQIP, A coronary artery Classification oi not reported; P	merican College bypass graft; Ci Disease, Tenth i C, peritoneal dial	of Surgeons' Nativ I, confidence inten Revision; ICU, inte Vysis; PPV, positive	onal Surgical Quality Ir val; CART, continuous msive care unit; KDIG( predictive value; SCr,	ACS 'NSOIP, American College of Surgeons' National Surgical Quality Improvement Program; AKI, acute kidney injury; AKI-RFT, AKI receiving renal replacement therapy; AMI, acute myocardial infarction; AFF, acute renal failure; CABG, coronary artery bypass graft; CI, confidence interval; CAFT, continuous renal replacement therapy; ESRD, and-stage renal disease. HD, hemodialysis; ICD-9, International Classification of Disease, Ninth Revision; ICD-10, International Classification of Disease, Ninth Revision; ICD-10, International Classification of Disease, Ninth Revision; ICD-10, International Classification of Disease, IPP, international Classification of Disease, Ninth Revision; ICD-10, International Classification of Disease, PPV, positive predictive value; SC, serum creatinine; UO, urine output.	cute kidney injury: AKI-RI r, ESRD, end-stage renal d 1g Global Outcomes; NHDS e output.	RT, AKI receivir lisease; HD, hϵ S, National Hot	ng renal replaceme emodialysis; ICD-9 spital Discharge Su	ant therapy; AMI, a , International Clas 	acute myocardis ssification of Dis wide Inpatient S	ll infarction; ARF sease, Ninth Rev ample; NPV, ne	acute renal failure; CABG, ision; ICD-10, International jative predictive value; NR,

did not improve sensitivity of administrative health care data, relative to chart review, using creatinine only (sensitivity 11.7 vs. 17.4%) (51). Of note, the authors used KDIGO criteria for creatinine, but a more stringent definition for urine output, to improve sensitivity. In another study of children admitted to ICU, sensitivity was also not improved when using creatinine or urine output criteria, relative to creatinine alone (53). However, urine output criteria alone, relative to creatinine alone, had higher sensitivity for detecting any AKI (13.7 vs. 5.9%) and for detecting stage 2 or worse AKI (18.2 vs. 14.1%). NPV was more variable (49.4–99.7%), but most reported an NPV of >80%. PPV was more variable (24.4–100%), but most reported PPV of >50%. These results are consistent with those published in an earlier systematic review (47).

There are a number of limitations when validating administrative data for AKI. The most significant problems are related to the fact that the definition of AKI has changed significantly in the past 15 years, which is certainly a source of misclassification bias of AKI outcomes (16). Although oliguria has been associated with increased mortality in ICU populations and is an important component of the KDIGO definition (3, 63), urine output data are also difficult to extract from administrative databases and even chart review (51). Most validation studies have used creatinine criteria alone. Further validation studies are required to validate the use of billing codes using KDIGO criteria, different stages of severity, and inclusion of serum creatinine and/or urine output criteria for use in administrative health research.

There are additional challenges with validity when interpreting data based on physician billing codes. Physician billing practices change as our understanding of the significant morbidity and mortality associated with AKI evolves over time. For example, it is unclear whether practice changes are responsible for the increasing incidence of AKI observed from administrative health studies; however, the only study comparing administrative data at different time periods (2005 vs. 2010) did not show any significant change in PPV over time (50). Many administrative databases report only a limited number of billing codes; therefore, patients with milder AKI may be underrepresented. As well, billing codes have continued and will continue to change over time, requiring repeated validation of newer codes (16, 64). However, one study comparing administrative data derived from ICD-9 vs. ICD-10 billing codes showed no change in sensitivity (80.0%) and only a small decrease in specificity (98.3 vs. 95.5%), respectively (59).

Another major issue is limited generalizability, or external validity, given the significant heterogeneity of these studies (16). For example, the study by D'Arienzo et al. suggests that sensitivity may be lower in pediatric patients with milder AKI and/or post-cardiac surgery (53). The study by Schaffzin et al. suggests that sensitivity is lower in pediatric patients with nephrotoxin-related AKI (49). These results reflect the significant heterogeneity in the populations studied, including age, disease severity, and etiology of AKI. Furthermore, practice standards are highly variable for the recognition and management of AKI, and this may be different across countries or academic vs. community centers. The reference standard is usually based on standardized

TABLE 2 | Continued

chart review at one to two academic centers; these results may not be generalizable to nationwide practice for patients with AKI. Finally, administrative databases may not capture certain segments of the population in countries where there is both universal public and private health care systems and/or large uninsured populations (16).

In summary, these validation studies continue to be limited by variable definitions for AKI, significant heterogeneity of data sources and population studies, and reduced generalizability. Future studies are needed to further validate subpopulations, particularly in the pediatric population; as well, standardized guidelines for defining AKI using discharge billing codes will be essential in improving the applicability of administrative data to AKI health research (19).

# EPIDEMIOLOGY AND OUTCOMES OF AKI

Administrative health research has served as an important methodological source for a number of observational epidemiology studies, which have fundamentally changed our understanding of AKI. This section will focus on studies in AKI conducted using administrative health data in the past 5 years.

#### Incidence

AKI is common in hospitalized patients with particularly high incidence rates seen in critically ill, post-cardiac surgery, oncology, and nephrotoxin-exposed adults and children (1, 3, 62, 65, 66). However, there have been conflicting results regarding the changing temporal trends in AKI and AKI receiving KRT. One of the first studies used a national database to identify cases of AKI receiving KRT using ICD-9 codes and found that from 2000 to 2009, the incidence had increased by an average of 10% per year (67). Another study identified more than 18,000 adult patients with AKI receiving KRT using ICD-10 codes between 2000 and 2012 (68). The authors found that the crude incidence rate of AKI receiving KRT increased nearly 3-fold from 2000 to 2006; although the rate of growth remained stable between 2006 and 2012, the use of continuous renal replacement therapy (CRRT) increased throughout this period and especially in patients >75 years with high comorbid disease. In children, a similar trend of dialysis receiving AKI has been reported (69). Our group found an increasing trend in the incidence of AKI, as well as use of hemodialysis and CRRT among hospitalized children (1 month to 18 years) in Ontario, Canada (69). However, another large study, which compared the annual AKI incidence rate using data from an electronic health record surveillance tool and administrative data (70), found no difference in AKI incidence between 2006 and 2014 when adjusted for age and sex using either data source.

## **Short-Term Outcomes**

Health administrative databases have improved our understanding that AKI is independently associated with increased hospital mortality and morbidity, including length of hospital and ICU stay, and increased health care costs. One study in Japan across more than 280 hospitals showed a decreasing trend in crude in-hospital mortality from 45% in 2007 to 36% in 2016 (71). An Italian study showed in-hospital mortality rate of nearly 30% with the highest risk being in patients with AKI receiving KRT [odds ratio, 2.7; 95% confidence interval (CI), 2.7–2.8] (72). Finally, another Canadian study showed mortality rates between 30 and 40% for adult patients with AKI receiving KRT, but no association with increased mortality in centers who manage a lower volume of patients requiring KRT (73). The Canadian study in children with AKI receiving KRT also examined 30-day mortality, finding an increased rate from 14 to 25% between 1996 and 2009, although this rate subsequently decreased to 19% by 2015 (69). Another study in Japan included pediatric patients (>12 years) and reported 50% in-hospital mortality rate for patients treated with CRRT (74).

Several studies have also described rates of renal recovery, as well as the recurrence risk after AKI, both of which reflect a growing appreciation for AKI as a dynamic process (75–78). A study of critically ill children in Canada showed that children with stage 3 AKI were more than 3-fold likely to have elevated serum creatinine at discharge (>1.5× baseline), relative to those without stage 3 AKI (79). A small study examined children who received ventricular assist devices (VADs) for heart failure and subsequently went on to undergo heart transplant (80). Those children without renal recovery (serum creatinine  $\geq 1.5 \times$  baseline) 7 days after VAD implantation, relative to children who had full recovery, were not at increased risk for CKD at 1 year following heart transplant; however, those with reduced estimated glomerular filtration rate 1 month after VAD implantation were at increased risk for CKD.

There is also increased interest in the relative cost and burden associated with AKI. One study in Alberta, Canada, estimated the incremental cost of AKI to be more than Canadian \$200 million per year (81). Patients with AKI receiving KRT had prolonged length of stay by more than 7 days and increased cost by up to \$20,000, relative to patients without AKI. Another large study of adults from Alberta, Canada, undergoing cardiac surgery also showed increased length of stay and costs associated with increased AKI severity (82).

# **Risk Factors**

Risk factors for AKI in hospitalized patients include extremes of age, underlying illness (i.e., sepsis, cardiovascular disease with or without bypass surgery, oncologic disease), nephrotoxin exposure, inflammatory mediators (i.e., cytokine release), and disease severity (62, 75, 83–89). A large study in the United States of 3.6 million postsurgical patients found that AKI was common postoperatively, affecting more than 10% of hospitalized patients (86). AKI in patients with CKD is also an important risk factor for subsequent progression to ESKD (88). One study highlighted that patients who progressed from stage 3 to stage 4 CKD also had a high risk for AKI (89). Other subpopulations noted to be at increased risk for AKI-related morbidity and mortality include adults with decompensated liver disease (90) and stroke (91).

A number of studies have examined the impact of nephrotoxic medications using administrative health data (92–98). One study in hospitalized children across six of the largest children's hospitals in the United States found that combined use of vancomycin with piperacillin/tazobactam conferred more than 3-fold increased risk for antibiotic-associated AKI, relative to vancomycin with another antipseudomonal antibiotic (93). Other nephrotoxins examined include non-steroidal antiinflammatory drugs in young, healthy adults (94), brands and dosing of immunoglobulin products (95), and statin use in elderly patients (96), all of which showed modest associations with AKI. Administrative data were also used to develop an evidence-based nephrotoxin medication list that could be used as part of a screening program for AKI in children (98).

#### **Long-Term Outcomes**

AKI is associated with increased risk for development of cardiovascular disease, CKD, and ESKD in adults (1, 75, 78, 83, 99). A study in Northern California, including more than 43,000 patients, showed that AKI in adults is independently associated with HTN as early as 6 months after initial event (99). Another large study of more than 100,000 patients in the United States showed that more than 30% of hospitalized adults with AKI went on to develop CKD at 1-year follow-up (78).

The risks of long-term kidney and cardiovascular sequelae after pediatric AKI remain uncertain, at least partially due to the fact that studies have lacked comparator cohorts, have had high losses to follow-up, and/or have had short followup periods. Recent prospective cohort studies have conflicting results; TRIBE-AKI, FRAIL-AKI, and ASSESS-AKI all found that cardiac surgery-associated AKI survivors have similar 4–7-year kidney outcomes vs. children without AKI (24–26), whereas Benisty et al. found higher long-term risks of CKD and HTN among survivors of ICU-associated AKI (27). Although there is a clear signal of increased CKD risk among pediatric AKI survivors in other cohort studies (6, 13, 28–30), the long-term outcomes after episodes of dialysis-receiving AKI remain uncertain.

Health administrative databases provide a unique opportunity to follow children many years after an episode of AKI, even after the age of 18 years, to study their long-term outcomes. Moreover, CKD and HTN-related cardiovascular changes start early in life; therefore, it is essential to understand the timing and magnitude of the onset of these events after an episode of AKI, so that appropriate treatment can be initiated in time to address these risk factors and avoid or delay future cardiovascular disease (100). Current AKI guidelines in neonates and children do not provide recommendations for long-term follow-up, primarily due to a lack of studies with robust data.

Several studies have examined long-term outcomes in hospitalized children with AKI. A recent study from Ontario using administrative health data with median 10-year follow-up compared children surviving AKI receiving KRT with hospitalmatched controls (101). The authors found that these children had significantly increased hazard for major adverse kidney events (composite outcome of kidney failure and all-cause mortality) [adjusted hazard ratio (HR), 4.97; 95% CI, 4.04– 6.10], CKD (adjusted HR, 8.70; 95% CI, 6.68–11.34), and HTN (adjusted HR, 3.35; 95% CI, 2.59–4.33). Another cohort of critically ill children with AKI in Quebec was also found to have increased risk for mortality 5–7 years following hospital discharge, relative to children without AKI (adjusted HR, 3.1; 95% CI, 1.5–6.6) (6). Health care utilization was also increased for critically ill children with AKI, relative to children without AKI, including increased hospitalizations and physician visits at 5 years following hospital discharge (7). This cohort also had increased risk for HTN (adjusted HR, 2.19; 95% CI, 1.47-3.26) (9) and CKD (adjusted HR, 2.2; 95% CI, 1.1-4.5) (8) at 5-year follow-up, defined using administrative health care data. Another study following critically ill children with congenital heart disease showed that those who developed AKI within 5 days of cardiac surgery were at significantly increased risk for CKD at 5 years, relative to those who did not develop AKI (HR, 3.8; 95% CI, 1.4-10.4) (102). We have also previously reported that, among children who underwent cardiac surgery for congenital heart disease, those who received dialysis for AKI during their index cardiac surgery admission were at a 5-fold higher risk of ESKD (crude HR, 5.0; 95% CI, 2.0-12.6) compared with those who did not receive dialysis during their cardiac surgery admission (103).

# CONCLUSION

Our understanding of AKI has undergone a significant transformation over the past 15 years partly due to methodological advances in which AKI has been studied by epidemiologists (1). Hand-in-hand with a veritable explosion of research demonstrating the morbidity and mortality related to AKI in adults and children, there has been significant attention paid to "big data" (18, 25, 37). Registries containing administrative health care data are readily available, efficient, and large (14, 19). Validation studies have been shown that administrative health care data are highly specific, despite having modest sensitivity, for the diagnosis of AKI. There are important limitations as well, including heterogeneity of data sources and inconsistent reporting on specific outcome measures (i.e., quality of life, patient-reported outcomes). The statements from the ADQI consensus conference recognized many strategies by which administrative health data could be applied to AKI-specific research studies and address knowledge gaps in the field (18-23).

Studies using administrative health care data have expanded our understanding of the incidence, risk factors, and outcomes of AKI in both adults and children. Importantly, we have demonstrated that these clinically relevant findings have been supported by results from traditional data sources. Continued progress in the application of large data sources to epidemiological studies will continue to further our understanding of important patient-related outcomes of adults and children with AKI.

# **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

EU drafted the manuscript, prepared the figures, and reviewed and revised the manuscript. GS also contributed to the manuscript and reviewed and revised the manuscript. RC supervised the manuscript preparation and reviewed and revised the manuscript for intellectual content. MZ reviewed and revised the manuscript for intellectual content. All authors approved the final manuscript as submitted.

# REFERENCES

- Chawla LS, Bellomo R, Bihorac A, Goldstein SL, Siew ED, Bagshaw SM, et al. Acute kidney disease and renal recovery: consensus report of the Acute Disease Quality Initiative (ADQI) 16 Workgroup. *Nat Rev Nephrol.* (2017) 13:241–57. doi: 10.1038/nrneph.2017.2
- Zappitelli M, Moffett BS, Hyder A, Goldstein SL. Acute kidney injury in non-critically ill children treated with aminoglycoside antibiotics in a tertiary healthcare centre: a retrospective cohort study. *Nephrol Dial Transplant*. (2011) 26:144–50. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfq375
- Kaddourah A, Basu RK, Bagshaw SM, Goldstein SL. Epidemiology of acute kidney injury in critically Ill children and young adults. N Engl J Med. (2017) 376:11–20. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1611391
- Li S, Krawczeski CD, Zappitelli M, Devarajan P, Thiessen-Philbrook H, Coca SG, et al. Incidence, risk factors, and outcomes of acute kidney injury after pediatric cardiac surgery: a prospective multicenter study. *Crit Care Med.* (2011) 39:1493–9. doi: 10.1097/CCM.0b013e31821201d3
- Coca SG, Singanamala S, Parikh CR. Chronic kidney disease after acute kidney injury: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Kidney Int.* (2012) 81:442–8. doi: 10.1038/ki.2011.379
- Hessey E, Morissette G, Lacroix J, Perreault S, Samuel S, Dorais M, et al. Long-term mortality after acute kidney injury in the pediatric ICU. *Hosp Pediatr.* (2018) 8:260–8. doi: 10.1542/hpeds.2017-0215
- Hessey E, Morissette G, Lacroix J, Perreault S, Samuel S, Dorais M, et al. Healthcare utilization after acute kidney injury in the pediatric intensive care unit. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol.* (2018) 13:685–92. doi: 10.2215/CJN.09350817
- Hessey E, Perreault S, Dorais M, Roy L, Zappitelli M. Acute kidney injury in critically Ill children and subsequent chronic kidney disease. *Can J Kidney Health Dis.* (2019) 6:2054358119880188. doi: 10.1177/2054358119880188
- Hessey E, Perreault S, Roy L, Dorais M, Samuel S, Phan V, et al. Acute kidney injury in critically ill children and 5-year hypertension. *Pediatr Nephrol.* (2020) 35:1097–107. doi: 10.1007/s00467-020-04488-5
- Misra PS, Silva ESV, Collister D. Roadblocks and opportunities to the implementation of novel therapies for acute kidney injury: a narrative review. *Can J Kidney Health Dis.* (2019) 6:2054358119880519. doi: 10.1177/2054358119880519
- Mazzali C, Duca P. Use of administrative data in healthcare research. Intern Emerg Med. (2015) 10:517–24. doi: 10.1007/s11739-015-1213-9
- 12. Cadarette SM, Wong L. An introduction to health care administrative data. *Can J Hosp Pharm.* (2015) 68:232–7. doi: 10.4212/cjhp.v68i3.1457
- Lucyk K, Tang K, Quan H. Barriers to data quality resulting from the process of coding health information to administrative data: a qualitative study. *BMC Health Serv Res.* (2017) 17:766. doi: 10.1186/s12913-017-2697-y
- Sutherland SM. Big data and pediatric acute kidney injury: the promise of electronic health record systems. *Front Pediatr.* (2019) 7:536. doi: 10.3389/fped.2019.00536
- Skull SA, Andrews RM, Byrnes GB, Campbell DA, Nolan TM, Brown GV, et al. ICD-10 codes are a valid tool for identification of pneumonia in hospitalized patients aged > or = 65 years. *Epidemiol Infect.* (2008) 136:232-40. doi: 10.1017/S0950268807008564
- Gavrielov-Yusim N, Friger M. Use of administrative medical databases in population-based research. J Epidemiol Community Health. (2014) 68:283– 7. doi: 10.1136/jech-2013-202744
- O'Malley KJ, Cook KF, Price MD, Wildes KR, Hurdle JF, Ashton CM. Measuring diagnoses: ICD code accuracy. *Health Serv Res.* (2005) 40:1620– 39. doi: 10.1111/j.1475-6773.2005.00444.x
- Bagshaw SM, Goldstein SL, Ronco C, Kellum JA, Group AC. Acute kidney injury in the era of big data: the 15th Consensus Conference of the Acute Dialysis Quality Initiative (ADQI). *Can J Kidney Health Dis.* (2016) 3:5. doi: 10.1186/s40697-016-0103-z
- Siew ED, Basu RK, Wunsch H, Shaw AD, Goldstein SL, Ronco C, et al. Optimizing administrative datasets to examine acute kidney injury in the era of big data: workgroup statement from the 15th ADQI Consensus Conference. *Can J Kidney Health Dis.* (2016) 3:12. doi: 10.1186/s40697-016-0098-5
- 20. James MT, Hobson CE, Darmon M, Mohan S, Hudson D, Goldstein SL, et al. Applications for detection of acute kidney injury using electronic medical records and clinical information systems: workgroup statements

from the 15th ADQI Consensus Conference. *Can J Kidney Health Dis.* (2016) 3:9. doi: 10.1186/s40697-016-0100-2

- Hoste EA, Kashani K, Gibney N, Wilson FP, Ronco C, Goldstein SL, et al. Impact of electronic-alerting of acute kidney injury: workgroup statements from the 15th ADQI Consensus Conference. *Can J Kidney Health Dis.* (2016) 3:10. doi: 10.1186/s40697-016-0101-1
- 22. Sutherland SM, Chawla LS, Kane-Gill SL, Hsu RK, Kramer AA, Goldstein SL, et al. Utilizing electronic health records to predict acute kidney injury risk and outcomes: workgroup statements from the 15th ADQI Consensus Conference. *Can J Kidney Health Dis.* (2016) 3:11. doi: 10.1186/s40697-016-0099-4
- 23. Mehta R, Bihorac A, Selby NM, Quan H, Goldstein SL, Kellum JA, et al. Establishing a continuum of acute kidney injury tracing AKI using data source linkage and long-term follow-up: Workgroup Statements from the 15th ADQI Consensus Conference. *Can J Kidney Health Dis.* (2016) 3:13. doi: 10.1186/s40697-016-0102-0
- Nguyen LL, Barshes NR. Analysis of large databases in vascular surgery. J Vasc Surg. (2010) 52:768–74. doi: 10.1016/j.jvs.2010.03.027
- Ehrenstein V, Nielsen H, Pedersen AB, Johnsen SP, Pedersen L. Clinical epidemiology in the era of big data: new opportunities, familiar challenges. *Clin Epidemiol.* (2017) 9:245–50. doi: 10.2147/CLEP.S129779
- 26. Al-Jaishi AA, McIntyre CW, Sontrop JM, Dixon SN, Anderson S, Bagga A, et al. major outcomes with personalized dialysate TEMPerature (MyTEMP): rationale and design of a pragmatic, registry-based, cluster randomized controlled trial. *Can J Kidney Health Dis.* (2020) 7:2054358119887988. doi: 10.1177/2054358119887988
- Ishiguro L, Saskin R, Vermeulen MJ, Yates E, Gunraj N, Victor JC. Increasing access to health administrative data with ICES data & analytic services. *Healthc Q.* (2016) 19:7–9. doi: 10.12927/hcq.2016.24617
- Chiu ATG, Chung CCY, Wong WHS, Lee SL, Chung BHY. Healthcare burden of rare diseases in Hong Kong - adopting ORPHAcodes in ICD-10 based healthcare administrative datasets. Orphanet J Rare Dis. (2018) 13:147. doi: 10.1186/s13023-018-0892-5
- Chibnik LB, Massarotti EM, Costenbader KH. Identification and validation of lupus nephritis cases using administrative data. *Lupus*. (2010) 19:741– 3. doi: 10.1177/0961203309356289
- Evans E, Grella CE, Murphy DA, Hser YI. Using administrative data for longitudinal substance abuse research. J Behav Health Serv Res. (2010) 37:252-71. doi: 10.1007/s11414-008-9125-3
- Pannu N, James M, Hemmelgarn B, Klarenbach S, Network AKD. Association between AKI, recovery of renal function, and long-term outcomes after hospital discharge. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol.* (2013) 8:194– 202. doi: 10.2215/CJN.06480612
- Edelman LS, Guo JW, Fraser A, Beck SL. Linking clinical research data to population databases. *Nurs Res.* (2013) 62:438–44. doi: 10.1097/NNR.00000000000002
- Roos LL, Nicol JP, Cageorge SM. Using administrative data for longitudinal research: comparisons with primary data collection. J Chronic Dis. (1987) 40:41–9. doi: 10.1016/0021-9681(87)90095-6
- Rezai MR, Maclagan LC, Donovan LR, Tu JV. Classification of Canadian immigrants into visible minority groups using country of birth and mother tongue. *Open Med.* (2013) 7:e85–93.
- Rosella LC, Fitzpatrick T, Wodchis WP, Calzavara A, Manson H, Goel V. High-cost health care users in Ontario, Canada: demographic, socioeconomic, and health status characteristics. *BMC Health Serv Res.* (2014) 14:532. doi: 10.1186/s12913-014-0532-2
- Tu K, Mitiku TF, Ivers NM, Guo H, Lu H, Jaakkimainen L, et al. Evaluation of Electronic Medical Record Administrative data Linked Database (EMRALD). *Am J Manag Care*. (2014) 20:e15–21.
- Sutherland SM, Goldstein SL, Bagshaw SM. Leveraging big data and electronic health records to enhance novel approaches to acute kidney injury research and care. *Blood Purif.* (2017) 44:68–76. doi: 10.1159/000458751
- Motheral BR, Fairman KA. The use of claims databases for outcomes research: rationale, challenges, and strategies. *Clin Ther.* (1997) 19:346– 66. doi: 10.1016/S0149-2918(97)80122-1
- 39. Mazzali C, Paganoni AM, Ieva F, Masella C, Maistrello M, Agostoni O, et al. Methodological issues on the use of administrative data in healthcare research: the case of heart failure hospitalizations

in Lombardy region, 2000 to 2012. BMC Health Serv Res. (2016) 16:234. doi: 10.1186/s12913-016-1489-0

- Sharabiani MT, Aylin P, Bottle A. Systematic review of comorbidity indices for administrative data. *Med Care.* (2012) 50:1109–18. doi: 10.1097/MLR.0b013e31825f64d0
- Peabody JW, Luck J, Jain S, Bertenthal D, Glassman P. Assessing the accuracy of administrative data in health information systems. *Med Care*. (2004) 42:1066–72. doi: 10.1097/00005650-200411000-00005
- 42. Fung KW, Richesson R, Smerek M, Pereira KC, Green BB, Patkar A, et al. Preparing for the ICD-10-CM transition: automated methods for translating ICD codes in clinical phenotype definitions. *EGEMS*. (2016) 4:1211. doi: 10.13063/2327-9214.1211
- 43. Cella D, Riley W, Stone A, Rothrock N, Reeve B, Yount S, et al. The Patient-Reported Outcomes Measurement Information System (PROMIS) developed and tested its first wave of adult self-reported health outcome item banks: 2005-2008. J Clin Epidemiol. (2010) 63:1179–94. doi: 10.1016/j.jclinepi.2010.04.011
- Shiff NJ, Jama S, Boden C, Lix LM. Validation of administrative health data for the pediatric population: a scoping review. *BMC Health Serv Res.* (2014) 14:236. doi: 10.1186/1472-6963-14-236
- Brookhart MA, Stürmer T, Glynn RJ, Rassen J, Schneeweiss S. Confounding control in healthcare database research: challenges and potential approaches. *Med Care.* (2010) 48:S114–20. doi: 10.1097/MLR.0b013e3181dbebe3
- 46. Geraci JM, Ashton CM, Kuykendall DH, Johnson ML, Wu L. International Classification of Diseases, 9th Revision, Clinical Modification codes in discharge abstracts are poor measures of complication occurrence in medical inpatients. *Med Care.* (1997) 35:589–602. doi: 10.1097/00005650-199706000-00005
- Vlasschaert ME, Bejaimal SA, Hackam DG, Quinn R, Cuerden MS, Oliver MJ, et al. Validity of administrative database coding for kidney disease: a systematic review. *Am J Kidney Dis.* (2011) 57:29–43. doi: 10.1053/j.ajkd.2010.08.031
- Blichert-Hansen L, Nielsson MS, Nielsen RB, Christiansen CF, Norgaard M. Validity of the coding for intensive care admission, mechanical ventilation, and acute dialysis in the Danish National Patient Registry: a short report. *Clin Epidemiol.* (2013) 5:9–12. doi: 10.2147/CLEP.S37763
- Schaffzin JK, Dodd CN, Nguyen H, Schondelmeyer A, Campanella S, Goldstein SL. Administrative data misclassifies and fails to identify nephrotoxin-associated acute kidney injury in hospitalized children. *Hosp Pediatr.* (2014) 4:159–66. doi: 10.1542/hpeds.2013-0116
- Tomlinson LA, Riding AM, Payne RA, Abel GA, Tomson CR, Wilkinson IB, et al. The accuracy of diagnostic coding for acute kidney injury in England - a single centre study. *BMC Nephrol.* (2013) 14:58. doi: 10.1186/1471-2369-14-58
- Grams ME, Waikar SS, MacMahon B, Whelton S, Ballew SH, Coresh J. Performance and limitations of administrative data in the identification of AKI. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol.* (2014) 9:682–9. doi: 10.2215/CJN.07650713
- 52. Maass C, Kuske S, Lessing C, Schrappe M. Are administrative data valid when measuring patient safety in hospitals? A comparison of data collection methods using a chart review and administrative data. *Int J Qual Health Care.* (2015) 27:305–13. doi: 10.1093/intqhc/ mzv045
- 53. D'Arienzo D, Hessey E, Ali R, Perreault S, Samuel S, Roy L, et al. A validation study of administrative health care data to detect acute kidney injury in the pediatric intensive care unit. *Can J Kidney Health Dis.* (2019) 6:2054358119827525. doi: 10.1177/2054358119827525
- Etzioni DA, Lessow C, Bordeianou LG, Kunitake H, Deery SE, Carchman E, et al. Concordance Between Registry and Administrative Data in the Determination of Comorbidity: a Multi-institutional Study. *Ann Surg.* (2019) 272:1006–11. doi: 10.1097/SLA.00000000003247
- 55. Garland A, Marrie RA, Wunsch H, Yogendran M, Chateau D. Accuracy of administrative hospital data to identify use of life support modalities. A Canadian study. Ann Am Thorac Soc. (2020) 17:229–35. doi: 10.1513/AnnalsATS.201902-106OC
- Quan H, Parsons GA, Ghali WA. Assessing accuracy of diagnosis-type indicators for flagging complications in administrative data. *J Clin Epidemiol.* (2004) 57:366–72. doi: 10.1016/j.jclinepi.2003.01.002

- Liangos O, Wald R, O'Bell JW, Price L, Pereira BJ, Jaber BL. Epidemiology and outcomes of acute renal failure in hospitalized patients: a national survey. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol.* (2006) 1:43–51. doi: 10.2215/CJN.00220605
- Parker JP, Li Z, Damberg CL, Danielsen B, Carlisle DM. Administrative versus clinical data for coronary artery bypass graft surgery report cards: the view from California. *Med Care.* (2006) 44:687–95. doi: 10.1097/01.mlr.0000215815.70506.b6
- So L, Evans D, Quan H. ICD-10 coding algorithms for defining comorbidities of acute myocardial infarction. BMC Health Serv Res. (2006) 6:161. doi: 10.1186/1472-6963-6-161
- Waikar SS, Curhan GC, Wald R, McCarthy EP, Chertow GM. Declining mortality in patients with acute renal failure, 1988 to 2002. J Am Soc Nephrol. (2006) 17:1143–50. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2005091017
- Waikar SS, Wald R, Chertow GM, Curhan GC, Winkelmayer WC, Liangos O, et al. Validity of international classification of diseases, ninth revision, clinical modification codes for acute renal failure. *J Am Soc Nephrol.* (2006) 17:1688–94. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2006010073
- Khwaja A. KDIGO clinical practice guidelines for acute kidney injury. Nephron Clin Pract. (2012) 120:c179–84. doi: 10.1159/000339789
- Macedo E, Malhotra R, Bouchard J, Wynn SK, Mehta RL. Oliguria is an early predictor of higher mortality in critically ill patients. *Kidney Int.* (2011) 80:760–7. doi: 10.1038/ki.2011.150
- Ambroggio LV, Shah SS. Administrative data: expanding the infrastructure for pediatric research. J Pediatr. (2013) 162:681– 4. doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2012.10.040
- Mehta RL, Cerdá J, Burdmann EA, Tonelli M, García-García G, Jha V, et al. International Society of Nephrology's 0by25 initiative for acute kidney injury (zero preventable deaths by 2025): a human rights case for nephrology. *Lancet.* (2015) 385:2616–43. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(15)60126-X
- 66. Jetton JG, Boohaker LJ, Sethi SK, Wazir S, Rohatgi S, Soranno DE, et al. Incidence and outcomes of neonatal acute kidney injury (AWAKEN): a multicentre, multinational, observational cohort study. *Lancet Child Adolesc Health.* (2017) 1:184–94. doi: 10.1016/S2352-4642(17)30069-X
- Hsu RK, McCulloch CE, Dudley RA, Lo LJ, Hsu CY. Temporal changes in incidence of dialysis-requiring AKI. J Am Soc Nephrol. (2013) 24:37– 42. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2012080800
- Carlson N, Hommel K, Olesen JB, Soja AM, Vilsboll T, Kamper AL, et al. Dialysis-Requiring acute kidney injury in Denmark 2000–2012: time trends of incidence and prevalence of risk factors-a nationwide study. *PLoS ONE*. (2016) 11:e0148809. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0148809
- 69. Chanchlani R, Nash DM, McArthur E, Zappitelli M, Archer V, Kuwornu JP, et al. Secular trends in incidence, modality and mortality with dialysis receiving aki in children in Ontario: a population-based cohort study. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol.* (2019) 14:1288–96. doi: 10.2215/CJN.08 250718
- Kashani K, Shao M, Li G, Williams AW, Rule AD, Kremers WK, et al. No increase in the incidence of acute kidney injury in a population-based annual temporal trends epidemiology study. *Kidney Int.* (2017) 92:721– 8. doi: 10.1016/j.kint.2017.03.020
- 71. Miyamoto Y, Iwagami M, Aso S, Yasunaga H, Matsui H, Fushimi K, et al. Temporal change in characteristics and outcomes of acute kidney injury on renal replacement therapy in intensive care units: analysis of a nationwide administrative database in Japan, 2007–2016. *Crit Care*. (2019) 23:172. doi: 10.1186/s13054-019-2468-8
- 72. Fabbian F, Savrie C, De Giorgi A, Cappadona R, Di Simone E, Boari B, et al. Acute kidney injury and in-hospital mortality: a retrospective analysis of a nationwide administrative database of elderly subjects in Italy. *J Clin Med.* (2019) 8:1371. doi: 10.3390/jcm8091371
- Chimunda T, Silver SA, Kuwornu JP, Li L, Nash DM, Dixon SN, et al. Hospital case volume and clinical outcomes in critically ill patients with acute kidney injury treated with dialysis. J Crit Care. (2018) 48:276– 82. doi: 10.1016/j.jcrc.2018.08.024
- 74. Iwagami M, Yasunaga H, Noiri E, Horiguchi H, Fushimi K, Matsubara T, et al. Current state of continuous renal replacement therapy for acute kidney injury in Japanese intensive care units in 2011: analysis of a national administrative database. *Nephrol Dial Transplant*. (2015) 30:988–95. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfv069

- Forni LG, Darmon M, Ostermann M, Oudemans-van Straaten HM, Pettila V, Prowle JR, et al. Renal recovery after acute kidney injury. *Intensive Care Med.* (2017) 43:855–66. doi: 10.1007/s00134-017-4809-x
- Kellum JA, Sileanu FE, Bihorac A, Hoste EAJ, Chawla LS. Recovery after acute kidney injury. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2017) 195:784– 91. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201604-0799OC
- Korenkevych D, Ozrazgat-Baslanti T, Thottakkara P, Hobson CE, Pardalos P, Momcilovic P, et al. The pattern of longitudinal change in serum creatinine and 90-day mortality after major surgery. *Ann Surg.* (2016) 263:1219– 27. doi: 10.1097/SLA.00000000001362
- Heung M, Steffick DE, Zivin K, Gillespie BW, Banerjee T, Hsu CY, et al. Acute kidney injury recovery pattern and subsequent risk of CKD: an analysis of veterans health administration data. *Am J Kidney Dis.* (2016) 67:742–52. doi: 10.1053/j.ajkd.2015.10.019
- Hessey E, Ali R, Dorais M, Morissette G, Pizzi M, Rink N, et al. Renal function follow-up and renal recovery after acute kidney injury in critically Ill children. *Pediatr Crit Care Med.* (2017) 18:733–40. doi: 10.1097/PCC.00000000001166
- Hollander SA, Cantor RS, Sutherland SM, Koehl DA, Pruitt E, McDonald N, et al. Renal injury and recovery in pediatric patients after ventricular assist device implantation and cardiac transplant. *Pediatr Transplant*. (2019) 23:e13477. doi: 10.1111/petr.13477
- Collister D, Pannu N, Ye F, James M, Hemmelgarn B, Chui B, et al. Health care costs associated with AKI. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol.* (2017) 12:1733– 43. doi: 10.2215/CJN.00950117
- Lau D, Pannu N, James MT, Hemmelgarn BR, Kieser TM, Meyer SR, et al. Costs and consequences of acute kidney injury after cardiac surgery: a cohort study. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg.* (2020) 162:880– 7. doi: 10.1016/j.jtcvs.2020.01.101
- Chawla LS, Eggers PW, Star RA, Kimmel PL. Acute kidney injury and chronic kidney disease as interconnected syndromes. *N Engl J Med.* (2014) 371:58–66. doi: 10.1056/NEJMra1214243
- Hoste EAJ, Kellum JA, Selby NM, Zarbock A, Palevsky PM, Bagshaw SM, et al. Global epidemiology and outcomes of acute kidney injury. *Nat Rev Nephrol.* (2018) 14:607–25. doi: 10.1038/s41581-018-0052-0
- Silver SA, Harel Z, McArthur E, Nash DM, Acedillo R, Kitchlu A, et al. Causes of death after a hospitalization with AKI. J Am Soc Nephrol. (2018) 29:1001–10. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2017080882
- Grams ME, Sang Y, Coresh J, Ballew S, Matsushita K, Molnar MZ, et al. Acute kidney injury after major surgery: a retrospective analysis of veterans health administration data. *Am J Kidney Dis.* (2016) 67:872– 80. doi: 10.1053/j.ajkd.2015.07.022
- Walther CP, Winkelmayer WC, Niu J, Cheema FH, Nair AP, Morgan JA, et al. Acute kidney injury with ventricular assist device placement: national estimates of trends and outcomes. *Am J Kidney Dis.* (2019) 74:650–8. doi: 10.1053/j.ajkd.2019.03.423
- Hughes JT, Majoni SW, Barzi F, Harris TM, Signal S, Lowah G, et al. Incident haemodialysis and outcomes in the Top End of Australia. *Aust Health Rev.* (2020) 44:234–40. doi: 10.1071/AH18230
- Sud M, Tangri N, Pintilie M, Levey AS, Naimark DM. Progression to Stage 4 chronic kidney disease and death, acute kidney injury and hospitalization risk: a retrospective cohort study. *Nephrol Dial Transplant*. (2016) 31:1122– 30. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfv389
- Siew ED, Parr SK, Abdel-Kader K, Eden SK, Peterson JF, Bansal N, et al. Predictors of recurrent AKI. J Am Soc Nephrol. (2016) 27:1190– 200. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2014121218
- Grosjean F, Tonani M, Maccarrone R, Cerra C, Spaltini F, De Silvestri A, et al. Under-recognized post-stroke acute kidney injury: risk factors and relevance for stroke outcome of a frequent comorbidity. *Int Urol Nephrol.* (2019) 51:1597–604. doi: 10.1007/s11255-019-02203-4
- Duffy CR, Huang Y, Andrikopoulou M, Stern-Ascher CN, Wright JD, Goffman D, et al. Clindamycin, gentamicin, and risk of clostridium difficile infection and acute kidney injury during delivery hospitalizations. *Obstet Gynecol.* (2020) 135:59–67. doi: 10.1097/AOG.000000000003568
- 93. Downes KJ, Cowden C, Laskin BL, Huang YS, Gong W, Bryan M, et al. Association of acute kidney injury with concomitant vancomycin

and Piperacillin/Tazobactam treatment among hospitalized children. JAMA Pediatr. (2017) 171:e173219. doi: 10.1001/jamapediatrics.2017.3219

- Nelson DA, Marks ES, Deuster PA, O'Connor FG, Kurina LM. Association of nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug prescriptions with kidney disease among active young and middle-aged adults. *JAMA Netw.* (2019) 2:e187896. doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2018.7896
- Ekezue BF, Sridhar G, Forshee RA, Izurieta HS, Selvam N, Mintz PD, et al. Occurrence of acute renal failure on the same day as immune globulin product administrations during 2008 to 2014. *Transfusion*. (2017) 57:2977– 86. doi: 10.1111/trf.14330
- Tonelli M, Lloyd AM, Bello AK, James MT, Klarenbach SW, McAlister FA, et al. Statin use and the risk of acute kidney injury in older adults. *BMC Nephrol.* (2019) 20:103. doi: 10.1186/s12882-019-1280-7
- Renoux C, Lix LM, Patenaude V, Bresee LC, Paterson JM, Lafrance JP, et al. Serotonin-norepinephrine reuptake inhibitors and the risk of AKI: a cohort study of eight administrative databases and meta-analysis. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol.* (2015) 10:1716–22. doi: 10.2215/CJN.11271114
- Goswami E, Ogden RK, Bennett WE, Goldstein SL, Hackbarth R, Somers MJG, et al. Evidence-based development of a nephrotoxic medication list to screen for acute kidney injury risk in hospitalized children. Am J Health-Syst Pharm. (2019) 76:1869–74. doi: 10.1093/ajhp/ zxz203
- Hsu CY, Hsu RK, Yang J, Ordonez JD, Zheng S, Go AS. Elevated BP after AKI. J Am Soc Nephrol. (2016) 27:914–23. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2014111114
- Ingelfinger JR, Kalantar-Zadeh K, Schaefer F. Averting the legacy of kidney disease-focus on childhood. Am J Nephrol. (2016) 43:58– 64. doi: 10.1159/000444509
- 101. Robinson C, Jeyakumar N, Luo B, Wald R, Garg A, Nash D, et al. Longterm kidney outcomes following childhood acute kidney injury receiving dialysis: a population-based cohort study. J Am Soc Nephrol. (2021) 32:2005– 19. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2020111665
- 102. Madsen NL, Goldstein SL, Froslev T, Christiansen CF, Olsen M. Cardiac surgery in patients with congenital heart disease is associated with acute kidney injury and the risk of chronic kidney disease. *Kidney Int.* (2017) 92:751–6. doi: 10.1016/j.kint.2017.02.021
- 103. Parikh CR, Greenberg JH, McArthur E, Thiessen-Philbrook H, Everett AD, Wald R, et al. Incidence of ESKD and mortality among children with congenital heart disease after cardiac surgery. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol.* (2019) 14:1450–7. doi: 10.2215/CJN.00690119
- 104. Hou SH, Bushinsky DA, Wish JB, Cohen JJ, Harrington JT. Hospitalacquired renal insufficiency: a prospective study. Am J Med. (1983). 74(2):243-8.
- Nash K, Hafeez A, Hou S. Hospital-acquired renal insufficiency. Am J Kidney Dis. (2002). 39(5):930-6.
- Goldstein SL, Kirkendall E, Nguyen H, Schaffzin JK, Bucuvalas J, Bracke T, et al. Electronic health record identification of nephrotoxin exposure and associated acute kidney injury. *Pediatrics*. (2013). 132:e756-67.

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Ulrich, So, Zappitelli and Chanchlani. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

